BULLETIN OF YALE UNIVERSITY



OBITUARY RECORD OF GRADUATES OF YALE UNIVERSITY DECEASED DURING THE YEAR 1939–1940

BULLETIN OF YALE UNIVERSITY

Entered as second-class matter, August 30, 1906, at the post office at New Haven, Conn., under the Act of Congress of July 16, 1894.

Acceptance for mailing at the special rate of postage provided for in Section 1103, Act of October 3, 1917, authorized August 12, 1918.

The Bulletin, which is issued semimonthly, includes:

- 1. The University Catalogue Number.
- 2. The Report of the Treasurer Number.
- 3. The Catalogue Numbers of the several Schools.
- 4. The Alumni Directory Number.
- 5. The Obituary Record Number.

BULLETIN OF YALE UNIVERSITY

OBITUARY RECORD OF GRADUATES DECEASED DURING THE YEAR ENDING JULY 1, 1940 INCLUDING THE RECORD OF A FEW WHO DIED PREVIOUSLY, HITHERTO UNREPORTED NUMBER 99

NEW HAVEN 1941

CONTENTS

diographies of Graduates	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	5
Yale College ,	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	5
Sheffield Scientific Sch													
School of Engineering	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	230
Graduate School	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	232
Masters of Arts .		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		232
Doctors of Philosoph	hy	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	234
School of Medicine.													
Divinity School													255
School of Law													272
Bachelors of Laws .													272
Master of Laws		•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	282
School of the Fine Art	s.		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	283
School of Music		•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	283
School of Forestry .						•		•	•	•	•	•	284
Supplement	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	288
Dates of Death of Recipi	ents	s of	Ho	nora	ary	Deg	gree	s	•	•	•	•	307
Dates of Death of Certific	cate	Но	lder	s an	d N	lon	-Gr	adu	ates		•	•	307
Statistics	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	312
ndex													313

YALE UNIVERSITY OBITUARY RECORD*

YALE COLLEGE

Henry Haven Gorton, B.A. 1862.

Born February 3, 1840, in Waterford, Conn. Died February 8, 1940, in Waterford, Conn.

Father, William Gorton of Waterford, tax collector and chairman school committee for a number of years, son of Benjamin and Mehitable (Douglas) Gorton of Waterford Mother, Abiah (Douglas) Gorton; daughter of Robert and Abiah (Douglas) Douglas of Waterford Yale relatives include an uncle, Thomas Douglas (B.A 1831).

Attended a private school in Flanders, and Bartlett High School, New London, Conn Member Class baseball club Junior and Senior years, Gamma Nu, and Linonia

Engaged in farming at Waterford 1862-70 with exception of one year spent in teaching in Hunterstown, Pa, teacher of mathematics in Ringoes, NJ, 1871-74, Wyandotte County, Kans, 1874-75, and near Red Bank, NJ, 1875-76; in 1876 returned to Waterford; divided his time between farming and teaching, held teaching posts in East Lyme, Niantic, Canaan, and Waterford, on death of his brother Albert, retired from teaching to devote whole time to the Waterford farm which had been in possession of his family since 1771, retired from active work about 1920; school visitor Waterford 1889-1901 and secretary of the board, town treasurer; superintendent Gilead Sunday School 1894-1926; member First Church (Congregational), New London

Married June 10, 1903, in Boston, Mass, Louise Fargis Phillips Philbrick, daughter of George and Ellen (Chapell) Phillips. Son Albert Henry

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease with acute cardiac dilatation Buried in Cedar Grove Cemetery, New London Survived by wife and son.

Since December 4, 1936, Mr. Gorton had enjoyed the distinction of being the oldest living graduate of Yale, he was the sixth graduate to live to be one hundred years of age.

*If the father of an alumnus is a Yale graduate, the father's record is not usually given in this volume, but may be found in published form elsewhere

Andrew James Copp, B.A. 1869.

Born May 26, 1846, in Auburn, Mass Died February 27, 1940, in Los Angeles, Calif.

Father, Andrew James Copp; member Company A, 32d Massachusetts Volunteer Infantry during Civil War, son of William and Celinda (Whipple) Copp of North Oxford, Mass Mother, Harriet Ann (Eddy) Copp, daughter of Harvey Pratt and Margaret (Cole) Eddy of Auburn Yale relatives include William A Copp, '69 (brother), and William M. Copp, '95 (nephew)

Phillips-Andover Stroke Class crew Senior year, member Class baseball club, Varuna Boat Club, Delta Kappa, Linonia, Delta Beta Xi,

Alpha Sigma Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon M A 1872.

Night editor New Haven (Conn) Journal and Courier a short time after graduation, attended Columbia University School of Law and taught in New York City 1869–71, admitted to Minnesota bar 1871 and practiced law in St Paul three months; travelled in the West 1871–72, superintendent Phenix Furnace & Ore Mines, Millerton, NY, 1872–84, president Northeast Library Association; moved to California in 1884 and admitted to California bar in that year, practiced law in Los Angeles 1884 until retirement in 1895, was also actively interested in Los Angeles real estate, chairman committee on the unemployed, Los Angeles City Council, 1893–94

Married June 5, 1878, in Lakeville, Conn, Carrie Pettee, daughter of Robert and Eliza Joanna (Pettee) Bostwick. Children. Eddy Bostwick (died May 25, 1908); Andrew James, Jr (B A. Stanford Univ. 1902); William Whipple (B A Stanford Univ 1903, died October 20, 1930), Carrie Belle (died March 12, 1896), and Joseph Pettee (B.A. Univ. of Southern California 1910)

Death due to pneumonia Survived by wife, two sons, seven grand-children, and two great-grandchildren.

Jesse Lathrop Moss, B.A. 1869.

Born November 12, 1847, in Westerly, R.I Died May 30, 1940, in Lake Forest, Ill

Father, Jesse Lathrop Moss, member firm of Babcock & Moss, manufacturers of cotton and woollen goods, Westerly; president Westerly Savings Bank; representative in Rhode Island legislature 1841; son of Rev Reuben Moss (B A. 1787) and Esther (Chesebrough) Moss of Weare, N H Mother, Frances Swan (Dixon) Moss; daughter of Nathan

Fellows Dixon (B A. Brown 1799) and Elizabeth (Palmer) Dixon of Westerly.

Phillips-Andover. Member Gamma Nu, Linonia, Delta Beta Xi,

Alpha Sigma Phi, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

On graduation entered counting room of White Rock Manufacturing Company, Westerly; later was agent and then president of Moss Manufacturing Company, Westerly, became secretary and treasurer Westerly Gas Light Company (now Narragansett Electric Company) 1878, represented Westerly in Rhode Island legislature sessions of 1883–84 and 1884–85, moved to Lake Forest 1887 and had since resided there; engaged in real estate and investment business, Chicago, 1889–98, first as partner in firm of Walker, Larned & Moss, and later independently, financial agent The Newberry Library, Chicago, 1898–1928 and secretary 1901–28, honorary secretary since 1928; author. Thirty-five Years with The Newberry Library. . . (1934); member Church of the Holy Spirit (Episcopal), Lake Forest

Married (1) October 26, 1876, in Westerly, Fanny Greene, daughter of Edwin Channing Larned (B.A. Brown 1840) and Ann Frances (Greene) Larned Children Julia Larned (Mrs Joseph Curtis Sloane; died September 30, 1919), and another daughter who died in infancy Mrs Moss died in June, 1887 Married (2) June 15, 1892, in Morristown, NJ, Harriet Allison, daughter of Rev Simeon Howard Calhoun, DD (BA Williams 1829) and Emily Pitkin (Raynolds) Calhoun. Son. Jesse Lathrop, Jr, '16 (died November 9, 1936) Mrs Moss died December 8, 1936

Death due to cardiac failure Ashes interred in River Bend Cemetery, Westerly. Survived by two grandsons.

Charles Mercer Heald, B.A. 1870.

Born July 5, 1849, in Baltimore, Md Died December 1, 1939, in South Pasadena, Calif.

Father, William Heald, a wholesale tobacco commission merchant in Baltimore. Mother, Belinda Eleanor (Simmons) Heald, daughter of Colonel John H. Simmons of Frederick County, Md

Prepared under Rev. Edwin Dalrymple in Baltimore, attended Yale College 1866–68, member Freshman Hat and Supper Committee, and Class baseball club Sophomore year, member Brothers in Unity, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Phi Theta Psi, and Alpha Delta Phi, honorary M A. 1900, with enrollment in Class of 1870

Worked in his father's firm 1868–72, associated with Baltimore & Dhio Railroad Company 1872–76 and 1881 (clerk to master of transportation, agent Piedmont Station, general agent Locust Point yards

1874–76, in freight department April–July 1881), business manager *The Baltimore Gazette* 1876–78; cashier to receiver Long Island Railroad Company 1878–79, cashier to general ticket agent 1879–81, and general traffic manager 1881–87, assistant to general manager and general freight agent Philadelphia and Reading Railroad 1887–89, president New York, Susquehanna & Western Railroad Company 1889–90, general manager Chicago & Western Michigan Railway and Detroit, Grand Rapids & Western Railroad 1890–97 and president 1897–1900, president Pere Marquette Railway Company 1900–03, organizer and president Mutual Transit and Mutual Terminal companies of Buffalo, N.Y, 1903–15; commissioner of finance and accounts, Buffalo, 1916–20, president Home Building Association of Grand Rapids 1920 until retirement in 1927, secretary and treasurer Grand Rapids Industrial Land Association; president University Club of Buffalo 1914–19, in recent years had resided in South Pasadena.

Married (1) December 12, 1871, Lizzie Lindsay, daughter of Matthew B Clark Daughter Bertha (died November 10, 1888) Mrs Heald died September 18, 1920 Married (2) October 11, 1921, in Bangor, Mich, Florence Smiley, daughter of Andrew J and Eliza Ann (Pillsbury) Fitts

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Forest Lawn Mausoleum, Glendale, Calif Survived by wife.

Thompson McClintock, B.A. 1870.

Born September 6, 1848, in Pittsburgh, Pa Died January 20, 1940, in Washington, D C.

Father, Washington McClintock, member W. McClintock & Company, dealers in carpets, furniture, and upholstery, Pittsburgh, son of Alexander and Elizabeth Rutledge (Bain) McClintock of Maryland, and Pittsburgh Mother, Eliza (Thompson) McClintock, daughter of Samuel and Mary (Parke) Thompson of Pittsburgh. Yale relatives include Oliver McClintock, '61, Walter L McClintock, '62, Washington Mc-Clintock, ex-'69, and Frank T McClintock, '75 (brothers), Benjamin Thaw, *ex-'79* G (brother-in-law), A. Garrison McClintock, '90, Norman McClintock, '91, Walter McClintock, '91, Clarence Oliver McClintock, ex-'96, Harvey C McClintock, '03, Bowdoin U Mc-Clintock, '07, Stephen D Thaw, '07, Frank S McClintock, '07, Benjamin Thaw, Jr, '09 S, Kenneth McClintock, ex-'13 S, and William Thaw, 2d, ex-15 (nephews), Thomas Darling, Jr, '25, Edward Darling, '27, Oliver McClintock, '31, Harvey C. McClintock, Jr, '35, Henry L. McClintock, '36, Brower McClintock, '40, and Franklin Henry Ellis, Ir, '41 (grandnephews)

Phillips-Andover. Class baseball team Freshman year; vice-president

Class baseball club Freshman year and director Sophomore year, on University Baseball Team three years; member Yale Missionary Society, Linonia, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Delta Beta Xi, Alpha Sigma Phi, and Delta Kappa Epsilon, graduate member Wolf's Head

Associated with his brother Washington in lumber firm of W McClintock, Jr & Company 1870–73; partner Oliver McClintock & Company 1874–1897, retired in 1897 and had since travelled extensively in the United States and abroad, in recent years had resided in Washington, former director Young Men's Christian Association of Pittsburgh, member Covenant Church (Presbyterian), Washington

Married January 21, 1885, in Cedar Rapids, Iowa, Elizabeth Holroyd, daughter of Stephen Leland and Henrietta Weddell (Safely) Dows, and sister of Stephen L Dows, Jr, '90 L Children Henrietta Dows (died June 18, 1887), Elma Dows, the wife of Thomas Moran, ex-'08 S, and Elizabeth Thompson (died March 24, 1923) Mrs McClintock died February 5, 1929

Death due to bronchial pneumonia Buried in Allegheny Cemetery, Pittsburgh. Survived by one daughter

Frederick Collin, B.A. 1871.

Born August 2, 1850, in Township of Benton, NY Died November 26, 1939, in Elmira, NY.

Father, Henry Clark Collin, a farmer in Benton, son of Henry and Nancy (McAlpine) Collin of Benton Mother, Maria Louise (Park) Collin, daughter of Avery and Betsy (Meech) Park of Preston, Conn, and Burlington, N Y Yale relatives include William H Welch, '70, and Roswell Park (LL.D 1902) (cousins), William W Collin, Jr, '07, and Frederick C Crosby, '12 S (nephews)

Penn Yan (NY) Academy and tutored with his brother Charles On Wooden Spoon Committee, member Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Delta Beta X1, Alpha Sigma Ph1, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones MA 1872.

Worked on his father's farm 1871–73; studied law with his brother Charles in Elmira and in office of John R Reynolds 1873–76, admitted to bar October 26, 1876, engaged in practice of law Elmira 1876–1910 and 1921 until retirement in 1935 (member firms Reynolds & Collin 1876–86, Reynolds, Stanchfield & Collin 1886–1910, Stanchfield, Collin, Lovell & Sayles 1921–35), associate judge New York State Court of Appeals 1910–December 31, 1920; official referee State of New York since 1921, corporation counsel Elmira 1891–92, mayor 1894–98, and president Board of Education fourteen years, president Arnot Art Gallery 1913–36 and president emeritus since 1936, trustee Supreme Court Library,

Elmira, 1895–1910 and Steele Memorial Library 1932–34; vice-president Elmira Mechanics' Society, director Cheming Canal Trust Company, Arnot Realty Corporation, and Elmira, Corning & Waverly Railway, member Elmira Bar Association and New York State Bar Association (vice-president 1906), attended First Church (Presbyterian), Elmira

Married (1) June 18, 1878, in Elmira, Mary Palmer, daughter of William Palmer and Louisa (Parmenter) Yates Son Frederick Yates (died August 7, 1879) Mrs Collin died September 1, 1887. Married (2) June 30, 1900, in Elmira, Alice Atwater Bacon, daughter of Dwight and Jane (Lewis) Atwater Mrs Collin died April 22, 1917. Married (3) July 27, 1918, in Elmira, Margaret Fell Hallock, daughter of George W and Margaret (Baird) Fell Mrs Collin died December 19, 1931

Death due to a cerebral accident Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Elmira Survived by a sister, Mrs James Stewart Crosby of Greenville, Mich, and two brothers, William W Collin, '77, and Frank McA Collin, '80 S Three other brothers, Rev Henry P Collin, '65, Charles A Collin, '66, and George Collin, '75, died in 1923, 1936, and 1887

respectively

John Sanford, B.A. 1872.

Born January 18, 1851, in Amsterdam, N.Y. Died September 26, 1939, in Saratoga Springs, NY

Father, Stephen Sanford (U S Military Academy ex-1846); owner Stephen Sanford & Sons, Inc, carpet mills, Amsterdam, member U S House of Representatives 1869–71, son of John and Mary (Slack) Sanford of Amsterdam and Mayfield, N Y Mother, Sarah Jane (Cochran) Sanford, daughter of Alexander Gifford and Sarah Dempster (Phillips) Cochran of New York City Yale relatives include Alexander S Cochran, '96, William F Cochran, '98 S, and Gifford A Cochran, '03 (cousins)

Poughkeepsie Military Institute Member Brothers in Unity, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Delta Beta Xi, and Psi Upsilon; graduate member Wolf's Head

Associated with Stephen Sanford & Sons, Inc , 1872–1929 (partner 1884–1929 and president 1913–29), chairman board of directors Bigelow-Sanford Carpet Company, Inc , since 1929 when that firm was formed by merger of Stephen Sanford & Sons, Inc , and Bigelow-Hartford Carpet Company, chairman of the board Amsterdam City National Bank 1913–39, director Amsterdam Board of Trade, owner Hurricana stables, on New York State Racing Commission 1895–1920, member

U S House of Representatives 1889–93, delegate Republican National Convention 1892, presidential elector 1896, director Montgomery County Historical Society, member Saratoga Racing Association, and Second Presbyterian Church, Amsterdam (honorary trustee)

Married February 17, 1892, in Sanford, Fla, Ethel Jane, daughter of Henry Shelton Sanford (Trinity Coll ex-1843) and Gertrude Ellen (duPuy) Sanford Children Sarah Jane, the wife of Mario Pansa (Univ of Rome); Stephen, ex-'22, and Gertrude Ellen duPuy, the wife of Sidney Jennings Legendre (B A Princeton 1925). Mrs Sanford died November 13, 1924.

Death due to general arteriosclerosis Buried in Green Hill Cemetery, Amsterdam Survived by children and one grandchild

Charles Emerson Bigelow, B.A. 1873.

Born July 29, 1851, in Brooklyn, NY. Died August 28, 1939, in Poquott, NY.

Father, Charles Dana Bigelow of Brooklyn, founder Bay State Shoe & Leather Company 1873; son of Gershom and Eunice (Wilder) Bigelow of Marlboro, Mass Mother, Eunice Ann (Howe) Bigelow, daughter of Emerson and Lydia (Bigelow) Howe of Marlboro Yale relatives include Charles F Neergaard, '97, and William B Neergaard, '99 (nephews); and Lyall Dean, '09 (stepson)

Hudson River Institute, Claverack, NY, and Amenia Seminary First dispute appointment Junior year, second dispute appointment Senior year, member Class baseball team Senior year, chairman Class picture committee, member "Clarence" Yacht Club, Delta Kappa, Alpha Delta Phi, graduate member Wolf's Head

Associated with Bay State Shoe & Leather Company 1873–1910 (in Brooklyn and Boston offices 1873–79, president 1879–1910), owner and president Columbia (Tenn) Water & Light Company 1896 until retirement in 1924, trustee Bowery Savings Bank 1891–1935 and Hampton Normal and Agricultural Institute 1892–1939, acting secretary Class of 1873 in 1876 and treasurer 1876–1910, on standing committee of the Class and member Fifty-five and Sixty-year reunion committees

Married March 14, 1893, in New York City, Isabella Mary Lyall Dean, daughter of David Cooper and Isabella (Buchanan) Lyall Children Dorothy, the wife of Ward Melville; and Emerson, '17

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City Survived by wife, children, six grandchildren, and three stepgrandchildren, one of whom is Louis B Dean, '38 S

Everett Mayhew Swift, B.A. 1873.

Born March 9, 1852, in Brooklyn, NY. Died March 19, 1940, in New York City

Father, Henry Augustus Swift, a business man in New York City, son of Eliphalet Swift (B A 1804) and Abigail (Jesup) Swift. Mother, Mary Amelia (Swift) Swift, daughter of Dr Zephaniah Swift and Nelley Minerva (Everitt) Swift of Farmington, Conn Yale relatives include Ebenezer Jesup (B A 1760) (great-grandfather), and J Trumbull Swift, '84, and William S Keyser, '80 (cousins)

M W Lyon's Collegiate Institute, New York City. First dispute appointment Junior year, second dispute appointment Senior year, winner intercollegiate single scull race at Springfield Senior year, member Gamma Nu

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1873-75 (LL B 1875), and New York Medical College 1876-79 (M D 1879), resident physician Brooklyn Maternity Hospital 1879-80, engaged in practice with Dr J W Dowling, New York City, for a short time; on editorial staff National Railway Publication Company, New York City, 1889 until retirement in 1923, had since resided in New York City, member Intercession Chapel (Episcopal), New York City.

Married January 10, 1885, in Astoria, NY, Anna, daughter of Christopher Stibbs and Mary Jane (Cowan) Bourne No children Mrs Swift died October 5, 1923

Death due to debility Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn Survived by a stepdaughter, Mrs Henry Webb of Scituate, Mass

Samuel Horace Barnum, B.A., 1875.

Born April 7, 1852, in West Springfield, Mass. Died October 16, 1939, in Groton, Conn.

Father, Rev Samuel Weed Barnum (B A. 1841) Mother, Charlotte (Betts) Barnum Yale relatives include Rev Samuel Weed (B A 1813) (great-uncle), William C Betts (M D 1843) and John A Betts (M D 1848) (uncles), Thomas Rossiter Barnum, '79 (brother); Charlotte Cynthia Barnum, Ph D 1895 (sister), Thomas G Ritch (B A 1854) and William J Betts, '70 (cousins)

Hillhouse High School and Hopkins Grammar School. Oration appointment Junior year and dissertation appointment Senior year, third composition prize first term Sophomore year, Commencement speaker; member Gamma Nu

Attended Yale Graduate School 1875-76 and Yale Divinity School

1876–79 (B D. 1879); acting minister Congregational church, Salisbury, N H, 1879–82 and Durham, N.H, 1882–83; ordained Durham April 25, 1883, and minister there 1883–90; minister Cornwall, Vt, 1890–1907, First Congregational Church, Jericho Center, Vt, 1907–19 and Weybridge, Vt, 1919–26; minister emeritus since 1926; resided in Groton since 1927; delegate National Council of the Congregational Churches several years, president Congregational Club of Western Vermont, member Durham Board of Education 1885 and 1886 (superintendent of schools 1883 and 1884), trustee Cornwall Free Library 1891–1907 (compiled Catalog of Cornwall Free Library 1905), author Manual of First Congregational Church in Cornwall, Vermont (1894), co-editor History of Jericho, Vermont (1916), member Winooski Association of Congregational Ministers

Married July 13, 1882, in Salisbury, N H, Susan Pauline, daughter of Thomas Dearborn and Susan Elizabeth (Smith) Little. Children Charles Gardiner (B.A. Middlebury Coll. 1905, M.A. 1907, M.D. Yale 1911), Walter Lawrence (B.A. Middlebury Coll. 1907, M.A. Northwestern Univ. 1936), Alice Weed (B.A. Middlebury Coll. 1912), Gertrude Elizabeth (Mount Holyoke Coll. ex-'13, Columbia Univ. ex-'14; died February 17, 1914), Clara Pauline (B.A. Middlebury Coll. 1917, Yale Graduate School. 1924–25, M.A. Columbia 1930), and Horace Little (Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst. ex-'31). Mrs. Barnum died June 16, 1938.

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Starr Cemetery, Groton Survived by two daughters, sons, four grandchildren, and a sister, Miss Clara Louise Barnum (B A Vassar 1888, Yale Graduate School 1892–94).

Henry Bradford Loomis, B.A. 1875.

Born April 14, 1853, in Tallmadge, Ohio Died December 2, 1939, in New York City.

Father, Professor Elias Loomis, LL D (B A. 1830). Mother, Julia Elmore (Upson) Loomis Yale relatives include Elizur Wright (B A. 1781) (great-grandfather); Elizur Wright (B A 1826) (great-uncle), Hubbel Loomis (M A Hon 1812) (grandfather), Francis E Loomis 'B A 1864) (brother).

Western Reserve Academy and Hopkins Grammar School First olloquy appointment Senior year; member Kappa Sigma Epsilon

Studied life insurance in office of his great-uncle, Elizur Wright, conulting actuary, Boston, Mass, 1875-77, law student in office of Lyman Mason and at Boston University for a short time 1877, attended Yale school of Law spring 1878, Harvard Law School 1878-79 and St Louis aw School 1879-80, moved to California October, 1880; in office of latimer & Morrow, lawyers, San Francisco, 1880-82, admitted to California bar July 29, 1881, and to practice before Supreme Court 1890, practiced law in San Francisco 1881–82, and in Seattle, Wash., 1882 until retirement 1893, travelled extensively in the United States and Europe; lived abroad 1898–1902 and 1906–13; since 1913 resided in New England and Washington, D C, devoted his time to the care of his property and to the study of art and archæology, natural science, history, and economics, member California National Guard 1881–82 and Washington National Guard 1884–85; former member Bar Association of San Francisco, member Astronomical Society of the Pacific, American Geographical Society, American Institute of Civics, Masonic order, and Unitarian church.

Married January 3, 1900, in London, England, Isabel Grace, daughter of Robert Burbank and Harriet (Chapman) Holt No children.

Death due to heart disease Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife.

In 1905 Mr Loomis established the Henry Bradford Loomis Fellow-ship in chemistry and also increased by gifts the Francis Engelsby Loomis Fellowship in physics established by his brother in 1902.

Eugene Wolcott Whitney, B.A. 1875.

Born October 4, 1853, in Carthage, N.Y. Died September 26, 1939, in La Mesa, Calif.

Father, Erastus Hubbard Whitney, a merchant in Chicago, son of William Henry and Clarissa (Wolcott) Whitney of Champion, N.Y. Mother, Lucy Cordelia (Pierce) Whitney; daughter of Preserved and Lina (Randall) Pierce of Champion Yale relatives include a great-uncle, Abel Whitney (M A Hon 1781).

Chicago High School On Class football team Senior year; member Class cup committee, Delta Kappa, Phi Theta Psi, and Psi Upsilon

Attended Rush Medical College 1875–78 (M D 1878); house physician Cook County Hospital, Chicago, 1878–79, studied anatomy and surgery in Vienna, Berlin, and London 1879–81; engaged in practice of medicine in Chicago 1881–89, assistant demonstrator in anatomy Rush Medical College 1878–81 and demonstrator 1883–87 and 1888–89, lecturer on surgical dressings 1883–87 and in surgery 1887–89; surgeon Presbyterian and Cook County hospitals, Chicago; moved to Salt Lake City 1889 and practiced medicine there until retirement in 1919, member staff Holy Cross Hospital, resided in La Mesa from 1919, president Salt Lake County Medical Society 1910–11 and Utah State Medical Association 1915–16, member Society of Colonial Wars, Sons of the American Revolution, Society of the Mexican War, and Presbyterian church, Chicago

Married August 19, 1896, in Salt Lake City, Laura Corinne, daughter of Dr Calvin Sapp and Sarah (Baker) Sapp. No children Mrs. Whitney died November 18, 1937.

Death due to hypostasis of lungs Buried in Greenwood Memorial Park, San Diego Survived by no immediate relatives

Charles Clinton Swisher, B.A. 1876.

Born December 7, 1846, in Muncy, Pa Died February 4, 1940, in Takoma Park, Md

Father, Charles Swisher, son of Dr. John Swisher and Lucinda Swisher of Murzy and Jerseytown, Pa Mother, Lucinda (Swisher) Swisher, daughter of Thomas R. and Lucile (Clinton) Swisher of Canada

Bloomsburg (Pa) Academy. First colloquy appointment Senior year,

Class quintette, member Delta Kappa.

Spent year 1876-77 in travel, resided in England and on the continent 1877-81, studying history at universities of Paris and Heidelberg and under von Ranke at University of Berlin; attended Columbia University School of Law 1881–82 (LL B cum laude 1882); admitted to New York bar 1882, practiced law in New York City 1883–88, travelled extensively in Asia, Dutch East Indies, South America, and Mexico 1888-32; studied and experimented with methods of planting coffee and cocoa, promoted use of eucalyptus in Southern California; commissioned by President Diaz to study possibilities of introducing this tree for Mexican planting as well as Asiatic and East Indian methods of coffee production, continued historical studies at Cornell University 1892-95 (Ph D 1895), member faculty George Washington University since 1896 (professor of American and English history 1896–99 and of history and political science 1899–1902, head professor of history and professor of political science 1902-03, head professor of history, professor of political science and of comparative politics 1903-05; head professor of history and professor of politics 1905-06; professor of history 1906-27 and professor emeritus 1927-40), since retirement from active teaching had travelled extensively in Africa, LL.D University of Guadalajara 1894, and St Mary's College 1905, author. History of the Work of the Religious Orders in Mexico (1888), The Eucalyptus, Native and Transplanted (1889), and The Cultivation of Coffee and Cocoa in the Islands of Java and Sumatra (1890), the Charles Clinton Swisher History Club at George Washington University is named in his honor; attended St John's Church (Episcopal), Washington.

Unmarried

Death due to chronic bronchitis Ashes murned in Hollenback Cemetery, Wilkes-Barre, Pa Survived by a niece, Mrs Louis G Connor of Washington, and a nephew, Harold Keats of East Orange, N J

Benjamin Maurice, B.A. 1877.

Born June 8, 1855, in Ossining, N.Y. Died January 19, 1940, in Mamaroneck, N.Y.

Father, Charles Frasier Maurice, owned and conducted Mt. Pleasant Military Academy, Ossining, president private bank; son of Benjamin and Margaret (Stewart) Maurice of Perth Amboy, N J. Mother, Cornelia Frances (Joline) Maurice; daughter of John and Mary (Skillman) Joline of Princeton, N J.

Dr Holbrook's School, Ossining, and Williston Academy Attended Williams College 1873-75 and Yale University 1875-77; winner mile walk spring athletic games Junior year

Instructor in Latin and Greek Mt Pleasant Military Academy 1877–81, in 1701 business in Sayre, Pa, 1881–83; engaged in cattle raising in Nebraska and Wyoming 1883–88, inspector of steel Union Bridge Company, Athens, Pa, 1888–90, member firm N B. Doxey & Company, rolling mills, Elmira, NY, 1891–94 and of Thompson & Company (steel construction), New York City, 1895–1901, supervising inspector of steel Public Service Commission, New York City, 1902 until retirement 1925, member St Thomas' Church (Episcopal), Mamaroneck.

Married February 11, 1882, in New York City, Mary, daughter of John Charles and Lucy Maria (Pynchon) Adams Children Nathalie Adams (B A George Washington Univ. 1922, M A. 1927), the wife of Theodore VanBrunt Bennett, Stewart (B A. Columbia 1913, LL B. 1916); Benjamin Van Dyke (Middlebury Coll ex-'15; Columbia Univ. 1913–14; died May 12, 1918), Rosseter Pynchon; and Frances Johne, the wife of Francis David Archibald

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Burned in Kensico Cemetery, Valhalla, N Y. Survived by wife, daughters, and two sons.

Henry Clarke Coe, B.A. 1878.

Born February 21, 1856, in Cincinnati, Ohio. Died April 20, 1940, in Washington, D.C.

Father, Erastus Pease Coe, a sea captain and later a commission merchant, Cincinnati; son of Adam Simmons and Ann (Pease) Coe of Newport, R I Mother, Mary E. (Ross) Coe; daughter of Rev. Arthur A. Ross and Jerushia (Newell) Ross of Pawtucket, R I.

Chickering Institute, Cincinnati High oration appointment Junior and Senior years, prize for excellence in Latin composition at scholarship examination, second Berkeley Premium, and second Delta Kappa oration prize Freshman year, first rank composition prize, first term and

third rank prize second term Sophomore year; Junior Exhibition and Commencement speaker; Townsend Premium Senior year, vice-president Class baseball club Sophomore and Junior years and of Class football club Sophomore year; Class poet; author of Ivy Ode, member Class ivy committee, Yale Natural History Society (president Senior year), Delta Kappa, Hé Boulé, Phi Theta Psi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Phi

Beta Kappa. M A. 1881

Attended Harvard Medical School 1878-81 (M D 1881) and College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1881–82 (MD 1882), assistant house surgeon Woman's Hospital, New York City, 1881-82, studied in London, Vienna, Leipzig, and Edinburgh 1882-84, practiced medicine in New York City 1884–1930 specializing in obstetrics and gynecology, retired in 1930 and had since resided in Washington, assistant professor and later professor of gynecology New York Polyclinic Medical School and Hospital 1884-96, professor of gynecology New York University 1898–1915 and professor emeritus since 1915, at various times on staff Woman's, Bellevue, Memorial, New York Polyclinic, St Joseph's, Beth Israel, Friends, South Side, Presbyterian, Manhattan General, and New York Foundling hospitals, and New York City Cancer Institute; joint editor Clinical Gynaecology, Medical and Surgical (1894), contributed to A System of Gynecology, Vols I and II (1887-88), edited by Matthew D Mann, '67; author of many articles and monographs on pathology, clinical gynecology, and military subjects; entered service as First Lieutenant, Medical Reserve Corps, 1910, commissioned Major May 10, 1917; promoted to Lieutenant Colonel September 30, 1918, and Colonel May, 1919, assigned to U.S. Army Ambulance Service, Camp Crane; overseas August 25, 1917-July 12, 1919, attached to general headquarters, American Expeditionary Force, Paris, and later did liaison duty at London; appointed senior medical officer American Forwarding Camps at Winchester and Southampton, October 15, 1917, and chief surgeon for England December, 1917; became second in command Evacuation Hospital 1, A.E.F, at Toul, March 1, 1918, and with this unit attached to 2d and 26th divisions, detailed to Paris July 1, 1918, to organize and command Mobile Hospital 3 (these units attached to troops in Toul sector, at Château-Thierry, and in St -Mihiel and Meuse-Argonne offensives); transferred to Camp Hospital 120 at Alençon and Le Mans as chief medical officer, March, 1919, stationed Port of Embarkation, Hoboken, July-August, 1919; discharged October 4, 1919, Colonel, Medical Reserve Corps, 1919–30 and Colonel retired since 1930, was dean of Medical Reserve Corps in point of years, received Meritorious Service Citation, and Medal of the Purple Heart (1934), commander Caduceus Post, American Legion, honorary fellow Edinburgh Obstetrical Society, licentiate Royal College of Physicians (London), fellow American College of Surgeons, American Medical Association, and New York State and New York County Medical societies, member New York Academy of Medicine, Obstetrical and Clinical societies, Washington Obstetrical Society, American Therapeutic Society, American Gynecological Society (president), Royal College of Surgeons (England), Mayflower Society, Society of Colonial Wars, Sons of the American Revolution, Society of the War of 1812, Society of Foreign Wars, Military Order of the World War, and All Angels' Church (Episcopal), New York City

Married September 7, 1882, in New Haven, Conn, Sara Livingston, daughter of Edward and Amy Werden Children Fordyce Barker (Univ of Kansas ex-'18), Henry Clarke, Jr (died January 2, 1936), and Arthur Paul (B A Univ. of California 1920, LL B Univ of Miami 1929) Mrs Coe died October 15, 1936.

Death due to congestive heart failure Buried in The National Cemetery, Arlington Survived by two sons and two grandchildren.

William Victor Downer, B.A. 1878.

Born July 9, 1856, in Chittenango, N Y Died October 17, 1939, in Shaker Heights, Ohio

Father, Abner Patridge Downer, a promoter and contractor in Chittenango, son of John and Amy (Dunham) Downer of Pownall, Vt Mother, Harriet Uretta (Hamblin) Downer, daughter of Lewis and Maria (Humaston) Hamblin of Perryville, N Y.

Prepared under Rev W A Ely in Chittenango. On Class baseball team four years (captain Senior year) and University Baseball Team three years (captain Senior year), member Class football team Senior year and University Football Team Junior and Senior years (captain Football Club Senior year), Class crew Sophomore year, auditing committee Yale University Boat Club Senior year, competed in fall and spring athletic games and on Class tug-of-war team Senior year, member Delta Kappa, Phi Theta Psi, Hé Boulé, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Teacher Chittenango public schools 1879–81, in grain commission and brokerage business Chicago 1881–83 and New York City 1883–85, represented American District Steam Company in Pennsylvania, engaged in grain commission and brokerage business in Buffalo 1887–1910 and 1913 until retirement in 1932 (manager special department The Townsend-Ward Company 1920–28), United States Appraiser of Customs, Buffalo, 1910–13, member Buffalo Board of Trade; had resided with his son in Cleveland since 1932, member and vestryman Church of the Ascension (Episcopal) and later St. Paul's Cathedral, Buffalo; for many years member Laymen's Missionary League, Diocese of Western New York, also member St Alban's Church, Cleveland.

Married June 16, 1885, in Chittenango, Helen Louise, daughter of John Henry Hobart and Helen Maria (Holmes) French Children Huntington, ex-'09, and Hobart French. Mrs. Downer died July 17, 1932

Death due to bronchopneumonia Buried in Oakwood Cemetery, Chittenango Survived by children, five grandchildren, and four greatgrandchildren

Jonathan Bulkley, B.A. 1879.

Born September 12, 1857, in Southport, Conn Died October 17, 1939, in Ridgefield, Conn

Father, Edwin Bulkley of New York City, founder Bulkley, Dunton & Company, wholesale paper and pulp merchants, New York City, son of Andrew and Sarah (Dimon) Bulkley of Southport Mother, Helen (Perry) Bulkley, daughter of Gurden and Abigail (Sherwood) Perry of Southport

Brooklyn Polytechnic Institute. Class football team Freshman and Sophomore years; member Dunham Boat Club (four-oared crew Senior year), Senior Promenade Committee, Delta Kappa, Hé Boulé, and Delta

Kappa Epsilon.

Travelled in Europe 1879; associated with Bulkley, Dunton & Company since 1879 (partner 1880–1939), president Union Mills, Inc., since 1919, former trustee Washington Water Power Company, Spokane; former director E. W. Bliss Company, Turners Falls Power Company, and Keith Paper Company (vice-president for a number of years, president 1922–37), director Oxford Paper Company, Ryegate Paper Company, St. Regis Paper Company, Power Corporation of New York, Western Massachusetts Association, and Home Life Insurance Company; member committee on internal trade and improvement, Chamber of Commerce, State of New York; member board of managers East Side Settlement House, New York City, since 1911, president 1914–16, 1933–36, and honorary president since 1938, former director Union Theological Seminary and member library committee, governor Yale Publishing Association; member Madison Avenue Church (Presbyterian), New York City.

Married June 4, 1896, in Cleveland, Ohio, Sarah Little, daughter of John and Sarah Keyes (Little) Tod and great-granddaughter of George Tod (B.A 1795) Children Sarah Tod, the wife of Francis Fitz Randolph, '11, Jonathan Ogden, '23; and David Tod, ex-'23 S

Death due to staphylococcus septicemia. Buried in Oaklawn Cemetery, Southport, Conn Survived by wife, children, and nine grandchildren

Gılbert Dimock Lamb, B.A. 1879.

Born October 20, 1857, in Franklin, Conn. Died June 2, 1940, in New York City

Father, Gilbert Lamb, a farmer in Franklin, son of Gilbert and Abigail Baker (Congdon) Lamb Mother, Elizabeth (Dimock) Lamb, daughter of Ira and Mary (Mogan) Dimock of New London, Conn. Yale relatives include a nephew, Sherman Baldwin, '19, and a grandnephew, Robert L Calvert, '39 S

Natchaug High School, Willimantic, Conn. First dispute appointment Junior year, second dispute appointment Senior year; member Gamma

Nu, Adelphoi, and Linoma

Attended Amherst School of Languages summer 1879; taught school and studied law in Norwich, Conn, 1879-80, sub-principal Washington Public School, Hackensack, N J, and law student in office of Garrett J Ackerson 1880-81, admitted to New Jersey bar June 9, 1882, and New York bar November 5, 1883, practiced law in New York City 1883-1938, maintained office but not actively engaged 1938-39, member successive firms of Lamb & Osborne, Osborne, Lamb & Petty, Osborne, Lamb & Garvan [Francis P, '97], and finally Osborne, Lamb & Willcox, practiced independently 1919-38; owner of Beech Spring Farm, Franklin, and spent his summers there, established permanent fund to provide a free bed for the needy of Franklin County at William W. Backus Hospital, Norwich, in memory of his father set up a fund at Bacon Academy, Colchester, the income of which is used as an essay prize for seniors, contributed to fund for perpetuation of memory of John B Welch, principal of Natchaug High School, a founder Association of the Bar of the City of New York and of First Humanist Society of New York, member West End Association (vice-president), New York County Lawyers Association, New York State Bar Association, American Bar Association, and New York Society for Ethical Culture.

Married November 25, 1902, in New York City, Blanche Dominick, daughter of Simeon Baldwin (B S Coll City of New York 1855) and Mary Sarah (Marven) Baldwin, and sister of Henry deF Baldwin, '85, and Roger S Baldwin, '95 Son Gilbert Baldwin (C E Cornell 1927). Mrs Lamb died October 11, 1936

Death due to old age Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City Survived by son, two grandchildren, and two sisters, Miss Eva Lamb of Los Angeles, Calif, and Mrs Mary A Parker of New London, Conn A brother, Ira Lamb, '85 S, died in 1937

Frank Wanzer Marsh, B.A. 1879.

Born May 28, 1855, in New Milford, Conn Died October 22, 1939, in New Milford, Conn

Father, Ebenezer Bradley Marsh, a farmer in New Milford, son of Orrin Bradley and Maria (Hill) Marsh of New Milford Mother, Hannah Briggs (Wanzer) Marsh; daughter of Daniel and Hannah (Briggs) Wanzer of Sherman, Conn Yale relatives include a stepson, Charles B Mallory, '25.

Williston Academy Oration appointment Junior and Senior years, Commencement speaker, Class football team Freshman year, member Gamma Nu, Adelphoi, and Linonia

Engaged in tutoring 1879–80, attended Yale School of Law 1880–81 (LL B 1882); read law independently 1881–82, admitted to Connecticut bar 1882, practiced law in New Milford 1882 until retirement in 1937, attorney New Milford Savings Bank 1900–31, town clerk New Milford 1889, town attorney 1911–29, and prosecuting attorney town court 1911–31; vice-president New Milford Historical Society 1915–36 and New Milford Savings Bank 1922–27, member First Congregational Church, New Milford.

Married (1) February 9, 1882, in New Haven, Conn, Mary Elizabeth Clarke (Mount Holyoke Coll ex-'79), daughter of Morgan Higgins and Mary Jane (Williams) Clarke Children Harold Clarke (Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst ex-'08), and Mabel Frances (Mount Holyoke Coll ex-'14), the wife of Edward Hepner (Univ of Delft 1911) Mrs Marsh died December 24, 1893 Married (2) November 2, 1916, in New Milford, Jane Jarvis Jackson Mallory, daughter of John Calvin and Fanny Reed (Landon) Jackson

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in New Milford Center Cemetery Survived by wife, children, and seven grandchildren

Edward MacArthur Noyes, B.A. 1879.

Born October 12, 1858, in New Haven, Conn Died December 17, 1939, at Daytona Beach, Fla

Father, Rev Gurdon Wheeler Noyes (B A Amherst 1846, graduate Union Theological Seminary 1849), a Congregational minister, son of Joseph and Eunice E (Cheesebrough) Noyes of Stonington, Conn Mother, Agnes Ferguson (MacArthur) Noyes; daughter of James and Agnes (Ferguson) MacArthur of Philadelphia, Pa Yale relatives include Rev Joseph Noyes (B A. 1709) (great-great-great-uncle), and Douglas K. Noyes, '07, and Herbert M. Noyes, '14 (nephews)

General Russell's Collegiate and Commercial Institute, New Haven High oration appointment Junior and Senior years, second Berkeley Prize for excellence in Latin composition Freshman year, on *Yale Daily* News board for a short time, member Linonia and Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Yale Divinity School 1879–83 (B D 1882), ordained in Pilgrim Congregational Church, Duluth, Minn, September 26, 1883, and minister there 1883–94, minister First Congregational Church, Newton Center, Mass, 1894–1929 and minister emeritus since 1929, ad interim minister Second Congregational Church, Waterbury, Conn, 1930 and 1934, resided summers in Newton Center and winters at Daytona Beach where he acted as minister Tourists' Church 1929–36, director American Congregational Association (president 1920–37), served on prudential committee American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions 1904–19 (chairman 1918–19); member commission on interchurch relations and Christian unity and of commission on missions, National Council of the Congregational Churches; on executive committee Congregational Sunday School and Publishing Society; moderator Massachusetts Congregational Conference; attended Lausanne Conference 1927; had published a number of his sermons, D D Middlebury College 1926

Married (1) July 3, 1884, in Bath, Maine, Mary Caroline, daughter of Thomas and Elizabeth Titcomb (Mitchell) Simpson, and sister of Frederick T. Simpson, '79 Children Margaret Elizabeth (B A Wellesley 1907), the wife of Ross Hunt Skinner (B A Univ of Pennsylvania 1905), Alice Louise (died May 19, 1891), and Edward Simpson, '13 (chairman Board of Admissions, Yale University) Mrs. Noyes died July 30, 1892 Married (2) July 6, 1904, in Newton Center, Grace Brewster Alvord (B A Wheaton Coll. 1896), daughter of Rev Frederick Alvord (B A. 1855) and Susan Gridley (Ely) Alvord Children MacArthur, ex-'27, Elizabeth Brewster (B A Wellesley 1928), and Catherine Alvord (B A Wheaton 1930)

Death due to chronic myocarditis Ashes to be interred in Newton (Mass.) Cemetery. Survived by wife, three daughters, two sons, and eight grandchildren, two of whom are Edward MacArthur Noyes, 2d, '40, and Richard C Noyes, '43, and two brothers, Ernest C Noyes, '98, and James H Noyes Another brother, Herbert L Noyes, '84 S, died in 1889

Frederick Abbot Stokes, B.A. 1879.

Born November 4, 1857, in Brooklyn, NY. Died November 15, 1939, in New York City

Father, Frederick Abbot Stokes, a merchant in Detroit, Mich, son of Rev James Osborne Stokes (Univ of Oxford) and Elizabeth (Brett) Stokes of Medina, NY Mother, Caroline Augusta (Allen) Stokes, daughter of Charles Augustus and Jane Bell (Hıllıard) Allen of New York Cıty

Cheshire Academy Oration appointment Junior and Senior years, in Class crew Freshman and Junior years, competed in athletic games Freshman and Senior years (winner quarter-mile event spring games Senior year), and on Class tug-of-war team Senior year; member Dunham Boat Club (on Dunham crew Senior year); treasurer University Baseball Club Senior year, in College Choir Freshman year and Class glee club Sophomore year; usher Junior Exhibition, member Junior Promenade Committee, floor manager Senior Promenade, author parting ode and verses for triennial, member Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Linonia, and Psi Upsilon, graduate member Wolf's Head

Studied law 1879; associated with Dodd, Mead & Company, publishers, New York City, 1880-81; in 1881 organized publishing firm of White & Stokes (later White, Stokes & Allen, Frederick A Stokes & Brother, and since 1890 Frederick A Stokes Company), president of the company since its establishment, publisher and editor The Pocket Magazine 1898-1901; author College Tramps (1880), editor The Poems of Sir John Suckling (1886) and XXIV Bits of Vers de Société (1891), contributed essays to many periodicals; president American Publishers' Association 1911-14 (secretary 1903-07), an organizer in 1920 National Association of Book Publishers which became Book Publishers Bureau in 1938 (vicepresident 1923 and 1928-32, member board of directors 1920-32 and of executive committee 1920-25 and 1927-32), president MacDowell Club 1913–16 (treasurer 1906–08), Aldine Club, Inc. (secretary 1895–97), and Mendelssohn Glee Club 1897–1900, secretary and chairman American Publishers Copyright League; honorary chairman Children's Garden Building Committee since 1927, secretary New York Yale Club 1902-03, member The Pilgrims, attended Church of the Incarnation (Episcopal), New York City.

Married May 10, 1883, in Montpelier, Vt, Ellen-Rebecca, daughter of Stoddard Benham Colby, LLD (BA Dartmouth, 1836), and Ellen (Hunt) Colby Children Frederick Colby (died May 22, 1885), Horace Winston, '09, and Frederick Brett, ex-'11

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn, N Y Survived by wife, two sons, a sister, Miss Una Penn Stokes (died February 18, 1940), and a brother, James Brett Stokes (Princeton ex-'81) of Palm Beach, Fla., and Newport, R I Another brother, Horace S Stokes, '89, died in 1924.

Wıllıam D. Murray, B.A. 1880.

Born July 17, 1858, in New York City. Died November 20, 1939, in Plainfield, N J.

Father, John W. Murray of Plainfield, president Title Guarantee & Trust Company, vice-president German American Insurance Company of New York; son of William and Elizabeth (Ferguson) Murray of New York City Mother, Mary Struthers (Davidson) Murray, daughter of Roger and Jean (Bertram) Davidson of New York City Yale relatives include Murray Rushmore, '13, J Webster Sandford, Jr, ex-'31, and Roger F Murray, 2d, '32 (nephews), and Grace Murray Hopper, M A 1930, Ph D 1934 (niece)

Plainfield High School and private tutor Second Kappa Sigma Epsilon prize for declamation Freshman year; first declamation prize Sophomore year, on Class supper committees Junior and Senior years (chairman Senior year), member Ye Sportsmen, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, and Psi

Upsilon

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1880–82 (LL B 1882), admitted to the bar June 26, 1882, practiced law in New York City 1882 until retirement January 1, 1938; was actively associated with Young Men's Christian Association throughout his life; member International Committee since 1891 (a vice-chairman 1902-32 and a trustee 1910-24), charter member state committee for New Jersey since 1892; treasurer Plainfield association 1884-86, president 1887-98 and 1912-17, president Silver Bay Association for Christian Conferences and Training 1903–16 (chairman board of trustees 1904-39); associated with The Eastern Association School since 1905 (vice-president 1914-30), taught Bible at Northfield student conferences and at Silver Bay 1905–15, an incorporator of Bible House, Constantinople, and secretary-treasurer five years, treasurer board of trustees World Student Christian Federation 1914-39, trustee Student Volunteer Movement for Foreign Missions 1900-37; member National Council, and secretary board of trustees Young Women's Christian Association since 1910, attorney YMCA and YWCA retirement funds for a number of years, delegate Y M C A World Conference, Barman-Elberfeld, 1909 and White House Conference on Child Health and Protection 1931; a founder Boy Scouts of America, member executive board of National Council, and chairman editorial board since 1910, trustee Watchung Area Council 1914–39, awarded Silver Buffalo 1926; author The Life and Works of Jesus, According to St Mark (1900), The Message of the Twelve Prophets (1904), What Manner of Man Is This? (1907), Bible Stories to Tell Children (1910), Principles and Organization of the Young Men's Christian Association (1910), Our Primary Department (1911), Billy of Eighty His Letters (1915), Billy of

Eighty. His Diary (1917), As He Journeyed, The Autobiography of William D. Murray (1929), The History of the Boy Scouts of America (1937) and The Bible and the Child (1940), co-author My Three Keys (1920) and Fun With Paper Folding (1928), editor Daily Readings in the Gospel of Mark (1913) and The Teaching of Bible Classes (1914); during World War member National War Work Council, Young Men's Christian Association, and of committee on work with allied armies and prisoners of war, Y M C A secretary Camp Dix October, 1917–August, 1918, and in the Near East January-June, 1919, treasurer and a trustee Committee on Work John R Mott, Inc., 1929–39, and Glen Alpine Springs School, Morganton, N C (president of the board); member Crescent Avenue Presbyterian Church, Plainfield (elder 1897–1938 and superintendent primary department of the Sunday School 1898–1939)

Married December 28, 1893, in Plainfield, Mary Elizabeth, daughter of George and Sarah (McKeel) Mosher Children George Mosher, '17, and

Jean Bertram (died September 3, 1902)

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage and generalized arteriosclerosis Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Plainfield Survived by wife, son, two grandchildren, three sisters, Mrs Joseph Webster Sandford and Mrs Townsend Rushmore, both of Plainfield, and Augusta M Tilney, the widow of Albert A Tilney, '90, and three brothers, Roger Franklin Murray of Plainfield, James Elwood Murray of Ossining, NY, and Walter F. Murray, '94.

Grant Fitch, B.A. 1881.

Born September 22, 1859, in Milwaukee, Wis Died February 23, 1940, in Milwaukee, Wis

Father, William Grant Fitch, vice-president National Exchange Bank (later Marine National Exchange Bank), Milwaukee, son of Daniel Grant and Sarah Ann (Miller) Fitch of Dayton, Ohio. Mother, Martha Eliza (Curtis) Fitch; daughter of Martin and Eliza (Hitchcock) Curtis of Milwaukee Yale relatives include Thomas Fitch (B A 1721) (great-great-great-great-uncle), and Lawrence Fitch, '98 S (brother)

Milwaukee Academy Class tennis club Senior year, member Class glee club four years, on Junior and Senior Promenade committees, member Dunham Boat Club, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Hé Boulé, and Psi Upsi-

lon

Associated with The National Exchange Bank of Milwaukee since 1881 (assistant teller 1881–82, teller 1882–86, assistant cashier 1886–88, cashier 1888–1906, vice-president 1906–25, president 1925–29, chairman of the board 1929–30, and a director since 1888), retired from active duty in 1930 upon consolidation of The National Exchange Bank and Marine

National Bank of Milwaukee; director Wisconsin Securities Company, Northwestern National Insurance Company of Milwaukee, Northwestern National Casualty Company, Nordberg Manufacturing Company, Western Malleables Company, Beaver Dam, Wis., and Fred M. Prescott Steam Pump Company, treasurer Fatherless Children of France 1918–21, made Officer of the Academy by French Government 1920; was a collector of ship models and engravings, president Yale Alumni Association of Wisconsin; became secretary and treasurer Milwaukee Bankers' Club 1894, member Forest Home Cemetery Committee 1907–15 (chairman 1908–15), Wisconsin State Bankers' Association, Door County and Wisconsin Historical societies, Wisconsin Archeological Society, Society of Colonial Wars, Sons of the American Revolution, and St Paul's Church (Episcopal), Milwaukee (vestryman 1906–15).

Married December 7, 1887, in Milwaukee, Eliza, daughter of Robert and Eliza (Whetten) Eliot and great-great-granddaughter of Jared Eliot (B.A 1706) Children Ruth (B.A Vassar 1912, M.A. Univ of Wisconsin 1914), the wife of Gregory Mason (B.A. Williams 1911; Ph.D. Univ of Southern California 1938), and Eliot Grant, '18.

Death due to pneumonia following an operation. Buried in Forest Home Cemetery, Milwaukee Survived by wife, children, and five grandchildren

Frederick Haile Stebbıns, B.A. 1881.

Born May 24, 1860, in Springfield, Mass Died October 26, 1939, in Springfield, Mass

Father, John Mills Stebbins (B A Dartmouth 1848), a lawyer in Springfield, mayor of Springfield 1874; son of Elihu and Sarah Jay (Hooker) Stebbins of Hinsdale, N H. Mother, Harriet Cornelia (Haile) Stebbins, daughter of William and Sabrana (Show) Haile of Keene, N H. Yale relatives include a brother, Walter G Stebbins, '86

Springfield High School and Springfield Collegiate Institute. Oration appointment Junior year, dissertation appointment Senior year; member The Attic Whist Club, Linonia, Senior Debating Society, Delta Kappa, and Psi Upsilon

Attended Harvard Law School 1881–83, in law office of Judge E B. Maynard, Springfield, 1883–84, admitted to Massachusetts bar 1884; practiced law in Springfield since 1884 (associated with his son since 1935), member Common Council, City of Springfield, 1887 and 1888 and of Massachusetts Land Transfer Commission 1893 and 1894; trustee Hampden Savings Bank since 1896 (president 1919–34), president Springfield Democratic Club, and Yale Alumni Association of Western

Massachusetts for a time, his book collection, which was his hobby, contained volumes on the history of western Massachusetts, a number of 14th and 15th century manuscripts, as well as specimens of early printing, member Memorial Church (undenominational), Springfield, and on parish committee.

Married November 12, 1902, in Springfield, Martha Rumery Adams (B A Smith Coll 1893), daughter of Joseph Sumner and Sarah (Rumery) Adams Son Frederick Adams, '32

Death due to cerebral thrombosis Ashes interred in Oak Grove Cemetery, Springfield Survived by wife and son.

Francis Herbert Tichenor, B.A. 1881.

Born January 29, 1857, in Parishville, NY. Died June 3, 1940, in Peoria, Ill

Father, David Baldwin Tichenor, a farmer and mechanical worker in Parishville; son of John Charles and Betsy (Baldwin) Tichenor of Bridport, Vt. Mother, Mary Clara (Case) Tichenor, daughter of Lemuel Sumner and Elsa Case of Middlebury, Vt

State Normal School, Potsdam, NY, and private tutor Principal school at Heuvelton, N.Y, 1874–77 Dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years, Scott Prize in French Junior year, financial editor Yale Daily News Senior year, Class supper committee Freshman year, chairman Class picture committee Senior year, member Ivy Committee, Junior Rifle Club, University Rifle Club (president Senior year), and Psi Upsilon.

Principal of a grammar school in Washington, DC, and attended George Washington University Law School 1881–83 (LL B 1883), admitted to Illinois bar 1883, practiced law in Peoria 1883 until retirement in 1915 (clerk Jack & Moore 1883–84 and partner 1884–1902, member successive firms of Tichenor, Todd & Wilson, and Tichenor, Todd, Wilson & Barnett); secretary Peoria Law Library Association, director Central National Bank of Peoria, for many years resided winters at Long Beach, Calif, or St Petersburg, Fla, member First Federated Church, Peoria

Married April 25, 1911, in Peoria, Martha Catherine, daughter of Wendelin and Margaret (Hammerle) Hemmerly Son Francis Herbert, Jr.

Death due to uremic poisoning Buried in Springdale Mausoleum, Peoria Survived by wife, son, and a brother, Frederick Case Tichenor of Parishville, N.Y.

George Shepard Boltwood, B.A. 1882.

Born March 2, 1861, in Amherst, Mass Died April 27, 1940, in Grand Rapids, Mich.

Father, Lucius Manlius Boltwood (B A Amherst 1843; graduate Andover Theological Seminary 1847), author, genealogist; assistant librarian of Congress, librarian Amherst College and Young Men's Institute, Hartford, Conn; son of Lucius Boltwood (B A. Williams 1814; M A Hon Amherst 1825) and Fanny Haskins (Shepard) Boltwood of Amherst Mother, Clarinda Boardman (Williams) Boltwood; daughter of Hinckley and Elvira Armenius (Wright) Williams of Goshen, Mass Yale relatives include: Edward Boltwood, '60, Thomas K Boltwood, '64 (uncles), Edward Boltwood, '92, Bertram B Boltwood, '92 S (cousins), and Lucius C Boltwood, '16, and Chester G Boltwood, '23 (nephews)

Hartford Public High School. Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years.

Assistant United States Geological Survey, New Haven, Conn, 1882–83, attended Yale School of Law 1883–85 (LL B 1885); admitted to Michigan bar September, 1885, practiced law in Grand Rapids 1885 until retirement in 1935, with his brother Lucius formed firm of Boltwood & Boltwood in 1887 and in 1892 they were joined by their brother Charles; treasurer Union Benevolent Association Hospital 1905–16 and Blodgett Memorial Hospital 1916–20; director Young Men's Christian Association; on executive board Grand Rapids Anti-Tuberculosis Society; member Grand Rapids Board of Trade, Grand Rapids Credit Men's Association, Kent County Bar Association, American Philatelic Society, Western Michigan Congregational Club (president 1900 and 1901), and Park Church (Congregational), Grand Rapids (trustee 1897–1907, and president of the board 1899–1901)

Married September 1, 1891, in Grand Rapids, Mary Gernon Rice (Vassar ex-'93), daughter of Harvey Adams and Eliza (Gernon) Rice. Daughter Ruth Gernon, the wife of Henry Andrews Babcock (B.S. Massachusetts Inst of Technology 1912, M S 1913, Ph D. Northwestern 1916)

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Oak Hill Cemetery, Grand Rapids Survived by wife, daughter, five granddaughters, two sisters, Fanny Haskins Boltwood (Wellesley 1889–91) and Elvira Wright Boltwood (Vassar 1891–92) of Goshen, Mass., and a brother, Charles W. Boltwood, '90 Another brother, Lucius Boltwood, '83, died in 1938.

Caleb Wright Shipley, B.A. 1882.

Born August 29, 1861, in Cincinnati, Ohio Died April 7, 1940, in Cincinnati, Ohio.

Father, Murray Shipley (St. Xavier Coll 1845–46), a wholesale dry goods merchant in Cincinnati; principal owner Shipley, Doisy & Company, founder Children's Home, Cincinnati, and chairman board of trustees many years; son of Morris and Sarah (Shotwell) Shipley of Uttoxeter, England. Mother, Hannah Davis (Taylor) Shipley, daughter of Caleb Wright and Mary Jordan (Davis) Taylor of Cincinnati Yale relatives include Morris S Shipley, '77, and Murray Shipley, '85 S (brothers); Rev Murray Shipley Howland, '97 (nephew); and Murray S Howland, Jr, '33, and John Christopher Howland, '43 (grandnephews)

Friends' School, Kendal, England, and Chickering Institute, Cincinnati Substitute University Football Team Senior year, in Dunham four-oared crew fall regatta Junior year and captain Dunham Boat Club for a time Senior year; president Hare and Hounds Club Junior year; member '82 Duck Shooters, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Associated with Shipley, Doisy & Company 1882–87, secretary Sechler & Company, Inc, wholesale carriage builders, Cincinnati, 1887–98, vice-president 1904, president 1904–17, and a director, president Trailmobile Company, Cincinnati, 1917 until retirement in 1926, director Lodge & Shipley [Murray, '85 S] Machine Tool Company, Cincinnati, Queen City Warehouse Company, and Highland Carriage Company, trustee Children's Home, Cincinnati 1899–1940 (president of the board 1914–28); member Calvary Church (Episcopal), Clifton, Ohio (vestryman 1898–1916)

Married June 22, 1887, in Cincinnati, Charlotte Harries, daughter of Seth Cutter and Elizabeth Ann (Cooper) Goshorn Children Marguerita (Bryn Mawr ex-'10, died April 25, 1918) and Alfreda (Mrs 'Herman Armstrong Bayless, died May 12, 1931)

Death due to generalized arteriosclerosis and hypertensive heart disease Buried in Spring Grove Cemetery, Cincinnati Survived by wife and one grandson, Shipley A. Bayless, '38

Henry Morton Chase, B.A. 1883.

Born March 28, 1862, in Syracuse, NY. Died March 20, 1940, in Beaufort, SC

Father, Austin Carleton Chase, founder Syracuse Chilled Plow Company (John Deere Company), son of Aurin Moody and Mary Jane (Batchelder) Chase of Whitefield, N H Mother, Harriett Mary (Stev-

ens) Chase, daughter of George and Harriett (Stebbins) Stevens of Syracuse

Syracuse High School Dissertation appointment Junior year; member Yale Orchestra Freshman and Sophomore years; Class deacon three years, treasurer Broadway Sunday School Sophomore year, secretary and treasurer Class gun club Junior and Senior years; member Kappa Sigma Epsilon and Psi Upsilon

Associated with his father in firm of A C Chase & Son (later Chase & Smith), wholesale and retail dealers in pianos and organs, Syracuse, 1883 until retirement 1912 (partner 1885–1912); in later years resided winters

in Beaufort and summers in Constantia, NY.

Married (1) June 9, 1886, in Syracuse, Mary Rowena Burnet. No children Mrs Chase died October 7, 1910 Married (2) February 2, 1912, Katherine F Horan Mrs Chase died March 10, 1921. Married (3) June 20, 1926, in Beaufort, Florence Wood Lengnick, daughter of Ezekiel Jeremiah Charles and Mary Redd (Abercrombie) Wood.

Death due to cerebral arteriosclerosis Buried in St Helena Churchyard, Beaufort. Survived by wife, a stepdaughter, Mrs. Robert Yates Phillips of Boston, Mass., and a stepson, John Marion Lengnick of Beau-

fort

Frank Cunningham, B.A. 1883.

Born March 29, 1860, in Pittston, Pa. Died December 17, 1939, near Daytona Beach, Fla.

Father, William Cunningham; engaged in mining management in Pittston, son of James and Elizabeth (Griffeths) Cunningham of New York City, and Irvington and Tarrytown, N Y Mother, Sarah (Moffat) Cunningham; daughter of John Moffat of Dumfries, Scotland, and New York City Yale relatives include: James Cunningham, '75 S, and John M Cunningham, '76 S (brothers), James Cunningham, '07, W Dickson Cunningham, '15, Lyman H Cunningham, ex-'19 S, and Hugh Ralston Cunningham, '38 (nephews), and Murray Sargent, Jr, '35, and Henry Bradford Sargent, 2d, ex-'40 (great-nephews)

Williston Academy Member Class gun club and Yale chess club Junior and Senior years, member Kappa Sigma Epsilon (president), Delta

Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1883-85 (LL B 1885); admitted to the bar June, 1885, practiced law in New York City 1885 until retirement in 1921 (in office of Anderson & Howland 1885), president Cunningham Realty Company, since retirement had resided in Miami the greater part of the year, president Yale Club of Miami 1936-

38, and honorary president advisory council 1938-39, author of the Yale song *Hadleyburg*; member The Brick Presbyterian Church, New York City.

Married July 15, 1914, in Chicago, Leonie, daughter of Jacob and Narcissa (Burcham) Ruger. Son. Frank Ruger, '38

Mr and Mrs. Cunningham and their son were killed in an automobile accident. Buried in Sleepy Hollow Cemetery, Tarrytown, N Y Survived by no immediate relatives.

Joseph Parker Trowbridge, B.A. 1883.

Born June 8, 1861, in New Haven, Conn Died February 6, 1940, in Mamaroneck, NY

Father, Henry Trowbridge, member firm H Trowbridge's Sons, West India merchants of New Haven and New York City, son of Thomas Rutherford and Caroline (Hoadley) Trowbridge of New Haven. Mother, Lucy Elizabeth (Parker) Trowbridge, daughter of Joseph and Caroline (Mulford) Parker of New Haven Yale relatives include: Daniel Trowbridge (B A 1725) (great-great-great-grand-father); William R H Trowbridge, '63 (uncle), Winston J Trowbridge, '79, Frank D Trowbridge, '84, Elford P Trowbridge, '87, Francis B Trowbridge, '87, William R H Trowbridge, '87, Florence Trowbridge Heaton, ex-'93 Art, and Courtlandt H Trowbridge, ex-'90 Special S. (cousins); and Thomas R Trowbridge, Jr, '31 (nephew)

Hopkins Grammar School Entered Yale College 1878, joined Class of 1883 the next year, member Class whist quartette, Delta Kappa, Hé

Boulé, and Psi Upsilon.

Attended Yale School of Medicine 1883-85, in New York office H Trowbridge's Sons 1885-91, travelled abroad and in United States 1891-1900; special claim agent in freight department New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company 1900 until retirement in 1930, had resided in Mamaroneck since 1922, member Masonic order, and Center Church (Congregational), New Haven

Married December 15, 1893, in Branford, Conn, Catherine Veronica, daughter of David and Catherine (Cavanaugh) Shields Children Kathryn (B S. Barnard 1916), the wife of Paul Joseph McCormick (Columbia ex-'17), Joseph Parker, Jr, and Marion Elizabeth (died July 19, 1904)

Death due to uremic poisoning Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, one daughter, son, three granddaughters, a sister, Miss Katharine B Trowbridge of New Haven, and a brother, Thomas R Trowbridge, ex-'84 S Another brother, Henry Trowbridge, '80, died in 1894.

William Lord Strong, B.A. 1884.

Born June 5, 1863, in Pittston, Pa. Died December 27, 1939, in New Brunswick, N.J

Father, Theodore Strong, president First National Bank of Pittston; son of Rev William Lightbourn Strong (B A. 1802) and Harriet (Deming) Strong of Fayetteville, N.Y Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Benedict) Strong, daughter of Hanford and Mary Ann (Seymour) Benedict of South Norwalk, Conn Yale relatives include Adonijah Strong (M A. Hon 1786) (great-grandfather); Rev Henry P Strong (B A 1807) (great-uncle), William Strong (B A 1828), Newton D. Strong (B A 1831), Rev Edward Strong (B A 1838), and Rev Samuel W Strong (B A 1843) (uncles), Theodore C Strong, '78 (brother), William T Strong, '76, Stuart R Strong, '07 (cousins)

Wilkes-Barre (Pa) Academy Oration appointment Junior year, dissertation appointment Senior year, Class tennis club Senior year, member Class lacrosse club, secretary and treasurer Broadway Sunday School Junior year and librarian Senior year; on Class Day committee Senior

year, member Kappa Sigma Epsilon and Psi Upsilon.

Travelled in Europe 1884–85, salesman in Chicago office Washburn & Moen Manufacturing Company of Worcester 1885–88, in 1888 moved to state of Washington where he resided until 1891, an organizer Bank of Waitsburg in 1889 and president 1889–91, treasurer Spokane Furniture Company, Spokane Falls, Wash, 1888–91, a founder of and associated with The Old Bridge (N J) Enameled Brick and Tile Company 1893 until retirement 1927 (president 1894–1927), director New Brunswick Savings Institution, New Brunswick Young Men's Christian Association, and First National Bank of South River, N J; honorary member Rutgers chapter Phi Beta Kappa, member First Presbyterian Church of New Brunswick (elder since 1907)

Married June 16, 1891, in Spokane, Wash, Dorothy, daughter of Charles Kohler and Catherine (Jones) Wilkisson Children. Theodore, '14, William Lord, Jr., and Dorothy

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Plainfield, N J Survived by wife, children, six grandchildren, and four sisters, Miss Emily Seymour Strong, Miss Caro Strong, Mary Strong Watson (Wellesley ex-'79), wife of William Law Watson of Pittston, and Helen Strong Wray, the wife of Charles Fredenburg Wray (Massachusetts Inst of Technology ex-'95) of Rochester, N Y.

William Gregory Green, B.A. 1885.

Born January 21, 1861, in New Milford, Conn Died April 9, 1940, in Waterbury, Conn

Father, Ethiel Stilson Green, a farmer in New Milford, son of Seymour Bennett and Rhoda Matilda (Strong) Green of New Milford Mother, Mariett (Seeley) Green, daughter of Gregory and Polly (Sherwood) Seeley of Washington, Conn Yale relatives include: Henry S Green, '79 brother), Sherwood S Green, '15 (nephew), and Edward A Green, '30 grandnephew).

Williston Academy First colloquy appointment Junior year, second olloquy appointment Senior year; declamation prize Sophomore year, reshman editor Yale Courant, financial editor Yale Daily News Senior year, secretary Young Men's Christian Association Freshman year, Class leacon four years; assistant treasurer Yale University Boat Club Junior year and president Senior year, president Dunham Boat Club Senior year, member Class tennis club, Gamma Nu, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Associated with Bates, Green & Company (later New Milford Hat Company) 1885–1917 (superintendent 1888–1915, vice-president and nanager 1915–17); office manager Chase Brass & Copper Company, nc, Waterbury, since 1917; director New Milford Savings Bank, on New Milford school committee, member commission on evangelism and levotional life, National Council of the Congregational Churches, 1923–15, moderator Naugatuck Valley Association of Congregational Church, Waterbury (deacon 1923–40).

Married (1) April 29, 1886, in New Milford, Mary Ann, daughter of Sturges L. and Caroline M. Blinn Children: Carolyn May (died Sepember 7, 1887), Gertrude Seeley (B. A. Mount Holyoke Coll. 1910), the vife of Walter Loring Barrows (B. A. Princeton 1907, M. A. Columbia 910), and Marian Rhoda Mrs. Green died April 7, 1898. Married (2) une 28, 1900, in Mount Vernon, N.Y., Charlotte Wells, daughter of Franklin and Almira (Hine) Bennett. No children. Mrs. Green died November 11, 1904. Married (3) September 25, 1906, in New Milford, Grace Hine, daughter of John Sherman and Lucy (Marsh) Turrill. Son: Herbert Seymour (B. A. Franklin and Marshall Coll. 1932)

Death due to acute ulcerative colitis. Buried in Center Cemetery, New Ailford Survived by wife, two daughters, son, and three grandchildren

John McHenry, B.A. 1885.

Born August 29, 1863, in Pikesville, Md Died December 17, 1939, in Chattolanee, Md.

Father, James Howard McHenry (B A Princeton 1840), a gentlemar farmer in Pikesville, son of John and Juliana Eager (Howard) McHenry of Baltimore, Md Mother, Sarah Nicholas (Cary) McHenry; daughter of Colonel Wilson Miles Cary and Jane Margaret (Carr) Cary Yale relatives include: W Cary McHenry, '80 (brother), Fairfax Harrison, '90 Francis Burton Harrison, '95, and Archibald Harrison, '98 (cousins), and J Howard McHenry, '14, Charles M. Stewart, 3d, '17, Gustav L Stewart, Jr, ex-'20, John Stewart, '21, and C. Morton Stewart, Jr, '24 (nephews)

George G Carey's private school, Baltimore Member University Lacrosse Team Sophomore and Junior years, Class lacrosse team and Class tennis club Junior year, secretary and treasurer University Football Club Junior year; member Hé Boulé, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones

Unoccupied 1885–87, associated with Mercantile Trust & Deposii Company of Baltimore (later Mercantile Trust Company) 1887 until retirement in 1930 (assistant secretary and assistant treasurer 1887–1904, treasurer 1904–30), secretary and treasurer Maryland & Pennsylvania Railroad 1901 and later vice-president and director until his death; resided in Owings Mills, Md, since 1911, treasurer for many years Baltimore Chapter American Red Cross, Maryland State chairman Yale Endowment Campaign 1926, treasurer Yale Alumni Association of Maryland 1929–30, member St Thomas' Church (Episcopal), Garrison Forest, Md

Married October 23, 1894, in Green Spring Valley, Md, Priscilla Pinkney, daughter of Charles Morton and Josephine Lürman Stewart Children John, Jr, '17 (killed in action in the Champagne Sector October 3, 1918), Josephine Lürman (died March 2, 1898); James, '20, Juliana Howard, the wife of Robert Lee Randolph (U S Naval Academy 1917), and Priscilla Pinkney, the wife of Duncan Forbes Thayer (B A Harvard 1923)

Death due to an acute heart attack Buried in St Thomas' Church Cemetery, Garrison Forest, Md Survived by wife, two daughters, one son, eight grandchildren, and two sisters, Mrs R Brent Keyser and Mrs. C Morton Stewart, of Baltimore County.

William Maxwell, B.A. 1885.

Born December 7, 1862, in Rockville, Conn Died July 27, 1939, in Rockville, Conn

Father, George Maxwell of Rockville; manufacturer of woollens and worsteds, state senator and representative, son of Sylvester Maxwell (B A 1797) and Tirzah (Taylor) Maxwell Mother, Harriet (Kellogg) Maxwell; daughter of George and Eliza (Noble) Kellogg of Vernon, Conn. Yale relatives include a brother, Robert Maxwell, '87

Rockville High School First dispute appointment Junior year, second dispute appointment Senior year; Class tennis club Sophomore year; participated in athletic games Junior and Senior years, winning bicycle races in collegiate and intercollegiate competition, secretary and treasurer Yale University Bicycle Club Junior and Senior years; member Gamma Nu and Psi Upsilon

Engaged in textile business in Rockville 1885 until retirement 1934, treasurer Springville Manufacturing Company 1887–1934, The Hockanum Mills Company 1905–34, and New England Woollen Mills 1908–34, trustee Savings Bank of Rockville 1897–1938 and president 1911–38, trustee Connecticut Trust & Safe Deposit Company and of its successor The Hartford-Connecticut Trust Company, 1917–39, director New England Company, Minterburn Mills Company, Hartford Fire Insurance Company, Rockville National Bank, Rockville Water & Aqueduct Company, city assessor Rockville 1902–06, member Rockville High School Committee 1890–1915 (secretary and treasurer 1893–1910; chairman 1911–15); corporator Rockville Public Library since 1893 and secretary 1893–1931; on Connecticut committee, American Historical Research Fund, member Connecticut Historical Society and Union Congregational Church, Rockville

Unmarried

Death due to acute pyelitis. Buried in Grove Hill Cemetery, Rockville Survived by a sister, Miss Julia Alice Maxwell, and a brother, Francis Taylor Maxwell, both of Rockville

Richard Salter Storrs, B.A. 1885.

Born May 4, 1865, in Amherst, Mass. Died August 9, 1939, at Indian Lake, N.Y

Father, Rev. Henry Martyn Storrs, D.D., LL.D. (B.A. Amherst 1846), a clergyman, son of Rev. Charles Backus Storrs (Princeton ex-1814) and Vashti Maria (Pierson) Storrs of Ravenna and Hudson, Ohio Mother, Catherine (Hitchcock) Storrs; daughter of Prof. Edward Hitchcock,

DD, LLD (MA. Hon 1818) and Orra (White) Hitchcock of Amherst. Yale relatives include Shubael Conant (B.A. 1732) (great-great-grandfather); John Storrs (B.A. 1756) and Noah Williston (BA 1757) (great-great-grandfathers), Richard S. Storrs (BA 1783) (great-grandfather), Richard S. Storrs (MA. Hon. 1865) (great-uncle), Charles B. Storrs, '82 (brother); and Cleveland H. Storrs, '23 (nephew).

Polytechnic Institute of Brooklyn First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; third composition prize second term Sophomore year, member Freshman Football Team, substitute University Football Team Senior year, Class crew Sophomore and Junior years and University Crew Junior and Senior years, captain Class tug-of-war team three years, president Class football club four years, and of Yale University Football Association Senior year; on Yale Daily News board Senior year;

member Eta Phi and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Travelling agent Wheeler, Parsons & Hayes, wholesale jewellers, New York City, 1885–87 and partner in succeeding firm Hayden W. Wheeler & Company 1887–94, partner in investment banking firm of Storrs & Smith (now Bertron [S Reading, '85], Griscom & Company) 1894 until retirement in 1909, director Orange (N J.) Savings Bank, First National Bank of Orange and Orange Athletic Club, member board of governors Orange Memorial Hospital and treasurer endowment fund since 1924; member and trustee First Church of Orange (Presbyterian).

Married April 18, 1907, in Scranton, Pa., Anna Kingsbury Simpson, daughter of Edward Payson and Anna (Kressler) Kingsbury Son

Richard Salter, Jr, '32 Mrs Storrs died August 19, 1921

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Rosedale Cemetery, Orange, N J Survived by son, a grandson, a stepson, Edward K Simpson of Orange, and two stepgrandsons, one of whom is Richard C Berens, '40.

William Burton Goodwin, B.A. 1886.

Born January 11, 1864, in Biddeford, Maine. Died May 30, 1940, in New York City

Father, John Munroe Goodwin (B A. Bowdom 1845), a lawyer in Biddeford, member Maine House of Representatives and Maine Senate, son of John and Abigail (Brown) Goodwin of Limington, Maine Mother, Harriet Proctor (Herrick) Goodwin; daughter of Benjamin Jones and Mary (Conant) Herrick of Alfred, Maine.

Phillips-Exeter Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, coxswain Class crew four years; member Yale University Tennis Club, Class Day committee, and Psi Upsilon

Studied law with his father 1886–89, admitted to the bar January 8,

1890; in office of Norwood & Coggeshall (later Norwood & Dilley), lawyers, New York City, 1890–95, associated with Gould & Wilkie, New York City, since 1895 (member of the firm for many years and senior member at time of death), chairman Forty-year reunion committee and on Class dinner committee several years, member Sons of the Revolution in the State of New York, Association of the Bar of the City of New York, New York State Bar Association, and American Bar Association; vestryman St. Michael's Church (Episcopal), New York City, until about 1913, member St Thomas' Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Married September 26, 1893, in Watertown, NY, Mary, daughter of David Hobart and Harriet (Remington) Hills Daughter Helen, the wife of James McKinley Rose (B.A. Princeton 1913, LLB Columbia 1917) Mrs. Goodwin died September 27, 1934

Death due to heart disease Buried in Laurel Hill Cemetery, Saco, Maine. Survived by daughter, and two grandchildren

Charles Edward Hellier, B.A. 1886.

Born July 8, 1864, in Bangor, Maine. Died April 28, 1940, in Marion, Mass

Father, Walter Schermerhorn Hellier, a manufacturer in Bangor, son of John and Eliza (Daggett) Hellier of Bangor Mother, Eunice (Bixby) Hellier, daughter of Rufus and Betsey (Weston) Bixby of Norridgewock, Maine Yale relatives include. George H Bixby, '86, and Harry L Bixby, '93 (cousins), and James E Hellier, '26 (nephew)

Bangor High School Competed in single scull race fall regatta Senior year and winner of that event in spring regatta; captain Dunham Boat Club Senior year; on Class Day committee, member Class tennis club, Yale Polo Team Junior year, Yale Natural History Society, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Took courses in law and art University of Berlin 1886–87, attended Boston University School of Law 1887–89 (LL B 1890) and studied in offices of Robert M Morse 1888–90; admitted to bar 1889, practiced law in Boston 1890–1920 (associated with Robert H Morse until 1919) and in New York City 1920–28, resided in Marion after retirement in 1928, president Elkhorn Coal & Coke Company and The Big Sandy Company 1891–1919, organizer Metropolitan Coal Company 1898 and Massachusetts Breweries Company 1902, director Eastern Automatic Telephone Company and Automatic Telephone Equipment Company, fellow American Geographical Society, on Class reunion committee 1921, member citizen's examining committee of Boston Public Library, Massachusetts Horticultural Society, Massachusetts Society of Natural His-

tory, Suffolk County, Massachusetts State, New York State, and American Bar associations, American Academy of Political and Social Science and New Old South Church (Congregational), Boston.

Married July 8, 1886, in New Haven, Conn, Mary Lavinia, daughter of George M and Mary (Foy) Harmon Children Mary Louise, Walter Harmon, '16, Edward Whittier (Massachusetts Inst of Technology ex-'18), and John, ex-'21 (died September 25, 1933) Mrs Hellier diec August 5, 1937

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Mount Hope Cemetery Bangor Survived by daughter, two sons, and four grandchildren.

Edward Lincoln Smith, B.A. 1886.

Born April 6, 1865, in Montpelier, Vt. Died June 24, 1940, in Seattle, Wash.

Father, Carlos Lilley Smith, a merchant in Montpelier, son of William Sidney and Phylura (Lilley) Smith of Montpelier. Mother, Catherine Holden (Chapin) Smith; daughter of Joseph and Catherine (Holden) Chapin of Montpelier Yale relatives include a nephew, Edward Lincoln Smith, 2d, '34

Washington County Grammar School, Montpelier Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years, librarian North Church Mission two years, delegate to college Y M C A. conventions three years, Class Ivy Committee, member Hare and Hounds Club.

Teacher Easton (Conn) Academy 1886–87, attended Yale Divinity School 1887-90 (BD. 1890; Commencement speaker), member Yale Washington Band, ordained in Congregational church, Genesee, Idaho, November 7, 1890, and minister there 1890–93, minister First Congregational Church, Walla Walla, Wash., 1893-98 and member Walla Walla Board of Education, a founder Pilgrim Church, Seattle, and minister 1899-1912 and 1921-23, corresponding secretary American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions, with offices in New York City, 1912-21, minister Queen Anne Church, Seattle, 1924 until retirement in 1929, DD Whitman College 1904; author Two Warriors (1931), Six Studies in the Acts of the Apostles (1931), "The Heart of the Gospel" in Three Sermons by Three Members of the Yale Band in Washington (1932), . (1934), delegate World Missionary Conference, and Five Psalms Edinburgh, 1910, trustee Peiping University and Madura College, India, director Congregational State Conference, Congregational Church Extension Society, and Pilgrim Foundation (University of Washington); on nominating committee and commission on denominational history National Council of Congregational Churches; member Seattle school board 1903-06 and 1924-30 (president 1926-27), vice-president Yale

1

Club of Seattle 1909; Class agent Yale Alumni University Fund 1917–21 and 1922–24; member New England Society in the City of New York and Sons of the American Revolution

Married October 26, 1898, in Walla Walla, Wash, Rosalie Imogen, daughter of Dr Dorsey Syng Baker and Elizabeth (Milliken) Baker No children.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Burned in Walla Walla Cemetery. Survived by wife, two sisters, Mrs Charles E Wilson of Muskegon, Mich, and Miss Catherine Chapin Smith of Montpelier, and a brother, Walter Philip Smith (B A Williams Coll 1902) of Seattle

Andrew Frink Gates, B.A. 1887.

Born October 22, 1862, in Lebanon, Conn Died June 6, 1940, in Lebanon, Conn

Father, William Frederick Gates, a farmer in Lebanon, son of William Pitt and Julia Maria (Frink) Gates of Windham and Lebanon Mother, Ellen Maria (Ford) Gates; daughter of Ezekiel and Sally (Burnham) Ford of Lebanon

Natchaug High School, Willimantic, Conn First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; second English composition prize first term Sophomore year, financial editor Yale Literary Magazine Senior year and editor Yale Banner, member The Pundits, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Chi Delta Theta

Attended Yale School of Law 1887-89 (LL.B 1889, member Corbey Court, president Kent Club); admitted to the bar June, 1889; practiced law in Hartford 1889-1903; attorney and member publicity bureau Travelers' Insurance Company and on legal staff Ætna Life Insurance Company since 1903, assistant clerk Connecticut House of Representatives sessions of 1889 and 1891, and clerk session of 1893, clerk State Senate 1895, prosecuting attorney Hartford City Court, State tax commissioner 1901-05, a State railroad commissioner 1905-10 (chairman), chairman Republican State Central Committee 1902-04, member Hartford Board of Education 1892-95 and superintendent of schools 1895-98, secretary Class of 1887 from 1887 to 1893 and issued Triennial record of the Class (1891).

Married November 9, 1893, in Hartford, Alice Louise, daughter of John Hopestill Welch (M D Berkshire Medical Institution 1848) and Elizabeth Mary (Bell) Welch (graduate Mount Holyoke 1847), and granddaughter of Benjamin Welch (M D Hon 1838) Children Elizabeth Wêlch (B A Mount Holyoke 1917) and Margaret Welch, the wife of Rev Francis Bunnell Creamer (Trinity Coll 1919–21, graduate Berkeley Divinity School 1924)

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Windham Cemetery. Survived by wife, daughters, three grandchildren, and a brother, Arthur William Gates of Williamntic

John Rogers, B.A. 1887.

Born February 19, 1866, in New York City Died November 19, 1939, in New York City.

Father, John Rogers of New Canaan, Conn, sculptor, member National Academy, son of John and Sarah Ellen (Derby) Rogers of Boston Mother, Harriet Moore (Francis) Rogers, daughter of Charles Stephen and Catherine Rebecca (Jewett) Francis of New York City and Tarrytown, N Y

King School, Stamford, Conn Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years, captain Class boat club four years and member Class crew three years, on Freshman Football Team, judge spring regatta University Boat Club Freshman year; on University Crew Junior and Senior year (captain Senior year), member Yale Yacht Club; chairman Junioi Promenade Committee, member Eta Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones

Attended Sheffield Scientific School 1887–88 (Ph B 1888) and College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1888–91 (M.D. 1891) interne New York Hospital 1891–93, practiced medicine and surgery ir New York City 1893-1939; assistant demonstrator of anatomy College of Physicians and Surgeons, July 1, 1895-January 1, 1896, assistant in structor in histology Cornell University Medical College 1898, demon strator of anatomy 1898-99, instructor in surgery 1898-1902, and ir clinical surgery 1902-09, professor of clinical surgery 1909-26 and professor emeritus since 1926, secretary to the medical faculty in New York City 1898–1909, visiting surgeon Gouveneur Hospital 1895–1909, St Francis Hospital 1902-21, and Bellevue Hospital 1909-30, consulting surgeon Hospital for the Ruptured and Crippled, New York Infirmary for Women and Children, Memorial Hospital, Stamford and Sharor (Conn) hospitals, chief of staff Booth Memorial Hospital where for many years he maintained a free clinic, since 1895 engaged in research or the disease of the thyroid gland, supported a research laboratory at Cor nell University Medical College since 1920 and there directed various lines of research, co-author A Manual of Operative Surgery (1895), con tributed many articles to medical journals, fellow American Laryngo logical Society and American College of Surgeons, member New York Academy of Medicine, New York Surgical Society, Medical societies of the State and County of New York, American Medical Association, and Boone and Crockett Club

Married November 27, 1895, in New Haven, Conn, Elizabeth Selden, daughter of Charles Atwood White (B A. 1854) and Frances Spencer (Eaton) White, and granddaughter of Henry White (B A 1821) Children John, Jr, '20 S.; Charles White (died April 26, 1903), and Elizabeth Selden (B A. Vassar 1928; LL B Yale 1931), the wife of Francis Harding Horan (B.A. Dartmouth 1922, LL B Harvard 1926)

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage Survived by wife, daughter, one son, three grandchildren, a sister, Miss Katherine Rebecca Rogers of New Canaan, Conn., and four brothers, Charles F Rogers, '90 S, Derby Rogers, '93, Alexander P. Rogers, '94 S, and David F. Rogers, '98

Laurance Johnson Carmalt, B.A. 1888.

Born September 3, 1866, in New York City Died June 24, 1940, in New Haven, Conn

Father, William Henry Carmalt (MD Columbia 1861, MA Hon Yale 1881 and LL D. 1929), professor of ophthalmology and otology Yale University 1879-81 and professor of principles and practice of surgery 1881–1907, member board of directors General Hospital Society of Connecticut; established Beaumont Lectureship at Yale, son of Caleb and Sarah (Price) Carmalt of Friendsville, Pa Mother, Laura Woolsey (Johnson) Carmalt, daughter of William Samuel Johnson (M A Hon 1819) and Laura (Woolsey) Johnson Yale relatives include Benjamin Woolsey (B A. 1709), Samuel Johnson (B A 1714), and Jonathan Edwards (B A. 1720) (great-great-great-grandfathers), Timothy Dwight (B.A. 1744), William S Johnson (B A 1744), Benjamin Woolsey (B A. 1744) (great-great-grandfathers); William Johnson (B A 1748) (greatgreat-great-uncle), Timothy Dwight (B A. 1769), Robert C Johnson (BA 1783), Theodore Dwight (M.A. Hon 1798), Nathaniel Dwight (M A. Hon. 1815) (great-great-uncles), Samuel W. Johnson (B A 1779) (great-grandfather), John M. Woolsey (B A 1813), William C Woolsey (BA 1813), Thoedore D Woolsey (B.A 1820), Edwards Johnson (B.A 1823), Robert C. Johnson (M.A. Hon 1830) (great-uncles), and Woolsey Carmalt, '83 (cousin)

Hillhouse High School, New Haven First dispute appointment and exhibition speaker Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year; third English composition prize Sophomore year, judge fall regatta Yale University Boat Club Sophomore year; on Yale Athletic Team Junior year; member Yale Assembly.

Attended Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1888–90, engaged in engineering work in southwestern Virginia 1890, in maintenance of way department Norfolk & Western Railway Company at Roanoke, Va, 1891–93; assistant engineer and later roadmaster Southern Railway Com-

pany, Greensboro, NC, 1894-98; roadmaster subdivision No 3 at Peekskill and then division engineer at Corning, New York Central & Hudson River Railroad 1898-99, assistant engineer United States Engineer Corps, Puerto Rico, 1900-01; first assistant engineer Long Island Railroad Company, 1901-08, vice-president Baldwin Engineering Company, New York City, 1909-10, engineer maintenance of way and later assistant to chief engineer New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company 1911-21, consulting civil engineer New Haven 1921-33, supervising engineer and planning advisor Civil Works Administration and Federal Emergency Relief Administration 1933 until retirement 1935, chairman Hamden (Conn) Zoning Commission 1928-35 and member New Haven Zoning Commission 1930-35; on advisory committee New England Regional Planning Commission, National Resources Board, 1934, author. Guide Book of New Haven and Yale University (1933), contributed to engineering journals, director Society of Terminal Engineers and Sleeping Giant Park Association; member Hamden Chamber of Commerce (vice-president 1937–39), Connecticut Chamber of Commerce, Connecticut Forest and Park Association, Connecticut Society of Civil Engineers, Yale Engineering Association, American Institute of City Planning, American Planning and Civic Association, American Society of Civil Engineers (president Connecticut Section), and Christ Church (Episcopal), Stratford, Conn

Married February 14, 1906, in Philadelphia, Helen Frances Clay (Yale School of Music 1924–25), daughter of Alfred Lausatt and Helen Frances (O'Callahan) Clay Adopted daughter Marjorie Ashmead (Barnard Coll 1934–35), the wife of Henry Chittenden Barbour, '34 S. Mrs. Car-

malt died May 2, 1927

Death due to hypernephroma and generalized metastases. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by daughter, a grandson, and two sisters, Miss Geraldine W Carmalt (certificate of art Yale 1896), and Miss Ethel Carmalt of New Haven.

Thomas Frederick Sanford, B.A. 1888.

Born December 8, 1864, in Redding, Conn. Died September 12, 1939, in Berkeley, Calif

Father, Thomas Sanford, town and county official in Redding, member Connecticut General Assembly 1856 and 1877, son of Jonathan Russell and Maria (Davies) Sanford of Redding Center Mother, Charlotte Ann Avery (Hewitt) Sanford, daughter of Cyrus and Eunice (Avery) Hewitt of Lenox, Mass Yale relatives include: Harrison Hewitt, '97, and Mary Hewitt Mitchell (Ph D 1901) (cousins)

Hopkins Grammar School First colloquy appointment Junior year,

oration appointment, one-year honors in English and two-year honors in ancient languages Senior year, editor Yale Record 1884-85

Attended Yale Graduate School 1888–90 and 1891–92 and University of Leipzig 1890–91, instructor in Latin Drury College 1892–93, member faculty University of California since 1893 (instructor in English 1893–97; assistant professor of English literature 1897–1919, and associate professor 1919–20, associate professor of English 1920–31, professor 1931–35, and professor emeritus 1935–39); member Skull and Keys

Married May 21, 1913, in San Francisco, Florence Thurston, daughter of John Howard Hincks, '72, and Jennie King (Thurston) Hincks No children.

Death due to hemophilia Buried in Madrone Cemetery, Saratoga, Calif Survived by wife and a sister, Miss Mary Avery Sanford of Berkeley.

Lewis Sheldon Welch, B.A. 1889.

Born July 9, 1867, in Hartford, Conn Died March 29, 1940, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Henry Kirke White Welch (B A 1842) Mother, Susan Leavitt (Goodwin) Welch Yale relatives include Rev Daniel Welch (B A 1749) (great-great-grandfather), Rev. Moses C Welch (B A 1772) (great-grandfather), Sheldon C Leavitt (B.A 1802), George Goodwin (B A 1806), Richard E Goodwin (B A 1807), and Jonathan A Welch (B.A 1813) (great-uncles), Edward Goodwin (B A 1823) and Archibald Welch (M D Hon 1836) (grandfathers), Rev Moses C Welch (B A 1850) and Sheldon Goodwin (B A 1858) (uncles); Arthur S Goodwin, ex-'00 (cousin), and Franklin D W Glazier, '04, W Stuart Glazier, '06, and Philip A Glazier, ex-'07 S (nephews)

Hartford Public High School Oration appointment Junior year, dissertation appointment and Commencement speaker Senior year; second declamation prize Sophomore year, first Junior exhibition prize, editor Yale Literary Magazine Senior year, assistant superintendent United Church Mission School three years, member Junior Promenade Committee, Committee to Preserve the Fence, Yale Assembly, Porter Literary Society, Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, Scroll and Key, and Chi Delta Theta

On staff New Haven Register 1889–90 and associate editor 1893–95, city editor Hartford Courant 1890–93, founder and first graduate editor Yale Alumni Weekly 1895–96, established the magazine as permanent graduate publication and published and edited it until September, 1906, under supervision of an advisory board of graduates, New Haven representative Phoenix Mutual Life Insurance Company since 1909, president and treasurer Lewis S. Welch, Inc., general insurance, New Haven, since

1928, vice-president Life Underwriters' Association of New Haven 1927–28 and president 1928–29, director Brick Row Print and Book Shop 1922-25 and Grace Hospital 1927-29, member Committee on Revision of the City Charter, New Haven Chamber of Commerce (chairman town and city improvement committee 1909-15, a vice-president 1921-25, director 1923-26), and Municipal Building Commission; chairman executive committee New Haven Thrift Week Committee 1924, chairman New Haven Branch, Military Training Camps Association; member Troop A, Connecticut State Guard, and civilian aide to Adjutant General of the United States during World War, treasurer New Haven branch Veterans Association of the Second Military District, 1921; vice-president Yale Alumni Association of New Haven 1921-22, representative on Alumni Board 1923-26 (member executive committee); member executive committee Yale-in-China 1903-08, and on the council 1908-34; secretary Kingsley Trust Association 1898–1908; chairman Class committee and member reunion committees since 1899; co-author Yale, Her Campus, Class-Rooms, and Athletics (1899), author of a number of poems and pamphlets and contributed to Atlantic Monthly, honorary member Elihu Club, member national executive committee Sentinels of the Republic, New Haven chapter National Aeronautic Association, Elizabethan Club, and United Church (Congregational), New Haven (deacon 1918-21)

Married December 8, 1897, in South Glastonbury, Conn, Mary Stuart, daughter of William Stuart and Mary Edwards (Goodwin) Williams, granddaughter of Solomon Williams (ex-1803) and George Goodwin (B A. 1806), great-granddaughter of Thomas Williams (B A. 1748), and sister of George G Williams, '80 S Children. Emily Williams (B A Vassar 1921, Yale Graduate School and Yale School of Music 1922–23), the wife of James Greil (Cornell ex-'29); Frances Goodwin (Columbia Univ 1935–39), and Elizabeth Edwards (B.A. Smith Coll 1927, M A Columbia 1932).

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford Survived by wife (died August 17, 1940), daughters, a grand-daughter, Mary Stuart Greil, a sister, Mrs. Bernard T. Williams, and a brother, Henry Kirke White Welch, both of Hartford. Another brother, Archibald A Welch, '82, died in 1935

Andrew Ludwig Winters, B.A. 1889.

Born October 11, 1864, in Reading, Pa. Died June 15, 1940, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, Isaac Winters, a shoe merchant in Reading Mother, Mary Ann (Flower) Winters; daughter of Samuel and Elizabeth (Cassel) Flower of Maiden Creek, Pa

Schuylkıll Seminary, Reading, and Reading High School. High oration appointment Junior and Senior years, member Phi Gamma Delta and Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Yale School of Law 1889-90, teacher of mathematics and Latin Harvard School, Chicago, 1890-91, read law and acted as private tutor, Chicago, 1891-92, admitted to Illinois bar May, 1892, practiced law independently in Chicago 1892-1913, member firm Winters, Price & Stevens 1913-23 and its successor Winters, Stevens, Risk & Griffith 1923-30; associated with law firm of Stevens & Carrier since 1930, attended Union Church (Congregational), Auburn Park, Ill (trustee 1902-12).

Married December 31, 1891, in Norwich, Conn, Lillian, daughter of Charles Robinson and Mary Augusta (Morse) Prior Children. Charles Prior (B A Univ. of Illinois 1915); Dorothy Flower, the wife of John Edwin Lonn, Jr; and Lawrence Morse (B A Univ. of Illinois 1918).

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Mount Hope Cemetery, Chicago Survived by wife, children, and one grandchild.

John Dorrance Farnham, B.A. 1890.

Born December 28, 1867, in Wilkes-Barre, Pa. Died April 14, 1940, in Sayre, Pa

Father, Alexander Farnham, a lawyer in Wilkes-Barre, delegate Republican National Convention 1880 and 1892; son of John Perry and Mary Frances (Steere) Farnham of Carbondale, Pa. Mother, Emily Augusta (Dorrance) Farnham; daughter of Rev John Dorrance, DD, and Penelope (Mercer) Dorrance of Wilkes-Barre.

Harry Hillman Academy, Wilkes-Barre. First colloquy appointment Junior year, second dispute appointment Senior year; on Freshman Football Team, member Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Skull and Bones

Studied law with his father 1890–92, admitted to Pennsylvania bar September, 1892, attended Harvard Law School 1892–93, practiced law in Wilkes-Barre 1893–1940, specializing in Pennsylvania municipal and inheritance law, counsel Taxpayers' Association of Wyoming Valley for many years; assistant district attorney Luzerne County 1901–03, delegate Republican State Convention 1900, president Yale Alumni Association of the Wyoming Valley 1927–28; sergeant Company B, 9th Pennsylvania Regiment, and saw service during Homestead riots 1892, on board of directors Kirby Memorial Health Center and member Wilkes-Barre Board of Health, director bureau of development as well as assistant chairman and later chairman Wyoming Valley Chapter, American Red Cross, during World War; member First Presbyterian Church, Wilkes-Barre.

Married June 17, 1911, in Wilkes-Barre, Jean Buckalew, daughter of

Levi Ellmaker Waller (B A Lafayette Coll 1873) and Alice Mary (Buckalew) Waller, and sister of Charles B Waller, '12. Children Waller, '35, and Augusta Dorrance, the wife of Raymond Louis Evans (M.D. Univ of Cincinnati 1929) Mrs. Farnham died January 3, 1939.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Burned in Hollenback Cemetery, Wilkes-Barre Survived by children, and a sister, Stella Mercer Farnham Warriner, the wife of Samuel Dexter Warriner (B A. Amherst 1888, B S and E M Lehigh Univ 1890) of Philadelphia.

James Montfort Irvin, B.A. 1890.

Born December 4, 1868, in Dayton, Ohio. Died December 14, 1939, in Oakwood, Ohio

Father, James Baxter Irvin, a schoolteacher in Dayton; son of Andrew and Sarah (Shipley) Irvin of Morrow, Ohio. Mother, Ellen Sutphin (Montfort) Irvin, daughter of Arthur and Elinor (Hall) Montfort of South Lebanon, Ohio. Yale relatives include a brother, Obed W. Irvin, '87

Dayton High School

Attended business college summer 1890, in office of Lowe Brothers Company, manufacturers of paints and dealers in window glass, Dayton, 1890–91, and travelling agent for this company in middle west 1891–97, with his brothers Horace A and Obed W Irvin founded Irvin Paint & Glass Company (later The Irvin, Jewell and Vinson Company), Dayton, 1897 (treasurer 1897–1906, secretary 1897–1925, vice-president and general manager 1925–35, and president 1935–39), mayor of Oakwood 1914–15, member Masonic order, Christ Church (Episcopal), Dayton, and St. Paul's Church (Episcopal), Oakwood

Married (1) July 9, 1895, in Dayton, Annie Catherine, daughter of Henry Lothrop and Susan (Gebhart) Pope. Son James Baxter (United States Naval Academy 1917–18) Mrs Irvin died in 1900. Married (2) June 7, 1905, in Oakwood, Laulette Ledoux, daughter of Marcus Junius and Louisiana (Scott) Parrott Daughter. Laulette Louise (B.A. Goucher Coll 1934, M.A. Columbia 1935)

Death due to coronary sclerosis. Buried in Woodland Cemetery, Dayton. Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Mrs William T. Wuichet.

Abram Garrison McClintock, B.A. 1890.

Born April 3, 1868, in Allegheny City, Pa Died August 2, 1939, in Princeton, NJ.

Father, Walter Lowrie McClintock, B A 1862 Mother, Mary (Garrison) McClintock Yale relatives include Oliver McClintock, '61, Wash-

ngton McClintock, ex-'69, Thompson McClintock, '70, Frank T McClintock, '75 (uncles), Clarence Oliver McClintock, ex-'96 (brother), Norman McClintock, '91, Walter McClintock, '91, Harvey C McClintock, '03, Frank S McClintock, '07, Bowdoin U McClintock, '07, and Kenneth McClintock, ex-'13 S (cousins); and Charles A H de Saulles, Jr., '27 S. (nephew)

St. Paul's School, Concord, NH, and private tutor Freshman Basepall Team, University Baseball Team three years, Freshman Glee Club and second glee club Sophomore year; chairman Junior Promenade Committee, on Class supper committee Senior year, cup man, president St Paul's School Club Senior year; member New Haven Assembly,

Renaissance Club, Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key

In employ of A Garrison Foundry Company, manufacturers of rolls and rolling-mill machinery, Pittsburgh, 1890–96, unoccupied 1896–1901 because of ill-health, in office of general freight agent, Southern Railway Company, Washington, D C, 1901–03; private secretary to George Shiras, '83 L, United States Congressman from Pennsylvania, 1903–05, issistant journal clerk United States Senate 1907–14, member firm of Fitch, Fox & Brown, real estate brokers, Washington, 1914 until retirement in 1932; in recent years resided with his daughter in Princeton, ittached to Bureau of Naval Intelligence 1917–18, member Washington Cathedral, and Trinity Church (Episcopal), Princeton

Married April 3, 1894, in South Bethlehem, Pa, Armide, daughter of Arthur Brise de Saulles (Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst 1859) and Catherine Margaret (Heckscher) de Saulles, and sister of Charles A H de Saulles, 99 S., and John L. de Saulles, ex-'oi S Daughter Katherine Garrison grad Peabody Inst 1925, Mrs. McClintock Ellis) Mrs McClintock

hed December 3, 1933

Death due to uremia Buried in Allegheny Cemetery, Pittsburgh Surved by daughter and two grandchildren, one of whom is Franklin Henry Ellis, Jr, '41

Henry Opdyke, B.A. 1890.

Born August 27, 1870, in Brooklyn, NY. Died January 8, 1940, in Albany, NY.

Father, Henry Beach Opdyke (B A New York Univ 1860), of Plaineld, N J, former member banking firm of George Opdyke & Comany; son of George and Elizabeth Hall (Stryker) Opdyke of New York Lity Mother, Miriam Blagdon (Whiton) Opdyke, daughter of James Morris Whiton (M A Hon 1856) and Mary Elizabeth (Knowlton) Whiton of Boston, Mass. Yale relatives include John M Whiton (B A. 805) (great-grandfather); James M Whiton (B A 1853) and John Milon Whiton, ex-1863 S. (uncles)

Leal's School for Boys, Plainfield High oration appointment Junior year, oration appointment and one-year honors in political science, history, and law Senior year; on board Yale Literary Magazine Senior year, Townsend Premium Senior year; member '90 Literary Society, Gamma

Nu, Delta Kappa Epsilon, Chi Delta Theta, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Studied law in office of Bristow, Peet & Opdyke, New York City, and special student Columbia University Law School 1891–92, admitted to bar between 1892 and 1897, in office of Wetmore & Jenner, lawyers, New York City, 1892–97, practiced law independently in New York City 1897–1922, deputy to receiver American Loan & Trust Company 1899–1902, moved to Albany 1922 and until 1925 spent major part of time working on history of Delaware and Hudson Company (published in 1925 under title A Century of Progress), retired in 1925 and spent some time in free lance writing for magazines, progressive candidate from 15th Assembly district New York City for State legislature 1914 and also a candidate in 1927, on executive committee Yale Alumni Association of Northeastern New York 1928–29, member Bar Association of the City of New York, attended St Andrew's Church (Episcopal), Albany.

Married April 30, 1919, in New York City, Josephine, daughter of

Joseph and Hannah (Blodgett) Doane No children.

Death due to arteriosclerosis Ashes interred in Mount Pleasant Cemetery, Newark, N J Survived by wife

Harvey [Williams] Cushing, B.A. 1891.

Born April 8, 1869, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died October 7, 1939, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Henry Kirke Cushing, LL.D. (B A. Union Coll 1848; M D. Univ of Pennsylvania 1851), a physician in Cleveland, professor of obstetrics and gynecology Western Reserve Medical School; trustee Western Reserve University, surgeon major 7th Ohio Volunteer Infantry during Civil War; son of Erastus Cushing (M D. Berkshire Medical Institution 1824) of Cleveland and Mary Ann (Platt) Cushing of Lanesboro, Mass Mother, Betsey Maria (Williams) Cushing; daughter of William and Lucy (Fitch) Williams of Cleveland. Yale relatives include William W. Crehore, '86, Albert C. Crehore, '90, Perry W. Harvey, '91, Allyn F Harvey, '93, Edward M Williams, '93, Louis W. Ladd, '95, Lewis M Williams, '98, and M Clark Harvey, '99 (cousins); and Kirke W Cushing, '15, E Harvey Cushing, '19, and Benedict Crowell, Jr, ex-'34 (nephews).

Cleveland Central High School. Oration appointment Junior and Senior years, Freshman Baseball Team, winner horizontal bar, winter athletic games Freshman year; University Baseball Team three years; editor Yale Pot-Pourri Senior year; Senior Promenade Committee, member Hé Boulé, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Scroll and Key

Attended Harvard Medical School 1891–95 (M D cum laude and M A 1895); did work in experimental neurology under Hugo Kronecker and Theodor Kocher in Bern and Charles S Sherrington in Liverpool 1900-01; house officer on south surgical service Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, 1895–96; instructor in surgery Johns Hopkins University 1897–98, assistant 1898–99, associate 1899–1903, associate professor 1903-12; member Board of Medical Studies 1903-10, assistant resident surgeon Johns Hopkins Hospital 1896-97, resident surgeon 1897-1900, associate in surgery 1904-12, director Hunterian Laboratory 1908-12; professor of surgery Harvard University 1910-12, Moseley Professor of Surgery 1912-32, and Moseley Professor emeritus 1932-39, surgeon-in-chief Peter Bent Brigham Hospital 1912-32 and surgeon-in-chief emeritus 1932-39, Sterling Professor of Neurology Yale University 1933-37 and Sterling Professor emeritus 1937-39, director of studies in the history of medicine 1937-39, consulting neurologist New Haven Hospital 1933-39, member Board of Permanent Officers Yale School of Medicine 1933-39; an active member committee on the new medical library—one wing of which was planned to receive his collection of medical-historical books and papers, associate fellow Trumbull College 1933-39.

Took first Harvard Unit to France March, 1915, and spent three months at American Ambulance Hospital at Neuilly-sur-Seine, commissioned Major, Medical Corps, April 17, 1917, promoted Lieutenant Colonel June 6, 1918, and Colonel October 23, 1918, overseas May 11, 1917–February 20, 1919, as director US Army Base Hospital No 5 (Harvard Medical School Unit), which served with General Hospital No. 11 of British Expeditionary Force at Camiers April-November, 1917, and General Hospital No 13 at Boulogne November, 1917-February, 1919; saw special service at several British Casualty Clearing Stations and was mentioned in General Haig's dispatches, in June, 1918, detached for service with A E F. as senior consultant in neurological surgery attached to Headquarters Medical and Surgical Consultants at Neufchâteau, discharged April 9, 1919, Companion of the Bath (Military) 1919, Chevalier Légion d'Honneur 1922 and Officier 1927, awarded Distinguished Service Medal 1923 "for exceptionally meritorious and distinguished service in a position of great responsibility. As senior consultant of neurological surgery, American Expeditionary Forces, and in direct charge of the treatment of gunshot wounds of the head in hospitals of the 1st Army, American Expeditionary Forces, during the Meuse-Argonne offensive, he performed conspicuous and distinguished service to the Government, and through his individual efforts in that capacity saved the lives of many seriously wounded soldiers"

Author The Pituitary Body and Its Disorders (1912), Tumors of the Nervus Acusticus (1917), The Story of the US Army Base Hospital No 5 (1919), The Life of Sir William Osler (1925; awarded Pulitzer Prize 1926), A Classification of the Tumors of the Glioma Group (with P Bailey, 1926), Studies in Intracranial Physiology and Surgery (1926), The Pathological Findings in Four Autopsied Cases of Acromegaly (with L M Davidoff, 1927), Tumors Arising From the Blood-vessels of the Brain (with P Bailey; 1928), Consecratio Medici and Other Papers (1928), Intracranial Tumours (1932), Papers Relating to the Pituitary Body, Hypothalamus and Parasympathetic Nervous System (1932), From a Surgeon's Journal 1915–18 (1936), Meningiomas (with L. Eisenhardt; 1938), and The Medical Career (1940); MA. (Hon) Yale 1913, Sc D Washington 1915, Yale 1919, Harvard 1931, Rochester 1931, Northwestern 1932, Leeds 1935, and Oxford 1938; Litt D Jefferson Medical College 1926 and Dartmouth 1929; LL.D. Western Reserve 1919, Cambridge 1920, Glasgow 1927, Edinburgh 1927, and Syracuse 1934, Doctor (honoris causa) Belfast 1919, Lwów 1926, Strasbourg 1929, Brussels 1930, Bern 1931, Budapest 1931, Amsterdam 1932, and Paris 1933, M.Ch. Trinity College, Dublin, 1927; honorary perpetual student St Bartholomew's Hospital (London) since 1922, president Society of Neurological Surgeons 1920 and 1921, Society of Clinical Surgery 1921, American College of Surgeons 1922, American Neurological Association 1923, American Surgical Association 1927, and Congress of American Physicians and Surgeons 1933; secretary Section on Surgery and Anatomy, American Medical Association, 1906-07; member National Academy of Sciences, American Philosophical Society, Royal Society (London), Royal Academy of Sciences (Sweden), Royal Academy of Sciences (Amsterdam), Saturday Club, Tavern Club, and Club of Odd Volumes, all of Boston, and Century Association and Grolier Club, New York *

Married June 10, 1902, in Cleveland, Katharine Stone, daughter of William and Mary (Benedict) Crowell, granddaughter of George Benedict, ex-1832, great-granddaughter of Amos Benedict (B.A. 1800), and sister of Benedict Crowell, '91 S, and Robert H Crowell, '98. Children. William Harvey, ex-'27 (died June 12, 1926); Mary Benedict, the wife of Vincent Astor (Harvard ex-'15); Betsey (Mrs Cushing Roosevelt), Henry Kirke, ex-'31, and Barbara, the wife of Stanley G. Mortimer, Jr. (B S Harvard 1936).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland Survived by wife, three daughters, one son, and three grandchildren

^{*}A complete catalogue of Dr Cushing's addresses, papers, and reports appears in A Bibliography of the Writings of Harvey Cushing, Prepared on the Occasion of His Seventieth Birthday April 8, 1939, by the Harvey Cushing Society (1939) This volume also contains a full list of the American and foreign societies of which Dr Cushing was a member and the honors which he received

In addition to his library, Dr. Cushing's gifts to the Yale School of Medicine included a fellowship established in 1928 in memory of his son and the Brain Tumor Registry which includes gross specimens and stained sections of all of his verified tumors of the brain and spinal cord, together with photographic reproductions of his detailed case histories

In 1932 the Harvey Cushing Society was formed by a group of former students and associates for the exchange of information on neurology, on his sixtieth birthday his pupils honored him by contributing to a special number of the Archives of Surgery, and on the occasion of his seventieth birthday five books were published in his honor—a festskrift from Scandinavia issued as a supplementary volume of Acta Chirurgica Scandinavica, special numbers of the British Journal of Surgery and Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine, a catalogue, 70 Noteworthy Medical Rarities, and an annotated bibliography of his books and papers prepared by the Harvey Cushing Society.

Reginald Love Foster, B.A. 1891.

Born November 25, 1869, in Hong Kong, China Died June 13, 1940, in Washington, D.C.

Father, William Hammond Foster, Jr, junior partner Russell & Company, merchants in Hong Kong, son of William Hammond and Cornelia Bennett (Clark) Foster of Boston, Mass., and New York City Mother, Leila (Love) Foster, daughter of Harlow Swain and Martha Church (Maltby) Love of San Francisco Yale relatives include Jonathan Maltby (B.A. 1779) (great-great-uncle), Gen. Isaac Maltby (B.A. 1786) (great-grandfather); and John Lord Love, ex-1862 (uncle)

Trinity Chapel and Drisler schools, New York City Dissertation appointment Junior year; member Yale University Drum Corps Sophomore year and second banjo club Junior and Senior years, editor Yale

Daily News Junior year; member Class Literary Society

In editorial department New York Sun 1891–96, special writer and member editorial staff Sunday edition New York World 1896–1916, enlisted as private 7th Regiment, New York National Guard, May 6, 1893, promoted to corporal June 10, 1898, and sergeant June 14, 1899, commissioned First Lieutenant, 12th Regiment, New York National Guard, April 4, 1900; promoted to Captain April 7, 1903, Major October 13, 1908, Lieutenant Colonel September 6, 1916, and Colonel July 16, 1917; served on military staff of several governors of New York State, called into federal service June 19, 1916, and served on Mexican border until March 10, 1917, commanding officer 12th New York Infantry (redesignated 52d Pioneer Infantry in 1918) when unit was again called into federal service on July 15, 1917, overseas August 3, 1918–April 13, 1919, took part in engagements in Verdun and Malancourt-Vauquois sectors

and in Meuse-Argonne offensive, when regiment was assigned to duty with Fifth Army Corps September 21, 1918, acted as chief salvage officer of corps and later as corps athletic officer during period of rest at Nogenten-Bassigny which followed armistice; on demobilization of regiment served successively in office of Assistant to Secretary of War, War Plans Division, War Department General Staff, and in Office of Adjutant General, Recruiting Division, honorably discharged from emergency commission as Colonel of Infantry and commissioned Major, Quartermaster Corps, Regular Army, September 23, 1920; in office of Quartermaster General, Washington, DC, 1920-24 (managing editor Quartermaster Review, assigned to The President's Conference on Unemployment 1921-23, chief historical division, Administrative Service, and chief Graves' Registration Service 1923-24), assigned to staff of Major General J H McRae as division and post quartermaster and post surveying officer, Philippine Division and Fort William McKinley 1924–26; with New York General Intermediate Depot, Brooklyn, 1926–27, post quartermaster Fort Myer, Va, 1927–32, Colonel retired since October 31, 1932; awarded Distinguished Service Medal August 24, 1922, and Conspicuous Service Medal (New York State) 1923, president Society of Silurians 1939-40, member Society of the Cincinnati, Society of Colonial Wars, Sons of the Revolution, Society of the War of 1812, and Masonic order; attended Episcopal church

Married February 3, 1897, in New York City, Kitty Quinan, daughter of Brace and Kate (Quinan) Hayden Children. Reginald Hayden (B.A. Princeton 1921), and Murray (B.S. Princeton 1924). Mr. and Mrs. Foster were divorced.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in The National Cemetery, Arlington. Survived by sons, two grandchildren, and a brother, Maximilian Helland Foster, of New York City.

Leland Ingersoll, B.A. 1891.

Born July 30, 1870, in Champaign, Ill. Died May 3, 1940, at Niagara Falls, N.Y.

Father, Joseph Ingersoll of Cleveland, son of Joseph and Jerusha (Nye) Ingersoll of Lee, Mass, and Elyria, Ohio Mother, Nettie (Fletcher) Ingersoll, daughter of Rev Daniel Leland Fletcher and Mary Ann (Carley) Fletcher of Chester, Vt.

Central High School and Brooks Military Academy, Cleveland, attended Western Reserve University 1886–87; entered Yale College 1887; second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years.

Studied law in office of Boynton, Hale & Hore, Cleveland, 1891-93;

admitted to Ohio bar March, 1893, became member law firm Ingersoll & Thompson, Cleveland, in 1893 and later practiced independently in Cleveland, associated with A S. Gilman Printing Company, Cleveland, 1915–25 and with Gilman Fanfold Corporation, Inc., manufacturers of printed business forms, Niagara Falls, 1925 until retirement in 1934; member The Hermit Club, Cleveland, and in 1905 wrote book and lyrics of a musical play presented by that organization, attended Episcopal church.

Married June 11, 1917, in Cleveland, Margaret, daughter of William Edward and Julia Louise (Mills) Chapman No children

Death due to ruptured stomach ulcer Ashes interred in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs Jerome Pugh Gorin of Decatur, Ill.

Ray Burdick Smith, B.A. 1891.

Born December 11, 1867, in Cuyler, N Y. Died December 29, 1939, in Philadelphia, Pa.

Father, Willis Smith, a farmer in De Ruyter and Lincklaen, NY. Mother, Emily A (Burdick) Smith

Cazenovia Seminary. Attended Syracuse University 1886–87 Entered Yale College 1887, philosophical oration appointment Junior and Semior years, second DeForest Mathematical Prize Freshman year, first composition prize Sophomore year, TenEyck speaker Junior year and DeForest speaker Senior year, two-year honors in political science, history, and law, one-year honors in English, Townsend premium and John Addison Porter prize Senior year, financial editor Yale Literary Magazine Senior year, member Psi Upsilon and Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Cornell Law School 1891–92, admitted to the bar 1893; practiced law in Syracuse, N Y., 1893–1939, member firm Woods & Smith (later Thomson, Woods & Smith), senior partner Smith, Hayden & Setright and later practiced independently, president Salina Paper Company, Syracuse Press, Inc., Underwriters of Syracuse, Inc., Smith & Ferrara Company, Inc., Excelsior Insurance Company of New York, and First Mortgage Bond Corporation of America, Republican supervisor 14th ward, Syracuse, 1895–98; vice-chairman and then chairman Republican General Committee Onondaga County 1896–1910, clerk general laws committee New York State Senate 1894 and 1895, assistant clerk New York State Assembly 1898–1907 and clerk 1908–10, clerk of three committees Sixth New York State Constitutional Convention 1894 and a delegate from 38th senatorial district to convention 1915, chairman

building committee Board of Supervisors, Onondaga County, editor *Political and Governmental History of the State of New York* (1922); member Masonic order and First Reformed Church, Syracuse

Married September 1, 1891, in Syracuse, Nellie King Reilay (Syracuse University ex-'90) Son Willis King. Mrs Smith died May 25, 1931.

Death due to heart trouble Survived by son.

Charles Dennis Morris, B.A. 1892.

Born September 19, 1869, in Wallingford, Conn Died April 29, 1940, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Dennis Edward Morris, superintendent R Wallace & Sons Manufacturing Company, Wallingford Mother, Adeline Louisa (Wallace) Morris, daughter of Robert and Harriet Louisa (Moulthrop) Wallace of Wallingford Yale relatives include George M. Wallace, '81 (uncle), Fred E. Marble (Ph D. 1897) (brother-in-law); Clifford W. Leavenworth, '91 S, John W. Leavenworth, '05 S, Robert L. Wallace, ex-'07, Margaret Lee Wallace, ex-'07 Mus, Floyd Wallace, '09, Malcolm L Wallace, '15, and Donald Lee Wallace, '20 (cousins)

Wallingford High School. Second dispute appointment Junior year, first colloquy appointment Senior year; member Gamma Nu and Sigma Nu

Associated with R Wallace & Sons Manufacturing Company since 1892, in Chicago office 1892–93 and at factory in Wallingford 1893–1940 (assistant treasurer 1906–33, secretary 1920, vice-president and assistant treasurer 1921–33, president 1933–40, and a director since 1904), a founder Wallingford Steel Company 1922 (president 1922–32 and a director), secretary and treasurer The Wallingford Company, Inc., 1899–1940, president Dime Savings Bank 1928–40; trustee Wallingford Historical Society 1927–29, director First National Bank, Wallingford Bank, and Manufacturers Association of Connecticut, Inc.; private Connecticut Home Guard 1917–18; treasurer borough of Wallingford 1900, 1901, and burgess 1903, 1904; member board of water commissioners 1900–05, chairman Republican Town Committee 1908–10, member Republican State Central Committee, a delegate to Republican State Convention 1928, member First Baptist Church, Wallingford (trustee 1897–1901)

Unmarried

Death due to perforated duodenal ulcer Buried in In Memoriam Cemetery, Wallingford Survived by a brother, Frank William Morris of Wallingford. Another brother, Robert W. Morris, '92, died in 1925

Augustus Farnham Shaw, B.A. 1892.

Born December 31, 1866, in Clayville, NY Died October 1, 1939, in Nashville, Tenn.

Father, Rev Augustus Chesterman Shaw, D D (B A Univ of Rochester 1861), a Presbyterian minister, son of Rev James Boylan Shaw, D D (graduate Auburn Theological Seminary 1832) and Emily (Chase) Shaw of Attica and Rochester, N Y Mother, Unicy Lucretia (Farnham) Shaw; daughter of Horatio Nelson and Phoebe (Merchant) Farnham of Silver Creek, N Y

Wellsboro (Pa.) High School and Phillips-Andover Oration appointment Junior and Senior years; one-year honors in natural and physical science Senior year; on Grand Street mission committee Junior year; member Andover Club

Taught at Westminster School, Dobbs Ferry, NY, 1892-94, instructor in physics and chemistry Mackenzie College, São Paulo, Brazil, 1894-1901, 1902, and 1904 (secretary, and dean 1899-1904), attended Yale Graduate School 1901-02 (M A 1902), assistant professor of physics and chemistry Illinois College 1904–05 and Occidental College 1905–07, vice-principal Instituto Evangelico, Lavras, Brazil, 1907-14, worked in laboratories of Battle Creek Sanitarium summer 1915; professor of physics Fisk University 1915-34 (head of department 1915-27 and dean 1925-27), in charge McKean County Children's Home, Bradford, Pa, 1934-35; resided in Wellsboro 1935-37, instructor in laboratory physics Mackenzie College, São Paulo, 1937-38, overseas May 14, 1918-September, 1919, as Y.M C A secretary with Portuguese troops attached to British Expeditionary Force; member committee on recent economic changes, The President's Conference on Unemployment 1929, member Tennessee Academy of Science, American Prison Association, National Education Association, and Westminster Church (Presbyterian), Nashville

Married August 6, 1897, in São Paulo, Adèle Vanorden, daughter of Emanuel and Bertha (Doebeli) Vanorden Children. Paul Vanorden (B A Coll. of Wooster 1919, M A Columbia 1926, Ph D 1930), and Eleanor Farnham (B A Coll of Wooster 1921, died September 26, 1924).

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Wellsboro (Pa) Cemetery. Survived by wife, son, two sisters, Mary Adelaide S Bodine, the wife of Frederick Milton Bodine (D D S Univ of Pennsylvania 1892) of Wellsboro, and Laura S. Brownback (B A. Wilson Coll 1900), the wife of Rev. Oscar Davis Brownback (B A Ursinus Coll 1904, M A Princeton 1907; grad. Princeton Theological Seminary 1907) of Rochester, and

a brother, Farnham H. Shaw (MD Univ. of Pennsylvania 1899) of Wellsboro

Henry Dana Bradley, B.A. 1893.

Born September 1, 1870, in New Haven, Conn. Died March 30, 1940, in Riverside, Calif.

Father, Dana Augustus Bradley, a farmer in New Haven; son of Dana and Mehitable (Bradley) Bradley of New Haven Mother, Caroline L (Tuttle) Bradley, daughter of William Frederic Tuttle

Hillhouse High School

Surveyor in New Haven 1893–96, associated with Photene Company, dealers in electrical supplies, Brooklyn, NY, 1897–98; secretary and treasurer Eagle Realty Company, New York City, 1898; independently engaged in real estate and insurance business, Brooklyn, 1898–1902, moved to California 1902, tenant in office of C. C Pond & Son, real estate and investments, Riverside, since 1910, specialized in sub-dividing and map work, member Presbyterian church, Riverside.

Married (1) in November, 1905, Christine Williams, who died in November, 1906 Married (2) September 2, 1909, Matilda Carey Elder, daughter of George Thomas and Charlotte Isabella (Poole) Carey No children Mrs Bradley died in February, 1933

Death due to diabetes mellitus. Buried in Olivewood Cemetery, Riverside Survived by no immediate relatives.

John Howe Field, B.A. 1893.

Born February 12, 1871, in Rutland, Vt. Died May 12, 1940, in Buffalo, NY.

Father, Henry Francis Field, president Rutland County National Bank; State senator 1884; member Vermont House of Representatives 1888, State treasurer 1890–98; son of William Morton and Minerva Kimball (Davenport) Field of Rutland Mother, Annie Louisa (Howe) Field; daughter of John and Louisa May (Goddard) Howe of Brookline and Boston, Mass, and Brandon, Vt. Yale relatives include: William H. Field, '99 (brother), and William Field, '32 (nephew)

Phillips-Andover Oration appointment Junior and Senior years; second Henry James TenEyck Prize Junior year, Class baseball team Junior and Senior years and Class football team Senior year; Junior Promenade Committee, editor Yale Literary Magazine Senior year, Class Day Committee, Class deacon four years; president Young Men's Chris-

tian Association Senior year, member Yale Union, Andover Club, Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, Scroll and Key, and Chi Delta Theta

Studied law in Rutland 1893–94; with Ogdensburg (NY) Transit Company April-September, 1894, in office of State treasurer, Montpelier, Vt, and Rutland 1894–95, associated with Great Eastern Fertilizer Company, Rutland, 1895–99; secretary Milsom Rendering & Fertilizer Company, Buffalo, 1899, sales manager at Buffalo for American Agricultural Chemical Company 1900–17 and manager New York sales department, New York City, 1917–22; resided in Rutland 1922–25, general manager Empire Discount Corporation, Buffalo, 1925–27, treasurer and director The Rutland Herald 1927 until retirement in 1933, president Rutland Chamber of Commerce 1931–32, on executive committee Yale Alumni Association of Western New York 1914–16; member West-minster Church (Presbyterian), Buffalo

Married October 29, 1895, in Cleveland, Ohio, Amorette, daughter of Erastus Chester and Jane (Hurlbut) Lockwood Children John Howe, Jr.; Amorette Lockwood (Mrs Field Rochester), and Maurice Goddard, '26 Mrs Field died April 24, 1924.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo. Survived by children, and four grandchildren.

George Edward Mills, B.A. 1893.

Born October 23, 1869, in Norwood, Ohio. Died July 6, 1939, in Cincinnati, Ohio

Father, Edward Mills of Norwood, a retired farmer, first president Norwood National Bank; son of Stephen and Sarah (Smith) Mills of Norwood. Mother, Henrietta (Flinn) Mills; daughter of Stephen and Mary (Mills) Flinn of Indian Hill, Ohio.

Woodward High School and Franklin School, Cincinnati Dissertation appointment and Scott Prize in French Junior year; oration appointment Senior year, member Zeta Psi

Attended University of Cincinnati College of Law 1893–95 (LL B. 1895; member Phi Delta Phi), admitted to Ohio bar June, 1895, practiced law in Cincinnati 1895–1939 (member firm Coffey, Mallon [Guy W, '85], Mills & Vordenberg 1901–05), judge Court of Appeals, First Appellate District of Ohio, 1927–28, member Board of Commissioners of Sewers, Norwood, 1895–1901, mayor of Norwood 1901–06, treasurer Democratic Campaign Committee of Hamilton County 1902 and chairman Hamilton County Home Rule Committee 1934, president Hamilton County Democratic Club 1923; delegate to National Democratic Convention 1924, director Cincinnati City Charter Committee 1934, and Hamilton Good Government League, vice-president and trustee

Cincinnati Legal Aid Society 1937–38, first vice-president Norwood Savings Bank & Trust Company 1904–05; director Norwood-Hyde Park Bank & Trust Company, Norwood National Bank, and Meadow Marble Company; vice-president Woodward High School trustees 1934–35, president 1935–37 and trustee 1929–37, vice-president 1931–32, president 1932–33, and trustee 1929–32 Union Board of High Schools; member alumni advisory council University of Cincinnati and president Alumni Association, vice-president Cincinnati Yale Club 1916; governor University Club 1930–36 and vice-president 1933–34; member Cincinnati Literary Club, Cincinnati Lawyers' Club, Cincinnati Bar Association (second vice-president 1928–29, president 1929–30), Ohio State and American Bar associations, Masonic order, and Norwood Presbyterian Church (treasurer 1895–1900)

Married October 19, 1904, in Cincinnati, Marcia Olive Lloyd (Wellesley ex-'06), daughter of Nelson Ashley and Olive (Gardner) Lloyd Children Mary Lloyd (B A Wellesley 1928), the wife of Starr Ford, Jr (M D Univ of Cincinnati 1931), Edward Lloyd, '28, Olive Lloyd (Smith Coll ex-'35); and Marcia

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Spring Grove Cemetery, Cincinnati. Survived by wife, children, two grandsons, and a sister, Mrs Alice Mills Cadwallader of Norwood

Charles Henry George, B.A. 1894.

Born June 27, 1873, in Cedar Rapids, Iowa. Died August 18, 1939, in New York City

Father, John S George, former member Flower & Company, bankers in New York City, Lieutenant Second New York Cavalry during Civil War, son of Silas L and Caroline (Flower) George of Theresa, N.Y Mother, Margaret Ann (Morton) George, daughter of John and Ann (Ross) Morton of Avon Springs, N Y Yale relatives include two cousins, John G George, '07 S, and Nathan F. George, '10

Milwaukee Academy Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, Class baseball team three years; substitute University Baseball Team Senior year, member University Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head

Attended University of Wisconsin Law School 1894–96 (LL B 1896), admitted to Wisconsin bar 1896, practiced law in Milwaukee 1896–99, occupied with mining enterprises in Milwaukee 1899–1901, with Flower & Company, New York City, 1901–14, connected with the management or liquidation of enemy-owned industrial and insurance companies taken over by Alien Property Custodian 1917–20; vice-president Tel-

autograph Corporation, New York City, 1920–21, a director since 1921, president 1921–38, and chairman board of directors 1938–39

Married June 15, 1909, in Omaha, Nebr, Mary Arnaud, daughter of Thomas N and Mary (Callaway) Naudain No children Mrs George died February 8, 1923

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver Buried in Forest Home Cemetery, Milwaukee Survived by no immediate relatives

Edward Bliss Reed, B.A. 1894.

Born August 19, 1872, in Lansingburgh, NY Died February 15, 1940, in Springfield, Mass.

Father, Rev Edward Allen Reed, D. D. (graduate Auburn Theological Seminary 1871), minister Second Congregational Church, Holyoke, Mass; son of Orville and Elizabeth (Allen) Reed of Lansingburgh Mother, Mary Ann (Bliss) Reed; daughter of Peletiah and Mary Eleanor (Parmelee) Bliss of Lansingburgh. Yale relatives include William Parmelee (B. A. 1826) and Charles C. Parmelee (B. A. 1827) (great-uncles), Orville Reed, '77 (uncle); Lansing P. Reed, '04 (brother), William C. Hammond, Jr., '25, and Lansing V. Hammond, '30 (nephews), and Robert H. Cory, '02, David U. Cory, '03, John Chapin Reed, ex-'10 S, Theodore B. Reed, '12 S, Linn V. Reed, '13, and Eliphalet Wickes, ex-'27 (cousins)

Holyoke (Mass) High School Philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; second College prize in English composition Sophomore year, second Henry James TenEyck Prize Junior year, winner of a Townsend Premium and DeForest Prize speaker Senior year, fence orator Freshman and Sophomore years, on board Yale Record four years (chairman Senior year); editor Yale Literary Magazine Senior year, Class poet and historian, member Senior Promenade Committee, Yale Union, Psi Upsilon, and Phi Beta Kappa

Registered Yale Graduate School 1894–97 (Ph D. 1896), studied in Paris and Munich on McLaughlin Fellowship 1896–97, tutor in English, Yale University, 1897–1900, instructor 1900–02, assistant professor 1902–26, and associate professor 1926–29, lecturer in music (associate professor rank) since 1932, director division of education The Commonwealth Fund 1927 until January 1, 1940, when he became director emeritus, had been closely identified with Yale-in-China since its foundation (executive secretary 1902–09, member council 1909–10, trustee 1910–30, honorary trustee 1930–40, and president 1928–32), for twenty-six years did research on old Christmas carols, searching for, translating, and publishing eight new ones each year, and was responsible for the revival of many songs of medieval Europe, since 1913 had arranged the

annual Phi Beta Kappa Christmas carol concerts held in Battell Chapel, secretary New Haven Carol Society 1923-40, and, with David Stanley Smith ('00), editor of its Publications, author: English Lyrical Poetry from its Origins to the Present Time (1912), Lyra Yalensis (1913), Sea Moods, and Other Poems (1917), Seven Hundred French Terms for American Field Artillerymen (1917), and Lyra Levis (1922), editor Selections from the Poetry of Alexander Pope (1901), Selections from the Works of Joseph Addison (1906), The Poems of Thomas, Third Lord Fairfax (1909), Shakespeare's Sonnets (1923), Songs from the British Drama (1925), Christmas Carols Printed in the Sixteenth Century (1932), and The Commonwealth Fund Fellows and Their Impressions of America (1932), assistant editor Yale Review 1911-28, translator Drill Regulations for the 75mm Gun (1917), contributed to a number of reviews and journals, regimental sergeant major 10th Field Artillery, Connecticut National Guard, July-September 15, 1916, attended School of Fire, Fort Sill, in first civilian class summers 1917 and 1918, active in organization and direction of Reserve Officers' Training Corps at Yale, deputy commissioner (with rank of major) American Red Cross Commission in Palestine January-July, 1919; trustee Mount Holyoke College 1913-29, Daniel S Lamont Memorial lecturer at Yale 1914–15 and 1924–25, associate fellow Jonathan Edwards College 1933– 40, member advisory board Yale Dramatic Association, secretary Class of 1894 from 1904 to 1909 and on reunion and dinner committees, member New Haven Civil Service Board 1906-09 (president 1908-09); commissioner New Haven Public Library 1916-18, president Alliance Française, New Haven, 1919–21, member Modern Language Association, Elizabethan Club, and Center Church (Congregational), New Haven

Married June 17, 1905, in Sparkill, NY, Elizabeth Burd Thompson (BA Vassar 1903), daughter of William Reed and Mary (Thaw) Thompson (BA Vassar 1877) Children Elizabeth Burd (BA Vassar 1927), the wife of Borden Helmer (Dartmouth 1921); William Thompson (of the Yale Class of 1933; died September, 1929), Mary Bliss (BA. Vassar 1935), the wife of David Crocker (BA Harvard 1933, MBA. 1935, MD Yale 1940), and Anne Parmelee (Vassar 1943).

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes interred in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, daughters, mother, two grandchildren, and a sister, Fanny R. Hammond, the wife of William Churchill Hammond (Mus D Mount Holyoke 1924) of Holyoke, Mass.

The Edward Bliss Reed collection of carols in the University Library was his gift.

Origen Storrs Seymour, B.A. 1894.

Born April 19, 1872, in Bridgeport, Conn. Died May 22, 1940, in Torrington, Conn

Father, Morris Woodruff Seymour (B A. 1866) Mother, Charlotte (Sanford) Seymour Yale relatives include Horatio Seymour (B A 1797) (great-great-uncle); Origen S Seymour (B A 1824) (grandfather), George C. Woodruff (B A. 1825), Lewis B Woodruff (B A 1830), James H Sanford (B A 1831), Charles F Sanford (B A 1847) (great-uncles); Edward W Seymour (B A 1853), Storrs O Seymour (B A 1857), and George B Sanford (B A 1863) (uncles)

Phillips-Exeter and Phillips-Andover Elocution prize in reading Sophomore year, on Class football team Senior year; member Exeter, Andover, and University clubs, Psi Upsilon, and Wolf's Head.

Attended Yale School of Law 1894-97 (LLB 1896, LLM 1897; member Corbey Court), admitted to Connecticut bar 1896 and New York bar 1897; in law offices of Watrous [George D , '79] & Buckland [Edward G, '89 L], New Haven, 1895-97 and of Hornblower, Byrne, Taylor & Miller, New York City, 1897–99 (managing clerk 1898–99); member firms Taylor & Seymour (later Taylor, Anderson & Seymour), New York City, 1899–1905, Huntington, Rhinelander & Seymour (later Rhinelander, Seymour & Barnard) 1905–21, and Sprague, Seymour and Sprague [William B, '06] 1921-32, practiced in Litchfield, Conn, since 1932, judge Litchfield County Court of Common Pleas 1936-40; president Litchfield Board of Education 1937-40, director Litchfield Mutual Life Insurance Company, Litchfield Water Company, Litchfield Land Company, and Norumbega Company of New York, trustee Norwich State Hospital 1935-40, was active in affairs of Episcopal Church, chancellor Diocese of Connecticut 1933-40; delegate to every general convention of the church since 1922, trustee General Theological Seminary 1925-40, an organizer and trustee for over thirty years New York Training School for Deaconesses, director Church Pension Fund, Church Life Insurance Corporation, and Church Properties Fire Insurance Company; author. The Beginnings of the Episcopal Church in Connecticut (pamphlet, 1934), and of introduction to Reports of Cases Adjudged in the Superior Court of the State of Connecticut From the Year 1785, to January 1789 (1933), president Downtown Association, New York City, 1925-31, chairman Class dinner committee for a number of years, member Association of the Bar of the City of New York (chairman committee on professional ethics), American Bar Association, New York Historical Society, New England Society, Connecticut Society of the Cincinnati (vice-president 1937-40), The Pilgrims, Society of Colonial

Wars, Society of the War of 1812, and St Michael's Church, Litchfield (vestryman 1932-40 and senior warden)

Married October 25, 1899, in Lawrence, N Y., Frances Bolton, daughter of Daniel Lord (B A Columbia 1866, LL B 1868) and Silvie (Bolton) Lord, and sister of Daniel Lord, '92 Children: Silvia Lord (Mrs Seymour Wallace); Lucy Morris (died June 2, 1903), Morris Woodruff, ex-'29 (died January 21, 1931), Frances Lord, the wife of Miles Hodsdon Vernon (B S Princeton 1921), and Charlotte Sanford (died March 26, 1917)

Death due to septicemia Buried in New East Cemetery, Litchfield. Survived by wife, two daughters, and one granddaughter.

g......

Charles Albert Smith, B.A. 1894.

Born December 4, 1870, in Stratford, Conn Died July 19, 1939, in Hammond, Ind.

Father, Franklin Curtis Smith of Stratford and Bridgeport, Conn; in insurance and cooperative bank business; city editor *Bridgeport Standard*, son of Albert Curtis and Mary Ann (Green) Smith of Stratford. Mother, Jennie (Stewart) Smith.

Bridgeport High School Member Zeta Psi.

Attended Berkeley Divinity School 1894–97, ordained deacon in Episcopal church by Bishop Niles of New Hampshire June 2, 1897, assistant to minister St Paul's Church, Poughkeepsie, N.Y, 1897–98; minister Holy Trinity Church, St Joseph, Mo, 1898–1900, and St Paul's Church, Hammond, 1900 until retirement from ministry 1913; district manager Lake County, Indiana, for Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company since 1913, on board Hammond Public Library 1907–14 (president 1911–14), member St Paul's Church (Episcopal), Hammond

Married January 18, 1900, in Evanston, Ill, Adelaide Tracy Anderson, daughter of Andrew William and Catherine (McCrory) Tracy. Children Stewart Tracy (Univ of Michigan ex-'24) and Paul Tracy (Univ of Wisconsin ex-'27).

Death due to pulmonary tuberculosis Buried in Ridgelawn Memorial Cemetery, Hammond Survived by wife, sons, and a stepson, Harlan D. Anderson

William Edward Thoms, B.A. 1894.

Born December 22, 1870, in Plymouth, Conn. Died August 9, 1939, in Waterbury, Conn

Father, William Peters Thoms, a blacksmith in Waterbury, son of Frederic and Ellen (Townsend) Thoms of Forfar, Scotland Mother,

Fanny (Ould) Thoms; daughter of Richard and Hannah (Cook) Ould of Marazion, Cornwall, England

Hillside Avenue School, Waterbury Third DeForest Mathematical Prize and second Berkeley Premium Freshman year, second DeForest Mathematical Prize and second Lucius F. Robinson Latin Prize Sophomore year, philosophical oration appointment, second Lucius F. Robinson Prize, and Winthrop Prize Junior year, salutatorian, one-year honors in philosophy Senior year, member Yale Union and Phi Beta Kappa

Teacher Waterbury High School and engaged privately in study of law 1894–96, admitted to Connecticut bar 1896, practiced law in Waterbury 1896–1939 (member successive firms Thoms & Ells, Thoms, Ells & Hincks [Carroll C, '11], and Carmody & Thoms), member Waterbury Board of Finance 1895–96, 1918–22, tax collector 1898–1903, mayor of Waterbury 1906–10, city court judge 1913–15, member Connecticut House of Representatives 1911–13 (Democratic leader 1913), chairman City Democratic Committee 1897–98 and of Democratic State Convention 1906; delegate to Democratic National Conventions 1912, 1924, 1928, and 1932 (chairman Connecticut delegation 1928 and member committee on platform and resolutions 1932), member Waterbury, New Haven County, Connecticut State and American Bar associations, Masonic order, and First Methodist Church, Waterbury

Married June 29, 1898, in Terryville, Conn, Harriet Joy, daughter of John and Henrietta (Tuthill) Dutton Children Elinor Joy, John Dutton, '24; Frederic (B A Colgate 1928), and Fanny Ould (Goucher Coll ex-'32), the wife of Morgan Joseph Burke, Jr (B A Manhattan Coll. 1927; LL B Fordham Univ. 1930)

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Waterbury Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, two half sisters, Mrs. Edward Lewis Finn of Bantam, Conn, and Mrs William Patman of Waterbury, and three half brothers, David Burnett Thoms of Torrington, Conn, Floyd Livermore Thoms of Litchfield, and Dr Herbert Thoms, '10 M.

Clement George Clarke, B.A. 1895.

Born February 21, 1869, in Candor, NY Died March 1, 1940, in Wagoner, Okla

Father, Leroy Clarke, a farmer in Candor, son of Hiram Jacob and Rhoda (Reed) Clarke of Candor Mother, Martha (Scovel) Clarke, daughter of Ezra Scovel of Newark Valley, N Y

Attended Washburn College, Topeka, Kans, BS Kansas State Agricultural College 1888, philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years, third DeForest Mathematical Prize and honorable mention in English composition Freshman year, first DeForest Mathematical Prize and C Wyllys Betts Prize for English composition Sophomore year, first Henry James TenEyck Prize Junior year; DeForest Prize medal and one-year honors in modern languages Senior year, on Yale-Harvard debating team Senior year, Class orator; secretary Yale Union Senior year; member Phi Beta Kappa (on executive committee).

Attended Yale Graduate School 1895–98 and Yale Divinity School 1898–1900 (B.D 1900); instructor in mathematics 1896–99, ordained in Congregational church, Plainville, Conn, June, 1900, and minister there 1900–05, minister First Congregational Church, Minneapolis, 1905–12, and First Congregational Church, Peoria, Ill, 1912–16, engaged in denominational work in Illinois 1916–17, special lecturer, Young Men's Christian Association, in U.S. Army camps 1917–18 and overseas April, 1918–April, 1919, stationed at Romsey, England, and later at Chaumont and St. Nazaire, France, minister Springfield, Vt., 1920–23, First Congregational Church, Portland, Ore., 1923–28, and Austin Congregational Church, Chicago, 1928–30, author. The Greatness of God (1908) and The Appeal to Experience (1912), on Congregational State Conference Board, member commission on missions 1925–27 and commission on law enforcement 1925–30 National Council of Congregational

Married June 11, 1891, in Wagoner, Okla, Mattie Cobb (B S Kansas State Agricultural Coll 1888), daughter of Joseph Benson and Evaline (Clingan) Cobb Children Helen Isabel (B A Smith Coll 1917; M A Univ of Chicago 1926), Dana Cobb, '21; and Clement Cobb, '28, '32 M Mrs Clarke died October 9, 1936

Churches, member-at-large prudential committee American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions 1927-30, trustee Pacific University

1923-29, because of ill-health had not been active since 1930

Death due to organic heart lesions Buried in Elmwood Cemetery, Wagoner Survived by children, one granddaughter, a sister, Mrs Mary Luella Clarke Griffin of Inglewood, Calif (died August 5, 1940), a half sister, Rhoda Almira Clarke LeRoy (B A Oberlin Coll 1898), the wife of Albert E LeRoy (B.A Wabash Coll 1897, B D. Oberlin Coll 1901), of Braden Castle, Fla, and a half brother, Ward R. Clarke, '94.

Walter Evans Cooke, B.A. 1895.

Born May 3, 1874, in Paterson, NJ Died October 9, 1939, in New York City

Father, James Cooke, president Cooke Locomotive & Machine Company, Paterson; son of Watts and Lavinia (Barclay) Cooke of County Antrim, Ireland, and Paterson. Mother, Mimie (Evans) Cooke; daughter of William Lemuel and Elinor (Thomas) Evans of Wales and New York City Yale relatives include J Barclay Cooke, '93 (brother),

and Lucius F Robinson, Jr, '18, Barclay Robinson, '19, and Henry C. Robinson, ex-'24 (nephews)

St Paul's School, Concord, N H On Class baseball team Sophomore year; member St Paul's School Club, University Club, Eta Phi, Delta

Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1895–98 (LL B 1898), admitted to bar 1898; practiced law in New York City 1898–1914 (member firm Cooke & Mead 1906–11), admitted to Massachusetts bar 1914 and practiced law in Boston 1914–16, associated with Passaic Structural Steel Company 1916 and vice-president and manager of its successor, the Paterson Bridge Company, 1916–23, president Gaylord Manufacturing Company, Paterson, 1923 until retirement 1929, also associated with Cooke Locomotive & Machine Company, Paterson, and Passaic Rolling Mill Company; director Passaic County Children's Home, on board of managers Paterson General Hospital 1917–37, had been active in boy scout and Y M C A work, author An Old Testament Primer (1939), member Church of the Messiah (Presbyterian), Paterson.

Married April 24, 1906, in Wyckoff, NJ, Rebecca Edwards, daughter of Robert and Rebecca (Edwards) Barbour Children David Barbour (died September 23, 1910), Barclay, '34; and Robert Barbour, '36

Mrs Cooke died in November, 1922

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Cedar Lawn Cemetery, Paterson Survived by two sons, two grandchildren, and a sister, Elinor Cooke Robinson, the wife of Lucius F Robinson, '85

William Maltby Copp, B.A. 1895.

Born September 18, 1872, in New Haven, Conn Died March 15, 1940, in Ridgeland, S.C.

Father, William Amasa Copp (B A 1869) Mother, Emily M (Maltby) Copp Yale relatives include an uncle, Andrew J Copp (B A 1869)

Gibbens and Beach School, New York City, and Cutler School, New

York City Member University Club

Attended New York Law School 1895–97, admitted to bar and engaged in practice of law, occupied in farming on his estate, Spring Island Plantation, Ridgeland, since 1912, commissioned Second Lieutenant, 6th Regiment Artillery, U S Army, July, 1898, and assigned to Battery E at Tampa, Fla, at Tampa until fall of 1898 and at Washington (D C) Barracks until ordered to Manila; detailed in command Fort Myer, Va, two months, member Society of Colonial Wars Married

Death due to hypostatic pneumonia Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs Ethel Copp Nicol of

Monte Carlo, Monaco

Frederick Marcy DeForest, B.A. 1895.

Born August 10, 1872, in Bridgeport, Conn. Died March 4, 1940, in Bethel, Vt.

Father, Robert Elhott DeForest (B A 1867) Mother, Rebecca Vos Bellows (Marcy) DeForest Jared Ehot (B A 1706) was an ancestor

Bridgeport High School Oration appointment Junior year; high oration appointment and two-year honors in ancient languages Senio year, divided Winthrop Prize Junior year, member Phi Beta Kappa

Attended universities of Halle and Leipzig 1895–97 and Yale Graduate School 1897–98 (Ph D 1898), member editorial staff Webster's International Dictionary 1898–1902, master in Latin, Greek, and German St Paul's School, Concord, N H, 1902–08 and ordained there 1908, head master Houston School, Spokane, Wash, 1908–10 and Pearson Academy Walla Walla, Wash, 1910–12; rector Grace Episcopal Church, Chico pee, Mass, 1913–19, Grace Church, Dalton, Mass, St. Martin's Church Pittsfield, Mass, and St. Mary's Church, Northfield, Vt, 1919–24 rector Christ Church, Bethel, and Grace Church, Randolph Center, Vt since 1924, instructor in Greek and Latin Norwich University 1927–32 member Masonic order

Married July 24, 1900, in Springfield, Mass, Winifred Helen Ripley (B A Smith Coll. 1894), the daughter of Edward Duane and Heler (Howe) Ripley No children.

Death due to mitral insufficiency Buried in Old Church Cemetery Bethel Survived by wife, and two brothers, Robert G DeForest, '01 L. and John B DeForest, '05.

John Lewis Lockwood, B.A. 1895.

Born December 28, 1874, in Elizabeth, N.J. Died February 11, 1940, in West Milford, N.J.

Father, Captain John Lewis Lockwood, a merchant in New York City son of George Washington and Mary H. (Bunce) Lockwood of New York City Mother, Juliet Rathbone (Hubbard) Lockwood; daughter of Henry G and Juliet (Smith) Hubbard of Chicago, Ill.

Harvard School, New York City First colloquy appointment Junior year, first dispute appointment Senior year; secretary Yale Chess Club Junior year, member Beta Theta Pi.

Attended New York Law School 1895–97 (LL B 1897), admitted to bar 1897 and had since practiced law in New York City (partner Cornel & Lockwood, Cornell, Lockwood & Jeffery, and independently) member Association of the Bar of the City of New York and New York County Bar Association

Married September 12, 1901, in East Orange, NJ, Winifred E., daughter of Colonel Clifford Thomson No children

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Buried in Wilton (Conn) Cemetery Survived by wife, and a brother, Herbert Julian Rathbone Lockwood of West Milford

William Edward Parsons, B.A. 1895.

Born June 19, 1872, in Akron, Ohio Died December 17, 1939, in New Haven, Conn

Father, William Cheney Parsons (B A. Western Reserve 1863), a manufacturer in Akron, son of Edward and Clementina (Janes) Parsons of Kent, Ohio. Mother, Sarah Day (Seymour) Parsons, daughter of Nathan Perkins Seymour (B A. 1834) and Elizabeth (Day) Seymour Yale relatives include Timothy Pitkin (B A 1747) (great-great-great-grandfather), Jeremiah Day (B A 1795) (great-great-uncle), Thomas Day (B A 1797) (great-grandfather), Thomas M Day (B A 1837) (great-uncle), Thomas Day Seymour (B A Hon 1870) (uncle), Elizabeth S Angel, Certificate of Art 1901, and Charles Seymour, '08 (cousins); Charles S Parsons, '03 (brother); Robert Day Parsons, '42 (nephew). Thomas Clap, fifth president of Yale, was an ancestor

Norwich Free Academy. High oration appointment Junior and Senior years; first DeForest Mathematics Prize and second Berkeley Premium Freshman year, second DeForest Mathematics Prize Sophomore year; divided Winthrop Prize Junior year, in College Choir Sophomore,

Junior, and Senior years, member Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Columbia University 1895–97 (BS 1898), studied at École des Beaux-Arts, Paris, 1898-1901; manager New York office of John Galen Howard 1901-05, B F A Yale 1905; consulting architect to United States Government in Philippine Islands 1905–14 (directed execution of Burnham plans for Manila and Baguio; planned restoration of old city walls and moats of the capital as public parks, designed Philippine General Hospital, Manila Hotel, and other buildings), member firm E H Bennett & William E Parsons, Chicago, 1914–22, and Bennett, Parsons and Frost, Chicago, 1922-38; associate professor of architecture, Yale University, 1938–39; consulting architect to Puerto Rican Government 1924-26 (designed Ocean Boulevard and Muñoz Rivera Park and also prepared a general plan for extension of University of Puerto Rico), consulting architect 1929-37 to George Rogers Clark Memorial Commission in connection with memorial erected at Vincennes, reappointed consulting architect to Philippine Government 1939, his work in continental United States included plans for United States Botanical Gardens (1927), plans for enlargement of Capitol grounds in Washington (1929), designing and building of Federal Trade Commission building (1937), as well as designs for public buildings and improvements in many large cities, during World War laid out Camp Knox, Kentucky, and other camps, member National Conference on City Planning, American Institute of Architects, Society of Beaux-Arts, and St. Chrysostom's Church (Episcopal), Chicago

Married August 21, 1911, in New Boston, Mass., Myra Louise, daughter of Franklin and Mary (Crosby) Matthews Children Louise Kellogg (Yale School of the Fine Arts 1933–35), the wife of Francis Rew Stanton,

BA 1932, BFA 1935, and Seymour, '38 E

Buried in Town Hill Cemetery, New Hartford, Conn Survived by wife, children, and two sisters, Katherine Parsons Dean, the wife of Lee Maltbie Dean, '96, and Miss Harriet Day Parsons of New Hartford.

Josiah Henry Peck, B.A. 1895.

Born March 5, 1873, in Bristol, Conn Died May 28, 1940, in West Hartford, Conn.

Father, Miles Lewis Peck, treasurer Bristol Savings Bank 1871–1923 and president since 1923; son of Josiah Tracy and Ellen Lewis (Barnard) Peck of Bristol Mother, Mary Harriet (Seymour) Peck; daughter of Henry Albert and Electa (Churchill) Seymour of Bristol Yale relatives include Tracy Peck, '61 (great-uncle); Epaphroditus Peck, '81 L, Edson M Peck, ex-'84 S, and George Dudley Seymour, '13 H (uncles); Howard S Peck, '96 (brother), Edward Ingraham, '10 (cousin); Seymour R Peck, '23, and Miles P Jennings, '35 (nephews)

Bristol High School First colloquy appointment Junior year, second

colloquy appointment Senior year.

Attended Harvard Law School 1895–97 (LL.B 1898); admitted to New York bar 1898 and Connecticut bar 1901; in office of Brigham & Baylis, New York City, 1897–1901, practiced law in Hartford since 1901; member Holden [Benedict M, '95 L] & Peck 1921–22; president American Whist League 1917–18; member Hartford County Bar Association (elected president March, 1940), American Bar Association, and First Congregational Church, Bristol

Married November 12, 1902, in Providence, R.I., Maude Helen, daughter of Rev Francis Emory Tower and Ella (Shepardson) Tower.

No children Mrs Peck died January 12, 1940

Death due to cerebral thrombosis Buried in West Cemetery, Bristol Survived by father, and three sisters, Hilda Margaret Peck (B.A. Vassar 1903), Rachel P Jennings (B.A. Vassar 1905), the wife of Newell Jennings, '04, and Mary M. L. Peck (B.A. Vassar 1917), all of Bristol

William Martin Richards, B.A. 1895.

Born March 31, 1873, in New Haven, Conn Died September 11, 1939, in New York City

Father, Professor Eugene Lamb Richards (B A 1860) Mother, Julia Lavinia (Bacon) Richards Yale relatives include. Ebenezer Thompson (B.A 1733), and William A. Thompson (B A 1782) (great-uncles), Selden S Richards (Ph B 1857) (uncle), Eugene Lamb Richards, '85 (brother), Harrison Gray, ex-'00 S (cousin), John Locke, '24, Eugene Lamb Richards, 3d, ex-'29, and Richard W Day, '38 (nephews)

Hopkins Grammar School High oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Freshman Football Team and substitute University Football Team two years; on Yale Athletic Team three years (winner 100-yard and 300-yard events Yale-Cambridge Athletic Games, October, 1895), College Choir Junior and Senior years, member Hé Boulé, Psi

Upsilon, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended Bellevue Hospital Medical College 1895-98 (M.D. 1898); on staff Bellevue Hospital 1898–1900; medical inspector New York Department of Health 1898-1904, practiced medicine in New York City 1900-04, 1908-16, 1927-39, in New Orleans 1904-07, abroad 1922-26, and in Norton, Va, 1926-27, senior assistant physician Belchertown (Mass) State School 1926, commissioned Captain, Medical Corps, US Reserve, July 15, 1917; attended Officers' Training Camp, Fort Snelling, July 15, 1917, until discharge September 12, 1917, because of physical disability, enlisted as private, Canadian Army Medical Corps, September 25, 1917; overseas December 7, 1917-July 23, 1922; commissioned Lieutenant, Royal Army Medical Corps, May 1, 1918, promoted to captaincy May 1, 1919; assigned to 50th Field Artillery, 37th Division, France, saw action in second Battle of the Somme, served in Upper Silesia 1921-22; discharged July 23, 1922, member Orleans Paris Medical Society, Medical Society of the State of New York, Eastern Medical Association, and American Medical Association

Married (1) July 14, 1898, in New York City, Rosa Gray, daughter of Anson Head. Son: Anson Head, ex-'25 S Mr and Mrs Richards were divorced. Married (2) February 18, 1907, in Memphis, Tenn, Lelia Marguerita, daughter of Nicholas Henry Rightor Son Edward Rightor Mr and Mrs Richards were divorced Married (3) April 22, 1915, in Jersey City, NJ, Helen Sarell, daughter of Henry Hardy and Rosa (Rondel) Ongley Children. John Lamb, ex-'37 E, and Catherine Jandine (B A. Bryn Mawr 1939)

Death due to cerebral embolism Cremated and ashes thrown to the winds Survived by wife, children, and two sisters, Anna Richards Locke,

widow of James Locke, '90, and Elizabeth Richards Day, the wife of Hilbert F Day, '01 S

William Ansel Arnold, B.A. 1896.

Born May 5, 1874, in Willimantic, Conn Died November 30, 1939, in Willimantic, Conn

Father, Ansel Arnold, a wholesale grain merchant in Willimantic president First National Bank, Willimantic, member Connecticut General Assembly 1857 and 1876, son of Samuel and Amitta (Pomeroy) Arnold of Somers, Conn Mother, Maria Pitkin (Chapman) Arnold daughter of Horace McKnight and Juliann Bartlett (Tiffany) Chapman of Ellington and Willimantic

Willimantic High School and Williston Academy First dispute ap-

pointment Junior and Senior years, member Williston Club.

Attended Yale School of Law 1896–99 (LL.B. 1899; member board Yale Law Journal two years, on executive committee Kent Club, member Corbey Court), admitted to Connecticut bar 1899, practiced law in Hartford 1899 until retirement in 1937 (associated with his classmate Walter H Clark in firm of Clark & Arnold 1899–1921); deputy judge Police Court of Willimantic 1901–03, judge and clerk 1903–13; one of special assistants appointed by Governor Holcomb for taking military census, March, 1917, trustee Card Home for the Aged 1914–39 (president 1936–39), president Willimantic Chamber of Commerce 1913–14 and Willimantic Board of Trade and Business Men's Association, Inc, 1912–14, secretary Willimantic Traction Company 1901–03; director Connecticut Chamber of Commerce, attended Congregational church, Willimantic.

Married May 22, 1901, in Hartford, Kate Warner, daughter of John Ira and Cynthia Elvira (Starkey) Hutchinson Son. Ansel, '33.

Death due to ataxic paraplegia Buried in New Willimantic Cemetery Survived by wife, son, a grandson, and a brother, Louis Horace Arnold, '04.

Henry Dunster Baker, B.A. 1896.

Born February 26, 1872, in Attleboro, Mass Died September 13, 1939, in Durham, N.C.

Father, William Taylor Baker, a grain merchant in Chicago, president Chicago Board of Trade 1890–97 and World's Columbian Exposition 1892, son of William and Matilda Peabody Williams Baker of Winfield, N Y. Mother, Eliza Annie (Dunster) Baker; daughter of Samuel and Susan Perkins (Dow) Dunster of Attleboro

Harvard School, Chicago Second colloquy appointment and Townsend Premium Senior year, editor Yale Daily News Senior year, member Yale Union and Chicago Club

Reporter Chicago Tribune 1896-97 and financial editor 1897-99, special financial writer New York Evening Post 1899-1900, correspondent of Financial Times, London, member literary bureau Republican National Committee, with headquarters in Chicago, during presidential campaigns 1900 and 1904, associate editor Commercial West, Minneapolis, 1901-04; engaged in special literary work 1904-07, entered United States consular service 1907, consul Hobart, Tasmania, 1907–12; during this period detailed to special work in Sydney, Australia, and in New Zealand, consul Nassau, Bahama Islands, 1912-13, and Bombay, India, 1913-14, commercial attaché Petrograd 1914-16, consul Trinidad, British West Indies, 1916 until resignation from the service 1926, editorial and feature writer Minneapolis Journal 1926-27, owner and editor Commercial West, Minneapolis, 1927–28, resided in Durham since 1930, author Australia. Its Resources, Industries, and Trade (1911), New Zealand Its Resources, Industries, and Trade (1912), and British India supervised preparation of Russian Market for American Hardware (1916), contributed to Sexennial Record, Class of 1896, and to magazines and newspapers, member First Presbyterian Church

Married (1) November 5, 1906, in Boston, Mass, Edna, daughter of William Wesley and Mary (Taylor) Woollen Mr and Mrs Baker were divorced in 1909 Married (2) October 31, 1910, in Sydney, Australia, Gwyneth Annette Letitia, daughter of Frederick Close and Annette Agnes (Willis) Griffiths Daughter Valerie Gwyneth Dunster, the wife of Gus Travers Brannon

Death due to hypertensive cardiovascular disease Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago Survived by wife (died February 24, 1940), daughter, and two grandchildren.

Walter Haven Clark, B.A. 1896.

Born January 20, 1872, in Hartford, Conn Died October 20, 1939, in Hartford, Conn

Father, Mahlon Newcomb Clark, chief clerk and cashier Phoenix Insurance Company, Hartford, son of Charles and Dorothy (King) Clark of Enfield, Conn. Mother, Mary Alice (Haven) Clark, daughter of Hiram and Adeline Olivia (Lambert) Haven of Hartford Yale relatives include. Robert L Wallace, ex-'07 (cousin), and George H Gilman, Jr, '29 (nephew).

Hartford Public High School High oration appointment Junior year oration appointment Senior year, elocution prize Sophomore year president Freshman Union; vice-president Yale Union Junior year and president Senior year, participated in Yale-Harvard debates three years on Senior Promenade and Class Day committees; treasurer Hartford Club Junior year, member Alpha Delta Phi, Wolf's Head, and Ph

Beta Kappa

Attended Yale School of Law 1896-99 (LL B 1899; vice-president Law School YMCA 1897-98, member Kent Club and Corbey Court), admitted to Connecticut bar 1898, in office of Bristol, Stoddarc & Bristol 1898-99, member law firm of Clark & Arnold, Hartford 1899-1921, judge Court of Probate, Hartford District, 1921 until retirement January 3, 1939, member from 10th ward Hartford Board of Councilmen 1900-03 (vice-president 1901-02 and president 1902-03) associate judge Hartford Police Court 1903-08 and judge 1908-13 represented Hartford in Connecticut General Assembly 1905; one of special assistants appointed by Governor Holcomb for taking military census March, 1917, member State Board of Charities 1920 and of succeeding organizations, State Department of Public Welfare 1921-35 (president 1933-35), and Public Welfare Council (president 1935-36) president Connecticut State Conference of Social Welfare 1927, Connecticut Probate Assembly 1928-30 (member business committee represented Hartford County on legislative committee 1935), instructor in debating Yale University 1901-03; vice-president Yale Alumn Association of Hartford 1923 and president 1923-24, trustee State Savings Bank, Hartford, 1916–39 and Hartford Seminary Foundation 1925-39, director Long Lane Farm, Middletown, Conn, Hartford Public Library, and First Reinsurance Company, Hartford, member special committee appointed 1930 to investigate conditions at Wethersfield State Prison; on board of managers Middlesex County Home member Hartford Bar Association, Connecticut State and American Bar associations, Connecticut Historical Society, and South Church (Congregational), Hartford

Married June 26, 1902, in Hartford, Julia Ellen Gilman (B L Smith Coll 1896), daughter of Judge George Shepard Gilman (B.A Trinity Coll 1847) and Ellen Maria (Hills) Gilman, and sister of George H Gilman, '90 Children Eleanor Mary (B A. Smith Coll 1926), the wife of Osborne Earle (B A Harvard 1925, Ph D 1938); and Dorothy Gilman (B A Smith Coll 1933), the wife of William Thomson (B S Connecticut State Coll 1925)

Death due to an aneurysm Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford Survived by wife and children

Edward Day Collins, B.A. 1896.

Born December 17, 1869, in Hardwick, Vt Died January 1, 1940, in Middlebury, Vt

Father, Squire Newell Bullock, a farmer and carpenter in Hardwick and Sheffield, Vt; son of Benjamin and Ruby (Spencer) Bullock of Mansfield, Vt Mother, Harriet (Nichols) Bullock, daughter of Asa and Eliza Ann (Hitchcock) Nichols of Wolcott, Vt Edward Day Collins took the name of his adoptive parents, Ira Day Richardson and Mary Elizabeth (Tenney) Collins of Orleans, Vt

Lyndon (Vt) Institute Philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; two-year honors in history Senior year, divided C Wyllys Betts Prize in English Composition Sophomore year, Freshman Glee Club, second glee club Freshman and Sophomore years, member Yale

Union and Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended Yale Graduate School 1896-99 (Ph D 1899, assistant in history 1897-99), managing editor of a farm paper in Lyndon 1901-02, treasurer and managing director Canadian Carbonate, Ltd (later Liquid Carbonic Canadian Corporation, Ltd), 1902-04; publicity manager Tabard Inn Corporation, Philadelphia, 1904, principal State Normal School, Johnson, Vt, 1904-09, associated with Middlebury College 1909-25 (professor of pedagogy and head of department 1909-21, provost 1919-21, acting president 1918-19, 1921, and comptroller 1923-25); organizer Middlebury College summer session and director 1910-11, 1915-16, and 1919-24 and of Bread Loaf School of English 1920-24, organized École Champlain, a French summer camp for girls, Ferrisburg, Vt, in 1924, and director since that time; president Vermont Schoolmasters' Club 1908-09, and Vermont Congregational Conference 1929-30, vice-president Macdonough Point Corporation 1924-38, and president 1938-40, author A History of Vermont (1903), and of pamphlets on summer schools of Middlebury College and on programs for college tudents; contributed to Annual Report of the American Historical Assoiation 1900 and 1901, member executive committee Yale Alumni Association of Vermont, Vermont Historical Society, American Hisorical Association, and Congregational church, Middlebury (chairman orudential committee)

Married July 8, 1903, in Newport, Vt, Ruth Mary, daughter of John Sullivan and Helen (Rutherford) Colby Children Ruth Mary (B A Middlebury Coll 1925), the wife of Enoch Sheridan Chase (Univ of California ex-'23); Paul Tenney (B A Middlebury Coll 1933), and Alice Rutherford (B.A Middlebury Coll 1933)

Death due to paralysis agitans Buried in Pine Grove Cemetery, Newport, Vt. Survived by wife, children, and four grandchildren

Cyrus Fay Mackey, B.A. 1896.

Born July 1, 1872, in Franklin, Pa. Died March 21, 1940, in St Petersburg, Fla.

Father, Charles William Mackey, a corporation lawyer and promoter in Franklin and New York City, first lieutenant 10th Pennsylvania Reserves during Civil War, son of Charles Washington and Julia Ann (Fagundus) Mackey of Franklin Mother, Lauretta Barnes (Fay) Mackey, daughter of Cyrus Paige and Myra (Barnes) Fay of Columbus, Ohio Yale relatives include a brother, William C Mackey, '00.

Phillips-Andover Second dispute appointment Junior year, first dispute appointment Senior year; on board of governors University Club Senior year, member Andover Club, Kappa Psi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head.

Assistant superintendent Franklin (Pa) Steel Casting Company 1896-98, inspector Fay Fruit Company, Los Angeles, Calif, 1898–1903; associated with Franklin Rolling Mill & Foundry Company, which later became Franklin Steel Works, 1903 until retirement in 1934 (superintendent 1903–12, assistant general manager 1912–20, and general manager 1920–34), resided winters in St Petersburg since 1936; corporal Home Defense Police and member Pennsylvania Fuel Administration during World War; member Cathedral chapter, Diocese of Erie (treasurer 1932–40, member board of trustees, executive council, and secretary of standing committee), vestryman St John's Church (Episcopal), Franklin, 1910–40, treasurer 1916–40, junior warden 1920–40, and senior warden 1924–40

Married April 30, 1914, in New York City, Veronica Belle Acheson Bodine, daughter of Edward Goodrich Acheson, Sc D., and Margaret (Maher) Acheson Son Charles William, ex-'39

Death due to acute coronary thrombosis Buried in Franklin Cemetery Survived by wife, son, a stepson, Edward A Bodine, ex-'33 S, and two sisters, Mrs Marion Mackey Campbell of Franklin, and Julia Mackey Alexander, the wife of Thomas Rush Alexander (B A. Washington and Jefferson 1905, Ph D Univ of Pennsylvania 1915) of Pittsburgh, Pa

Harry Willard Mathews, B.A. 1896.

Born June 19, 1875, in New Haven, Conn. Died October 10, 1939, in North Conway, NH.

Father, John L. Mathews, a wholesale paper dealer in New Haven; served in Civil War, son of Elijah and Maria (McCarty) Mathews of Holyoke, Mass Mother, Henriette Clara (Douglass) Mathews; daughter

of Henry and Ruby (Cılley) Douglass of North Craftsbury, Vt Yale relatives include a brother, Charles H Mathews, '93 L

Hopkins Grammar School Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years

Associated with E P. Judd Company, New Haven, 1896–98 and with Macmillan Company, New York City, 1898–1903, engaged in literary work and in travel 1903-06, associate editor of magazine Suburban Life 1907-08, travelled in United States and Canada 1908-14, engaged in Y M C A. work in Cambridge and Boston, Mass , 1914–17, in reference department Boston Public Library 1920 until retirement in 1938, resided in North Conway after retirement, enlisted May 24, 1917, as private Medical Reserve Corps, helped recruit enlisted personnel Base Hospital No 6, called into active service May 30, 1917, at Fort Strong, Mass, promoted to private first class June 26, 1917, and corporal October 10, 1918; overseas July 11, 1917-March 24, 1919, served as assistant to chaplain in charge of hospital post office, member Sons of the American Revolution, American Library Association, Massachusetts Library Association, American Legion, and St Paul's Cathedral (Episcopal), Boston

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by no immediate relatives.

William Conger Morgan, B.A. 1896.

Born June 21, 1874, in Albany, NY Died February 9, 1940, in Los Angeles, Calif

Father, William Morgan, a real-estate and insurance agent in Albany, son of Richard and Elizabeth (Pritchard) Morgan of Albany Mother, Josephine Amelia (Conger) Morgan, daughter of William and Hannah (Babcock) Conger of Reidsville, N Y

Albany High School Philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years, one-year honors in philosophy and two-year honors in natural sciences Senior year; Freshman Glee Club, on second glee club and Banjo Club; member College Choir Senior year, member Yale

Union, Phi Beta Kappa, and Sigma Xi

Attended Yale Graduate School 1896-99 (Ph D 1899, assistant in chemistry 1896-99), instructor in physics and chemistry Washburn College 1899-1900 and professor 1900-01, instructor in chemistry University of California at Berkeley 1901-06 and assistant professor 1906-13, installed chemistry department at Reed College, Portland, Ore, and professor 1913-20, professor of chemistry and chairman of department University of California at Los Angeles since 1920, author Qualitative Analysis (1906); co-author Chemistry (1911) and Laboratory Manual (1912), contributed many articles to chemical journals; fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science and American Chemical Society (president Southern California chapter one term); member Seismological Society and Sierra Club

Married June 21, 1900, in Albany, Charlotte Elisabeth, daughter of Richard and Charlotte (Arkels) Lansing Children a son (died at birth) Robert Lansing (B A Univ of California 1927); Alan Conger (Univ of California ex-'30); and James Roger (Univ of California ex-'37).

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Ashes interred in Forest Lawn Mausoleum, Los Angeles Survived by wife and three sons.

Charles Southerton Morris, B.A. 1896.

Born July 10, 1873, in New Haven, Conn. Died May 18, 1940, in Milwaukee, Wis.

Father, William Greenwood Morris, a picture framer in New Haven; son of Isaac and Mary (Southerton) Morris of the Isle of Wight, England Mother, Margaret Watson (Moore) Morris; daughter of Thomas and Mary (Ellis) Moore of Ireland

Hillhouse High School Second dispute appointment Junior year, first colloquy appointment Senior year, substitute University Football Team Sophomore and Junior years, secretary University Football Association Junior year, member University and Hillhouse High School clubs, and Psi Upsilon

Attended Yale School of Law 1896–98, admitted to Connecticut bar 1898, practiced law in New Haven 1898–1900, in advertising business in Milwaukee, with Armour & Company and the Chicago & Northwestern Railway Company, Milwaukee, and coach of St John's Military Academy football team and other teams in Kansas City during 1900–06, associated with Allis-Chalmers Manufacturing Company, Milwaukee, 1906–40 (paymaster 1916–37, head personnel records department 1937–40), member Allis-Chalmers Foremen's Club, attended Ascension Church (Lutheran), Milwaukee

Married March 24, 1913, in Waukegan, Ill, Martha Caroline, daughter of Frederick William and Augusta C (Muller) Priebe Son Edwin Southerton (Marquette Univ. 1941).

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Valhalla Cemetery, Milwaukee Survived by wife, son, and a brother, Herbert E Morris, '02 Another brother, William G Morris, '90, died in 1912.

Philemon Fowler Sturges, B.A. 1896.

Born November 3, 1875, in Utica, NY. Died January 9, 1940, in Boston, Mass

Father, Edward E Sturges, a lumber dealer in Utica and Geneva, NY; son of Ebenezer Perry and Amanda (Buckingham) Sturges of Mansfield, Ohio. Mother, Anna Halsted Sutherland (Fowler) Sturges, daughter of Philemon Halsted and Jeannette (Hopkins) Fowler of Utica

Classical High School, Geneva, NY, Wohlerschule, Frankfurt, Germany, and Collège Chaptal, Paris, France, attended Hobart College 1892–94 (member Sigma Phi); entered Yale College beginning of Junior year; oration appointment Senior year; president Berkeley Asso-

ciation Senior year; member University Club

Teacher of French and German Condon School, New York City, 1896-97; attended Episcopal Theological School 1897-1900 (BD) 1900), ordained to deaconate 1900 and to priesthood 1901, assistant rector St George's Church, New York City, 1900-02; rector St Peter's Church, Morristown, N J, 1902-16 (archdeacon in Morristown 1912-16), and Grace Church, Providence, RI, 1916-26 (member board of managers Providence Rescue Home Mission), dean St Paul's Cathedral, Boston, since 1926; secretary standing committee Diocese of Massachusetts 1930-32, president 1934-39, and member committee in charge of arrangements for 150th anniversary of diocese 1934, delegate to General Convention of Episcopal Church many times and member Council on Organic Union 1920, voluntary chaplain under Church War Commission, Camp Devens, 1917, lecturer in homiletics Episcopal Theological School 1927-35, on board of preachers Harvard University for several years; DD Brown University 1921, author Our Common Loyalty (1936), member Boston Ministers' Club

Married June 4, 1902, in New York City, Maria Nott, daughter of Rev. Eliphalet Nott Potter, D.D., LL.D., D.C.L. (B.A. Union Coll. 1861) and Helen (Fuller) Potter Children. Philemon Fowler, Jr. (B.A. Princeton 1925; B.D. Episcopal Theological School 1928), Katrina Trask, the wife of Rev. John Upham Harris (B.A. Harvard 1924, B.D. Episcopal Theological School 1927); and Mary Potter (B.A. Vassar 1935), the wife of Montgomery Hare, '33 Mrs. Sturges died February

11, 1939

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Princeton, Mass Survived by children and seven grandchildren.

Ralph Bishop Treadway, B.A. 1896.

Born April 10, 1874, in Sioux City, Iowa Died August 5, 1939, in Elmhurst, Ill.

Father, William Blackstone Treadway, a farmer and stock raiser in Sioux City, son of Bela Root and Philothaeta (Marshall) Treadway of Herkimer County, N Y. Mother, Thalia Martha (Bishop) Treadway; daughter of Homer and Martha (Smith) Bishop of Bristol, Conn

Sioux City High School and Phillips-Exeter. Second colloquy appointment Junior year, second dispute appointment Senior year; member Freshman Crew and University Crew three years (captain Senior year), University Football Squad Sophomore year, on Sophomore German, Junior Promenade, and Class Day committees, president Exeter Club Senior year, member University Club, Beta Theta Pi, and Skull and Bones

Studied law privately while in charge physical department Sioux City Young Men's Christian Association 1896–97; supervisor of physical culture in schools of Oak Park, Ill, and attended Chicago College of Law 1897–99, admitted to Illinois bar 1899; in law office of Jackson, Busby & Lyman, Chicago, 1899–1902 (managing clerk 1900–02); right of way agent and attorney in land department, Chicago & Northwestern Railway 1902–26, engaged in practice of law in Glen Ellyn, Ill, since 1925 (associated with Edward C Klein since 1927), trust officer DuPage Trust Company, Glen Ellyn, 1925–36 and vice-president 1927–38; an organizer in 1931 of DuPage County area council, Boy Scouts of America, and president 1931–32, member St. Mark's Church (Episcopal), Glen Ellyn.

Married July 6, 1904, in Oak Park, Clare Hart, daughter of George Daniel and Clara (Hart) Conklin No children.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes interred in Forest Home Cemetery, Forest Park, Ill. Survived by wife.

Howland Twombly, B.A. 1896.

Born April 13, 1875, in Charlestown, Mass. Died July 1, 1939, in Gloucester, Mass.

Father, Rev Alexander Stevenson Twombly (B A 1854). Mother, Abby Quincy (Bancroft) Twombly. Yale relatives include. J Frederick Eagle, '96 (brother-in-law), and Edward B Twombly, '12, and Alexander H Twombly, Jr, '18 (nephews)

Boston Latin School High oration appointment Junior and Senior years, second Henry James TenEyck Prize Junior year, Class baseball

team Freshman and Sophomore years, substitute University Baseball Team Senior year, recording secretary Young Men's Christian Association Sophomore year, Junior Promenade Committee; Senior Class Supper Committee, member Yale Hawaiian Club, Alpha Delta Phi, Wolf's Head, and Phi Beta Kappa

Associated with Silver, Burdett & Young, publishers, Boston, 1896–97, attended Harvard Law School 1897–1900 (LL B 1900), admitted to Massachusetts bar 1900; practiced law in Boston 1901–39 (member successive firms of Boyden, Bradlee & Twombly, Boyden, Palfrey, Bradlee & Twombly; Warner, Stackpole & Bradlee, and Warner, Stackpole, Stetson & Bradlee), Massachusetts State chairman National Budget Committee 1919–22; director Ellis Memorial 1922–24, organized Home Workers' Association 1921, member New England Regional Executive Committee, Boy Scouts of America (Sea Scout Department), Boston Bar Association (treasurer 1913–28), and Newton (Mass) Congregational Church

Married June 16, 1917, in New York City, Florence King, daughter of Samuel Queen and Nancy Elisabeth (Lamb) Brown No children

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in Forest Hills Cemetery, Boston Survived by wife, and two brothers, Henry B. Twombly, '84, and Clifford G. Twombly, '91 Another brother, Edward L. Twombly, '81, died in 1935.

Robert Stanton Brewster, B.A. 1897.

Born September 27, 1875, in Cazenovia, NY. Died December 24, 1939, in New York City.

Father, Benjamin Brewster, vice-president Chicago, Rock Island & Pacific Railway Company, son of Patrick and Catharine Fanny (Roath) Brewster of Norwich, Conn Mother, Elmina (Dows) Brewster; daughter of James and Elmina (Hersey) Dows of Cazenovia Yale relatives include B Brewster Jennings, '20, Lawrence K Jennings, ex-'26, Benjamin Brewster, '29, and Edward C Brewster, '32 (nephews)

Cutler School, New York City, and St Paul's School, Concord, N H. Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, treasurer University Club Junior year, president and member executive committee Senior year; member St Paul's School Club, Cutler School Club, Bon Vivants, Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key

Travelled around the world 1897–98, associated with New York Security & Trust Company a short time in 1898, trustee Seamen's Bank for Savings since 1915 (vice-president 1938–39), Title Guarantee and Trust Company since 1922, and Westchester Title & Trust Company 1921–31, director Church Life Insurance Corporation, Church Proper-

ties Fire Insurance Corporation, National Fuel Gas Company, American Trading Company, and Western Pacific Railroad Company, president New York Orthopedic Dispensary and Hospital 1917-37 and chairman executive committee 1937-39, president Northern Westchester Hospital, Mount Kisco, NY, 1922-39; chairman finance committee Flower Hospital, New York City, director 1905–15 and trustee since 1921 Young Men's Christain Association, New York City; member board of managers Naval Young Men's Christian Association, on executive committee National War Work Council 1917-18, director 1912-34, trustee 1919-34, and secretary 1920–34 Brearley School, New York City, on board of trustees New York Zoological Society since 1911; president Metropolitan Opera and Real Estate Company since 1935 and a director since 1926, served on committee of three appointed in 1933 to cooperate with producing company in carrying out new plans for the opera; director Metropolitan Opera Associations, Inc, since 1933, special assistant attached to staff of War Trade Board, U.S. Embassy, London, October, 1918-January, 1919, appointed to Westchester County Building Commission 1915, member Bureau of Advice and Information, Charity Organization Society, New York City; on council Yale Foreign Missionary Society 1927-31 and on board of governors Yale Publishing Association 1927–32, treasurer Jekyll Island Club, member Association of Ex-Members of Squadron A, Inc; vestryman St. Bartholomew's Church (Episcopal), New York City, 1915–39 (clerk of the vestry 1915– 27, warden 1927–39), junior warden 1923–39 St. Mark's Church, Mount Kisco, where he resided summers, treasurer trustees of estate and property of Diocesan Convention of New York and member board of trustees Episcopal Fund since 1919

Married June 1, 1904, in Auburn, NY, Mabel Martin, daughter of Grenville and Eliza (Martin) Tremain Children: Sylvia, the wife of Major Edward Frederic Maude (graduate Royal Military College, Sandhurst), Phyllis; and Robert Dows, '39.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Kensico Cemetery, Valhalla, N Y. Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, a sister, Mary B. Jennings, the widow of Oliver G. Jennings, '87, and a brother, Frederick F. Brewster of New Haven, Conn. Another brother, George S. Brewster,

'91, died in 1936.

Frank Brookfield, B.A. 1897.

Born November 18, 1875, in New York City. Died April 26, 1940, in New York City.

Father, William Brookfield, a manufacturer in New York City; president Brookfield Glass Company; commissioner of Public Works, New

York City; son of James Madison and Catharine Crooks (Brandriff) Brookfield Mother, Kate (Morgan) Brookfield; daughter of Henry and Mary (Platt) Morgan of Aurora, N Y Yale relatives include George Underwood, '75, and Louis C Hay, '81 (cousins), and Henry M Brookfield, Jr, '33, and Samuel L Brookfield, '37 (nephews)

Cutler School, New York City. On Class supper committee Senior year; member Berkeley and University clubs and Alpha Delta Phi;

graduate member Elihu

Associated with Brookfield Glass Company, Old Bridge, NJ, since 1897 (treasurer 1899, vice-president 1903–20), attended New York Law School 1898–1900, admitted to the bar 1900 and had since practiced law in New York City; successively with firms of Alexander & Green and Miles & Johnson 1900–01; with his classmates, John H Thompson and Richard S. Chisolm, member firm Brookfield, Chisolm & Thompson 1901–04; president and director Franklin Loan and Improvement Company of New Jersey, vice-president Jamesburg Land Company, commissioned Captain Ordnance May 4, 1918, stationed in Washington and overseas August, 1918–February 1, 1919, as munitions officer, Ammunition Supply, A E F; discharged March 1, 1919, secretary New York City Republican Club; member Republican County Committee, Squadron A, New York National Guard, and Society of Colonial Wars, attended Fifth Avenue Presbyterian Church, New York City

Married April 28, 1909, in New York City, Marceline Randolph, daughter of William F. and Clara (Frost) Dunning Children Kate Morgan, the wife of Watson Wyckoff (Ph B Brown Univ 1928), and

Frank Morgan (B.A. Williams Coll. 1936).

Death due to heart disease. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife, children, a granddaughter, and a brother, Henry Morgan Brookfield (B A. Harvard 1893) of New York City Another brother, James H Brookfield, ex-'96, died in 1928.

Abram Royer Brubacher, B.A. 1897.

Born July 27, 1870, near Schaefferstown, Pa. Died August 23, 1939, in Albany, NY.

Father, Daniel B. Brubacher, a farmer near Schaefferstown. Mother, Catherine (Royer) Brubacher.

Phillips-Andover. Philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years, second Winthrop Prize Junior year, member Yale Union, Andover Club, and Phi Beta Kappa

Instructor in Latin and Greek, Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass, 1897–98 and head of Greek department 1898–99; attended Yale Graduate School 1899–1902 (Ph D. 1902, instructor in Greek 1900–01);

instructor Miss Whedon's School, New Haven, 1901-02; principal Gloversville (NY) High School 1902-05 and Union Classical Institute, Schenectady, 1905–08, superintendent of schools, Schenectady, 1908–14; president New York State College for Teachers, Albany, since 1914, LLD Alfred University 1934; co-author High School English (2 vols, 1910-12), English, Oral and Written, for High Schools (1914), Teaching Profession and Practice (1927), High School Composition and Grammar (1930–31), Junior English for Everyday Use (1934), and Senior English for Everyday Use (1935), editor. The Spirit of America (1920); contributed to periodicals, president New York State Teachers' Association 1913-14, New York State Council of Superintendents 1913-14, and Upper Hudson Association of Phi Beta Kappa 1919-20; trustee Albany Academy 1915-39, Albany Academy for Girls 1915-21, Albany Home for Children since 1917 (president of the board 1923-31), Albany Public Library 1915-39, and Albany Savings Bank 1927-39; vice-president Yale Club of Schenectady 1908 and president Yale Alumni Association of Northeastern New York 1921-22 (scholarship fund trustee 1924-27), member Society of College Teachers of Education, National Education Association, Masonic order, and First Presbyterian Church, Albany (elder 1919-39)

Married August 24, 1897, in Shamokin, Pa, Rosa Miranda, daughter of John Knorr and Mary Magdalene (Seiler) Haas Son John Seiler, '20. Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Albany Rural Cemetery. Survived by wife, son, and two grandsons.

Edward Stephen Harkness, B.A. 1897.

Born January 22, 1874, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died January 29, 1940, in New York City.

Father, Stephen Vanderburg Harkness of Cleveland, Ohio, associated with Standard Oil Company; son of David and Martha (Cook) Harkness of Fayette, N Y Mother, Anna Maria (Richardson) Harkness; daughter of James and Anna M. (Rauck) Richardson of Dalton, Ohio. Yale relatives include Charles W. Harkness, '83 (brother), William L. Harkness, '81 (cousin); Henry C. Taylor, '17, and William A. Taylor, Jr, '19 (nephews)

St Paul's School, Concord, NH Member Class supper committee Senior year, secretary St Paul's School Club Junior year and president Senior year, member Bon Vivants, University Club, Psi Upsilon, and Wolf's Head

Mr Harkness made a career of philanthropy, one of Yale's great benefactors, he was responsible for the establishment of the college plan, his

generosity making possible the construction of Pierson, Davenport, Jonathan Edwards, Calhoun, Berkeley, and Timothy Dwight colleges and the remodeling of the Memorial Quadrangle, originally given by his mother, to form Saybrook and Branford colleges, it was his wish that all students should participate fully in undergraduate associations and activities, to attain this he provided funds for the establishment and maintenance of the bursary system to assist self-supporting members of the colleges, he encouraged the improvement of undergraduate teaching by augmenting the special fund set up for that purpose, and, to broaden further the curriculum of the School of the Fine Arts, endowed the Department of Drama and gave the University Theatre, other gifts to the University included funds for the erection of the Gallery of Fine Arts, the presentation of numerous art treasures—among them the set of four tapestries originally woven for Elihu Yale—, the expenses of the Yale Endowment Campaign of 1926, and the encouragement of much of the medical work of Yale-in-China.

His gifts were not restricted to his alma mater, he aided the educational and building programs of many preparatory schools and colleges, the most notable of his gifts being those to Harvard and Columbia universities, especially interested in the Columbia-Presbyterian Medical Center he and his mother aided materially in making the affiliation of the two institutions possible, member board of managers Presbyterian Hospital 1910-40 and on joint administrative board Columbia University-Presbyterian Hospital 1921-29, president The Commonwealth Fund, created by his mother in 1918 "to do something for the welfare of mankind", this fund has bettered rural health, enlarged medical knowledge, strengthened psychiatric service, and fostered international contacts through education; he enriched the collections of a number of museums and libraries; presented many Egyptian antiquities to the Metropolitan Museum of Art which he had served as trustee since 1912 and as chairman committee on Egyptian art 1914-34; deposited rare and important historical manuscripts relating to Spanish conquest of Mexico and Peru in Library of Congress 1929; trustee New York Public Library 1919-29 and New York Zoological Society since 1911, director Union Theological Seminary 1909–28 (member house committee 1909–13 and finance committee 1910-28); honorary associate Residential Houses at Harvard, honorary fellow Undergraduate Colleges at Yale, fellow New York Genealogical and Biographical Society since 1929, director and member executive committee Southern Pacific Company and Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul Railway Company, and director of the New York Central and a number of other railroads; during World War deputy in United States Fuel Administration for New York City, and confidential adviser on railroad problems, United States Housing Corporation, trustee Madison Avenue Presbyterian Church, New York City, 1905-20

and 1922–26 M A. Hon. 1925; LL.D. St. Andrews University 1926 and Columbia University 1928

Married November 15, 1904, in New York City, Mary Emma, daughter of Thomas Edgar Stillman (B A Colgate 1859) and Charlotte Elizabeth (Greenman) Stillman No children.

Death due to intestinal grippe followed by complications. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City Survived by wife.

Albert Francis Judd, B.A. 1897.

Born December 20, 1874, in Honolulu, T.H. Died December 18, 1939, in Honolulu, T.H.

Father, Albert Francis Judd, LL D. (B A. 1862) Mother, Agnes Hall (Boyd) Judd Yale relatives include George R Carter, '88 S (cousin), F Judd Cooke, '33, Thomas H Cooke, ex-'37, Gerrit P. Judd, 4th, '38, Stephen M Cooke, ex-'39, J. Robert Judd, '39, and Charles S Judd, Jr., '43 (nephews)

Punahou Academy First dispute appointment Junior year and dissertation appointment Senior year, business manager Yale Courant and president Hawaiian Club Senior year, member Senior Promenade and Class picture committees

Attended Yale School of Law 1897–99 (LL.B 1907, with enrollment in Class of 1900 L.); admitted to Connecticut and Hawaiian bars 1899; practiced law in Honolulu 1899-1914, member firms Atkinson & Judd 1900-03, Atkinson, Judd & Mott-Smith 1904-06, and Judd, Mott-Smith & Hemenway [Charles R, '97] 1906-07, Territorial Commissioner Bubonic Plague Court of Claims, Hawaii, 1900, United States Commissioner and second district magistrate Honolulu 1904; a senator from Oahu in Hawaiian legislature 1911–14 (chairman judiciary committee 1911 and 1913), member Territorial Tax Commission 1907 and Territorial Code Commission 1905, 1925, and chairman 1935, represented Hawanan Sugar Planters' Association in Manila 1906 and negotiated agreement with Philippine government which secured workers for Hawaiian plantations, trustee 1908-39, vice-president 1909-16 and 1929-39 Bernice P Bishop Estate, the Foundation of the Kamehameha Schools, trustee Bernice P Bishop Museum 1908-39 (chairman of the board 1909-39), and Charles R Bishop Trust 1908-39, was interested in history, natural history, and native culture of Hawaii and other parts of Polynesia, in 1926 made a trip to Samoa with C Montague Cooke, Jr, '97, to collect land shells for Bishop Museum, and in 1927 headed an ethnological expedition to same region, a pioneer in modern educational movement in American Samoa; chairman 1931-39 committee to administer Frederic Duclos Barstow Samoan Foundation; legal adviser

American Samoan Commission 1930 (wrote report of commission and completed draft of organic law which it drew up), trustee Oahu College and Punahou Academy 1901–25 (secretary of the board 1901–16), M A Hon. Yale 1934, commissioned Captain, Quartermaster Reserve Corps, July 2, 1917, resigned commission May 24, 1918, to serve as supervisor of examiners, Postal Censorship Office, Honolulu, April 18, 1918–February 26, 1919; first vice-president Guardian Trust Company, Ltd, 1913, second vice-president 1914–33, and a director, vice-president Hawaiian Historical Society 1911–14, an organizer territorial archives commission 1905 and member 1905–07, secretary University Club of Honolulu 1905–13, vice-president 1913–14, and president 1914–15, vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Hawaii 1914–15, member Hawaiian Board of Missions, Sons of the American Revolution, and Central Union Church (Congregational), Honolulu

Married July 21, 1899, in Honolulu, Madeline Perry, daughter of Alfred Stedman and Charlotte Elizabeth (Smith) Hartwell Children a son (died two days after birth), Bernice, Dorothy (B A Univ of Hawaii 1928), the wife of William Alexander Jackson (B A. Williams

1927), and Albert Francis, Jr. (Williams ex-'34).

Death due to carcinoma. Ashes interred in Nuuanu Cemetery, Honolulu. Survived by wife, daughters, one son, one grandson, two sisters, Miss Agnes Elizabeth Judd of Honolulu, and Sophie Judd Cooke, the wife of George P. Cooke, '05, and four brothers, James R Judd, '97, Henry P. Judd, '01, Gerrit P Judd, 3d (V M D Univ. of Pennsylvania 1908) of Molokai, Hawaii, and Lawrence M Judd of Honolulu. Two other brothers, Allan W. Judd, ex-'01, and Charles S Judd, '05, died in 1930 and 1939 respectively.

Henry George Lapham, B.A. 1897.

Born July 5, 1875, in Brooklyn, NY Died December 16, 1939, in Brookline, Mass

Father, John Jesse Lapham of New York City, a founder Texas Corporation, vice-president Central Leather Company and United States Leather Company; son of Henry Griffith and Semantha (Vail) Lapham of New York City. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Walker) Lapham, daughter of George G and Emily (Lapham) Walker of Salem, N Y.

Berkeley School, New York City, and private tutor. On Class supper committee and president Berkeley Club Senior year; member University

Club and Alpha Delta Phi.

Clerk United States Leather Company, Boston, 1897–1901; treasurer B A Corbin & Sons Company, shoe manufacturers, Marlboro, Mass, 1901–39 (vice-president 1901–35), S H Howe Shoe Company, Marl-

boro, 1913-18 (vice-president 1918), treasurer and a director Franklin Shoe Company, Boston, 1917-37; engaged in banking and investment business, Boston, since 1921 (special partner Henry G. Lapham & Company 1925, limited partner Lapham, Davis & Bianchi 1930-1939); director Commonwealth Trust Company, Boston, former director Eastern Massachusetts Street Railway Company, Ventura Consolidated Oil Fields, Texas Corporation (member executive committee), Essex Analme Works, Inc., Petroleum Heat & Power Company, Pollock Pen Company, National Rockland Bank, Boston, and American-Hawaiian Steamship Company, president Boston Athletic Association 1920–27, was instrumental in building Boston Arena and president Boston-Garden-Arena Corporation since 1934, appointed member American Olympic Association 1922 (first vice-president, chairman Boston section 1924), president International Billiard Association, member Yale Track Advisory Committee 1926-31, on board of governors Yale Publishing Association 1927–32, vice-president Yale Club of Boston 1922–23, was interested in and assisted financially Bernice P. Bishop Museum's program of exploration in Pacific, in appreciation of his aid Henry G. Lapham Fijian Expedition (1939) named for him; director Boys' Clubs of Boston and Bunker Hill Girls' Club; commissioned Captain, Quartermaster Corps, Massachusetts National Guard, 1917, called to active service and assigned to medical department during influenza epidemic, discharged 1920, a founder Unicorn Country Club of Stoneham.

Married October 26, 1897, in Brookline, Rebecca Bird, daughter of James H and Anna (Richardson) Lounsbery Children. Katheryn Elizabeth, the wife of Charles F Honeywell (B.A Univ of California 1921), and Raymond White, '28

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Walnut Hills Cemetery, Brookline Survived by wife (died April 7, 1940), children, and six grandchildren.

In 1923 Mr Lapham gave the Lapham Field House to the University in memory of his classmates, Theodore M. Barnes and James C Converse.

Frederick Bliss Luquiens, B.A. 1897.

Born December 10, 1875, in Auburndale, Mass Died April 17, 1940, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Jules Luquiens (B.D. Univ of Lausanne 1866, Ph D Yale 1873), professor of Modern Languages Yale University 1892–98 and Street Professor of Romance Languages and Literature 1898–99 Mother, Emma (Clark) Luquiens, daughter of William Henry Clark of Salem, Ohio Yale relatives include a niece, Katherine A. Gibson, B F.A 1937, and a nephew, Charles S Judd, Jr., '43

Newton (Mass) High School and Hopkins Grammar School Philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; second prize in English composition Sophomore year; two-year honors in modern languages Senior year, member Beta Theta Pi and Phi Beta Kappa

Registered Yale Graduate School 1897-1905 (Ph D 1905), held Scott Hurtt Fellowship and studied at the Sorbonne in Paris 1900-02, member Yale University faculty since 1897, instructor in French, Sheffield Scientific School, 1897–98, in German 1898–1900, and in French and Spanish 1902-06, assistant professor of Spanish 1906-14 and professor 1914-21; Colgate Professor of Spanish 1921–28, professor of Spanish-American Literature 1928-35, Street Professor of Modern Languages since 1935, gave a course in Old French in Graduate School 1903-17 and courses in Spanish-American Literature 1917-40, curator of Latin Americana 1930-40, chairman department of Spanish and Italian 1929-40, member governing boards Sheffield Scientific School, The Freshman Year, and Yale College, and board of permanent officers Yale Graduate School; fellow of Branford College 1933-40; author: The Roman de la Rose and Medieval Castilian Literature (1905), The Reconstruction of the Original "Chanson de Roland" (1909), An Introduction to Old French Phonology and Morphology (1909), Three Lays of Marie de France, Retold in English Verse (1911), The Fabliau of the Three Hunchbacks (1913), Irreducible Minimum of Spanish Grammar (1919–), and Jeremiad of a Modern Language Teacher (1926); edited Elementary Spanish-American Reader (1917) and Letters of Henry Adams (1920), compiled Check-list of Spanish-American Literature in the Yale University Library (1928), and Spanish American Literature in the Yale University Library; A Bibliography (1939), general editor Macmillan Spanish series 1916-25, contributed to periodicals, he believed that 'teaching to talk" was the basis of all good modern language instruction and developed his own very unusual method of teaching which had outstanding results; for some years had been interested in science of versification and during visits to Spain and Italy made investigations into the rhythm of Spanish and Italian verse and conducted numerous experiments in verse-reading with native experts; commissioned Captain, Military Intelligence, September 25, 1918, assigned to executive division, Military Intelligence Division, Office of Chief of Staff, War Department, Washington, until discharge January 1, 1919, member commission sent under auspices of American Association for International Conciliation to study South American life, culture, and educational methods in 1914, secretary commission appointed by Republic of Colombia in 1923 to reorganize its financial system, member Modern Language Association of America (vice-president 1920), New England League of Teachers of Spanish (an honorary vice-president since 1927), Hispanic Society of America, Connecticut group of the Modern Language Association, New England Association of Colleges and Secondary Schools, Instituto Internacional de Literatura Iberoamericana; founder Centro Español de Yale, honorary member Berzelius, member Aurelian Honor Society; member board of directors of the Faculty Club (president 1925–26), Graduates Club (second vice-president 1938–39), and Elizabethan Club; sustaining member New Haven Paint and Clay Club.

Married June 23, 1904, in Salem, Ohio, Elizabeth May Bell, daughter

of William H. and Virginia (Thomas) Koll No children

Death due to coronary thrombosis Survived by wife, a sister, Louise L Judd, the widow of Charles S Judd, '05, and a brother, Huc-Mazelet Luquiens, '02.

Nathaniel Waldron Wallis, B.A. 1897.

Born March 25, 1874, in Jersey City, NJ. Died April 4, 1940, in East Orange, NJ.

Father, Hamilton Wallis (B A 1863) Mother, Alice (Waldron) Wallis Yale relatives include a cousin, William Durrie Waldron, '03.

Newark (N J) Academy Member Delta Kappa Epsilon

Attended New York Law School and studied in offices of Corbin & Corbin, Jersey City, 1897–98; enlisted May 17, 1898, storekeeper in engineer's department (with rating of second class fireman), served aboard auxiliary cruiser U S S Badger, on blockade duty at Havana and Nuevitas and later stationed at Guantánamo Bay, entered stock brokerage business 1899, general cotton broker and member New York Cotton Exchange 1901–40, served with Essex Troop, New Jersey Cavalry, 1901–07, member East Orange Rifle Association, New Jersey Fish and Game Conservation League, Masonic order, and Campfire Club of America, attended Brick Presbyterian Church, East Orange.

Married November 3, 1902, in Millburn, NJ, Ethel Varick, daughter

of Horace James and Mary Augusta (Wallis) Jaquith No children.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Rosedale Cemetery, Orange, N J. Survived by wife, a sister, Mrs James Carr Dunn of London, England, a half sister, Mrs. Lyle A Christensen of Millburn, two brothers, A Hamilton Wallis, '93, and Clinton G. Wallis, '97 S, and a half brother, John Wallis, '28.

Weston Spies Gales, B.A. 1898.

Born November 5, 1877, in Elizabeth, NJ. Died October 21, 1939, in Portsmouth, NH.

Father, Joseph Gales, a merchant in New York City. Mother, Julia Latrobe (Spencer) Gales.

Pingry School, Elizabeth. Dissertation appointment Junior year, oration appointment Senior year

Attended Columbia University 1898–99, studied organ in New York City under G M Dethier 1901-04, and in Paris under Charles-Marie Widor and Louis Vierne summers 1908 and 1912, organist and choirmaster St. Barnabas Church, Irvington-on-Hudson, 1898-1901, and Christ Church, New York City, 1901-02, during latter period also associated with Fisk & Robinson, bankers, organist and choirmaster Christ Church, Elizabeth, 1902-08, and Emmanuel Church, Boston, Mass, 1908-13, student of orchestral conducting, Munich, 1913 and in that year made debut as conductor with Hamburg Philharmonic Orchestra and also conducted in Munich, Nuremberg, and Innsbruck, an organizer of Detroit Symphony Orchestra 1914 and conductor until 1918; engaged in musical study in France, Italy, and Austria 1918-22 and also gave concerts with Lamoureux Orchestra, Paris, conducted at Stadttheater, Innsbruck, 1922-23; with Wagnerian Opera Company in the United States 1923-24, and at Metropolitan Opera House 1924, associate conductor New York State Symphony Orchestra 1923-24, selected as solo-repetitor at Festival Theatre, Bayreuth, 1928 (first American to receive that honor) and at Stadttheater, Breslau, 1931-32, had resided in Portsmouth in recent years; author of a paper on Colonel Oliver Spencer; member Society of the Cincinnati and Episcopal church Unmarried.

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Elizabeth Survived by no immediate relatives

Clarence Phelps Dodge, B.A. 1899.

Born July 26, 1877, in Honolulu, T.H Died July 29, 1939, in Denver, Colo

Father, Rev. David Stuart Dodge, D D (B A. 1857) Mother, Ellen Ada (Phelps) Dodge Yale relatives include David S Dodge (M D 1826) (great-uncle); Charles C. Dodge, '60, William Walter Phelps, '60, George E Dodge, '70, Arthur M Dodge, '74, William E Dodge (M A Hon 1901) (uncles); Walter Phelps Dodge, ex-'91, Francis P Dodge, '94, and Guy Phelps Dodge, ex-'96 (brothers), John J Phelps, '83, Charles S Dodge, '85, Sheffield Phelps, '86, Marshall J Dodge, '98, Murray W Dodge, '99, A. Douglas Dodge, '03, Geoffrey Dodge, '09, and Percival Dodge, '14 (cousins); Stuart Phelps Dodge, '14 (nephew)

Westminster School, Dobbs Ferry, NY, and Phillips-Andover Winner University interclass tennis tournament (singles) Freshman and Sophomore years; member Yale Tennis Team Sophomore and Junior years; winner intercollegiate tennis singles Junior year, secretary and

treasurer Intercollegiate Tennis Association Sophomore year, president Senior year, president University Tennis Club Senior year; on Freshman Glee Club, Apollo Glee Club Junior year, and College Choir Senior year, member University and Andover clubs and Alpha Delta Phi.

Worked in factory of United States Battery Company, Brooklyn, for a short time 1899; engaged in real-estate business Colorado Springs 1899-1904 (member Adams, Dodge & Company), member staff and later owner Evening Telegraph, Colorado Springs, 1904-07, president Gazette Publishing Company and publisher Colorado Springs Gazette 1907-22, representative in Colorado legislature 1905, chairman Progressive Party of Colorado, president Colorado Springs Y M C A 1903-10, 1915-17, vice-chairman Colorado State Committee 1903-05 and chairman 1905-24, member International Committee 1904-25; special secretary under National War Work Council, YMCA, 1918-19 (investigation and reorganization work throughout Pacific Coast and Hawaii), president Colorado Springs Community Chest 1925–28, and Labor College of Colorado Springs 1929-30, resided winters in Washington, DC, and summers in Colorado Springs since 1930; president Washington Chapter American Red Cross 1929, Washington Community Chest 1934–38, and Institute of Criminal Science, chairman National Commission for Social Education 1934-38, Washington Committee on Housing 1935, and Social Service Committee Washington Federation of Churches, trustee University of Beirut and Brookings Institution; fellow Roosevelt Memorial Association, director George Washington Memorial Parkway Fund and National Conservation Committee; vicepresident Colorado Yale Association 1927; member Washington-Lincoln Gettysburg Memorial Boulevard Association, American Legion, Navy League, National Security League, Colorado Aero Club, and St John's Church (Episcopal), Washington (vestryman).

Married January 1, 1900, in Colorado Springs, Regina, daughter of Judge Horace Gray Lunt (B A Harvard 1870) and Caroline Kirby (Isaacs) Lunt Children Regina Phelps (Radcliffe ex-'29), the wife of Charles William Eliot, 2d (B A Harvard 1920), and Clarence Phelps,

Jr , '29

Death due to multiple myeloma Ashes interred in Simsbury, Conn. Survived by wife, children, and four grandchildren

Francis Robert Parks, B.A. 1899.

Born April 10, 1876, in Holyoke, Mass Died August 20, 1939, in Chestnut Hill, Mass.

Father, Robert William Parks of Holyoke and Westfield, Mass; dealer in real estate and insurance, son of Lyman and Ruhamah (Fuller)

Parks of Russell, Mass. Mother, Sarah Violetta (Gaylord) Parks, daughter of Henry and Martha (Taylor) Gaylord of Wyalusing, Pa

Westfield (Mass) High School Oration appointment Junior and

Senior years; member University Club and Alpha Delta Phi

Associated in business with his father 1899–1901, treasurer Vitrified Wheel Company, Westfield, 1899–1918, secretary Loyal Protective Insurance Company, Boston, 1901–29 and president 1929 until retirement in 1931, president National Protective Companies and Eastern Casualty Company, Boston, 1929–31, vice-president Ridgeley Protective Association 1920–31, director New England Casualty Company of Boston and First National Bank, Westfield, author Accident and Health Experience (1911), served with Bureau of War Risk Insurance, Boston, October–December, 1918, member Newton (Mass.) Constabiliary, Yale Club of Boston (on nominating committee 1922), Masonic order, and First Congregational Church, Westfield

Married October 1, 1902, in Wyalusing, Jane, daughter of Harry Fuller and Frances Lucretia (Hines) Slocum Children Robert William; Francis Slocum (B.A Harvard 1928; died November 20, 1930), Burton Miner (B A Harvard 1929), and Gaylord (B A Wesleyan 1932)

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Pine Hill Cemetery, Westfield Survived by wife and three sons

Constantine [Demeter] Stephanove, B.A. 1899.

Born April 25, 1873, in Bansko, Bulgaria Died January 30, 1940, in Sofia, Bulgaria.

Father, Demeter Pope Nicholas Stephanove, a merchant in Bansko, son of Pop Nicholas and Maria (Zaikova) Stephanove of Bansko. Mother, Helena (Mandieva) Stephanove, daughter of Nicholas Mandieff of Bansko.

American College, Samakov, Bulgaria, and Monson (Mass) Academy

Second colloquy appointment Senior year.

Attended Yale Graduate School 1899–1901 (M A 1901) and University of Berlin 1902; special Macedonian delegate to England and America 1904; superintendent Bulgarian exhibit St Louis World's Fair 1904–05, Bulgarian attaché at Athens, Greece, 1905–06, member faculty University of Sofia since 1906 (lecturer in English 1906–23 and professor of English philology 1923 until retirement 1937), author Anglo-Bulgarian Dictionary (1908), Complete Bulgarian-English Dictionary (1914), The Bulgarians and Anglo-Saxondom (1919), The Question of Thrace (1919), We, The Macedonians (1919), The Great Victorian—Tennyson and His Poetry (1925), Complete Anglo-Bulgarian Dictionary (1929), Byron, The Poet of Liberty and of World-Grief (1930), Apotheosis of Labour in Bulgarian

Folk-lore and Folk-song (1932), and English Cultural Influence in Bulgaria (1932), contributed to numerous reviews; translated Shakespeare's Merry Wives of Windsor, chairman emigration committee and author Bulgarian emigration law 1907, delegate of Bulgarian government to England 1913 and 1915, member Bulgarian Cultural Commission at Berne, Switzerland, 1917–19; secretary General Macedonian Council in Switzerland 1918–20 and Macedonian delegate to Peace Conference 1919, member Central Macedonian Organization, American Geographical Society, and First Bulgarian Evangelical Church, Sofia

Married November 8, 1911, in Plovdiv, Bulgaria, Marie Andrea Tsanoff (B A American Coll for Girls, Constantinople, 1905), daughter of Andrea Stoyan Tsanoff (Amherst ex-'71) and Tana Gentcheva (Colarova) Tsanoff Children Ada (B A First Sofia Gymnasium for Girls 1931), Vladislav (died October 9, 1917), and Paula (Vienna State

Academy for Music 1936)

Death due to bronchopneumonia Buried in Evangelical section of Sofia Cemetery Survived by wife, daughters, two sisters, Mrs. Catherina Tsilka of Tirana, Albania, and Mrs. Anna Boricova of Bansko, Bulgaria, and three brothers, Ivan Stephanove (American Coll., Samokov, 1898) of Tirnovo, Bulgaria, Nicholas Stephanove (American Coll., Samokov) of Bansko, and Alexander D. Stephanove (D.D.S. Keokuk Dental Coll., 1908) of Portland, Ore.

Robert Leonard Dodd, B.A. 1900.

Born August 10, 1873, in Wilmington, Vt Died March 17, 1940, in Concord, NH.

Father, Rev Leonard Dodd of Haverhill, Mass; a Congregational minister, son of Leonard and Isabel (Hutchinson) Dodd of Garsdale, England Mother, Fannie Almira (Smith) Dodd, daughter of Jesse and Almira (Sheldon) Smith of St Albans, Vt

Lyndon Institute, Lyndonville, Vt Dissertation appointment Junior

year, first dispute appointment Senior year.

Teacher in Vermont 1900-03, clerk Boston & Maine Railroad, Nashua, N H, 1903-15, postmaster at Atkinson, N.H, 1915-40, member Junior Order of Young American Mechanics, and North Parish Church (Congregational), Plaistow, N H

Unmarried

Death due to chronic nephritis Buried in North Parish Cemetery, Plaistow Survived by a sister, Mrs David Foote of Atkinson

Frank Wales Eaton, B.A. 1900.

Born October 31, 1877, in East Orange, NJ Died March 16, 1940, in New York City.

Father, Edwin Wales Eaton, treasurer and director Nonotuck Silk Company, son of Edwin and Caroline (Gaylord) Eaton of Chaplin, Conn. Mother, Frances Marion (Swift) Eaton, daughter of Charles and Frances (Utley) Swift of Seymour, Conn. Yale relatives include two brothers, Charles E Eaton, '84, and Wilfred E Eaton, '85

Dearborn-Morgan School, Orange, NJ Member Freshman Union

Travelled in Europe 1900–01; associated with Nonotuck Silk Company, which merged in 1921 with Brainerd & Armstrong Company to form Corticelli Silk Company, 1901 until retirement 1932, in New York office 1901–02, at factory in Florence, Mass, 1902–03, New York manager and assistant treasurer 1907–12, vice-president 1912–25, president 1925–29, and chairman of the board 1929–32; assistant treasurer and a director Brainerd & Armstrong Company 1907–12, member board of managers Silk Association of America, resided in Morristown, NJ, and was active in civic affairs, on board of directors Community Chest, treasurer Boy Scouts 1938 and 1939, member Union League Club of New York, and Church of the Redeemer (Episcopal), Morristown (vestryman 1938–40)

Married October 26, 1912, at Newport News, Va, Minnie Harris Blake (B S. Converse Coll 1898), daughter of Wilfred and Anna (Thompson) Harris Daughter. Frances Anne, the wife of Frank Woodburn Dinsmore, Jr (New York Univ 1931–32).

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Morristown, N.J. Survived by wife and daughter.

Robert Ferguson, B.A. 1900.

Born May 22, 1875, in Paisley, Scotland Died December 12, 1939, in West Hartford, Conn.

Father, James Ferguson, owner Ferguson's Dye House, Springfield, Mass; son of Robert Ferguson of Paisley, Scotland Mother, Mary Sarah (Eadie) Ferguson; daughter of James and Sarah (Lindsey) Eadie of Paisley Yale relatives include a nephew, James S Ferguson, '28 S

Franklin and Springfield (Mass) high schools High oration appointment Junior year, philosophical oration appointment and two-year honors in natural science Senior year, member Wigwam, Book and Bond, and Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Yale School of Medicine 1900-03 (MD 1903, member

Sigma X1), interne New York City Hospital 1903–05; assistant surgeon El Paso & Southwestern Railroad, Bisbee, Ariz, 1905–36, assistant surgeon 1905–29 and chief surgeon 1929–36 Copper Queen Branch, Mines Division, Phelps Dodge Corporation, Bisbee; member Bisbee City Council six years; retired 1936 and had since resided in West Hartford, commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Corps, September 9, 1917, promoted to captaincy June, 1918, assigned to 126th Machine Gun Battalion, Camp Cody, transferred to Base Hospital 29 in April, 1918; overseas July 6, 1918–February 23, 1919; stationed greater part of time in London, chief of surgical service Base Hospital 29 for a time; discharged March 1, 1919, president Yale Alumni Association of Arizona 1927–30, member American College of Surgeons, American Medical Association, Masonic order, and Presbyterian church, Bisbee.

Married April 30, 1907, in New York City, Nellie Elizabeth, daughter of Charles and Ella (Raymond) Weld. Children: Margaret (B A. Occidental Coll 1934) and Robert, Jr, '37

Death due to coronary embolism Buried in Fairview Cemetery, West Hartford Survived by wife, children, and two brothers, Franklin A Ferguson, '12 S, and Roy C. Ferguson, '18

Christopher Hall Howes, B.A. 1900.

Born May 19, 1876, in Yarmouth, Mass Died March 3, 1940, in Hyannis, Mass.

Father, Ezra Christopher Howes of Yarmouth; a sea captain; son of Christopher and Hope Howes (Hall) Howes of Dennis, Mass Mother, Ellen (Eldridge) Howes

Prepared at Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass

Resided at Yarmouth Port, Mass, since graduation; had never been actively engaged in business; chaplain and master Howard Lodge of Masons, master Yarmouth Grange, member First Church (Congregational), Yarmouth.

Unmarried

Death due to uremia Buried in Woodside Cemetery, Yarmouth Port. Survived by no immediate relatives

Richard Jewett Schweppe, B.A. 1900.

Born July 14, 1876, in Alton, Ill. Died May 12, 1940, in Los Angeles, Calif

Father, William Eugene Schweppe (Shurtleff Coll ex-1865), president Schweppe Grocery Company, Alton, son of John William and Henrietta

(Poynter) Schweppe of Alton Mother, Eva (Jewett) Schweppe; daughter of James Richard and Emeline (Greenleaf) Jewett of Westport, Maine Yale relatives include: John J. Mitchell, '19, and Clarence B Mitchell, ex-'23 (cousins).

Phillips-Andover President Freshman Baseball Association and manager Freshman Baseball Team; on Freshman Football Team, substitute Freshman Crew and captain Class crew Sophomore and Junior years, on University Football Team Junior year; secretary Yale University Boat Club Junior year and president Senior year, president Dunham Boat Club Senior year, member Andover and St Louis clubs, Hé Boulé, Alpha Delta Phi, and Wolf's Head

In office of McIntyre, Marshall & Company, brokers, New York City, 1900; associated with United Fruit Company, with headquarters at Port Limon, Costa Rica, 1900-07 (successively assistant paymaster, general paymaster, and then assistant manager and general superintendent Costa Rica Division), general manager Northern Railway Company of Costa Rica 1905-07, cattleman and rancher at Tempe, Ariz, 1908-12, president South Side Realty Company and Tempe Board of Trade 1910–11, with W M Garland & Company, real-estate dealers, Los Angeles, about a year; independently engaged in real estate and oil business Los Angeles since 1912, former director Mexican Petroleum Company, Pan American Petroleum and Transport Company, Huasteca Petroleum Company, and Overland Telephone & Telegraph Company, director Security-First National Bank, Los Angeles (member executive committee since 1931), VanNuys Building Company, and Good Samaritan Hospital (became first vice-president 1929, member executive committee since 1917), on advisory board Los Angeles Orphans' Home; member advisory committee California Community Foundation; incorporator Bishop Johnson College of Nursing 1929 (became vice-president and a trustee 1929), trustee Los Angeles Art Association 1930–40 and Los Angeles Symphony Association, charter member Hollywood Bowl, and Los Angeles Grand Opera Association, member Sons of the American Revolution, Tennis Patrons Association, and St John's Church (Episcopal), Los Angeles

Married (1) July 27, 1909, in Tempe, Ariz, Nona, daughter of William and Viola Kingsbury Daughter Nona Jewett (Sarah Lawrence Coll 1931–32), the wife of Peter DeLancey Lewis (B A Stanford Univ 1932) Mrs Schweppe died December 4, 1910 Married (2) July 14, 1913, in Los Angeles, Annis VanNuys (B A Wellesley 1903), daughter of Isaac Newton and Susanna (Lankershim) VanNuys No children

Death due to hypertensive heart disease Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Los Angeles Survived by wife, daughter, and three brothers, William H. Schweppe (Harvard ex-'97) of New Canaan, Conn, E. Poynter Schweppe of Scarsdale, N Y., and Charles H Schweppe (B A Harvard 1902) of Chicago.

Walter Corwin Senger, B.A. 1900.

Born October 31, 1876, in Port Jervis, NY. Died April 11, 1940, in Allentown, Pa.

Father, Louis Christian Senger, a farmer in Port Jervis, son of William and Anna (Helff) Senger of Narrowsburg, N Y Mother, Florence Amelia (Corwin) Senger; daughter of Walter and Rhoda (Little) Corwin of Narrowsburg

Port Jervis High School Second dispute appointment Junior year,

dissertation appointment Senior year.

Read law in office of William A Parshall 1900–01; attended New York Law School 1901–02, admitted to the bar June, 1902; practiced law in Port Jervis 1902–03; associated with Erie Railroad Company, with headquarters in New York City, 1903–18 (tax agent central district 1903–08 and land and tax agent for that district January–July, 1908; special tax agent for the company July–December, 1908, and tax agent 1908–18), admitted to Pennsylvania bar 1918 and had since practiced law in Allentown, partner Aubrey, Steckel & Senger 1918–35; member Masonic order; attended Grace Church (Episcopal), Allentown.

Married September 29, 1920, in Brooklyn, NY, Emmy, daughter of Philip Christian and Jane (Freeman) Weinseimer. Daughter. Florence Amelia Corwin

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in Laurel Grove Cemetery, Port Jervis Survived by wife, daughter, one sister, Christine S Parshall (B A Vassar 1889), the wife of William A. Parshall, '88, and three brothers, Richard Warren Senger (B S. Massachusetts Inst of Technology 1905) of Salt Lake City, Utah, Herbert Senger of Goshen, N Y., and William Senger, '01 M

Lyman Brumbaugh Stookey, B.A. 1900.

Born July 30, 1878, in Belleville, Ill. Died February 13, 1940, in Weaverville, Calif.

Father, Lyman Polk Stookey (B A Shurtleff Coll 1867, M D Univ. of Missouri 1872), a physician in Belleville; president Southern Illinois Medical Society, son of Moses and Elizabeth (Anderson) Stookey of Belleville Mother, Louise (Brumbaugh) Stookey, daughter of Simeon and Christiana (Stuckey) Brumbaugh of Roaring Springs, Pa.

Belleville High School and Morgan Park Military Academy, Chicago. Second colloquy appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment

Senior year

Attended Yale Graduate School 1900-02 (Ph D. 1902), Yale School of

Medicine 1901-02, and University of Strassburg 1904-05; associate in physiology and physiological chemistry New York State Pathological nstitute 1902-04, professor of physiological and pathological chemistry University of Southern California 1905-07, professor of physiology 1907-14, chemistry 1909-11, pharmacodynamics 1912-14 and experinental physiology 1914-17; special lecturer College of Physicians and Surgeons University of Southern California 1918–20, conducted his own linical and research laboratory in Los Angeles 1907-29, president and general manager La Grange Placer Mines, Ltd, Weaverville, since 1929, pathologist Clara Barton Hospital, Los Angeles, 1906-18, pathological hemist Salt Lake Railroad a short time, retained by State of California is toxicologist in many legal cases, medical adviser U S Selective Service, Los Angeles, 1917-19; contributed many articles to American and European journals, American contributor to Jahresbericht über die Fortchritte der Tierchemie 1905 to about 1907, fellow American Association or the Advancement of Science and American Institute of Chemists; ssociate fellow American Medical Association, member California Academy of Sciences, Southern California Society for the Advancement of Medical Research, New York Society of Physiological Chemists, American Chemical Society, American Society of Biological Chemists, American Physiological Society, Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine, Nu Sigma Nu, Pi Gamma Mu, Sons of the American Revoution (president Los Angeles chapter 1926-29), and Masonic order.

Married December 31, 1903, in Belleville, Margaret, daughter of Harry Lawrence and Lucy Annie (Thomas) Powell. No children.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Grand View Memorial 'ark, Glendale, Calif. Survived by wife, a sister, Adele S. Jones B.A Univ. of Southern California 1908, M.A. 1909), the wife of Ilanson Halden Jones (B.A. Univ. of Vermont 1904; M.D. Univ. of outhern California 1908, M.A. 1909) of Los Angeles, and a brother, Iyron Polk Stookey (B.A. Univ. of Southern California 1908, M.D. Iarvard 1913) of New York City.

George Bremner Tennant, B.A. 1900.

Born March 12, 1878, in Ansonia, Conn Died August 8, 1939, in Litchfield, Conn.

Father, Richard Tennant, mechanical engineer with Scovill Manufaciring Company, Waterbury; son of Robert and Janet (Tweedie) 'ennant of West Linton, Scotland. Mother, Helen (Duncan) Tennant; aughter of Stuart and Mary Anne (Dunne) Duncan of Perth, Scotland. ale relatives include two nephews, Richard G Tennant, '19 S, and obert Tennant, '26 S. Bridgeport and Waterbury (Conn) high schools. First dispute appointment Junior year, dissertation appointment and one-year honors in English Senior year, second McLaughlin Prize Freshman year; member Freshman Union

Instructor in a private school, Centerville, Conn., 1900–01, and at Cedarcroft School, Summit, NJ, 1901–04; attended Yale Graduate School 1900–01, 1902–03, and 1904–07 (M.A. 1903, Ph.D. 1907; Cook Prize in Poetry 1905); instructor Paterson (N.J.) High School 1907–05 and member Paterson Board of Trade, member department of English Stuyvesant High School, New York City, since 1909; author. Lux el Veritas, and Other Sonnets (1905) and the poem "Argalus and Parthenia" in Yale Verse (1909), editor The New Inn (1908) and A Concordance to the Works of William Wordsworth (1910); member West Side Presbyterian Church, Ridgewood, NJ

Married December 28, 1914, in Norfolk, Va., Marion, daughter of Herman and Margarethe Marquardt (Sasz) Barghausen. Son: Richard Bremner, '37

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Riverside Cemetery Waterbury Survived by wife, son, and two sisters, the Misses Mary Dunne and Agnes Alexander Tennant of Waterbury.

Louis Schneider Weaver, B.A. 1900.

Born August 30, 1877, in Washington, D C Died October 1, 1939, in York, Pa

Father, Francis Heyer Weaver (B A Gettysburg Coll. 1873) of Newry, Pa; retired army chaplain; member Company C, 53d Regiment. Pennsylvania Volunteers, 1861–64; son of Jacob George and Lovina (Fetters) Weaver of Newry Mother, Katharine Magdeline (Schneider) Weaver, daughter of Louis Henry and Elizabeth (Letterhofe) Schneider of Washington

Harry Hillman Academy, Wilkes-Barre, Pa; B A. Gettysburg College 1899, entered Yale College beginning of Senior year, high oration

appointment and one-year honors in natural science

Attended Johns Hopkins School of Medicine 1900–04 (M D 1904) interne Rhode Island Hospital, Providence, 1904–06, surgeon in York 1906–39, surgical chief York Hospital 1930–39, on staff Pennsylvania State Tuberculosis Dispensary No 2; surgeon York Railways Company 1921–39 and Pennsylvania Railroad Company 1927–39; city physiciar York 1909–10, served with Company M, 5th Regiment, Pennsylvania Volunteers, during Spanish-American war; commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Reserve Corps, May 8, 1917, attended Medical Officers Training Camp, Camp Greenleaf, June 15–August 8, 1917; became

regimental surgeon July 28, 1917, and was transferred to section in roentgenology, sent to Johns Hopkins for course in military roent-genology, chief X-ray department Base Hospital, Camp Cody, and post exchange officer August 31, 1917–June 10, 1918; overseas July 24, 1918–May 4, 1919, as chief of X-ray service, Evacuation Hospital No 14, took part in St-Mihiel and Meuse-Argonne offensives and was cited for efficient service, with Army of Occupation at Coblenz December 14, 1918–April 10, 1919, discharged May 14, 1919, trustee Gettysburg College 1918–39, fellow American College of Surgeons, charter member American Roentgen Ray Society, member York County Medical Society, American Board of Surgery, American Medical Association, and Trinity Evangelical Lutheran Church, York

Married December 5, 1907, in Ligonier, Pa, Romayne Stone, daughter of Charles Frank and Anna Catharine (McColly) Marker Children Frank Marker (B S Gettysburg Coll 1931, M D Johns Hopkins 1935), Katharine Marker (B S Johns Hopkins Univ 1936), and Louis Schneider, Jr (B S. Gettysburg Coll 1936) Mrs Weaver died July 11, 1936

Death due to Hodgkin's disease Buried in Prospect Hill Cemetery, York Survived by children, one granddaughter, a sister, Marguerite Magdeline Weaver (B A Maryland Coll for Women 1906) of DeLand, Fla, and a brother, George Donald Weaver (B A Gettysburg Coll 1900) of Newry

Harry Parker Wood, B.A. 1900.

Born July 19, 1877, in Quincy, Ill Died August 15, 1939, in Pasadena, Calıf

Father, Charles Irving Wood of Gloversville, NY; an importer of hides and leather; son of John W. and Maria (Aldrich) Wood of Quincy Mother, Antoinette (Wright) Wood, daughter of George William Wright of Attica, NY.

Gloversville High School and Phillips-Andover Second colloquy appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year, member Delta Kappa Epsilon

Attended Harvard Law School 1900–03, admitted to the bar July 1, 1902; practiced law in New York City, 1903–13 (clerk Lord, Day & Lord 1903–05, partner firm of Wood & Goldsmith 1905–07, and independently 1907–13), and in Seattle, Wash, 1913–16; partner Steever & Wood, Pittsfield, Mass, 1916–18, assistant to the president Northwest Motor Company, Seattle, 1918–19; secretary to Senator Crane of Massachusetts; assistant counsel War Claims Board, Washington, D C, 1920–21, trial counsel and acting chief counsel Federal Trade Commission 1922–23, member law firm Cass & Wood, Washington, 1923–24,

practiced law in Gloversville 1924 and 1928–30; counsel Mixed Claim Commission, United States and Mexico, 1925–26, judge and secretary of native affairs, American Samoa, 1926–28, 1930–31; chief justice American Samoa 1931–37; subsequently resided in Hollywood and Pasadena, Calif, member Episcopal church, Quincy

Unmarried

Death due to coronary thrombosis and hypertension. Buried ir Prospect Hill Cemetery, Gloversville. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Edwin Hewitt Brown, B.A. 1901.

Born February 14, 1879, in Chicago, Ill. Died August 17, 1939, in Grosse Pointe, Mich.

Father, James Doty Brown of Cleveland; assistant general passenger agent Erie Railroad, son of Alexander and Harriet (Doty) Brown of Dansville, N.Y Mother, Sarah Melissa (Andrus) Brown; daughter of John Hewitt and Melissa Maria (Ingersoll) Andrus of Evans, N.Y. Yale relatives include two nephews, John Sherwin, '23 S., and Francis M Sherwin, '29 S

University School, Cleveland First dispute appointment Junior year, dissertation appointment Senior year, captain Freshman Baseball Team; substitute University Baseball Team Sophomore year; on Apollo Glee Club Sophomore year, member Cleveland and University clubs, Kappa Psi, Alpha Delta Phi, and Wolf's Head

Associated with John Chandler & Company, brokers in Cleveland, 1901–04, with Aluminum Company of America 1904–13 (assistant manager and later manager Cleveland office 1904–09 and manager Detroit office 1909–13); vice-president and treasurer General Aluminum & Brass Manufacturing Company, Detroit, 1913–25 and Copeland Products, Inc, manufacturers of household refrigerating systems, Detroit, and later Mount Clemens, Mich, 1925–32, president and treasurer Industrial Propane Equipment Corporation (later Insto-Gas Corporation), Detroit, 1933–39; director Bohn Aluminum & Brass Corporation and Prudential Mortgage Realty Company; on executive committee Michigan Yale Alumin Association 1918, member Christ Church (Episcopal), Grosse Pointe Farms, Mich.

Married November 6, 1907, in Cleveland, Olive Marie, daughter of Henry Payne and Olive Ann (Manfull) McIntosh and sister of John M. McIntosh, ex-'16 S. Children Olive Ann, the wife of Thomas Cover, 3d (B A Princeton 1928), Ellanore Stone, the wife of Alexander Loder Wiener, '31, and McIntosh James, ex-'37. Mrs. Brown died August 4,

1932

Death due to myocardial heart disease Buried in Lakewood Cemetery, Cleveland. Survived by children and four grandchildren.

William Southworth Hunt, B.A. 1901.

Born January 17, 1879, in Newark, N J Died January 26, 1940, in South Orange, N J

Father, William Tallmadge Hunt, editor Newark Sunday Call; son of Dr Sanford Beebe Hunt and S Jane (Stevens) Hunt of Newark. Mother, Lucy Bardine (Southworth) Hunt, daughter of Henry Southworth

Newark Academy, St. George's Hall, Summit, NJ, and Dwight School, New York City Second colloquy appointment and two-year honors in English Senior year; delivered Ivy Ode, member Chi Delta Theta

Registered in absentia Yale Graduate School 1901-04 (MA 1904), reporter New York Herald 1901-03, associated with Newark Sunday Call since 1903 with exception of period spent as editor Newark Star-Eagle 1920-24 (executive editor 1917-20, managing editor 1924-35, and editor 1936-37), treasurer Newark Call Printing and Publishing Company 1924-35 and president since 1935; northern New Jersey representative The New York Times and special writer on New Jersey politics for New York Sun and New York Evening Telegram 1909-16, State budget commissioner New Jersey 1924-25, president Village of South Orange 1921-25, vice-president South Orange Trust Company 1925-32, member board of managers Howard Savings Institution and Security Savings Bank; trustee Newark Welfare Fund 1922-29, president board of managers New Jersey Training School for Women 1928-31, author-Frank Forester [Henry William Herbert], A Tragedy in Exile (1933), compiled New Jersey's first industrial and statistical directory 1902; contributed biographical and historical articles to magazines, at time of death was working on a life of Henry Clay, trustee New Jersey Historical Society 1922-40 (president since 1936) and Newark Museum Association 1931 and 1937-40, LL.D. University of Newark 1939, member Newark Publishing Association, American Philatelic and Numismatic societies, American Museum of Natural History, Society of Colonial Wars, Sons of the American Revolution, Masonic order, and Trinity Cathedral (Episcopal), Newark

Married September 9, 1903, in Chatham, NJ, Lorentha Storms, daughter of Frederick Harvey and Alice Elizabeth (Harris) Lum Daughter: Alice Southworth, the wife of Charles Edward Burton, Jr, 'x-'30

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease Buried in Fairmount Cemetery, Chatham Survived by wife, daughter, a granddaughter, and a brother, Sanford Beebe Hunt (Cornell ex-'04) of Santa Cruz, Calif

Arthur Houghton Killen, B.A. 1901.

Born April 15, 1878, in Dunkirk, N.Y Died August 27, 1939, in Poughkeepsie, NY.

Father, Joseph Henry Killen, a contractor in Dunkirk, son of William and Frances (Dundas) Killen of Ballyshannon, Ireland Mother, Katharine (Houghton) Killen

Dunkirk High School Dissertation appointment Junior year, oration

appointment Senior year

Taught mathematics and science Bellefonte (Pa.) Academy 1901–02 and preparatory department Dickinson College, Carlisle, Pa, 1902–04, teacher of mathematics and physics Ethical Culture School, New York City, 1904–05, instructor in science Rutland (Vt) High School 1906–07 and mathematics Binghamton (NY) Central High School January–November, 1907, instructor in science, physics, and chemistry Flushing (NY) High School 1907–39, member St John's Church (Episcopal), Dunkirk

Married July 8, 1908, in Rutland, Vt, Marion Pearson, daughter of Carlton Warner and Mabel (Pearson) Durfee. Children Dorothy Frances and Arthur Houghton, Jr (B A Duke Univ. 1935)

Death due to coronary embolism Buried in Bethel (Vt) Cemetery Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Mrs. Frederick R Darling of Dunkirk.

DeWitt Clinton Noyes, B.A. 1901.

Born July 18, 1878, in Darien, Conn. Died December 19, 1939, in Sharon, Conn.

Father, Henry Drury Noyes (B A New York Univ. 1851, M D Columbia 1855), a physician in New York City, president American Otological Society 1868–73 and American Ophthalmological Society 1879–84, son of Isaac Reed and Sarah Flint (Drury) Noyes of New York City Mother, Anna Margaret (Grant) Noyes; daughter of Charles William and Jane Forsyth (Beveridge) Grant of Litchfield, Conn

Taft School and The Hotchkiss School. Second colloquy appointment Junior year, first colloquy appointment Senior year; member The Hotchkiss Club

Worked in Yonkers, NY, factory of National Sugar Refining Company 1901–05 (assistant superintendent 1903–05), superintendent and assistant manager Fajardo Sugar Company of Puerto Rico 1905–12 and Central Aguirre Sugar Company 1911–12, engaged in various lines of business 1912–16, associated with brokerage firm of Tefft [Erastus T,

'98 S] & Company (later Tefft, Halsey & Company), New York City, since 1916 (member of firm 1922–25); member Squadron A, New York National Guard 1900–19 and Madison Avenue Presbyterian Church, New York City.

Married October 19, 1910, in New Rochelle, NY, Esther Janet, daughter of Condé Benoist Pallen, LLD (BA Georgetown Univ 1880; Ph D. St. Louis Univ 1885) and Georgiana McDougal (Adams) Pallen. Children: Isabel Beveridge, the wife of Frank Noyes, '33, Margaret Grant (Vassar ex-'34), the wife of Henry Wardwell Howell, '32, Janet Pallen (Barnard Coll. ex-'37), the wife of John Preston Potts (Columbia Univ ex-'33); Marie LeMoyne (BA Vassar 1938), the wife of Andrew Douglass Hall (BA Princeton 1932), Patricia (Smith Coll 1942), Barbara Joan (Vassar 1943), Ann Adams; and Henry Drury

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Morristown, N J Survived by wife, children, and two grandchildren

William Prescott Scott, B.A. 1901.

Born March 1, 1878, in San Francisco, Calif Died December 1, 1939, in San Francisco, Calif

Father, Henry Tiffany Scott, a shipbuilder in San Francisco, president and treasurer Union Iron Works, president Pacific Telephone Company and St Francis Hotel Company; an incorporator of Hillsborough, Calif; son of John and Elizabeth (Littig) Scott of Cockeysville, Md Mother, Elsie (Horsley) Scott; daughter of William Horsley of Derbyshire, England

Westminster School, Dobbs Ferry, N Y. First colloquy appointment Junior year; second colloquy appointment Senior year, member University Club.

Associated with Union Iron Works, San Francisco, 1901, partner Bond & Goodwin, dealers in investment bonds, San Francisco, 1907–21 and vice-president of its successor Bond, Goodwin & Tucker, inc., 1921 until retirement 1929; interested in mining operations, horse racing was a hobby and at one time he owned several thoroughbreds, resided in Hillsborough from 1910, treasurer Town of Hillsborough 1917–27, member city council 1927–39, and mayor December, 1938–December, 1939; member Church of St Matthew (Episcopal), San Mateo, Calif

Unmarried.

Death due to primary tumor of the brain Buried in Cypress Lawn Cemetery, San Francisco Survived by a sister, Mary Scott Martin, the wife of Walter Stanislaus Martin (B A Georgetown Univ 1896) of Burlingame, Calif

Alfred Miller Cressler, B.A. 1902.

Born September 19, 1877, in Fort Wayne, Ind. Died November 19, 1939, in Cincinnati, Ohio

Father, Alfred David Cressler, president Kerr Murray Manufacturing Company, engineers and builders of gas works' machinery and ga holders in Fort Wayne, son of George Holloway and Nancy (Miller Cressler of Lucas, Ohio Mother, Elizabeth Esther (Murray) Cressler daughter of Kerr and Jane (Scott) Murray of Fort Wayne.

The Hill School Second colloquy appointment and on editorial board Yale Literary Magazine Senior year; member The Hill School Clul (president Senior year), Cercle Français, Wranglers, University Club

Psi Upsilon, Skull and Bones, and Chi Delta Theta

Registered in absentia Yale Graduate School 1903-06 (M.A 1908) associated with Kerr Murray Manufacturing Company 1903-13 (treas urer 1906-13), engaged in writing articles for Gas Age 1913-16, with W H Fillmore & Company, investment dealers, Cincinnati, 1916-2 (partner 1921-25), member firm Haydock [George S, '97], Cressler Lamson [Benjamin W, ex-'08 S] & Company, investment counsel Cincinnati, 1925-30, vice-president and investment officer The Centra Trust Company, Cincinnati, since 1930; lecturer on investments University of Cincinnati 1917–18, vice-president and director Stacey Engi neering Company 1937-39, director Stearns & Foster Company Lockland, Ohio; served in Cincinnati district, Small Arms Productio Division, Ordnance Department, 1918 and as assistant secretary Ord nance Claims Board 1919-20, charter member Cincinnatus Associatio 1920 (secretary 1922-23, president 1930-31); president Cincinnati Yal Club 1924-25 (secretary 1922-23, vice-president 1923-24) and Literar Club of Cincinnati 1936-37; trustee and treasurer Cincinnati Art Mu seum 1930-39, treasurer Better Housing League 1926-39 (membe budget committee 1925-26), director Mercantile Library and Cincinnal Society of Natural History, on publicity committee Cincinnati Com munity Chest 1925–26; former member Wisconsin and Michigan Ga associations and American Gas Institute; member American Bankei Association, Print and Drawing Circle, Cincinnati (on executive com mittee 1926, secretary 1927), University Club (on board of governor 1924, secretary 1924-25), and Christ Church (Episcopal), Cincinna (trustee and treasurer Diocese of Southern Ohio since 1934).

Married April 21, 1917, in Wyoming, Ohio, Jeannette Mortor daughter of James Edward and Clara (Morton) Stacey No children

Death due to acute coronary occlusion Buried in Spring Grov Cemetery, Cincinnati Survived by wife and a brother, Kerr Murra Cressler, '05 S. Another brother, George H. Cressler, '02 S., died in 1931

Downer Hazen Newell, B.A. 1902.

Born September 6, 1880, in St. Johnsbury, Vt. Died July 17, 1939, in Mount Vernon, NY.

Father, Henry Clay Newell (B A. Dartmouth 1860, M D 1864), a physician in St Johnsbury, assistant surgeon Third Vermont Volunteers 863-65; son of Dr Selim Newell and Emmeline (Denison) Newell of Lyndon, Vt. Mother, Maria (Hazen) Newell; daughter of Lucius and Hannah B. (Downer) Hazen of Newbury, Vt

St Johnsbury Academy First dispute appointment Senior year.

Reporter New York Times September-December, 1902, associated with American Writing Paper Company 1902–25 (in plant at Holyoke, Mass, 1902–03, salesman in New York City 1903–12, Philadelphia 912–17, and Holyoke 1917–25), associated with International Paper Company since 1925 (salesman New York office 1925–30, manager Philadelphia sales office 1930–37, and special sales representative in New York City since 1937), attended Congregational church

Married January 22, 1913, in Philadelphia, Pa, Edith S, daughter of ohn S. Ritter. Children Henry Hazen (B A. Swarthmore Coll 1936), nd Margaret Frances

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Mount Pleasant Cemeery, St. Johnsbury Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Margaret N. Wetherald (Smith Coll ex-'93) of Mount Vernon, N Y.

Isaac Gray Phillips, B.A. 1902.

Born November 13, 1879, in Winchester, Tenn. Died January 28, 1940, in Chattanooga, Tenn

Father, George Gray Phillips, a banker in Winchester, son of George nd Louisa (Gray) Phillips Mother, Maria Grant (Moorman) Phillips, aughter of Robert R and Mary (Priest) Moorman of Owensboro, Ky

Winchester Normal College. High oration appointment Junior and enior years; Winston Trowbridge Townsend Prize Freshman year, on ophomore Debating Team; treasurer Yale Union Junior year and resident Senior year; member Cercle Français, Wranglers, Southern Club (president Senior year), Zeta Psi, and Phi Beta Kappa

Read law privately in Winchester 1902-03; admitted to Tennessee bar anuary, 1903; practiced law in Winchester 1903-11 and in Chattanooga 911-40, specialized in railroad and corporation law; member Pritchard, illison, Lynch & Phillips 1914-16, Allison, Lynch & Phillips 1916-30, ynch, Bachman, Phillips & Lynch 1930-35, and Lynch, Phillips, Hall & Illison 1935-40, secretary and manager Gramm Specialty Company,

manufacturers of patent medicines, 1904–10; secretary Anedemin Chemical Company, and Drake Flying Machine Company 1907–09 election commissioner for Franklin County, Tenn, 1904–06 (chairman board of commissioners), secretary Democratic Executive Committee 1904–10, chairman Central Democratic Club and campaign committees for various gubernatorial and senatorial candidates, owner and editor The Straight Democrat 1904–05 and its successor The Franklin County Truth 1905–08; president Chattanooga Bar Association 1928–30; member Masonic order and First Christian Church of Chattanooga.

Married June 16, 1915, in Chattanooga, Helen Latimore, daughter of William Lowry and Susan (Latimore) Kline Children Susan Latimore

(B A Duke Univ 1939) and Gray

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Forest Hills Cemetery, Chattanooga Survived by wife, children, and four sisters, Owene P. Lynch (Winchester Normal Coll), the wife of J J Lynch of Lookout Mountain, Tenn, Louise P. Crapster (Randolph-Macon Woman's Coll ex-'06), the wife of T G Crapster, Ethel P. Lindsay (Randolph-Macon Woman's Coll ex-'09), the wife of E P Lindsay, and Edith P. Griffin (Randolph-Macon Woman's Coll ex-'09), the wife of Mortimer Griffin, all of Portsmouth, Va

Edward Lathrop Gillespie, B.A. 1903.

Born November 13, 1881, in Stamford, Conn. Died June 7, 1940, in San Francisco, Calif.

Father, Edward Thomas Wright Gillespie, president The Gillespie Brothers, Inc., editors and proprietors of *The Daily Advocate*, Stamford; son of John and Mary Jane (Cunningham) Gillespie of County Tyrone, Ireland. Mother, Emma (Meudell) Gillespie, daughter of William Fabian and Margaret (Mitchell) Meudell of Belleville, Ontario.

Stamford High School First Berkeley Premium Freshman year, first dispute appointment Junior year, first colloquy appointment Senior year

Advertising manager and editorial writer *The Daily Advocate* 1903–13, attended New York University School of Law 1907–10 (LL B 1909, LL M. 1910), admitted to Connecticut bar 1912 and to California bar 1929, practiced law in Hartford, Conn, and Stockton, Calif, engaged in newspaper work in Seattle; had been in ill-health for a number of years and travelled a great deal, member State Bar of California

Married June 16, 1913, in New York City, Helen Gertrude, daughter

of Thomas and Mary (Carroll) Tobin No children

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in Woodland Cemetery, Stamford Survived by wife, three sisters, Mrs Mary L G Gould and Miss Evelyn Constance Gillespie, both of Stamford, Mrs. Walter Alexander Geiss of Central Islip, NY, and a brother, Gardner Wynne Gillespie of Stamford

David Ritchie McKee, B.A. 1903.

Born June 6, 1879, in Washington, D C. Died February 19, 1940, in New York City

Father, David Ritchie McKee, manager Washington bureau of Associated Press 1882-93, son of Redick and Eliza (Ritchie) McKee of Wheeling, W Va. Mother, Frances Elizabeth (Dunn) McKee, daughter of William McKee Dunn, LL D (B A Indiana Univ 1832, M A Hon Yale 1835) and Elizabeth (Lanier) Dunn of Washington Yale relatives include Alexander C Lanier (B A 1844) (great-uncle), W McKee Dunn, '11 (cousin), and E Bates McKee, '26 (nephew)

Phillips-Exeter and St Paul's School, Concord, N H On Class crew Junior year; member Freshman Glee Club and Apollo Glee Club Junior year, commodore Yale Corinthian Yacht Club Senior year, Senior Promenade Committee, member Cercle Français, Wranglers, Southern Club, St. Paul's School Club, Exeter Club, University Club, Eta Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Elihu

In coal mining department Lackawanna Railroad Company, Scranton, Pa, 1903-05, associated with Western Steel Car & Foundry Company, Chicago, 1905, in sales department T H Symington & Company, dealers in railway supplies, Chicago, 1905-07, worked for United States Steel Corporation at Coleraine, Minn, 1907-09, student Biltmore Forest School, Asheville, N.C., for a short time 1909; with Washington Water Power Company, Spokane, 1909-11, engaged in real estate business near Calgary, Alberta, 1911-12 and in San Francisco, Calif, 1912-15, associated with Utah Copper Company, Salt Lake City, 1915-17, enlisted as private June 17, 1917, and assigned to Company A, 13th Railway Engineers, overseas July 22, 1917–March 21, 1919, attended Artillery School, Saumur; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Coast Artillery Corps, September 25, 1918, assigned to 306th Trench Mortar Battery, 81st Division, discharged September 19, 1919, with Hearst's Magazine, Chicago, 1919-20, and White Motor Company, Cleveland, 1920, since 1920 had been employed by Standard Oil or affiliated companies in construction engineering work in oil fields of Mexico and South America with exception of period spent as camp superintendent, Civilian Conservation Corps, Barnardsville, N.C. (1933-34), and Williamstown, N.Y. (1935).

Unmarried.

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Oak Hill Cemetery, Washington

Survived by a brother, Lanier McKee, '95 Another brother, McKee Dunn McKee, '96, died in 1910.

Daniel Lawrence [Joseph] O'Neill, B.A. 1903.

Born July 29, 1879, in East Hartford, Conn. Died September 5, 1939, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Francis O'Neill, a tobacco grower and farmer in East Hartford, son of Daniel Lawrence and Susan Jane (Cook) O'Neill of County Leitrim, Ireland Mother, Anne (McGurl) O'Neill; daughter of Hugh and Mary (Foley) McGurl of Enniskillen, Ireland

East Hartford High School and Hartford Public High School. Oration appointment Junior and Senior years; treasurer Hartford Club Sopho-

more and Junior years.

Attended Yale School of Law 1903-05 (LL B. 1905; member Kent Club); admitted to Connecticut bar 1905, practiced law in Hartford for a short time 1905 (with firm of Case, Bryant & Case) and in New Haven since 1910, specialized in negligence and compensation cases; associated with Travelers Insurance Company 1905-39 (investigator Hartford 1905-09 and adjuster New Haven 1909-23; legal representative in New Haven and Fairfield counties 1923-29); member New Haven County Bar Association (chairman committee on ethics 1938-39); member and trustee 1938-39 St Lawrence's Church (Roman Catholic), West Haven, Conn

Married June 21, 1906, in New Haven, Ida May, daughter of James and Deborah (Myers) Grimes Children Shirley Mary, ex-'27 Mus, the wife of Ford S Whittaker, '28 Art, Dorothy Anne Claire, ex-'30 Art, the wife of Perry C Weimar, ex-'28 Art; Daniel Lawrence Joseph, Jr (Trinity Coll ex-'36; LL B Hartford Coll of Law 1938); and Eunice Myers (B A Albertus Magnus Coll 1939, Yale School of Law 1942).

Death due to carcinoma Buried in St Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and a brother, Francis O'Neill of East Hartford

Thomas Sturgis, B.A. 1903.

Born July 18, 1881, in New York City Died November 27, 1939, in Brooklyn, N.Y.

Father, Thomas Sturgis, a cattle rancher in Wyoming; later fire commissioner New York City; First Lieutenant, 57th Regiment, Massachusetts Volunteers, in Civil War, son of William and Elizabeth Knight (Hinckley) Sturgis of New York City Mother, Helen Rutgers (Weir)

Sturgis, daughter of Colonel Robert Weir, USA., and Susan Martha (Bayard) Weir of West Point, N.Y.

Pomfret School. Substitute University Hockey Team Freshman year; University Tennis Team Senior year; secretary Pomfret Club Sophomore year; member Eta Phi and Psi Upsilon.

Associated with Strong, Sturgis & Company 1903-05; unoccupied 1905-06, broker in New York City 1906-08, with Chihuahua al Pacifico Railroad Company, Madera, Mexico, 1908-11; operating superintendent Providencia Mill near Mexico City 1911-14, worked in a munitions factory in Canada 1914-17, assistant to treasurer Association of Railway Executives, New York City, 1918-22, bond salesman White, Weld & Company, New York City, 1922-24, independent trader in offices of E. F. Hutton & Company, stockbrokers, New York, 1924 until retirement in 1929; had since resided in Brooklyn, governor Heights Casino and West Side Tennis Club.

Married July 8, 1922, in Brooklyn, Bertha Fuller, daughter of Charles Edwin and Eloise Peck (Fuller) Sexton No children.

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife, a sister, Helen Rutgers Sturgis (B A Bryn Mawr 1905) of Richmond Hill, N Y, and two brothers, Reginald Hinckley Sturgis of New York City and William Bayard Sturgis (M.E. Cornell 1908) of Chicago.

Edward Perry Truett, B.A. 1903.

Born December 5, 1877, in Milan, Ohio. Died July 9, 1939, in Brooklyn, N.Y.

Father, Edward Truett, a contractor in Milan, son of James and Anne (Horn) Truett of Columbia, Tenn. Mother, Sarah Elizabeth (MacCabe) Truett, daughter of Patrick and Nancy (Cameron) MacCabe of Milan

Denver (Colo) High School First dispute appointment Junior and Senior years, editor Class book and statistician Senior year; member Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Associated with Degnon Contracting Company, Baltimore and Brooklyn, 1903–09, attended New York Law School 1905–07, with Clark, Dodge & Company, bankers, New York City, 1909–13 (manager Chicago office 1912–13), vice-president Stephen Sanford & Sons, Inc., manufacturers of rugs and carpets, Amsterdam, NY, 1913–15, partner brokerage firm of Morgan [Daniel H, '03] & Truett (later Hewitt, Morgan & Truett, and Morgan, Truett & Company), New York City, 1916–18, associated with United States Cartridge Company, Lowell, Mass., 1918–22 (director of accounts and settlements, Government Contract Department, 1919–22); engaged in general finance and investment

business, New York City, 1922–24; manager Albany office Kissel, Kinnicutt & Company, bankers, 1924–26, securities salesman W. C. Langley & Company, New York City, 1927–28; vice-president and treasurer Shares & Equities Service Corporation, New York City, 1928–30 and president 1930 until retirement 1932, director Amsterdam City National Bank

Married December 14, 1909, in Southold, N.Y, Alberta, daughter of Stephen Oliver and Susan Tuthill Price Salmon No children Mrs Truett died August 16, 1933

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Milan Cemetery. Survived by two sisters, Mrs Jennie Truett Hay of Cleveland, and Miss Rose Ann Truett of Sandusky, Ohio

William Brewster Ely, B.A. 1904.

Born October 19, 1882, in West Winsted, Conn Died December 19, 1939, in New Haven, Conn

Father, William Henry Ely (B A Amherst 1877), a lawyer in New Haven, son of William Brewster and Elizabeth Smith (Morgan) Ely of New Haven Mother, Mary G (Little) Ely, daughter of Lucius and Lucretia (Holmes) Little of Sheffield, Mass. Yale relatives include a cousin, Harry L Welch, '94

Hillhouse High School, New Haven, and Phillips-Andover On College baseball team Junior year; member Wigwam, University Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head

Attended Yale School of Law 1904-07 (LL B cum laude 1907, first-year honors, on board Yale Law Journal; member Corbey Court); admitted to the bar 1907, member firm Ely, Zacher [Edmund, '74], & Ely (subsequently Zacher & Ely, and Zacher, Ely & Zacher [Louis B., '10]), New Haven, 1907 until retirement in 1932, after retirement resided much of the time in Sheffield, Mass; deputy coroner New Haven County; chairman Legal Advisory Board, Division No. 4, New Haven, during World War, member New Haven Chamber of Commerce, Aero Club of Connecticut, New Haven County Bar Association, and Society of Colonial Wars

Unmarried

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Buried in Sheffield Cemetery Survived by no immediate relatives

Mr Ely bequeathed a portion of his estate to the University for a scholarship in the Freshman year.

Chauncey Shafter Goodrich, B.A. 1904.

Born September 19, 1881, in Florence, Italy Died January 8, 1940, in Saratoga, Calif

Father, Edward Elizur Goodrich (B A 1866) Mother, Sara Maude (Shafter) Goodrich Yale relatives include Nathaniel Chauncey (M A 1702) (great-great-great-great-grandfather), Elizur Goodrich (B A 1752) (great-great-great-grandfather); Chauncey Goodrich (B A 1776), Samuel Goodrich (B A 1783), Elihu C Goodrich (B A 1784), Charles A Goodrich (B A 1786) (great-great-great-uncles), Noah Webster (B A 1778) and Elizur Goodrich (B A 1779) (great-great-grandfathers), Elizur Goodrich (B A. Hon 1806) (great-great-uncle), Chauncey A Goodrich (B.A 1810) (great-grandfather), William H. Goodrich (B A 1843) (great-uncle), Chauncey Goodrich (B A 1827) (grandfather), Edward L Bacon, Jr, '31, Peter D. Whitney, '36, and James G. Whitney, '38 (nephews)

Selborne School, San Rafael, Calif, and The Taft School Second McLaughlin Prize in English composition Freshman year, on board Yale Literary Magazine Senior year; received Yale Courant charm for work during Senior year, Class book historian, vice-president Cercle Français Junior year; member Yale Dramatic Association, The Pundits,

Delta Kappa Epsilon, Elhu, and Chi Delta Theta.

Attended Harvard Law School 1904–07 (LL B 1907); admitted to California bar September, 1907, clerk Deamer & Stetson, lawyers, San Francisco, September–December, 1907, managing clerk for Charles W Slack 1908–12 and partner in firm 1912–16, mactive 1916–19 because of ill-health; independently engaged in practice of law San Francisco 1919–24, from 1924 until retirement in 1931 looked after investments for relatives and friends, also interested in work of Northern and Central California Branch, Indian Defense Association (president 1926–28), cofounder 1929 and member executive committee 1929–31 California Council for Restriction of Outdoor Advertising (now The California Roadside Council); trustee Peninsula School of Creative Education, Menlo Park, Calif; contributed to California Law Review, member

Married August 27, 1914, in San Francisco, Henriette deSaussure Blanding (B A Vassar 1912), daughter of Gordon Blanding, '71, and Margaret (Tevis) Blanding Children Margaret Gordon, Elizabeth Ely (B A Vassar 1938), the wife of Park Chamberlain, '34, Chauncey Shafter, Jr, '41, and Caroline deSaussure

Class Council

Death due to arteriosclerosis Ashes to be interred in Saratoga, Calif Survived by wife, children, a grandson, and two sisters, Elizabeth G

Tatlock (B A Vassar 1907; M D Stanford 1914), the wife of John Strong Perry Tatlock, and Mrs Frances Goodrich Léon of New York City.

In 1930 Mr Goodrich presented to the Yale Law Library seven volumes of notes taken by Henry L Ellsworth (B A 1810) on lectures given by Tapping Reeve and James Gould at Litchfield Law School in 1811–12

Alfred Huntington Lewis, B.A. 1904.

Born February 14, 1881, in Syracuse, NY. Died March 8, 1940, in Fayetteville, NY.

Father, Alfred Foster Lewis, treasurer Syracuse Savings Bank; son of Everett and Mary (Rindge) Lewis of Bridgewater, N.Y. Mother, Caroline (Everson) Lewis; daughter of George and Caroline (Strong) Everson of Syracuse. Yale relatives include a cousin, George E. Leonard, '03.

Jenner Preparatory School, Syracuse. Member University Tennis Team Junior and Senior years and captain University Tennis Association Senior year, on Apollo Banjo and Mandolin clubs Sophomore and Junior years and University Banjo and Mandolin clubs Senior year; University Orchestra, member Wranglers and Alpha Delta Phi

Associated with Standard Oil Company in Missouri, Illinois, Kansas, Iowa, and Indiana 1904–06; assistant manager Syracuse branch, A. J. Wright & Company, brokers, 1906–11; engaged in real-estate business, Syracuse, 1911–20, department manager A. E. Nettleton Company, shoe manufacturers, Syracuse, 1920–29; engaged in poultry raising on his farm at Fayetteville 1930–40, singles champion of Syracuse 1908, 1910, and 1911, vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Syracuse 1912–22; secretary Century Club

Married (1) April 27, 1910, in Philadelphia, Mary Haddock, daughter of Daniel Haddock and Louise B. (Orne) Carstairs. Children: Barbara Carstairs (B Arch. Syracuse Univ 1936); Alfred Huntington, Jr; and Caroline Everson. Mr and Mrs Lewis were divorced in 1922. Married (2) September 4, 1926, at Lake Pleasant, N Y., Charlotte Belden Brown (Smith Coll ex-'21), daughter of Silas Belden Brown (C E. Lafayette Coll 1876) and Elizabeth (Evans) Brown (graduate Mount Holyoke Coll 1878)

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Dry Hill Cemetery, Manlius, N.Y Survived by wife, children, a granddaughter, and a brother, E Howard Lewis, '99.

Lawrence Mason, B.A. 1904.

Born October 15, 1882, in Chicago, Ill Died December 9, 1939, in Toronto, Ontario

Father, Edward Gay Mason (B A 1860). Mother, Julia Maria (Starkweather) Mason. Yale relatives include Henry B Mason, '70, Alfred Bishop Mason, '71, and Chauncey C Starkweather, '74 (uncles), James R Trowbridge, '94, Henry G. Miller, '95, William S Miller, '96, Roy Mason, '02, Mason Trowbridge, '02, Elmer B Mason, ex-'02, Macdonnell Mason, ex-'03, Calhoun Mason, ex-'04 (cousins), and Edward G. Mason, 2d, '26, Barrett K Mason, '32, and Frederic O. Mason, Jr, '42 (nephews)

Harvard School, Chicago, and private tutor Philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years, honors in English Senior year, assistant manager Yale University Dramatic Association Sophomore year, on board Yale Daily News four years and Yale Record Junior and Senior years, Class Day historian; contributed to Class book, delivered Ivy Ode, member Wigwam, The Pundits, Psi Upsilon, Elihu, and Phi

Beta Kappa

Graduate student in English, Yale, 1906-13 (registered in absentia 1906-07; M.A. 1911, Ph.D 1913), instructor in English, French, and Latin The Hotchkiss School 1904-07, instructor in English Yale University 1907–16 and assistant professor 1916–20, in charge New York branch Brick Row Print and Book Shop 1920-21 (a director since its foundation and president 1917-21); devoted himself to writing 1921-23, instructor University of Minnesota 1923-24, visiting instructor Harvard Summer School 1923; music and drama critic and also special correspondent Toronto Globe and Mail since 1924, president Globe Printing Company Employees' Benefit Society 1934-39; member Toronto Centennial Committee 1934; adjudicator Dominion Drama Festival 1935, honorary treasurer Musicians' Committee for Spanish Refugees 1939; translator from Old English Genesis A (1915); editor. The English Poems of Henry King, D.D, 1592-1669 (1914), The Tragedy of Othello, the Moor of Venice (1918) and The Tragedy of Julius Caesar (1919), co-editor Tale of Two Cities (1906); Canadian editor International Cyclopedia of Music (1939); contributed articles to many reviews and magazines; secretary Graduates Club, New Haven, 1915–16; member Presbyterian church

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes strewn upon waters of Lake Erie Survived by two sisters, Edith M Armstrong, the widow of Morgan K Armstrong, '01 S, and Mrs Neils Neilson of Litchfield, Conn., and five brothers, Julian S Mason, '98, Maurice Mason, '01, Norman H. Mason, '02, George C. Mason, ex-'07, and Frederic O

Mason, '09 Four other brothers, Henry E. Mason, '89, Edward H Mason, '92, Roswell B Mason, '95, and Huntington Mason, '99, died in 1937, 1928, 1934, and 1914 respectively.

James Tyler Patterson, B.A. 1904.

Born May 12, 1881, in Bridgeport, Conn Died August 6, 1939, in Milford, Conn

Father, James Tyler Patterson, partner Cornwall & Patterson Company, hardware manufacturers, Bridgeport. Mother, Florence (Griswold) Patterson

Park Avenue Institute and University School, Bridgeport, and Hop-kins Grammar School Freshman Football Team.

Teller National Tradesmen's Bank, New Haven, 1905–07 and City National Bank & Trust Company, Bridgeport, 1907–11 (director 1919–33, chairman of the board 1928–29); associated with Cornwall & Patterson Company, Bridgeport, since 1911 (treasurer 1911–39, secretary 1911–13, and president 1913–39), president McHugh Realty Company, Cambridge, Mass, I. Newman & Sons, New Haven, 1923–33, The Likly Stores, Inc., Rochester, N.Y., 1925–27, and United Metal Manufacturing Company, Inc., Norwich, Conn., 1928–39, elected secretary Milford Hospital Association July, 1939, an incorporator in 1909 and director Milford Savings Bank; director Mutual System, Inc., Peoples' Title & Mortgage Company, Bridgeport, Albany Distributing Company, Standard Action Company, Cambridge, and Musical Supply Association of New York; member Masonic order and St. Peter's Church (Episcopal), Milford

Married April 6, 1907, in Milford, Marjorie Fowler, daughter of George Miles Gunn, '74, and Harriet Cannon (Fowler) Gunn. Son: James Tyler, Jr, '30 Mrs Patterson died March 24, 1917.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Milford Cemetery Survived by son and two grandsons

Robert Percy Schenck, B.A. 1904.

Born November 16, 1881, in Jersey City, NJ. Died May 21, 1940, in Jersey City, NJ

Father, Vincent Rowland Schenck, member firm of Schenck and Schenck, insurance specialists, Jersey City, son of Rev John Winslow Schenck and Sophia (Satterlee) Schenck of Claverack, N.Y. Mother, Mary (Percy) Schenck, daughter of Robert Paton and Sarah (Van Winkle) Percy of Jersey City Yale relatives include a niece, Mary Percy Schenck (Yale Department of Drama 1937-40).

Hasbrouck Institute, Jersey City, and Phillips-Andover Freshman Glee Club; Class crew Junior and Senior years, on football squad three years; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Wranglers, and University Club.

Bond salesman T W Stephens & Company, New York City, 1904-05, vice-president and director Northeastern Agency Company, New York City, 1905–11, with his brother Douglas formed insurance firm of Schenck and Schenck 1911, member of the firm since that time, secretary and assistant treasurer International Contract Vending Company, New York City, 1908–10, commissioned Captain, Quartermaster Corps, February 6, 1918, promoted Major October 5, 1918, in charge of commissioned personnel and office management in office of Quartermaster General, Depot Division, transferred to Camp Jackson as executive officer, Camp Supply Office, November 30, 1918, and served there until discharged February 17, 1919, vice-president Rotary Club of Jersey City 1924-25 and president 1925-26, secretary 1923-40 and member of the board Jersey City Boys' Clubs, Inc , trustee and member finance committee Community Welfare Chest 1930-40, director Journal Square National Bank, member Jersey City Chamber of Commerce, Sons of the American Revolution, Holland Society of New York, American Legion, and Bergen Reformed Church, Jersey City

Unmarried

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Bay View Cemetery, Jersey City. Survived by father and a brother, Douglas S. Schenck, '05 S

Willard Burr Soper, B.A. 1904.

Born December 28, 1882, in Bloomington, Ill Died October 30, 1939, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Clinton Philander Soper, president American Foundry and Furnace Company, Bloomington, son of Philander and Angeline (Adams) Soper of Verona, N.Y. Mother, Emma Pelton (Burr) Soper, daughter of Hudson Burr (B A. 1853) and Lucy Wright (Pelton) Burr Yale relatives include Charles H. Burr, '83 (uncle), Robert Burr King, '10, Richard Ransom King, ex-'11, and Hudson Burr, '18 (cousins), and Clinton B Soper, '38 S. (nephew)

Bloomington High School and Lawrenceville School Secretary Freshman Navy, on second football team Junior year and University Football Team Senior year; member Apollo Banjo and Mandolin clubs Sophomore and Junior years and University Banjo and Mandolin clubs Senior year, Senior Promenade Committee; chairman Ivy Committee; member Wigwam, Psi Upsilon, and Skull and Bones

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1904-08 (MD 1908), travelled and studied in Germany 1908-09, on staff Presbyterian Hospital, New York City, January, 1909-13 (house officer 1909-11, bacteriologist 1911-13, and serologist 1912-13); at Sloane Hospital for Women February-May, 1911; postgraduate work University of Freiburg 1913-14; attending physician Reception Hospital, Saranac Lake, N.Y., 1914-17 and 1921-26; commissioned Captain, Medical Corps, May 4, 1917; promoted to Major August, 1918; served overseas May 14, 1917-February 17, 1919, with Base Hospital 2 (Presbyterian Hospital of New York) which took over General Hospital No 1. British Expeditionary Force, at Étretat, France; appointed commanding officer of this unit June, 1918; discharged February 18, 1919, held commission as Lieutenant Colonel, Medical Reserve Corps, 1925-30; associate medical director Rockefeller Foundation Commission for the Prevention of Tuberculosis in France 1919-21, first director of newly established Bureau of Tuberculosis, New Haven Department of Health, 1926-27, medical director William Wirt Winchester Hospital (tuberculosis unit of New Haven Hospital) 1927-39, associate clinical professor of medicine Yale School of Medicine 1927-31 and associate professor of medicine 1931-39, tuberculosis consultant University Department of Health since 1930, associate physician New Haven Hospital 1927-28 and since 1931, attending physician 1928-31; member New Haven Board of Health Commissioners 1937–39 (on laboratory and tuberculosis advisory committees), member medical advisory committee Visiting Nurse Association since 1933, director Community Chest; delegate to Conference of the International Union Against Tuberculosis, Washington (1926), Oslo (1930), and Amsterdam (1932), director Trudeau Foundation and National Tuberculosis Association, contributed articles on tuberculosis to many medical journals; cotranslator, with Prof George H. Smith [M A Hon 1926] L'Infection Bacillaire et la Tuberculose by Albert Calmette (1923), vice-president Association of Yale Alumni in Medicine 1931-32 and president 1932-33, member Class of 1904 reunion committees for a number of years, decorated with Legion of Honor 1937; fellow American College of Physicians and American Medical Association, member University Glee Club, New Haven and New Haven County Medical associations, Connecticut State Medical Society, Association of American Physicians, American Climatological and Clinical Association, Interurban Clinical Club, and St. Paul's Church (Episcopal), New Haven (vestryman since 1932)

Married June 17, 1911, in Fitchburg, Mass., Helen Tufts, daughter of Alvah and Charlotte (Bartow) Crocker and sister of Rev. John Crocker, ex-'29 D Children: Ruth and John Willard.

Death due to brain tumor. Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, children, mother, a sister, Mrs Henry Richardson Lane of Wellesley Hills, Mass., and a brother, Horace A Soper, '08 S.

Harold Hathaway Trusdell, B.A. 1904.

Born August 13, 1882, in New Haven, Conn. Died February 6, 1940, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Frank Hudson Trusdell, associated with New Haven Palladium and New York Tribune; head of National Associated Press, Washington, D.C., son of William and Martha A (Janes) Trusdell of Janesville, Wis. Mother, Eugenie Wealthy (Hathaway) Trusdell, daughter of James Trusdell and Wealthy Ann (Clark) Hathaway of New Haven.

Hillhouse High School. Dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years

Apprentice in factory of National Biscuit Company, New York City, 1904–05; in sales department B F. Goodrich Rubber Company, New York City and New Haven, 1905–10 and 1912–20, city salesman in New York City for Seamless Rubber Company, New Haven, 1910–12; associated with George B. Wuestefeld Company, automobile distributors and repairers, New Haven, 1920–21, independently engaged in the tire business in New Haven 1921–30, with George H Simmonds & Company, investments, New Haven, 1930 and Buckingham, Routh Company (heating, sheet metal and plumbing), 1931, associated with Connecticut Wheel & Rim Company, New Haven, since 1932 (general manager 1937–40); member Plymouth Church (Congregational), New Haven (deacon 1937–40, member prudential committee 1934–36 and 1937–40)

Married April 19, 1911, in Randolph Center, Vt, Mary Deborah White, daughter of Charles Leonard and Lucy Storrs (Washburn) Hodges. Children. Ruth Hodges (Connecticut Coll ex-'33), the wife of Grant Ulysses Kierstead, 2d; and Lucy Hathaway, the wife of Warren Drew

Death due to ulcer of the stomach Buried in Little City Cemetery, Haddam, Conn. Survived by wife, daughters, and mother

Earle Rogers Whipple, B.A. 1904.

Born March 19, 1882, in Whitinsville, Mass. Died October 23, 1939, in Harrisburg, Pa.

Father, Albert Howard Whipple, superintendent Whitin Machine Works, manufacturers of cotton machinery, Whitinsville, son of William

Ellingwood and Asenath (Fuller) Whipple of Dunbarton, N H. Mother, Anna Colby (Rogers) Whipple, daughter of James McGregor and Harriet Jeannette (Colby) Rogers of Dunbarton.

Northbridge High School, Whitinsville, and Betts Academy, Stamford, Conn First colloquy appointment Junior year, second dispute

appointment Senior year

Attended University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine 1904-08 (MD 1908, member Alpha Mu P1 Omega, president D. Hayes Agnew Surgical Society 1907-08), resident surgeon German Hospital, Philadelphia, 1908-11, chief surgeon Pennsylvania Steel Company, Steelton, Pa, 1911-15 and Bethlehem Steel Company (Steelton branch) 1915 until retirement in 1937 because of ill-health, on surgical staff Harrisburg Hospital 1912-37 (chief surgeon 1929-33, surgical director 1933-37), surgeon Harrisburg Street Railways Company and Maryland Casualty Company, medical expert State Workmen's Insurance Fund, member Steelton Board of Health, Harrisburg Academy of Medicine (president 1921 and 1922), Philadelphia Medical Club, Dauphin County Medical Society (president 1928), Medical Society of the State of Pennsylvania, American Medical Association, Association of Industrial Surgeons, and First Presbyterian Church, Steelton.

Married October 2, 1912, in Buffalo, NY, Jean Isabel, daughter of David and Jane (McMillan) Newlands Children Jean Newlands (died

in infancy) and Jane Newlands (Connecticut Coll 1941).

Death due to hypertensive cardiovascular disease Buried in Paxtang (Pa.) Mausoleum Survived by wife and one daughter.

Lewis Emanuel Bamberger, B.A. 1905.

Born December 7, 1884, in New York City. Died August 30, 1939, in Forest Hills, NY.

Father, Abram E Bamberger, cotton broker and later real-estate dealer in New York City Mother, Fanny (Einstein) Bamberger.

Morse and Rogers School, New York City. Member Pierson Hall

Mandolin Club Freshman year

Engaged in brokerage business in New York City since graduation, associated with Wassermann Brothers 1905-22 (manager branch office); assistant manager and later manager Halsted & Harrison 1922-39.

Married (1) November 20, 1913, in New York City, Beatrice, daughter of William and Wilhelmina (Schmidt) Johnson Married (2) March, 1933, Doris Pearson.

Death due to angina pectoris Buried in Salem Fields Cemetery, Brooklyn, N Y Survived by wife and a sister.

J. Andrew Drushel, B.A. 1905.

Born November 24, 1872, near Mount Hope, Ohio Died June 20, 1940, in Plainfield, N J

Father, Henry Drushel, a farmer and stock raiser near Mount Hope, son of Jacob and Mary (Mumaw) Drushel of Ohio (near Mount Hope) Mother, Catherine (Rowe) Drushel; daughter of Andrew and Susannah (Shaneman) Rowe of Ohio (near New Bedford). Yale relatives include a cousin, H. Wade Rinehart, Ph D. 1922

Teacher in Ohio public schools 1890–92, B A National Normal University 1895 and M A 1897, instructor in biology and geology East Texas State Teachers College, Commerce, 1895–98, principal of public schools Frankfort, Ohio, 1898–1900, professor of geology and biology National Normal University 1900–04; entered Yale College beginning of Senior year, philosophical oration appointment, member Sigma X1

Teacher of physiology Yeatman High School, St Louis, Mo, 1905, instructor in teacher-training courses in elementary science and mathematics Harris Teachers College, St. Louis, 1905-24, member faculty New York University since 1924, assistant professor of the teaching of mathematics 1924–26 and associate professor 1926–27, associate professor of education 1927-28 and professor 1928-40, co-author Arithmetical Essentials (3 vols, 1921), Arithmetical Essentials; a Teaching Manual (3 vols, 1923), Junior High School Mathematical Essentials (3 vols, 1924–27), associate editor The Nature-Study Review 1920-24, a frequent contributor to educational and nature study periodicals, Ph D. New York University 1927, president Nature-Study Society of America 1920, 1921 (member national council for many years, an organizer of St Louis section in 1910 and its director 1910-12), fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science, member St Louis Academy of Science (recording secretary 1912-13), St Louis Society of Pedagogy, St Louis Public Question Club, Missouri State Teachers Association, Missouri Association of Teachers of Mathematics and Science (vice-president St. Louis section 1910-11), Central Association of Science and Mathematics Teachers, National Education Association, Torrey Botanical Club (New York), Vermont Botanical Club, American Museum of Natural History, National Coordinating Council of Nature Activities, Phi Delta Kappa, and Masonic order, attended Presbyterian church.

Married August 26, 1897, in Sunbury, Ohio, Hortense Wilson (B S National Normal Univ. 1893), daughter of Levi James and Isabel (Beattie) Wilson No children.

Death due to myocarditis Buried in Wooster (Ohio) Cemetery Survived by wife, a sister, Miss Nellie Drushel of Wooster, and two brothers, Solomon G Drushel of Edna, Texas, and Francis J Drushel of Wooster. Another brother, William A Drushel, '05, died in 1931

Abel Bennett Palmerton, B.A. 1905.

Born June 8, 1880, in Deposit, N.Y. Died March 24, 1940, at Palm Beach, Fla.

Father, Roswell Kelsey Palmerton (M.D. Coll. of Physicians and Surgeons, Baltimore, 1881), a physician in Cannonsville, N.Y.; son of Samuel and Lydia (Kelsey) Palmerton of Baldwinsville, N.Y. Mother, Jennie (Wilson) Palmerton, daughter of Merton and Olive (Bennett) Wilson of Bennettsville, N.Y.

Binghamton and Walton, NY, high schools and Phillips-Andover. Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; on Apollo Glee Club, Yale University Glee Club and College Choir Junior and Senior

years; member Beta Theta Pi

Associated with New York & New Jersey Telephone Company 1905–08 (traffic inspector and later assistant manager Prospect and Long Island Central office), with Ætna Indemnity Company, New York City, 1908–11 (assistant manager surety bond department 1909–10 and assistant secretary of company 1910–11); in charge contract bond department, New York branch, United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company, Baltimore, 1911–12, associated with Ætna Casualty and Surety Company, Hartford, Conn, 1912 until retirement in February, 1940 (assistant manager fidelity and surety department 1912–15, assistant secretary 1915–20, and secretary 1920–40); member Masonic order and Presbyterian church, Cannonsville

Married June 3, 1909, in Walton, NY, Edna, daughter of Calvin and

Helena (Frear) DuBois No children.

Death due to uremia. Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford Survived by wife, stepmother, two sisters, Mrs. Gregory Tyler of Rixford, Pa, and Mrs Fay White of Deposit, N.Y., and a brother, Roswell Kelsey Palmerton, Jr (Ph G. Union Univ. 1928) of Geneva, N.Y.

Horace Thomas Burgess, B.A. 1906.

Born October 17, 1881, in Harveysburg, Ohio. Died August 16, 1939, in Milford, Conn.

Father, Clark Burgess, a farmer in Harveysburg; son of Jesse and Elizabeth (Harvey) Burgess of Ohio Mother, Sally Mary (Owens) Burgess, daughter of Henry and Elizabeth (Whitsel) Owens of Ohio.

BS Lebanon College 1899 and BA 1904; taught in district school, Wellman, Ohio, 1900–03, part-time instructor in mathematics Lebanon College 1903–05, entered Yale College beginning of Senior year, philo-

sophical oration appointment, honors in mathematics and DeForest Mathematics Prize; member Phi Beta Kappa and Sigma Xi.

Attended Yale Graduate School 1906-09 (M A 1907, Ph D 1909, instructor in mathematics 1907-09); member faculty University of Wisconsin 1909-18 (instructor in mathematics 1909-14 and assistant professor 1914-18, in charge of extension division 1912-18), engaged in real-estate and mortgage business New Haven since 1919, associated with Equitable Fire & Marine Insurance Company and Fidelity & Casualty Company of New York 1939, in Forest Products Laboratory, Madison, Wis, as computing specialist Airplane Industrial Research 1918-19, had contributed to *Annals of Mathematics*; a founder of Connecticut State Federation of Men's Bible Classes (treasurer 1930-39), on executive committee New Haven Baptist Union 1932-39, treasurer Morningside Association 1930-39, fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science; member American Mathematical Society and Calvary Baptist Church, New Haven (deacon 1929-39, and chairman finance committee 1937-39).

Married December 27, 1911, in New Haven, Carrie Eliza Twiss (Yale certificate in Music 1907), daughter of Gustavus and Maria Eliza (Sherman) Twiss. No children.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes interred in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife.

Fred Branford Syphax, B.A. 1906.

Born October 12, 1881, in Washington, D C Died April 6, 1940, in Charlotte, N C.

Father, Colbert Stewart Syphax, messenger United States Treasury Department, Washington; son of Charles and Maria (Carter) Syphax of Arlington, Va. Mother, Caroline Cordelia (Webster) Syphax; daughter of Addison Armstead and Arabella (Grey) Webster of Washington

Washington High School and Williston Academy.

With Afro-American Realty Company, New York City, summer following graduation, instructor Washington High School 1906–07; clerk Washington Post Office 1908; associated with Morgan College, Baltimore, 1908–10; instructor in French, German, Latin, and physiography, Howard University, 1910–11, instructor in history, English, and physics Princess Anne (Md) Academy 1912–13, instructor Bluefield (W.Va) State Teachers College 1915–20, and instructor in English Johnson C Smith University, Charlotte, N C, 1921–26, principal of colored schools in Weldon, N C, 1927–28, instructor in English Tuskegee Institute 1928–38, supervisor and teacher adult education field, Wash-

ington, since 1938, member St Andrew's Mission (Episcopal), Tuske-gee, Ala

Married June 11, 1924, in Charlotte, Nannie, daughter of Lawyer John Sinclair and Nannie (Latham) Leary Son. Fred Branford, Jr.

Death due to heart disease and pneumonia. Buried in Pinewood Cemetery, Charlotte Survived by wife, son, and three brothers, Charles Sumner Syphax (B A Howard Univ 1888, LL.M 1901), John Ennis Syphax (LL.M. Howard Univ 1900), and Edward Milton Syphax, all of Washington.

Edward Leander Pratt, B.A. 1907.

Born December 13, 1884, in Montreal, Quebec Died January 19, 1940, in Lewiston, Maine

Father, Herbert Leander Pratt, associated with Bates Manufacturing Company, Lewiston; son of Horatio Leander and Martha (Haynes) Pratt of Grafton, Mass Mother, Abby (Hayden) Pratt, daughter of Edward and Abby (Godspeed) Hayden of Plymouth, Mass

St Paul's School, Garden City, NY, and Phillips-Andover Freshman Baseball Team, on University Baseball Team Sophomore and Junior years, member Yale University Tennis Courts, Hearst and University

clubs, and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1907-11 (MD 1911), interne Harlem Hospital 1911-13; practiced medicine in New York City 1913-33, in Greenwich, Conn, 1922-33, and in Lewiston 1933-40, specialized in diseases of ear, nose and throat; instructor in laryngology and otology Columbia University 1916–23 (assistant attending laryngologist and later assistant attending laryngologist and otologist Vanderbilt Clinic), assistant visiting surgeon Bellevue Hospital (Columbia Division), associate attending laryngologist and otologist Lenox Hill Hospital, New York City; served in department of otolaryngology and as head of department of bronchoscopy Central Maine General Hospital, Lewiston, 1933-40, contributed to medical journals, chairman Class dinner committee 1926 and author of an article in Vicennial Record, member Androscoggin County Medical Association, Maine Medical Association, New York Academy of Medicine, American College of Surgeons, American Medical Association, and Christ Church (Episcopal), Greenwich

Married June 16, 1913, in Brookline, Mass, Annabel, daughter of Kenneth and Jane Copeland (Darrow) Mackenzie Children. Anna Hayden, the wife of Lawrence Abbott, and Edward Leander, Jr

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Lewiston Survived by wife, children, a sister, Mrs Thomas C White of Auburn, Maine, and a brother, Albert Stone Pratt of Great Barrington, Mass

Samuel Alpert, B.A. 1908.

Born March 3, 1887, in Vilna, Russia Died June 19, 1940, in Newington, Conn

Father, Noah Louis Alpert, a rabbi in New Haven Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Zimmerman) Alpert; daughter of Jennie Zimmerman of Russia Yale relatives include Bernhart E Hoffman, '09, Israel J Hoffman, '11 L, Edward P Levine, '21, and Philip Susman, '21 (nephews)

New Haven High School Second colloquy appointment Junior year; first dispute appointment and honors in physical science Senior year, honors of the third rank in studies of Junior year

Treasurer Alpert & Krall, cap manufacturers, New Haven, 1908–13, attended Yale School of Law 1908-09 and 1910-12 (LL B 1912), admitted to the bar January, 1913; practiced law in New Haven 1913-30, had not been active in his profession since 1930 because of ill-health; general counsel and general manager Progressive Finance and Realty Company, Inc., New Haven, 1920–25; enlisted May, 1918, assigned as private to 32d Company, 8th Battalion, 151st Brigade, Camp Devens, later transferred to Philadelphia for special work and remained there until discharge March 3, 1919, judge advocate Inter-Veterans' Association since 1936; member Disabled American Veterans of the World War (commander Hamden chapter No 30 1934–35; charter member New Haven chapter No 2, judge advocate 1931-32 and 1935-39, and vicecommander 1932-33, assistant judge advocate Department of Connecticut 1937-40), member Jewish War Veterans of the United States (inspector Department of Connecticut 1937-40), American Legion, New Haven County and Connecticut State Bar associations, and Congregation Shevath Achim, New Haven

Married August 23, 1921, in New Britain, Conn, Frances Mark Schupack (B A Smith Coll 1914), daughter of Morris and Lena (Mark) Schupack Children. Marshall Benn, '42 S, and Nelson Leigh

Death due to diabetes mellitus Buried in Shevath Achim Cemetery, East Haven, Conn Survived by wife, sons, three sisters, Mrs Moses A Krall and Mrs Max Susman, both of New Haven, and Mrs Michael Levine of Newark, N J, and a brother, Simon Alpert of Florida

Andrew Linn Bostwick, B.A. 1908.

Born September 8, 1886, in Montclair, NJ Died November 17, 1939, in St Louis, Mo

Father, Arthur Elmore Bostwick, LLD (BA 1881, Ph D 1883), author, editor, librarian, son of David Elmore Bostwick (MD Albany Medical Coll 1846) and Adelaide (McKinley) Bostwick of Litchfield,

Conn Mother, Lucy (Sawyer) Bostwick; daughter of Rev. Rollin Augustus Sawyer, DD, L.HD (BA. Western Reserve 1851) and Martha Elizabeth (Linn) Sawyer of Yonkers and Irvington, NY, and Dayton, Ohio Yale relatives include two uncles, Rev Andrew Linn Sawyer, '83, and Rev Rollin Alger Sawyer, '83

Montclair High School and Phillips-Andover. Oration appointment Junior and Senior years, on Freshman Banjo Club; Apollo Banjo and Mandolin clubs Junior year, University Banjo and Mandolin clubs Junior and Senior years, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Andover Club, and Zeta Psi.

Associated with United States Express Company, New York City, 1908–09 and Crunden-Martin Manufacturing Company, St Louis, 1909–11, on staff St. Louis Public Library 1911–16 (in charge municipal reference branch 1912–16); secretary St. Louis City Plan Commission 1916–17, in statistics division, Council of National Defense, Washington, D C, November, 1917–April, 1918; assistant to business manager Allied Purchasing Commission, War Industries Board, April, 1918–1919, in accounting department International Harvester Company, Chicago, 1919, with Simmons Hardware Company, St Louis, 1919–21; statistician and later manager of publicity and purchasing department Liberty Central Trust Company, St Louis, 1921–28; first assistant Municipal Reference Branch Library 1928–30 and chief of stations department St. Louis Public Library since 1930, had contributed to journals and reviews; president Special Libraries Association 1915–16; attended Christ Church Cathedral (Episcopal), St Louis.

Married (1) August 10, 1918, in Washington, D C, Margaret McKittrick, daughter of William Victor and Theoline (Richards) Jones Daughter Theoline Richards (Sarah Lawrence Coll. 1937–38). Mr and Mrs Bostwick were divorced November 23, 1920. Married (2) December 24, 1932, in St Louis, Ruth Anne, daughter of David Reece and Jessie (Harman) Overman

Death due to coronary occlusion Ashes interred in East Cemetery, Litchfield, Conn Survived by wife, daughter, father, a sister, Miss Esther Bostwick of Brattleboro, Vt, and a brother, Elmore Bostwick, ex-'16

Guy Cory Cleveland, B.A. 1908.

Born June 25, 1882, in Albany, NY. Died February 13, 1940, in Los Angeles, Calif.

Father, George Cleveland, member Cleveland Baking Powder Company, New York City, son of Newcomb and Gertrude Maria (Freligh) Cleveland of Tarrytown, N Y Mother, Susan Lucy (Cory) Cleveland; daughter of Dr David Cory and Calista Amy (Sanford) Cory of

Waukegan, Ill. Yale relatives include. Cleveland Ferris, '03 M. (cousin); and Cleveland H Storrs, '23 (nephew)

Taft School. Second colloquy appointment Senior year; captain Freshman Football Team and member Freshman Baseball Team, on College baseball and football teams; member Wranglers and Delta

Kappa Epsilon.

Graduate student Sheffield Scientific School 1908–09, attended Yale School of Forestry 1908–10 (M.F 1910); forester New York & Pennsylvania Paper & Pulp Company, Johnsonburg, Pa, 1910–11; assistant manager and salesman R E Boyd & Company, wholesale lumber dealers, New York City, 1911–12, partner with Walter K Wildes, '10 F, and secretary and treasurer North Jersey Excelsior Company, Inc, Butler, NJ, 1912–15; New Jersey sales agent Norman C Hayner Company, manufacturing chemists, Rochester, NY, 1915–17, engaged in poultry raising in New Jersey 1919–21, became associated with Hogan Company, real-estate dealers, Pasadena, Calif, 1922, appointed treasurer Circle Productions, Inc, Hollywood, Calif, 1925, since 1926 occupied as lecturer and teacher of philosophy, psychology, and metaphysics; made a world tour 1928–30 lecturing in large cities in the United States and abroad, served in Civilian Intelligence Department 1917–19, member American Theosophical Society and Masonic order

Married November 23, 1914, in Orange, NJ, Gladys Constance, daughter of Charles and Mary Louise (Markham) Townsend Children George, 2d, and Townsend Mr and Mrs Cleveland were divorced in 1924

Death due to complications following injuries received in an airplane accident in June, 1939 Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by sons, and a sister, Gertrude C. Storrs (B A Vassar 1887), the widow of Charles B. Storrs, '82, of Orange, N J.

Walter Morgan Crunden, B.A. 1908.

Born June 18, 1887, in St. Louis, Mo. Died February 19, 1940, in St. Louis, Mo

Father, Frank Payne Crunden, president Crunden-Martin Manufacturing Company, St Louis, and Central States Life Insurance Company, son of Benjamin and Mary (Morgan) Crunden of Kent, England, and St Louis Mother, Elizabeth Baldwin (Chittenden) Crunden, daughter of Abram Baldwin and Elizabeth Talcott (Bates) Chittenden of Keokuk, Iowa. Yale relatives include Talcott Bates (B A 1823) (great-grandfather), Rev Abraham C. Baldwin (M A Hon 1843) (great-uncle); Arthur C Crunden, '18 (brother), and Talcott Bates Chittenden, ex-'25 (cousin)

Smith Academy, St Louis Second colloquy appointment and honors in English language and literature Senior year; Freshman Glee Club; on Class tennis team; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Yale Dramatic Association, Rafferty, St Louis and Southern clubs, Wranglers, and Zeta Psi

Travelled around the world 1908–09, associated with Crunden-Martin Manufacturing Company since 1909 (sales agent for Central Illinois 1909-11, Nebraska 1911-12, and Wisconsin 1912-13, sales manager territory east of Mississippi River 1913-14, head of buying department 1914-22, vice-president 1922-31, and president 1931-40); president Central States Life Insurance Company 1936-37, chairman of the board 1937-38, and a director; president Marinette, Tomahawk & Western Railroad Company, Bradley Company, and Tomahawk Land Company since 1929; commissioned Captain, Officers' Reserve Corps, February 1, 1917, promoted to Major, Quartermaster Corps, October 28, 1918; called into active service May 18, 1917; executive assistant to constructing quartermaster Camp Jackson June, 1917–January, 1918, and constructing quartermaster October, 1918-January, 1919; constructing quartermaster, U S Army Lighterage, January-September, 1918; detailed to director of sales, purchase, storage, and traffic division, General Staff, as chief of railroad, contractors, and building material section; later special assistant to director of sales, and chairman Board of Sales Review; discharged August 2, 1919, commissioned Lieutenant Colonel, Officers' Reserve Corps, September, 1919, member Missouri Historical Society and Unitarian church

Married (1) August 20, 1913, in London, England, Alice Mentora, daughter of Robert Benedict and Edna (Bradley) Tweedy Daughter. Edwina Mentora. Mr and Mrs. Crunden were divorced in 1937 Married (2) February 24, 1938, in St. Louis, Ruth, daughter of James Troy and Nora Chamberlain (Dude) Moore

Death due to appendiceal abscess Ashes interred in Missouri Crematory, St Louis Survived by wife, daughter, mother, and two sisters, Mrs Catherine Crunden Wade, and Mary C Cole, the wife of Wallace H Cole (M D Univ. of Minnesota 1910), both of St Paul, Minn

Ralph Edward Goodwin, B.A. 1908.

Born September 26, 1886, in East Hartford, Conn. Died December 16, 1939, in New York City

Father, Joseph Olcott Goodwin, of East Hartford; town clerk; representative in Connecticut General Assembly; author of historical articles on East Hartford, son of Edward Scott and Jane Treat (Roberts) Goodwin; of East Hartford Mother, Harrietta Jane (Spencer) Goodwin;

daughter of Ralph Gilbert and Harriet (Williams) Spencer of Manchester, Conn

Hartford Public High School High oration appointment Junior and Senior years, honors of the third rank Freshman year and of the second rank Junior year; honors in English composition Sophomore year,

member Phi Beta Kappa and Sigma Xi

Attended Sheffield Scientific School 1908–11 (Ph B 1909, C E 1912), assistant in structural engineering Yale University 1909 and assistant in civil engineering 1910-11; rodman and later transitman New York Central Railroad June, 1911-March, 1912, temporary assistant engineer New York Board of Water Supply March-May, 1912, assistant in civil engineering Columbia University 1912–13, junior engineer in charge of testing laboratory New York State Public Service Commission 1913-17; engineering estimator Chile Exploration Company, New York City, 1917–18; hull inspector Emergency Fleet Corporation, New York City, 1918, engineering inspector in New York City for United States Shipping Board 1918–22; member faculty College of the City of New York since 1922 (instructor in Veterans Vocational Training School 1922-23, instructor in civil engineering 1923-28, assistant professor 1928-35, and associate professor 1935-39, secretary faculty of School of Technology since October, 1938); author Advanced Strength of Material and Structural Design (1930), Adjustment of Observations by the Method of Least Squares (pamphlet; 1930), and of several manuals on engineering technique, contributed articles on technical subjects to civil engineering periodicals; member American Society of Civil Engineers (faculty adviser College of the City of New York chapter), American Society for Testing Materials, International Society for Testing Materials, and First Congregational Church, East Hartford

Married June 14, 1912, in Burlington, Vt, Gilberta Hopkins Daniels (certificate Yale School of the Fine Arts 1912), daughter of Archibald Lamont Daniels, Sc D (B A Univ of Michigan 1878) and Mary Isabel (Ferris) Daniels, and sister of Mary Isabel Daniels Gieseler, ex-'16 Mus, and Archibald L Daniels, Ph D 1912 Son Robert Daniels (B S Univ of North Carolina 1940).

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in East Hartford Cemetery Survived by wife, son, and a sister, Mrs Jessie Goodwin Preston of East Hartford.

Thomas Gılbert Nairn, B.A. 1908.

Born April 14, 1885, in Washington, D C Died August 26, 1939, in Tecolote, N Mex

Father, Thomas Shields Nairn, in wholesale drug business in Washington; son of John Wilson and Elizabeth (Nourse) Nairn of Washington

Mother, Sallie Louise (Garretson) Nairn; daughter of Cornelius and Emma Louise (Nesenger) Garretson of Philadelphia, Pa. Yale relatives include an uncle, John J. Nairn, '80

Hartford Public High School and Phillips-Exeter. Member Wranglers

and Ps1 Upsilon.

Accountant Northern Navigation Company of San Francisco, stationed in Alaska and the Northwest, 1908–10; attended University of California School of Jurisprudence 1912–13; admitted to Alaska bar 1912, California bar 1914, Arizona bar 1918, and New Mexico bar 1938; practiced law in Iditorad, Alaska, 1912–14, member Overfield & Nairn, lawyers, Los Angeles, 1914–18, with firm of Chalmers, Stahl, Fennemore & Longan, Phoenix, Ariz, 1918–26 and partner Chalmers, Fennemore & Nairn 1926–36, attorney for Natural Carbon Dioxide Company, Las Vegas, N Mex, 1936–39; attended first Officers' Training Camp, The Presidio of San Francisco, 1917; commissioned First Lieutenant, Field Artillery; member Maricopa County Bar Association, State bars of California and Arizona, American Bar Association, and Christ Church (Episcopal), Hartford, Conn.

Married (1) July 2, 1917, in Las Vegas, Rosel, daughter of Max and Ida (Luhr) Wieczorek Children. Robert Bruce, Anndel Gertrude Wieczorek, and John Wernigk. Mr and Mrs Nairn were divorced in 1929 Married (2) September 21, 1931, in Portland, Ore, Kathleen Silsbee, daughter of Cornelius Blaine and Agnes (Carter) Riley No

children

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident Ashes interred in Greenwood Memorial Park, Phoenix. Survived by wife, children, and mother.

Donald Wallace Porter, B.A. 1908.

Born January 4, 1886, in New Haven, Conn. Died September 8, 1939, in Hamden, Conn.

Father, Joseph Porter (Ph B. 1859) Mother, Harriet Eldredge (Stevens) Porter Yale relatives include a niece, Harriet Stocking Bishop (certificate in Music 1928)

Miss Whedon's School and Phillips-Andover Second colloquy appointment Senior year, member Yale University Dramatic Association, Andover Club, Alpha Delta Phi, and Wolf's Head

Attended Harvard Medical School 1908–12 (M D 1912, member Aesculapian, Boylston Medical, and Innominate clubs, and Phi Rho Sigma), interne House of Good Samaritan, Boston, 1912–13, Boston City Hospital 1913–14, and Children's Hospital, Boston, January–October, 1915; engaged in practice in New Haven since 1916, specializ-

ng in pediatrics; clinical assistant in pediatrics Yale School of Medicine 1916-20, clinical instructor 1920-23, assistant clinical professor 1923-27, issociate clinical professor 1927-28, and clinical professor 1928-39, issistant attending physician New Haven Hospital 1916-20, assistant attending pediatrician 1920-28, attending pediatrician since 1928, and nember advisory medical board, Private Pavilion, 1930 until resignation 1938; attending pediatrician Grace Hospital 1921–28; pediatrician Children's Community Center 1919–24, attending pediatrician 1925–28, chairman medical committee 1929-37, member board of managers since January 25, 1939; associate fellow Calhoun College 1933–39, member Class reunion committees and of finance committee for thirty-year eunion; commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Reserve Corps, July 23, 1917 and Captain August 23, 1918; assigned to base hospital, Camp Gordon, December 12, 1917, until discharge January 21, 1919, member New Haven Medical Association, New England Pediatric Society, American Academy of Pediatrics, American Medical Association, New Haven Colony Historical Society, and Church of the Redeemer (Congregational), New Haven.

Married June 10, 1912, in New Haven, Louise, daughter of Frank Lewis Bigelow, '81 S, and Anna Louise (Lewis) Bigelow, and sister of Pierrepont Bigelow, '10 S. No children.

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, three sisters, Grace Cordelia Porter Stocking, widow of Jay T Stocking, 'or D, Alice Madeline Porter Todd, wife of William Todd, '94, and Miss Helen Porter of New Haven, and a prother, Joseph S. Porter, '99.

William John Walker, B.A. 1908.

Born March 23, 1887, in Albany, NY Died September 15, 1939, in Albany, NY.

Father, William John Walker, founder Walker & Gibson (later Gibson-Snow Company, Inc.), wholesale druggists, Albany, son of John and Frances (Ginn) Walker of Albany. Mother, Ada (Craig) Walker, laughter of John and Esther (VanderVeer) Craig of Fultonville, NY, and Albany. Yale relatives include Edgar A VanderVeer, '95 S, Albert VanderVeer, '00, and William W. Gibson, '06 (cousins).

Albany Academy. Member French Club

Registered in absentia Yale Graduate School 1910–14; associated with its father's firm 1908–17 and 1919–20 (manager Troy branch 1916–17 and 1919–20); attended National School of Commercial and Trade Drganization Secretaries, Northwestern University, and University of Wisconsin summers 1920–23; executive secretary-Board of Commerce,

Peekskill, NY, 1920-21; acting secretary Hudson Valley Federated Chamber of Commerce 1921-22, executive secretary Greensburg (Pa) Chamber of Commerce 1922-24 and editor of Forward Together, its official organ, since 1924 devoted his time to travel, writing, and lecturing, chairman Citizens' Naval Enlistment Committee, Albany, April, 1917, and recruited for National Guard; in charge YMC.A. work Building 31, Camp Travis, Texas, September 1, 1917-December 8, 1917, overseas December 8, 1917-January 31, 1919, as Y M.C A secretary and interpreter, awarded Médaille de la Victoire and Médaille Commémorative Française de la Grande Guerre 1930, was particularly interested in the army reserve and Citizens' Military Training Camps; commissioned First Lieutenant, Staff Specialists Section, Officers' Reserve Corps, 1925 and Captain February 12, 1925, publicity officer for several training camps in First and Second Corps areas 1925–26 and handled recruiting service publicity for National Army and organized reserves in northeastern New York 1927-33, taught citizenship in camps in eastern states since 1925; travelled abroad 1925 to study military training in Europe; had contributed articles to many magazines, Republican candidate for president of Albany Common Council 1927 and for mayor 1937, secretary Mayor's Committee on Unemployment 1931, president Albany Boys' Club four years and director Federated Boys' Clubs of America, member Albany Boy Scouts Council, director Bender Hygienic Laboratory; secretary and treasurer Yale Alumni Association of Northeastern New York 1909–13; alumni correspondent Yale Alumni Magazine for many years and member Association of Class Secretaries (vice-president 1915), member Albany Historical and Art Society, New York State Historical Society, Society of Early Dutch Settlers of Albany (president 1938-39), Reserve Officers Association, Albany Chamber of Commerce, and Madison Avenue Reformed Church, Albany (deacon 1908–12, superintendent Olivet Mission of the Sunday School).

Married October 14, 1916, in Springfield, Mass, Gretchen, daughter of Harry Perkins and Edna (Wetsel) Lane. Children: Janet (Bennington Coll ex-'41) and William John, Jr. Mr. and Mrs. Walker were divorced

m 1933

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Albany Rural Cemetery Survived by children.

Dudley Willcox, B.A. 1908.

Born July 21, 1886, in Lowell, Mass. Died June 14, 1940, in Princeton, NJ.

Father, Rev Charles Henry Willcox, '76 Mother, Mary Chaffee (Dudley) Willcox (graduate Mount Holyoke Coll 1878) Yale relatives

unclude: David S Rowland (B A 1743) (great-great-grandfather), Rev William F Rowland (M A Hon 1787) (great-great-uncle), Martin Dudley (B.A 1839) and G. Buckingham Willcox (B A 1848) (grandfathers), Henry E Cooley (B A. 1863) (great-uncle), Charles R Dudley, '77 L, Edward M Dudley, '77, and Alfred B Willcox, '82 S (uncles), and Edward W Willcox, '21 (cousin).

Lawrenceville (N J.) School and Bordentown (N J) Military Institute Captain Class swimming team Sophomore year, member Beta Theta Pi

Associated with Tabor Manufacturing Company, makers of molding machines for foundries, Philadelphia, 1908–14 (in shops at Philadelphia 1908-09, travelling demonstrator and repair man New England states 1909-11, representative in Europe 1911-12, eastern representative with headquarters in Hartford 1912-14); attended School of Electrical Engineering, Princeton University, 1914-16 (E.E. 1916); a founder in 1916 of Pyrolectric Instrument Company which later became Ajax Electrothermic Corporation, Trenton (treasurer 1916–20, secretary and sales manager 1920-26, treasurer and assistant general manager 1926-40), a frequent contributor to technical and industrial magazines, president Yale Club of Mercer County 1938–39 and of Lawrenceville Rural Y M C A. 1924-25, 1927-29, 1939-40, president-elect Trenton Rotary Club, vice-president Lawrenceville School Board 1927-29; associate member American Institute of Mining and Metallurgical Engineers, member Trenton Chamber of Commerce, American Foundrymen's Association, American Electrochemical Society, Franklin Institute, and Lawrenceville Presbyterian Church (elder 1921–40)

Married November 24, 1917, in Lawrenceville, Matilda, daughter of William and Hannah Scovel (Shields) Hendrickson Children. Mary Dudley (B S New Jersey State Teachers Coll 1940) and Elizabeth Anne

Death due to peritonitis Buried in Lawrenceville Cemetery Survived by wife, children, and mother.

Ernest Lionel Wismer, B.A. 1908.

Born November 18, 1874, in Toronto, Ontario. Died April 22, 1940, in Newport, R I.

Father, John Anderson Wismer (B A Univ of Toronto 1888), a teacher at Parkdale Collegiate Institute and later manager of a school of telegraphy, Birmingham, England, son of John Wismer of Ontario Mother, Julia Shirley (Webster) Wismer

Parkdale Collegiate Institute In car distributing office Canadian Pacific Railway Company, Toronto, 1890–95, student Bible Institute, Chicago, 1895–97; special visitor Stratford Home, Ontario, 1897–99; ordained in Congregational ministry Taylor, Nebr, December 7, 1899,

and minister there 1899–1900; Sunday School missionary under Congregational Sunday School and Publishing Society in northeastern Nebraska 1900–01; minister Creighton, Nebr, 1901–03 and Newman Grove Nebr, 1903–04; attended Bangor Theological Seminary 1904–06 (diploma 1906), entered Yale College beginning of Junior year; honor in studies of Junior year; high oration appointment Senior year.

Attended Yale Graduate School and Yale Divinity School 1908–09 minister Cherryfield, Maine, 1905–06, North Branford, Conn., 1906–08 Davenport Church, New Haven, 1908–10, First Congregational Church Bristol, Conn., 1910–27, and United Church, Newport, R I, since 1927 president Central Congregational Club, Meriden, Conn., 1916–17, chairman social service committee Connecticut Conference of Congregationa and Christian Churches; moderator Rhode Island Congregational Conference 1932, Rhode Island State representative Boston Seaman's Frienc Society, Inc., 1928–36, director Congregational Board of Pastoral Supply and Newport council Boy Scouts of America; Y.M. C.A. worker in France September, 1917–May, 1918, accepted as candidate, Chaplains Training School, Camp Zachary Taylor, October 4, 1918; commissioned chaplain with rank of First Lieutenant November 7, 1918; assigned to Service Battalion, 101st Engineers, Camp Shelby; discharged December 7, 1918

Married September 26, 1899, in Flesherton, Ont., Mary, daughter of Thomas Dawson and Jessie (Thorn) Watt Children Ruth Irene (B A Mount Holyoke Coll 1922), the wife of Willard E Oliphant; and Helen Muriel (B A Mount Holyoke Coll 1924), the wife of James Grover Thurber.

Death due to chronic nephritis and coronary thrombosis. Survived by wife, daughters, and a brother, Carl Wismer.

James Harvey Rogers, B.A. 1909.

Born September 25, 1886, at Society Hill, S C. Died August 13, 1939, in Rio de Janiero, Brazil.

Father, John Terrel Rogers, a planter at Society Hill; son of Pau Hamilton and Jane Valinda (Terrel) Rogers of Brownsville, S C Mother Florence (Coker) Rogers, daughter of Caleb and Hannah (Lide) Cokei of Society Hill Yale relatives include a cousin, Francis W. Cokei (M A Hon. 1929).

St David's Academy, Society Hill. B A. University of South Carolina 1906, B S and M A. 1907; superintendent and teacher St David's Academy 1907–08; entered Yale College beginning of Senior year; high oration appointment

Attended University of Chicago 1909-11, Yale Graduate Schoo

1912-16 (M A. 1913, Ph.D. 1916; assistant in political economy 1915), and University of Geneva 1914-15; instructor in economics University of Missouri 1916-17, associate professor 1919-20, and professor 1923-30, assistant professor of economics Cornell University 1920-21 and acting professor 1921-23; professor of political economy Yale University 1930-31 and Sterling Professor of Political Economy 1931-39, fellow Pierson College 1933-39, lecturer Geneva School of International Studies 1926, 1928, 1930, 1932, 1935, and The Amos Tuck School of Administration and Finance, Dartmouth College, 1932-33; member research staff, Council for Research in the Social Sciences, Columbia University, 1927-28 and National Bureau of Economic Research 1928, member President Hoover's Conference on Unemployment 1929 (prepared report of committee on recent economic changes), on commission of seventeen appointed in 1933 by Nicholas Murray Butler (LLD 1902) to investigate the economic crisis with particular reference to methods of production and exchange; acted as monetary adviser to President Roosevelt 1933-35 and in July, 1933, at request of the President undertook, in association with Prof. George F. Warren, a study of the nation's fiscal situation with special reference to gold, special representative United States Treasury in China, Japan, and India 1934 for purpose of studying silver situation in those countries; American member economic committee, League of Nations Council, 1933-37; author Prices of Cotton and Cotton Products 1913–18 (1919), Stock Speculation and the Money Market (1927), The Process of Inflation in France 1914-27 (1929), America Weighs Her Gold (1931), Capitalism in Crisis (1938), co-author Harnessing the World's Money Power (1933); assisted in preparation of American edition of Vilfredo Pareto's The Mind and Society (1935); contributed to The Lessons of Monetary Evidence, edited by Arthur D Gayer (1937), and to many journals in fields of economics, and political and social sciences; LLD University of South Carolina 1934 and University of Missouri 1939; regimental supply sergeant, Supply Company, 10th Field Artillery, 1916, for service on Mexican border; statistician Council of National Defense, Washington, DC, October, 1917-January, 1918; commissioned First Lieutenant, Ordnance Department, January, 1918, with assignment to Washington, served overseas as First Lieutenant, American Red Cross, in Paris and Prague April, 1919-August, 1919, vice-president American Statistical Association 1932–34, member Council on Public Opinion, American Political Economy Club, American Economic Association, Econometric Society, Royal Economic Society, Phi Beta Kappa, Alpha P1 Zeta, Delta S1gma P1, and Welsh Neck Bapt1st Church, Society Hill

Unmarried

Professor Rogers was killed in an airplane accident which occurred in the harbor of Rio de Janiero. Buried in Welsh Neck Baptist Church Cemetery Survived by two sisters, Florence Terrel Rogers Simpson, the wife of Rev Thomas Ellison Simpson, D D (B A Presbyterian Coll o South Carolina 1900, B D Columbia [S C.] Theological Seminary 1905) of Darlington, and Hannah Alice Rogers Sheppard, the wife o Orlando Sheppard (M E Georgia School of Technology 1896) of Atlanta, Ga, two brothers, William Coker Rogers (Furman Univ 1899–1901, died February 20, 1940), and John Terrel Rogers, Jr (B S Virginia Polytechnic Inst 1907, M S 1912) of Washington, D C, and a half brother, Thomas Hamilton Rogers (Ph B Furman Univ 1891 died December 7, 1939)

Herbert Mason Southworth, B.A. 1909.

Born December 30, 1886, in Wakefield, Mass Died August 24, 1939, in Wakefield, Mass

Father, Palmer Herbert Southworth, an insurance broker in Boston son of Mason Sladeson and Sophia (Spink) Southworth of Wakefield Mother, Mary Ellen (Kirkpatrick) Southworth, daughter of Hugh and Margaret (Fay) Kirkpatrick of Fredericton, New Brunswick Yale relatives include a cousin, Wells S Hastings, '02

Wakefield High School Second colloquy appointment Junior year first colloquy appointment Senior year; on Freshman baseball squad and Class basketball squad, member Hispanic and French clubs, and Delta

Kappa Epsilon.

Salesman Peter Cooper's Glue Company, Chicago, 1909–12; department sales manager Home Pattern Company, New York City, 1913–16 sales manager American Cotton Company, Boston, 1917–22; owner treasurer, and manager Continental Cotton Company, Boston, 1922–26 treasurer Haddon, Southworth & Company, Inc., selling agents for worsted yarns and importers of rayon yarns and fabrics, Boston, 1926–27 treasurer and general manager Cutwell, Inc., manufacturers of cutting tools, Boston, 1927–30, owner General Products Company, dealers in plush, Wakefield, 1931–38, in insurance business Wakefield and Boston 1938–39, member First Congregational Church, Wakefield

Married April 14, 1925, in Boston, Ruth Miller Kennedy, daughter of

Harry Howard and Alice (Wood) Miller No children

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Lakeside Cemetery Wakefield Survived by wife and two brothers, Frank Palmer Southworth (Litt B Princeton 1908) of Malvern, Pa, and Arthur Palmer Southworth of Wakefield.

Perry [Swearingen] Young, B.A. 1909.

Born August 10, 1888, in Abilene, Texas. Died November 4, 1939, in New Orleans, La

Father, William Young, formerly associated with Texas Company, Abilene; son of Thomas Jackson and Susan Swearingen (Brame) Young of Missouri. Mother, Zuma (Waters) Young, daughter of Jonathan Philamon and Louisa Medora (Perry) Waters of Texas

Simmons College Academy. Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years

Agent in Weatherford, Texas, for Texas Company 1909-11, in retail irug business San Angelo, Texas, 1911-12, salesman 1912-14, in distilled water business, Dallas, 1914, marine editor Galveston Tribune 1914–17, nanager and publisher Gulf Ports Magazine 1919-23, managing editor World Ports Magazine (official publication of American Association of Fort Authorities) 1922–33, editor Shore and Beach (a journal of American Shore and Beach Preservation Association) 1933–39; enlisted May 15, 1917; attended Officers' Training Camp, Camp Funston, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, August 15, 1917, promoted First Lieutenant October 15, 1918, assigned to 358th Infantry, 90th Division, Camp Travis, August 28, 1917, transferred to 343d Machine Gun Battalion, January 1, 1918, overseas June 21, 1918-June 8, 1919; took part in St-Miliel and Meuse-Argonne offensives; served with Army of Occupation, disharged July 7, 1919, published Mexico Year Book and Commercial Guide 1922); author: The Mystick Krewe (1931) and Carnival and Mardi-gras in New Orleans (1939); compiler Bibliographic Notes on Ports and Harbors 1926), and Port Finance; A Symposium of Present Practices (1928), resided n New Orleans for many years.

Married May 30, 1914, in Fort Worth, Texas, Frances, daughter of Henry and Eliza (Hollis) Miller Children Zuma, Irene, the wife of Lionel Justis Cunningham, and Yvonne

Death due to chronic endocarditis Buried in Greenwood Cemetery, Weatherford Survived by wife, daughters, father, and a sister, Mrs Lee Henry of Abilene.

[Charles] Raymond Bentley, B.A. 1910.

Born November 24, 1889, in Rochester, N.Y. Died February 28, 1940, in Brighton, N.Y.

Father, Sardius DeLancey Bentley (B A. Univ of Rochester 1870), a awyer in Rochester; member firm of Cogswell, Bentley & Cogswell, on of Alexander and Levantia Mary (Norton) Bentley of Lakewood,

NY Mother, Martha Burr (Cogswell) Bentley; daughter of William Francis and Martha (Breck) Cogswell of Rochester. Yale relatives in-

clude a cousin, James B Boynton, '19 S.

East High School, Rochester. Honors in studies and first Berkeley Premium for Latin composition Freshman year, honors in studies of Junior year; philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Freshman Hockey Team and Class hockey team; on Freshman Glee Club, member College Choir, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Phi Beta

Kappa

Private tutor in Lexington, Ky., 1910-11; attended Yale School of Law 1911-13 (LL B summa cum laude 1913, Foster Prize; chairman board Yale Law Journal, member Kent Club and Corbey Court); admitted to the bar 1914; clerk Strong & Cadwalader (later Cadwalader, Wickersham & Taft), lawyers, New York City, 1913–14 and managing clerk 1914-December, 1915; practiced law in Rochester 1916-40; partner in firm of Bentley [Cogswell, '00] & MacFarlane 1916; practiced independently 1916-17 and with his brother in firm of Bentley & Bentley 1917; member Wickes & Bentley 1919-22; associated with Hubbell, Taylor, Goodwin, Nixon & Hargrave (later Goodwin, Nixon, Hargrave, Middleton & Devans) 1922-40 and member of the firm since 1927; assistant secretary Title Guaranty Corporation, Rochester, 1925–28, director 1924-29; served with New York National Guard on Mexican border in 1916, enlisted May 14, 1917, attended Officers' Training Camp, Madison Barracks; commissioned First Lieutenant, Infantry, August 15, 1917, and promoted to captaincy November 1, 1918, overseas September 12, 1917, to about July 18, 1919; attended American Infantry Officers' School and General Staff College October 1-December 12, 1917; attached to G-3 Headquarters, First Army Corps, December 13, 1917-February 12, 1918; with A E F. Student Detachment, The Sorbonne, February 13, 1918-March 1, 1919, commanding officer Brest Casual Company 2350 March 1-June 15, 1919; discharged August 7, 1919; member American Legion, Rochester, Monroe County, New York State, and American Bar associations, and Third Presbyterian Church, Rochester

Married November 15, 1918, in Rochester, Janet Cornelia, daughter of Charles Marvin and Sophie Todd (Hubbard) Everest, and granddaughter of Robert Hubbard (M.D 1851) Children Robert Hubbard, Ruth Everest, Charles Raymond, and Martha Hartwell.

Death due to multiple sclerosis of the spinal cord Buried in Mount Hope Cemetery, Rochester Survived by wife, children, mother, and five brothers, Cogswell Bentley, '00, Livingston Bentley, '15, Alexander Bentley (M E Cornell 1904) of Toronto, Harold Bentley of New York City, and DeLancey Bentley (Cornell ex-'11) of Rochester.

Leonard Cutter Bigelow, B.A. 1910.

Born October 6, 1888, in Framingham, Mass Died May 31, 1940, in Framingham Center, Mass

Father, Enos Hoyt Bigelow (B S Worcester Polytechnic Inst 1875; M D Harvard 1882), a physician in Framingham; son of George W and Grace (Crosby) Bigelow of Framingham Mother, Agnes Elizabeth (Cutter) Bigelow, daughter of Leonard Richardson and Mercy (Taylor) Cutter of Boston

Framingham High School and Lawrenceville (N J) School Honors of the second rank Freshman year; oration appointment Junior year, high oration appointment Senior year, vice-president Freshman Union, member Beta Theta Pi and Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Harvard Law School 1910-13 (LL B 1913), admitted to Massachusetts bar 1913; practiced law in Boston 1913-15 and 1919-21 (in office of Hemenway & Barnes 1913-14 and Hewitt & Williams 1914-15; associated with his uncle, George D Bigelow, 1919-21), engaged in real estate business in Boston 1915-17 and since 1921 (associated with H W Baxter, Trustee, 1915-17 and 1921-28; manager estate of Leonard R Cutter since 1928); enlisted as private October 5, 1917; attended 3d Officers' Training School, Camp Devens; overseas April 15, 1918-March 17, 1919; attended Artillery School, Saumur, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, July 12, 1918; assigned to Battery B, 133d Field Artillery, 51st Field Artillery Brigade, discharged April 5, 1919; president Plymouth Men's Club 1925-26, Sudbury River Tennis Club 1926–39, and Framingham Civic League 1931– 40, vice-president Framingham Community Chest 1934, manager Home for Aged Men and Women, Framingham, 1930-38 (treasurer 1934-37), trustee Framingham Town Library since 1935; member English Speaking Union and Plymouth Church (Congregational), Framingham Center

Married April 24, 1916, in Framingham Center, Margaret Sears (B A. Bryn Mawr 1914), daughter of Henry Darrah Sears (B S Massachusetts Inst. of Technology 1887) and Gertrude (Townsend) Sears, and sister of Richard Sears, '21. Children: Barbara (B A Bryn Mawr 1939, M S. Columbia 1940) and Harold Sears.

Death due to drowning Buried in Edgell Grove Cemetery, Framing-ham Survived by wife, children, and father.

Warren Wallace Diehl, B.A. 1910.

Born December 9, 1886, in Springfield, Ohio. Died March 18, 1940, in Clark County, Ohio.

Father, William Wallace Diehl, president The Diehl Hardware Company, Springfield; son of William and Catharine (Finger) Diehl of

Springfield Mother, Henrietta (Zammert) Diehl; daughter of William

Henry and Louisa (Hofman) Zammert of Springfield

Wittenberg Academy, Springfield, attended Wittenberg College 1904-06 First colloquy appointment Senior year, member Yale Corin-

thian Yacht Club and University Club.

Attended University of Cincinnati College of Law 1910–13 (LL B. 1913), admitted to Ohio bar December, 1912, practiced law in Springfield 1913–20, president and treasurer The Diehl Hardware Company 1920–40, enlisted March 5, 1918, Warrant Sergeant April 8, 1918; assigned to Army Medical Corps and attached to Base Hospital 53 at Camp Hancock, discharged April 5, 1919, president Board of Sinking Fund Trustees, Springfield, 1925–30, director Springfield Chamber of Commerce, former member Springfield Bar Association (treasurer 1916–17) and Ohio State Bar Association, an organizer and charter member West Side Civic League, member Democratic Central Committee 1929–33, NRA Compliance Board, Springfield, 1933–34, advisory board Salvation Army, prudential committee Wittenberg College, Players Club of Springfield Civic Theatre, American Legion, Masonic order, and First Congregational Church, Springfield (president board of trustees 1933–34).

Married October 9, 1923, in Springfield, Marjory Beard (B A. Coll of Wooster 1912), daughter of George Albert Beard (Coll of Wooster ex-'79) and Ella (Marquart) Beard Children Warren Wallace, Jr, and

Henry Hofman

Death due to drowning Buried in Ferncliff Cemetery, Springfield. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Helen Diehl Olds (B A Wittenberg Coll 1921), the wife of Phelps Olds of Little Neck, N.Y, and two brothers, Carl H Diehl of Springfield, Ohio, and Howard Frederick Diehl (B A Leland Stanford Univ 1926) of Tampa, Fla

William Hasty Flint, B.A. 1910.

Born December 10, 1887, in New York City. Died August 17, 1939, in New York City.

Father, Frederick W Flint of Larchmont Manor, N Y. Mother, Jessie (Lamson) Flint

Betts Academy, Stamford, Conn Member Zeta Psi

Travelled around the world 1910–11; with his classmate Brevard M. Connor, engaged in rice cultivation Matagorda County, Texas, 1911, associated with Southwestern Telegraph & Telephone Company, Dallas, Texas, 1911–13; clerk Dun & Bradstreet, Inc., New York City, April–November, 1915, salesman mortgage department Charles B VanValen, Inc., real estate, New York City, January–December, 1926, salesman

Bache Construction Company, Inc., White Plains, NY, for a short time Married (1) April 17, 1912, Ida Jennings, daughter of James Lawson and Mary Ida (Worsham) La Prelle One son Mr and Mrs Flint were divorced. Married (2) October 22, 1923, in San Francisco, Marion Leslie Dow Cone, daughter of Everett Elton and Caroline Goodwin (Adams) Dow Children. William Hasty, Jr, Marion Dow, and Jessie Lamson

Death due to a heart attack. Survived by wife, children, and a stepson,

James Brewster Cone

Thomas Beer, B.A. 1911.

Born November 22, 1889, in Council Bluffs, Iowa Died April 18, 1940, in New York City.

Father, William Collins Beer (West Point ex-1880), a lawyer in New York City, member Republican National Committee 1906–08, son of Judge Thomas Beer and Tabitha Mary (Dinsmore) Beer of Bucyrus, Ohio Mother, Martha Ann Alice (Baldwin) Beer, daughter of Linus Caleb and Alice (Boyle) Baldwin of Council Bluffs

Yonkers (NY) High School and Mackenzie School, Dobbs Ferry, NY First dispute appointment Junior and Senior years, on boards of Yale Literary Magazine and Yale Banner and Pot Pourn Senior year, Class poet, member Yale University Dramatic Association, Kit Kat Klub, Thunderbolt Club, The Pundits, Cercle Français, University Club, Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Psi Upsilon, Elihu, and Chi Delta Theta

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1911-14, clerk in his father's law office 1914-16; enlisted in Field Artillery at Fort Slocum May 10, 1917, recruit Battery C, 3d Field Artillery, Fort Sam Houston, transferred to Battery F, 21st Field Artill ry, June 3, 1917, to supply company of that unit July 8, 1917, and to headquarters troop, 87th Division, August 22, 1917, commissioned First Lieutenant, Adjutant General's Department, January 17, 1918, overseas August 28, 1918-February 5, 1919, served as assistant division adjutant, 87th Division, until February 25, 1919, and also acted as casual officer Department of the Charente Inferieure September 10-November 5, 1918, discharged April 1, 1919, his first short story, "The Brothers," appeared in Century Magazine February, 1917, and was followed by many other stories in magazines, including Scribner's, American Mercury, Harper's, and The Saturday Evening Post, contributed a short sketch of George W Bellows to a volume of that artist's lithographs published in 1927, author The Fair Rewards (1922), Stephen Crane, A Study in American Letters (1923), Sandoval (1924), The Mauve Decade (1926), The Road to Heaven (1928), Hanna (1929), and Mrs Egg and Other Barbarians (1933), member First Presbyterian Church, Yonkers, NY.

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Sleepy Hollow Cemetery, North Tarrytown, N Y Survived by mother and a sister, Miss Alice Baldwin Beer (B A. Vassar 1910), both of New York City, and a brother, Richard Beer (Hamilton Coll. ex-'16) of Nantucket, Mass

Joseph Bloom Blackburn, B.A. 1911.

Born June 13, 1888, in Pittsburgh, Pa. Died March 30, 1940, in Rochester, Minn.

Father, William Wallace Blackburn, vice-president and secretary Carnegie Steel Company, Pittsburgh; son of Joseph Howard and Margaret (McConnell) Blackburn of Hollidaysburg, Pa. Mother, Harriet Alice (Bloom) Blackburn; daughter of Dr Frederick George Bloom and Mary Lowry (Getty) Bloom of Martinsburg, Pa.

Shady Side Academy, Pittsburgh, and The Hill School First dispute appointment Senior year; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Wig-

wam, University Club, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Associated with American Keene Cement Company at Sigurd, Utah, 1911–12 and The National Fuel Company, Denver, Colo., 1912–14; with Aluminum Company of America 1914–29 (in sales offices at Pittsburgh 1914–15 and Chicago 1915–17; manager Minneapolis office 1919–25, assistant district sales manager Detroit office 1925–29); travelled abroad 1929, resided in Denver 1930–40; vice-president R. G. Bulkley & Company, investment bankers, Denver, since 1937; enlisted August 27, 1917, attended 2d Officers' Training Camp, Fort Sheridan; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, November 27, 1917; promoted to first lieutenancy August 9, 1918, with 333d Field Artillery, Camp Grant, until May 1, 1918, at Field Artillery Replacement depots at Camp Jackson and Camp Zachary Taylor May 1, 1918–October 27, 1918; overseas October 27, 1918–July 10, 1919, with 148th Field Artillery and Army of Occupation, discharged July 22, 1919; member Point Breeze Church (Presbyterian), Pittsburgh.

Married May 26, 1917, in Denver, Eleanor, daughter of Frank Bulkley and Luella (Bergstresser) Bulkley, and sister of Ronald F. Bulkley, ex'08 S, and Ralph G Bulkley, '14 S. Children William Wallace, 2d,

'41 S, and Joseph Bulkley, '43.

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver. Buried in Fairmount Cemetery, Denver Survived by wife, sons, mother, and a brother, Frederick G. Blackburn, '14

Orion Augustus Mason, B.A. 1911.

Born March 7, 1889, in Medway, Mass Died April 28, 1940, in St Cloud, Fla.

Father, Orion Thomas Mason, of Medway; son of Henry Erastus and Sarah (Thomas) Mason of Medway. Mother, Eva Estelle (Clark) Mason; daughter of Samuel Goodwin and Sarah (Plummer) Clark of Medway.

Medway High School and Phillips-Andover Second dispute appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year; Freshman Football Team; on University football, soccer, and wrestling squads; member Beta Theta Pi

Salesman Kehew-Bradley Company, Boston, 1910-11; associated with American Radiator Company 1911–17 (salesman in Chicago, Boston, and Providence; in plant at Kenosha, Wis., and research and experimental work in Buffalo); president Mason-Hansen Company, Inc., wholesale plumbing and heating supplies, New London, Conn, 1919-21; salesman and later manager Boston branch Pierce, Butler & Pierce Manufacturing Corporation 1921–26, Pacific Coast division manager Florence Stove Company, San Francisco, 1926-30; sales manager in Worcester, Mass, Williams Oil-O-Matic Company, 1930–33; and for Scranton Coal Company (oil burner division) 1936, enlisted as Private, Battery B. 1st Field Artillery, National Guard of Rhode Island, May 21, 1917. regiment federalized as Battery B, 103d Field Artillery, 26th Division, July 23, 1917, promoted Sergeant September 1, 1917; overseas October 9, 1917-March 8, 1919; assigned to Advance Gas Depot 1, February 4, 1918, transferred to Intelligence Police Corps June 6, 1918, discharged April 2, 1919; member Masonic order and Village Congregational Church, Medway.

Married August 26, 1919, in Providence, R I, Olive Ruth, daughter of Frederick W. and Ellen M (Mead) Palmer No children.

Death due to tuberculosis Buried in Oakland Cemetery, Medway. Survived by wife and father.

Charles Terry Greenwood, B.A. 1912.

Born April 22, 1890, in Brooklyn, NY. Died December 26, 1939, in Washington, D.C.

Father, Joseph William Greenwood (LL.B. Columbia 1874), a lawyer in Brooklyn; son of Joseph M and Cynthia M. (Ward) Greenwood of Brooklyn. Mother, Lola Alvarez (de la Mesa) Greenwood; daughter of

Carlos Alvarez and Mary Frances (Taft) de la Mesa Yale relatives include an uncle, William C. Witter (BA 1865)

Brooklyn Polytechnic Institute Member Freshman Glee Club, Apollo Glee Club Junior year, University Glee Club Senior year, and College Choir two years; on board Yale Record Senior year; member the Poly

Prep Club and Zeta Psi

Associated with Brown Brothers & Company, New York City, 1912–13, attended School of Commerce, New York University, 1913– 15, credit manager Mutual Bank, New York City, 1913-17; associated with Bank of the Manhattan Company 1919–30 (manager credit department 1919-24, assistant cashier 1924-30), assistant treasurer International Manhattan Company, Inc., 1930–31, associated with Manufacturers Trust Company, New York City, 1931–32, territorial supervisor G & W Division of Hiram Walker, Inc., New York City, 1934-35, and United Distillers (of America), Ltd, Baltimore, Md, 1936-37, resided summers in Sheffield, Mass, enlisted May 15, 1917, attended Officers' Training Camp, Plattsburg, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, August 15, 1917, promoted First Lieutenant December 31, 1917, and Captain October 12, 1918, assigned to Company G, 77th Division, 308th Infantry, Camp Upton, attended School of Musketry, Fort Sill, overseas April 6, 1918-July 15, 1919, in action Baccarat and Vesle sectors, Oise-Aisne offensive and in the Argonne; served as aide-de-camp to Brigadier General Evan M Johnson of the 154th Infantry Brigade, and later as adjutant 308th Infantry, member AEF student detachment at The Sorbonne, discharged August 1, 1919, contributed several drawings to Decennial Record of the Class, member Class dinner committee, University Glee Club of New York, American Legion, Robert Morris Associates, New York Credit Men's Association, and Plymouth Church (Congregational), Brooklyn

Married October 14, 1931, in New York City, [Katherine] Ursula Towle Parrott (B A Radcliffe Coll. 1920), daughter of Henry Charles and Mary Katherine (Flusk) Towle. Mr and Mrs. Greenwood were divorced in 1932

Death due to hemorrhage Buried in Salisbury (Conn.) Cemetery Survived by mother and a sister, Mrs John Van Pelt Lassoe of Brooklyn.

Elmer William McDevitt, B.A. 1912.

Born December 9, 1887, in Cloquet, Minn. Died May 24, 1940, in Duluth, Minn

Father, John Andrew McDevitt, member Duluth Timber Supply Company; son of Charles and Susan McDevitt of Davenport, Iowa. Mother Ellen Cecilia (McCarthy) McDevitt.

Duluth Central High School and Phillips-Andover On University Football Team Junior and Senior years, member Senior Council, Class Day committee, Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, The Hogans, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Elihu

Attended University of Minnesota Law School 1913-14 (LL B 1914) and summer session University of Michigan Law School 1913; admitted to Minnesota bar 1914, practiced law in Duluth since 1914, member firm Cotton, Neukom & McDevitt 1919-25, assistant attorney St Louis County 1919-20, municipal court judge, Duluth, 1925-40, enlisted as private, Company A, 3d Infantry, Minnesota National Guard, January, 1915; commissioned Second Lieutenant March 18, 1915, and promoted Captain January 25, 1916, served on Mexican border June-December, 1916; in federal service August 5, 1917-January 24, 1919, transferred to 125th Field Artillery September, 1917, stationed at Camp Cody August-December, 1917, and at Fort Sill July-September, 1918, attended School of Fire, Fort Sill, December, 1917-February, 1918, overseas September 24, 1918-January 8, 1919, training in England and France, at time of death held rank of Colonel, Minnesota National Guard, president Citizens' Staff; vice-president St Louis County Sound Government League; secretary American Loyalty League 1919-20 and Duluth Professional Men's Club 1923-24, director Duluth Symphony Association, commander Duluth post and district commander American Legion 1919-20 (member state executive committee and Minnesota alternate national executive committee two years); member Chamber of Commerce, National Committee for Music Appreciation, Eleventh Judicial District Bar Association, and Holy Rosary Church (Roman Catholic), Duluth

Married November 19, 1919, in Minneapolis, Florence Emily, daughter of Charles Edward and Agnes Julia (St. Cyr.) Bernhardt. A son died in infancy

Death due to monocytic leukemia. Buried in Calvary Cemetery, Duluth Survived by wife.

Allton Lawrence Sherman, B.A. 1912.

Born August 22, 1889, in Orange, NJ. Died January 9, 1940, in Orange, NJ.

Father, Allton Harvey Sherman, '78 Mother, Sarah Turner (Lamson) Sherman

Orange High School Attended New York University 1907-09 (member Delta Phi), entered Yale College beginning of Sophomore year, dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years

Attended Yale School of Medicine 1910-14 (M D. 1914; member Nu

Sigma Nu); interne Rhode Island Hospital, Providence, 1914–16 and at Manhattan Maternity Hospital three months in 1916; practiced medicine and surgery in the Oranges since 1916, health officer, secretary board of health, and registrar of vital statistics, West Orange, 1917–18, contributed to New York Medical Journal and Wisconsin Medical Journal, member William Pierson, Essex County, and New Jersey State Medical societies, American Medical Association, Masonic order, and First Presbyterian Church, Orange.

Married (1) October 30, 1916, in West Orange, Ethel Agnes, daughter of Orrion L and Eva (Canham) Yeomans. Dr. and Mrs Sherman were divorced in 1934 Married (2) November 3, 1934, in Reno, Nev, Helen,

daughter of L. Wellington and Adeline (Harrison) Hildum.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Rosedale Cemetery, Orange. Survived by wife, two stepchildren, and a brother, John S. Sherman, '12 S.

Daniel Francis Daly, B.A. 1913.

Born April 14, 1890, in Branford, Conn Died June 26, 1940, in Branford, Conn.

Father, John Carroll Daly, a grocer in Branford; son of Jerrimah and Catherine (Coughlin) Daly of Branford. Mother, Nora Elizabeth (Desmond) Daly; daughter of John and Catherine (McKenna) Desmond of Branford

Branford High School Second colloquy appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year.

Tax collector borough and town of Branford 1913-40; director Branford Savings Bank, treasurer Branford Yacht Club 1929-30; member St. Mary's Church (Roman Catholic), Branford.

Married December 28, 1920, in New Haven, Conn., Jane Frances, daughter of Thomas William and Mary (Kenney) Conway. Son. Daniel

Francis, Ir

Took his own life. Buried in St. Agnes Cemetery, Branford. Survived by wife, son, mother, a sister, Miss Elizabeth Pauline Daly of Branford, and a brother, Joseph Carroll Daly of Branford.

[Warren] Martin McBride, B.A. 1913.

Born March 26, 1892, in Athens, Texas. Died December 6, 1939, in Dallas, Texas

Father, Warren Martin McBride, owner W M. McBride, Inc, department stores in Greenville, Dallas, Texarkana, and Commerce, Texas;

president Commercial National Bank Mother, Jane (Martin) McBride

Greenville High School. B A Baylor University 1912; entered Yale College beginning of Senior year, dissertation appointment, member

Alpha Sigma Phi.

Associated with W M McBride, Inc , 1913–37 (sales and advertising manager, assistant manager, president, and general manager), retired from business 1937 and engaged in ranching and farming in Greenville, enlisted November 22, 1917; Sergeant (first class), Aviation Section, Signal Corps, with 249th Aero Squadron at Waco, Texas, attended training camp and commissioned Second Lieutenant, assigned to 359th Infantry, 90th Division; discharged December 5, 1918, president Greenville Advertising Club; director Associated Advertising Clubs of Texas, and Greenville Chamber of Commerce; member Greenville Baptist Church.

Married December 26, 1913, in Waco, Rose Agnes, daughter of John Albert and Theodocia (Stovall) Littlefield. Children Martin, Jr, and Warren.

Death due to heart disease. Buried in East Mount Cemetery, Greenville Survived by wife, sons, and two sisters, Helen McBride Clayton and Linna Mae McBride McNeill.

William Otis Waters, B.A. 1913.

Born March 8, 1889, at Orchard Lake, Mich. Died May 1, 1940, in Garden City, NY.

Father, Rev William Otis Waters, S.T.D. (B A Hobart Coll 1884), minister Grace Protestant Episcopal Church, Chicago; son of Charles and Jeanette (Lyons) Waters of Sherburne, N Y. Mother, Anne Bianci (Freeman) Waters; daughter of Henry Ogden and Louisa (Simonson) Freeman of Staten Island, N.Y.

St Paul's School, Garden City, and Harstrom School, Norwalk, Conn Member University football and track squads, assistant coach Freshman Football Team Senior year; cup man; member Harstrom School Club, The Friars, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones; graduate member Elizabethan Club.

Attended Columbia University School of Journalism 1913–14; on staff Chicago Evening Post 1914–15 and New York Tribune 1915–16; associated with H. K. McCann Company, advertising agents, New York City, 1916–17 and 1919–20, Union Oil Company, New York City, 1920–22, and M. C. Bouvier & Company, New York City, 1922–23; with Farnum [Henry W., '94 S.], Winter [Wallace C, '93 S] & Company, brokers in New York City, 1923–31; associated with American Surety Company, New York City, 1931–40 (manager securities investment

division 1933–38, treasurer and investment counsel 1938–40), commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, August 4, 1917; overseas December 14, 1917–April 1, 1919, saw service with companies H, C, and B, 369th Infantry (15th New York), and with 4th French Army on Champagne front, assigned to Fourth Corps, 2d Army, at General Headquarters; participated in Champagne-Marne Defensive and St-Mihiel Offensive, discharged April 9, 1919; served as director Brick Row Book Shop, Inc. (treasurer 1926–27), on council New York Yale Club 1927–29 and on dinner committee of the Class; member Cathedral of the Incarnation (Episcopal), Garden City

Married May 14, 1927, in Ridgefield, Conn, Alice Haven Trevor, daughter of George Griswold Haven, '87, and Elizabeth Shaw (Ingersoll) Haven, and sister of George G Haven, '16 Daughter Elizabeth Anne

Death due to embolism caused by duodenal ulcer Ashes interred in Christ Church Cemetery, Sherburne, N.Y Survived by wife, daughter, two adopted children, Miss Nancy Waters (Smith Coll 1942) and Haven Waters, '40, and a sister, Leila Waters Francis, the wife of Thomas Francis, of St. Louis, Mo

Charles Abbott Harrison, B.A. 1915.

Born February 22, 1892, in Cleveland, Ohio Died July 11, 1939, in Crestwood, NY

Father, William Henry Harrison, president Harrison Granite Company, New York City; son of James Edward and Mary (Howard) Harrison of Adrian, Mich Mother, Effie (Abbott) Harrison; daughter of George and Emily (Rees) Abbott of Michigan.

New Rochelle (N Y.) High School and Worcester Academy. Second

colloquy appointment Senior year; member Alpha Delta Phi.

Associated with Harrison Granite Company since 1915 (salesman in Minneapolis 1915–17, Barre, Vt, 1917–18, and New York City 1918–39); member Church of the Annunciation (Roman Catholic), Crestwood

Married September 26, 1917, in New Haven, Conn., Lucile Josephine, daughter of James Henry and Mary Anne (O'Brien) Hines Daughter: Catharine (Coll of New Rochelle 1943)

Death due to a heart attack Buried in St Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven, Conn Survived by wife, daughter, father, and two sisters, Helen Harrison Hebbard, the wife of Franklin Hebbard, Jr (Coll. of the City of New York ex-'99) of New Rochelle, and Dorothy Harrison Pearson, the wife of Lucien Dean Pearson (B A Williams Coll 1914) of Hanover, N H

Daniel Willard, Jr., B.A. 1916.

Born February 15, 1894, in Minneapolis, Minn Died May 17, 1940, in Salisbury, Conn

Father, Daniel Willard, LL D. (Massachusetts State Coll 1878–79), president Baltimore & Ohio Railroad Company, president board of trustees Johns Hopkins University since 1926, vice-president National Institute of Social Sciences, son of Daniel Spaulding and Mary Anna (Daniels) Willard of North Hartland, Vt Mother, Bertha Leone (Elkins) Willard; daughter of Oscar and Mary Ann (Grimes) Elkins of North Troy, Vt.

University High School, Chicago, and Phillips-Exeter First colloquy appointment Senior year, member Exeter, Southern, and University

clubs, the Yale Battery (1915, 1916), and Alpha Delta Phi

Enlisted May 15, 1917, attended Officers' Training Camp, Fort Myer, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Articlery, August 15, 1917; promoted to first heutenancy August 17, 1918, overseas September 8, 1917-February 28, 1919; attended Artillery School of Fire, France, September, 1917, assigned to Battery F, 102d Field Artillery, January 1, 1918, saw action in Chemin-des-Dames Sector, Toul (Seicheprey) Sector, and in Champagne-Marne, Aisne-Marne, St.-Miliel, and Meuse-Argonne engagements, awarded Croix de Guerre June 10, 1918, discharged March 4, 1919; attended Harvard Law School 1916-17 and 1919-21 (LLB 1921); admitted to the bar 1922, with firm of Kirlin, Woolsey, Campbell, Hickox & Keating, lawyers, New York City, 1921–24, on legal staff Baltimore & Ohio Railroad Company since 1924 (assistant general attorney 1924-26, assistant to general counsel 1926-37, and assistant general counsel 1937-40); secretary and treasurer Railroad Credit Corporation December, 1931-January, 1932, counsel 1931-36, vice-president and general counsel 1936-40, and assistant treasurer 1937-40, attended Unitarian Church, Baltimore

Married June 14, 1922, in Wallace, Idaho, Mary Beale (B A. Vassar 1921), daughter of Charles Wesley and Harriet Leona (Huboll) Beale and sister of Robert Beale, '16 Children Daniel, 3d, and Mary Beale

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Hartland, Vt Survived by wife, children, and parents.

Isaac Collier Gifford, B.A. 1917.

Born October 27, 1894, in Hudson, NY Died May 12, 1940, in Chicago, Ill

Father, Arthur Gifford, a manufacturer in Hudson, president Mechanical Handlor Company, son of James and Almira (Beadle) Gifford of

Hudson Mother, Grace (Collier) Gifford; daughter of Isaac Newton and Fannie M (Wells) Collier of Hudson Yale relatives include Albert

Hoysradt, '77 (uncle), and Guy W Mallon, '85 (cousin).

Hudson High School and The Hotchkiss School. Dissertation appointment Junior and Semor years; scholar of the third rank Junior year; member Freshman Mandolin Club; on University Bowling Team Sophomore year, member business staff Yale Record two years and busi-

ness manager Senior year; member Alpha Delta Phi.

Factory manager Steward Davit & Equipment Corporation, Hudson, 1917, secretary Mechanical Handlor Company, Hudson, a short time 1917; enlisted as private Ordnance, November 11, 1917; assigned to Machine Gun Section December 30, 1917, and detailed to Machine Gun School, Springfield, Mass.; promoted sergeant February 18, 1918; instructor and demonstrator Browning machine gun and automatic rifle and also did experimentation on ballistics of machine-gun ammunition; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Ordnance Department, February 20, 1919, discharged April 28, 1919, in credit department and later investment trust department Guaranty Trust Company, New York City, 1919-22, assistant treasurer Bankers Trust Company, New York City, 1922-29; eastern representative Harvey S. Mudd 1929-40; director Mayflower Associates, Inc., Mayflower Consolidated, Portas, Ltd., Esterbrook Steel Pen Manufacturing Company, Hazeltine Corporation, Foroy Petroleum, Inc , and Mesabi Iron Company; member committee on Class finances 1921; treasurer Class of 1917 since 1927; on Sexennial Reunion Committee, member Squadron A, New York National Guard, and First Parish Church (Presbyterian), Hudson.

Married June 1, 1925, in New York City, Katharine Lee, daughter of Charles Underwood Carpenter (B.A. Princeton 1893) and Lillian (Hynson) Carpenter. Children. James Collier and Sanford Collier.

Death due to organic heart disease. Buried in Hudson City Cemetery Survived by wife, sons, and two sisters, Edith G. Havens, the wife of Herbert Sutherland Havens (B.A. Williams Coll 1915) of Bryn Mawr, Pa, and Mrs Stephen Castleman Talbot of New York City.

Louis Simon Tuck, B.A. 1917.

Born July 19, 1894, in Hartford, Conn. Died February 24, 1940, in Newington, Conn.

Father, Samuel Tuck, an independent clothing dealer in Hartford; son of Ralph Tuck of Cleveland, Ohio. Mother, Anna (Saul) Tuck; daughter of Joseph Aaron and Rachel Saul of Russia

Hartford Public High School. Member football and wrestling squads three years.

Attended Yale School of Law 1916–18; in offices of Berman, Berman & Berman, lawyers, Hartford, 1919–20; admitted to Connecticut bar February, 1920; practiced law independently in Hartford since 1920, enlisted June 18, 1918, as private Infantry; assigned to 152d Depot Brigade, Camp Upton, June–July, 1918, overseas July 30, 1918–February 23, 1919, with Headquarters Troop, 81st Division, in St -Dié Sector and Meuse-Argonne offensive; discharged March 8, 1919, attended Emanuel Synagogue, Hartford

Married March 14, 1920, in Hartford, Betty Helen, daughter of Abraham and Miriam (Roskind) Leikind Children. Shirley Barbara,

Ruth Janet, and Robert Donald.

Death due to bronchopneumonia Buried in Northwood Cemetery, Windsor, Conn Survived by wife, children, and a brother, Joseph Aaron Tuck (Trinity Coll ex-'25) of Hartford.

Eugene Peterson, B.A. 1918.

Born May 16, 1896, in Wilkes-Barre, Pa. Died February 14, 1940, in New York City.

Father, Jacob Peterson, a wholesale and retail dealer in milinery supplies, Wilkes-Barre; son of Joseph Louis and Jeanette (Halper) Peterson of Austria. Mother, Louise (Horchow) Peterson; daughter of Isaac and Masie (Dach) Horchow of Brody, Austria. Yale relatives include a cousin, Reuben Horchow, '16.

Wilkes-Barre High School. Attended University of Pennsylvania 1914–15; entered Yale College beginning of Sophomore year; first colloquy appointment Junior year; on Class baseball team Sophomore year and Class basketball team three years, member University Water Polo Team three years (captain Senior year) and University Swimming Team Senior year; member Society for the Study of Socialism and Naval Training Unit at Yale.

Private, Field Artillery, August 5-December 26, 1918; assigned to Company D, 8th Artillery Corps, Camp Wadsworth; associated with Holland Diamond Cutting Company, Inc., New York City, 1921–26, independently engaged as cutter and importer of diamonds, pearls, and precious stones in New York City under firm name of Eugene Peterson, Inc., 1926–33; sales manager Certified Barrel Company, New York City, 1934–40; associated with Columbia Stamping Products Company, Long Island City, N.Y.; member Avenue R Temple, Brooklyn, N.Y.

Married December 31, 1921, in New Haven, Conn, Marion, daughter of Joseph and Hattie (Bodlander) Dash. Daughter Louise Frances.

Death followed an operation for ulcers. Buried in Mount Hebron Cemetery, Flushing, N.Y. Survived by wife, daughter, three sisters,

Mrs Anna P. Hast, Mrs Victoria Klein, and Mrs Sallie Hase, and three brothers, Reuben, Joe, and Harry Peterson

Charles Lukens Bailey, 3d, B.A. 1920.

Born October 26, 1897, in Harrisburg, Pa. Died April 15, 1940, in Harrisburg, Pa

Father Charles Lukens Bailey, Jr, ex-'86, member law firm Wolfe & Bailey, Harrisburg; son of Charles Lukens and Emma Harriet (Doll) Bailey of Harrisburg. Mother, Mary Frances (Seiler) Bailey, daughter of D William Seiler Yale relatives include Edward Bailey, '81 S, William E. Bailey, '82, and James B Bailey, '89 S (uncles), and George R Bailey, '23 S. (cousin)

Harrisburg Academy and Chestnut Hill Academy, Philadelphia On University Soccer Team Junior year and University Water Polo Team Junior and Senior years, member Chestnut Hill Club and Zeta Psi; member R O T C spring 1917, left college May, 1917, and served overseas June 2–December, 1917, as camion driver with American Field Service in Chemin-des-Dames sector, attended School of Military Aeronautics, Princeton, and Aerial Observers' School, Fort Monroe, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Aviation Section, Signal Reserve Corps, December 7, 1918; discharged December 24, 1918, and then returned to college; B A honoris causa 1920

Salesman Celotex Corporation, Philadelphia, 1925–27 and sales manager of the company's Detroit division; manager Capitol Coal Company, Harrisburg; sales director Radio Station WHP, Inc., Harrisburg, 1933–40

Married September 8, 1920, in New Orleans, La, Mary Hansborough Hayne Son Charles Lukens, 4th

Survived by wife, son, five sisters, Mary Emily Bailey Moore, the wife of Douglas S Moore, '15, Frances B Stackpole, the wife of Edward J Stackpole, Jr, '15, Mrs Frederic F Wright, Mrs John Hart, and Miss Eleanor Bailey, and two brothers, William S Bailey, '21, and Gilbert M Bailey, ex-'22

George Mallory Pynchon, Jr., B.A. 1925.

Born June 6, 1903, in Greenwich, Conn Died January 14, 1940, in Jericho, NY.

Father, George Mallory Pynchon, senior member Pynchon & Company, investment bankers, New York City, son of Daniel and Frances Amanda (Tifft) Pynchon of Springfield, Mass Mother, Lillian (Holt)

Pynchon; daughter of George and Anna (Burbank) Holt of Chicago, Ill. Yale relatives include a cousin, Philip R Mallory, '08

Groton School Oration appointment Junior and Senior years, scholar of second rank Freshman year and third rank Sophomore year, Freshman crew squad; on board Yale Daily News Senior year (originator of and chairman pictorial section), editor Elihu, member Yale University Dramatic Association, Groton School Club, Cercle Français, University

and Elizabethan clubs, and Alpha Delta Phi

Associated with his father's firm 1925–31; treasurer and director A A Bigelow & Company, New York City, 1934, manager retail sales department Hammons & Company, Inc, investment bankers, New York City, 1934–37; associated with Fuel Development Corporation, New York City, 1938–39; an amateur aviator, he was a pilot at Roosevelt Field 1931–34, took part in many experimental airplane flights and cross-country races; director Aviation Corporation, Consolidated Aircraft Corporation, Aviation Protection, Inc, Aviation Credit Corporation, Air Associates, Inc, and Roosevelt Field, Inc, Second Lieutenant, Air Corps Reserve; on board of managers Long Island Aviation Country Club and governor Aviation Country Clubs, member Amateur Air Pilots' Association and Christ Church (Episcopal), Greenwich

Married (1) April 29, 1926, in Brooklyn, NY, Alice Bennett (BA Smith Coll 1925), daughter of George Henry and Estelle (O'Meara) Bennett Children Patricia and Michelle Mr and Mrs Pynchon were divorced in 1934 Married (2) June 20, 1934, in New York City, Katherine Vernon Brown Fuller, daughter of Gardner W and Mary E (Russell) Brown

Death due to fracture of skull with laceration of brain Buried in Springfield (Mass.) Cemetery Survived by wife, daughters, father (died March 9, 1940), a sister, Beatrice P. Hendrix, the wife of Stafford Hendrix (Stevens Inst of Technology ex-'16) of Greenwich, a stepsister, Miss Marie J Leary, and a stepbrother, Sylvester J Leary, '21

Charles Robert Klopp, B.A. 1926.

Born August 31, 1904, in Philadelphia, Pa Died December 29, 1939, in Sanatoga, Pa

Father, Charles Jacob Klopp (Dickinson Coll), a lawyer in Philadelphia, son of Benneville and Leah (Imboden) Klopp of Hummelstown, Pa Mother, Elizabeth Rebecca (Smith) Klopp, daughter of John S and Mary Margaret (Hallman) Smith of Sanatoga

Pottstown (Pa) High School, attended Ursinus College 1921–22 Member Yale Freshman football squad and Dr Bull's squad Junior year; awarded gold charm for excellence in Yale Daily News competition Sophomore year; manager Yale Travel Bureau Senior year; member student survey and Senior personnel committees, and Yale Press Club

Attended Yale School of Law 1926–27; secretary Sheffield Club, Inc, New Haven, Conn., 1927; travel bureau representative in Paris, France, 1927–28, supervisor Judson C. Burns, Inc, distributors, Philadelphia, 1928–29, underwriter The Baruch Agency 1930, resale manager Pierce-Phelps, Inc, distributors of refrigerators, Philadelphia, 1929–32; field sales manager Grigsby-Grunow Company, refrigerator manufacturers, Chicago, 1932–33; in charge of sales education, sales promotion department, Frigidaire Division, General Motors Corporation, Dayton, Ohio, 1933–37, salesman Sears, Roebuck and Company, Philadelphia, 1937–39, and Pitney-Bowes Postage Meter Company, Philadelphia, 1939, member St James Evangelical Church (Lutheran), Limerick, Pa

Married September 14, 1928, in Philadelphia, Geraldine, daughter of Thomas and Margaret (Egan) O'Shaughnessy Son: Charles Robert, Jr.

Death due to carbon monoxide poisoning Buried in Limerick Cemetery Survived by wife, son, mother, two sisters, Margaret Leah K Gilbert (B S Hood Coll 1928), the wife of Walter M. Gilbert (B S Univ of Delaware 1923) of Harrisburg, Pa., and Elizabeth Rachel Klopp (B A Hood Coll 1930) of Sanatoga, and a brother, John B Klopp (Ursinus Coll 1919–21; M D Hahnemann Medical Coll. 1925) of Chester, Pa.

Frederic Arthur Wallace, Jr., B.A. 1926.

Born February 10, 1905, in Providence, R I. Died May 25, 1940, in Providence, R I

Father, Frederic Arthur Wallace, president Color Service Corporation, Providence; son of William and Mary Ann (Ambler) Wallace of Harrogate, England Mother, Ethel Marian (Bonner) Wallace; daughter of Robert and Marian (Barker) Bonner of Providence.

Moses Brown School, Providence Scholar of the second rank Freshman, Sophomore, and Junior years; oration appointment Junior year; high oration appointment Senior year; second Lucius F. Robinson Latin Prize Senior year, Class baseball team three years; Freshman Soccer Team, on University Soccer Team three years; member Phi Beta Kappa

Paymaster Dutton Lumber Company, Providence, 1926–27; policy checker Rhode Island Insurance Company, Providence, 1927–34; laboratory assistant Berkshire Fine Spinning Company, Fall River, Mass, 1938–39, member St. John's Cathedral (Episcopal), Providence.

Married April 13, 1934, in Providence, Christine Chace (B.A. Smith

Coll 1930), daughter of Edward Gould Chace, ex-'04, and Christine Isabel (MacLeod) Chace Children Christine Ambler and Freda

Death due to Hodgkin's disease Buried in Swan Point Cemetery, Providence Survived by wife, daughters, parents, two sisters, Marian W Stearns, the wife of Howard Bucknell Stearns (B A. Brown Univ 1921) of Bronxville, N.Y., and Irene W. Vogels (B A Bryn Mawr 1924), the wife of David Sellers Vogels of New York City, and two brothers, William B. Wallace, '31, and George A Wallace, '35.

Edwin Glanffrwd Jenkins, Ph.B. 1927.

Born March 20, 1899, in Twedyrawr, South Wales Died April 15, 1940, at Kings Point, NY.

Father, Edwin Jenkins, a coal miner with Ocean Coal Company; son of Edwin Jenkins. Mother, Margaret (Thomas) Jenkins

Prepared privately A C I S Pitman's Commercial College, London Wireless operator in British Navy during World War and was at Battle of Jutland and other North Sea naval actions, spent 1922 in Y M C A work in Palestine. Second-rank stand Freshman and Sophomore years, third-rank stand Junior year; oration appointment Junior and Senior years; second Thacher Prize Sophomore year, first Henry James Ten-Eyck Prize Junior year, Townsend Premium Senior year; member Freshman Debating Association, University Debating Association and Yale Union; on Freshman Boxing Team, University Boxing Squad Sophomore year and University Soccer Squad Junior year; member Yale Masonic Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Delta Sigma Rho

Attended Yale School of Law 1927–29 (LL B 1929; member Kent and Liberal clubs; winner Wayland Prize Senior year); admitted to bar 1930; in office of White & Case, lawvers, New York City, 1929–34; became member of law firm Klein, Jenkins & Waldhauer, Floral Park, N Y, 1934; later practiced independently in Floral Park; president Floral Park Republican Club and committeeman for Nassau County 1933; member Nassau County Bar Association, Masonic order, and Methodist Episcopal church, Floral Park

Married (1) August 24, 1928, in New York City, Beatrice Verna, daughter of James and Lucy (Reynolds) Rich Daughter. Carol Sandra Mr and Mrs Jenkins were divorced in 1938 Married (2) June 24, 1938, at Great Neck, N Y., Mildred Louise, daughter of Louis Frederick Licht (M D. Cornell 1903) and Emma Louise (Licht) Licht, and sister of Louis F. Licht, Jr., '35.

Death due to pericarditis. Survived by wife and daughter, and by father, two sisters, and three brothers who reside in London.

James Denis Clyne, Ph.B. 1928.

Born September 9, 1905, in New Haven, Conn Died May 10, 1940, in East Haven, Conn.

Father, James Patrick Clyne, a real-estate dealer in New Haven, son of Patrick and Hannah (Sullivan) Clyne of New Haven Mother, Margaret Jane (Kelleher) Clyne, daughter of Cornelius and Mary (Murphy) Kelleher of New Haven Yale relatives include. Thomas E McHugh, '25, and Hugh C McHugh, ex-'30 (cousins)

New Haven High School and Milford (Conn) School On Freshman Baseball Squad; member Class water polo team Junior year and University Swimming Squad Junior and Senior years; member Catholic Club

Attended Harvard Law School 1928–29 and Boston University School of Law 1930–33 (LL B 1933), associated successively with brokerage firms of Prentice & Slepack and DeCoppet & Doremus, New York City, 1929–30, admitted to the bar 1933, practiced law in New Haven 1933–40; tax collector Fair Haven East Association 1938–40; delegate New Haven County Democratic Convention 1938, justice of the peace 1937–39; president East Haven Democratic Club January–May, 1940, member New Haven County Bar Association, and St. Vincent de Paul Church (Roman Catholic), East Haven.

Married January 12, 1938, in New Haven, Mary Elizabeth, daughter of Percy Raymond Greist (Earlham Coll. 1889–90) and Elinor Mary (Justison) Greist Son James Denis, Jr

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in St Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, son, mother, two sisters, the Misses Marie R. and Margaret Clyne of New Haven, and a brother, John P Clyne of New York City

Winlock [William] Miller, Jr., B.A. 1928.

Born July 21, 1906, in Seattle, Wash. Died July 14, 1939, in Seattle, Wash

Father, Winlock William Miller, '94, engaged in managing family properties in Seattle, son of William Winlock and Mary Margaret (McFadden) Miller of Olympia, Wash. Mother, Martha Louise (Keating) Miller; daughter of Michael Myers and Joanna (Ahern) Keating of Seattle Yale relatives include an uncle, Pendleton Miller, '94.

Broadway High School, Seattle, and Phillips-Andover. Scholar of the second rank Freshman and Sophomore years and of first rank Junior year, high oration appointment Junior and Senior years, first Thacher Memorial Prize Junior and Senior years; Senior honors in history; on

150-pound crew squad Freshman year and Class crew squad two years, manager University Debating Association Junior year and president Senior year; member University Debating Team three years, on Dwight Hall Cabinet Senior year; member Elizabethan Club, Delta Kappa

Epsilon, Delta Sigma Rho, and Phi Beta Kappa

Unmarried.

Attended Geneva School of International Studies summer 1927 and Yale School of Law 1928–31 (LL B 1931, member Corbey Court), admitted to the bar 1932; with law firm of McMicken, Ramsey, Rupp & Schweppe (later McMicken, Rupp & Schweppe), Seattle, 1931–39, specialized in tax litigation; counsel Seattle Building Owners & Managers Association 1936–39; president Washington State Conservation Society 1936–39; secretary Washington State Taxpayers Association 1933–39, secretary-treasurer Yale Club of Seattle 1932–33, trustee Municipal League of Seattle 1934–39, Seattle Symphony Orchestra 1937–39, Seattle Art Museum 1937–39, University Club of Seattle 1938–39, and Yale Library Associates, member St Mark's Church (Episcopal), Seattle

Death due to a coronary embolism Buried in Lakeview Cemetery, Seattle. Survived by parents and a brother, Pendleton Miller, '32

Robert Martin Calfee, Jr., B.A. 1930.

Born October 16, 1908, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died August 29, 1939, in Berkeley, Calif

Father, Robert Martin Calfee (B.A Roanoke Coll 1893; LL B George Washington Univ 1901), a lawyer in Cleveland, senior member Calfee & Fogg, son of Lee Saunders and Ella (Martin) Calfee of Pulaski, Va Mother, Alvine Elizabeth (Haas) Calfee, daughter of Albert and Marie (Kerndt) Haas of Lansing, Iowa

Cleveland Heights High School and Pawling School Elected to Yale Daily News board Freshman year, associate editor Sophomore and Junior years, assistant business manager Senior year; member Class Book committee, Yale Debating Association, University Club, and Zeta Psi

District sales manager, Western New York state, Canada Dry Ginger Ale, Inc, with headquarters in Rochester 1930–34 and assistant sales manager, New York Division, 1934–35, associate Robert Heller & Associates, commercial engineers, Cleveland, 1935–36, division sales manager The Glidden Company, Cleveland, 1936–39, member Fairmount Church (Presbyterian), Cleveland

Married October 12, 1935, in Waterbury, Conn, Elizabeth Tinker, daughter of Benjamin and Mary (Goldsmith) Chatfield Children Robert Martin, 3d, and Sarah Chatfield

Death due to embolism. Buried in Oaklawn Cemetery, Pulaski Sur-

vived by wife, children, father, and three brothers, John Beverly Calfee, '35, Lee Calfee of Akron, Ohio, and William Lewis Calfee (B.A. Harvard 1939, Yale School of Law 1942).

Charles Keller Hammer, Ph.B. 1930.

Born March 15, 1907, in Hyattsville, Md. Died May 24, 1940, in Hyattsville, Md.

Father, Jacob Keller Hammer, manager coupon department Riggs National Bank, Washington, D.C.; son of John Painter and Katharine Eleanor (Snapp) Hammer of Sullivan County, Tenn Mother, Annie May (Long) Hammer; daughter of Charles Henry and Annie May (McDaniels) Long of Washington

Central High School, Washington; attended University of Maryland. Yale Freshman Swimming Squad; on Class football team Freshman year;

student ensign Yale Naval Unit, member Book and Bond.

Associated successively with Harris-Forbes & Company, investment bonds, New York City, and General Electric Company, Bridgeport, Conn, 1930–31, unoccupied 1931–33 because of ill-health; did graduate work at George Washington University 1935–36, Benjamin Franklin University 1936–37, and American University 1937–38, associated with Census Bureau, Department of Commerce, Washington, and night school instructor in mathematics Emerson Institute 1934–35; personnel administrative assistant Farm Security Administration, United States Department of Agriculture, Washington, 1935–40; member Society for Personnel Administration and First Presbyterian Church, Hyattsville

Married April 21, 1934, in Washington, Christine Foster (Columbia Univ 1925–27), daughter of Royal Lealond and Mary Lucy (White) Foster. No children.

Death due to tuberculosis Buried in Fort Lincoln Cemetery, Washington Survived by wife and father (died June 15, 1940)

Eliot Porter Goss, B.A. 1931.

Born April 7, 1910, in Waterbury, Conn. Died June 21, 1940, in Waterbury, Conn.

Father, Edward Otis Goss (Massachusetts Inst of Technology ex-'87), president Scovill Manufacturing Company, Waterbury; fellow Royal Society of Arts (London), son of Chauncey Porter and Caroline Amelia (Ketcham) Goss of Waterbury Mother, Harriet Middlebrook (Wheeler) Goss, daughter of Moses Henry and Harriet Nash (Middlebrook)

Wheeler of Bridgeport. Yale relatives include. John H Goss, '94, and George A. Goss, '03 (uncles); and Chauncey P Goss, 3d, '26, John B. Goss, '28, Richard W. Goss, '29, Milton W. Goss, '32, and George A Goss, Jr., '42 (cousins).

Thacher School, Ojai, Calif Scholar of the second rank Freshman year; Freshman Polo Squad; Class football squad Junior year; member Uni-

versity Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Cannon and Castle

In production department Scovill Manufacturing Company since

1931; member St. John's Church (Episcopal), Waterbury

Married November 21, 1931, Lucy Antoinette Stone (Vassar ex-'33), daughter of John Sheppard Stone (LL B Univ. of Minnesota 1891) and Mary (Dana) Stone, and sister of Dana S Stone, ex-'31. Children: Mary Dana and Eliot Porter, Jr

Death followed an operation for a brain tumor Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Waterbury Survived by wife, children, mother, and two brothers, Edward Wheeler Goss of Washington, D.C., and William 'M. Goss, ex-'17.

Edwin Armstrong Sweet, B.A. 1932.

Born February 11, 1910, in Jersey City, NJ Died September 29, 1939, in New York City

Father, The Very Rev. Sidney Edward Sweet, '05, dean Christ Church Cathedral, St. Louis, Mo; son of Edwin Forrest Sweet, '71, and Sophia (Fuller) Sweet of Grand Rapids, Mich Mother, Elta Mae (Armstrong) Sweet (B.A. Wellesley 1904); daughter of William Hough and Elmor (McCullough) Armstrong of Cedar Rapids, Iowa Yale relatives include Philo C. Fuller, '81 (great-uncle); Carroll F Sweet, '99, and Horace W Armstrong, '05 (uncles).

Pomfret School Oration appointment Junior and Senior years, member Freshman swimming squad and crew; University 150-pound Crew Sophomore year; Class swimming team Junior and Senior years; University Swimming and Crew squads Junior year, member Zeta Psi

Attended Washington University 1932–33; associated with Simrall & Company (investment counsel service), St. Louis, 1933–35; partner Seeger & Sweet (investment counsel service), St. Louis, 1935–39, in trust department Guaranty Trust Company, New York City, March–September, 1939, member Christ Church Cathedral (Episcopal), St. Louis

Unmarried.

Death due to lymphosarcoma Buried in Oak Grove Cemetery, St. Louis Survived by parents and a brother, Sidney E Sweet, Jr, '36

Alexander Guthrie Walcott, B.A. 1932.

Born February 26, 1908, in New York City. Died May 17, 1940, in New York City

Father, Frederic Collin Walcott, Sc D, LL D (B A 1891 and M A Hon 1917), commissioner of welfare State of Connecticut; Connecticut State Senator 1925–29, United States Senator from Connecticut 1929–35, son of William Stuart and Emma Alice (Welch) Walcott of New York Mills, N Y Mother, Mary Hussey (Guthrie) Walcott; daughter of Alexander Murray and Mary (Hussey) Guthrie of Pittsburgh, Pa. Yale relatives include Benjamin Welch (M D. Hon 1838) (great-great-grandfather), Benjamin Welch (M D 1823) (great-great-uncle), William W Welch (M D 1839) (great-grandfather); William H Welch, '70 (great-uncle), Frederick S Kellogg, '87 S., and William S Walcott, '94 (uncles); and Stuart W. Kellogg, '20, and William S Walcott, 3d, '35 (cousins)

The Hotchkiss School On Freshman fencing squad; business manager The Harkness Hoot part of Senior year; member University Club, Psi Upsilon, and Cannon and Castle

Attended Johns Hopkins School of Medicine 1932–34; special student Tufts College Medical School 1937–38, resided in Norfolk, Conn, 1938–40, member Episcopal church.

Married June 26, 1937, in Greenwich, Conn, Catherine Boudinot Stimson, daughter of William Francis Dominick, '98, and Mary Stimson (Weston) Dominick, granddaughter of Theodore Weston (B A. 1853), and sister of W Gayer Dominick, '25, DeWitt Dominick, '30, and Theodore W Dominick, '31 Son Frederic Collin, 2d.

Death due to leukemia. Buried in Norfolk Cemetery. Survived by wife, son, father, and a brother, William W Walcott, '33.

Richard David Matthews, B.A. 1935.

Born October 11, 1914, in Hollywood, Calif Died February 26, 1940, in Pasadena, Calif

Father, Robert David Matthews, president Pacific States Oil Company; son of Richard and Catharine (David) Matthews of Llanishen, Glamorgan, Wales Mother, Ethel Burge (Walker) Matthews; daughter of William Edward and Elsie Mary Elizabeth (Burge) Walker of Whitchurch, Wales

Malvern Priory, Malvern, England, and Pomfret School On University Squash Racquets Team Junior year and member of the squad Sophomore and Senior years; associate editor Yale Daily News Sopho-

more and Junior years and editor Senior year; member Pierson College (on football team Junior and Senior years) and Beta Theta Pi

Associated with Price, Waterhouse & Company September-December, 1935, and June-September, 1936; travelled in India January-June, 1936, attended Stanford University 1936-37, salesman Standard Stations, Inc., Los Angeles, 1937, sports editor *Redwood City Tribune* 1938; in market research department Lord & Thomas, advertising, Los Angeles, 1939-40, member St. John's Church (Espicopal), Los Angeles.

Unmarried.

Death due to injuries received in an accident Buried in Hollywood Cemetery. Survived by father, stepmother, and two sisters, Miss Constance David Matthews and Miss Natalie David Matthews, all of Pasadena

James Lane Shaler, B.A. 1937.

Born December 27, 1913, in Brussels, Belgium Died March 2, 1940, in Washington, D C

Father, Millard King Shaler of Brussels, vice-president Belgian American Educational Foundation, Inc., director Société-Forminièke et Minière du Congo Mother, Mary (Johnson) Shaler

Prepared at Le Rosey, Switzerland, and at The Hotchkiss School Member Freshman Hockey Team and University hockey squad three years, on tennis and crew squads Freshman year, member Calhoun College, Yale Political Union, and Chi Psi

Attended Harvard Graduate School 1937–38, assistant to sales manager African Metals Corporation, New York City, 1939–40

Unmarried

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Fort Lincoln Cemetery, Washington, D C Survived by parents, a sister, Miss Elizabeth King Shaler, and a brother, Amos Johnson Shaler (B S. Massachusetts Inst of Technology 1940)

Frank Ruger Cunningham, B.A. 1938.

Born June 20, 1915, in New York City Died December 17, 1939, near Daytona Beach, Fla.

Father, Frank Cunningham, '83 (see page 30) Mother, Leonie (Ruger) Cunningham Yale relatives include. James Cunningham, '75 S, and John M. Cunningham, '76 S (uncles), James Cunningham, '07, W Dickson Cunningham, '15, Lyman H Cunningham, ex-'19 S, Murray Sargent, Jr., '35, Hugh Ralston Cunningham, '38, and Henry Bradford Sargent, 2d, ex-'40 (cousins).

The Hotchkiss School Premedical course; on Freshman Swimming Team and University swimming squad three years; member Medical Club and Saybrook College

Attended Temple University School of Medicine 1938-39; member University Club of New York.

Unmarried

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident. Buried in Sleepy Hollow Cemetery, Tarrytown, N Y. Survived by no immediate relatives

Clarence Mott Woolley, Jr., B.A. 1939.

Born March 11, 1917, in New York City. Died July 6, 1939, in New York City

Father, Clarence Mott Woolley, LL.D, chairman of the board American Radiator & Standard Sanitary Corporation, New York City; son of Smith Rensselaer and Marie Richardson (Smith) Woolley of Detroit, Mich Mother, Isabelle McKindley (Baker) Woolley; daughter of Leonard D and Mary (McKindley) Baker of Kenosha, Wis.

Phillips-Andover Member business board Yale Record; captain Freshman Indoor Polo Team and of University Indoor Polo Team Junior and Senior years; on University Polo Team three years; manager 150-pound Football Team Junior year; a cheer leader Senior year; member Timothy Dwight College (Class agent for the college), Amalfi, Haunt, and Fence clubs, Mohicans, and Scroll and Key.

Unmarried.

Death due to injuries received in a polo match. Ashes interred in Elmwood Cemetery, Detroit Survived by parents, a sister, Doriane W. McCullough, the wife of John G. McCullough, 2d, ex-'36, and a brother, John Carrington Woolley (Univ. of Berlin).

SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL

Francis Taylor Chambers, Ph.B. 1875.

Born March 3, 1855, in Cincinnati, Ohio. Died November 9, 1939, in Philadelphia, Pa.

Father, Francis Taylor Chambers, a lawyer in Cincinnati; son of John and Hannah Lee (Taylor) Chambers of Washington, Ky Mother, Elizabeth Lea (Febiger) Chambers; daughter of Christian Carson and Hannah (Lea) Febiger of Cincinnati

West Chester (Pa.) Academy Dynamic engineering course; honorible mention in mechanical drawing Freshman year; member Class

Cayenne Club, and Franklin Hall and Theta X1.

Attended University of Pennsylvania School of Law 1875-77 (LL B 877); admitted to the bar 1877, practiced law in Philadelphia since 1877 associated with George Harding 1878-88; since 1888 had practiced independently and had argued cases in federal courts throughout the Jnited States); specialized in patent law; member board of managers The Franklin Institute 1913-39, director DeLong Hook & Eye Company since 1916; president Philadelphia Patent Law Association 1927-28; nember St James' Church (Episcopal), Philadelphia.

Married (1) November 15, 1882, in West Chester, Pa, Katherine schuyler, daughter of Rev. John Bolton (Univ of Cambridge 1853–55) and Catherine (Schuyler) Bolton Mrs Chambers died in 1888 Married 2) June 10, 1890, in West Chester, Pa, Nanette Schuyler Bolton, sister of his first wife Children: Katharine Schuyler, the wife of Gonzalo Claudio Muñoz (B.S. Univ of Pennsylvania 1903, C E 1914); Christine ebiger, the wife of Austin Keyingham Gray (B.A. Univ. of Cambridge 911); and Francis Taylor, Jr. Mrs. Chambers died October 5, 1912.

Death due to heart disease Buried in St. Thomas Cemetery, Whitenarsh, Pa Survived by children and two grandchildren.

George Watson Smith, Ph.B. 1876.

Born February 14, 1855, in Montreal, Canada. Died September 29, 1939, in LaJolla, Calif

Father, David Smith of Evanston, Ill; senior member Smith & Dwyer, vholesale druggists, Chicago; son of George Smith of Scotland Mother, inet (Watson) Smith

Chicago High School. Select course; editor Yale Record Senior year; atistician; member Sheffield Scientific School Telegraph Company, class whist quartette, The Cloister and Book and Snake

City collector National Tube Works, Boston, Mass, 1876-77, clerk

and later bookkeeper E A. Cummings & Company, real-estate dealers Chicago; assistant teller Chicago branch, Bank of Montreal, 1877–78 member firm Smith & Elliot, real-estate agents, Evanston; resided in Coronado, Calif, 1930–39; author: The Choosing of a Handicapping

System in Golf (1915-16); member Unitarian Church, Chicago.

Married (1) December 23, 1879, in Evanston, Kate Isabella, daughte of John Hume and Mary (Kent) Kedzie. Children: David Kedzie (Cornell Univ ex-'04; died July 11, 1905) and George Hume (died July 20, 1902) Mrs Smith died May 15, 1883. Married (2) October 18 1887, in Princeton, Wis, Anna Isabella, daughter of Nathan Howard and Sarah (Johnson) Holliday Children. Janet Watson, the wife of Troy LaSalle Parker (B.A. Dartmouth 1911); Isabella Holliday, the wife of Martin Kennett (Univ of Chicago 1902–03); Mildred (the wife of Myron H. Wilson, Jr., '09 S., died November 11, 1918); and Martha the wife of Marion Smith Ackerman, Jr. (Princeton ex-'16)

Death due to generalized arteriosclerosis Buried in Greenwood Mausoleum, San Diego Survived by wife, three daughters, and ter grandchildren, one of whom is Luther M. Kennett, Jr., ex-34.

Edward Kilbourn Roberts, Ph.B. 1878.

Born November 15, 1857, in Milwaukee, Wis. Died January 15, 1940, in Simsbury, Conn.

Father, John DeWitt Roberts, an architect in New Haven, Conn.; sor of Almon Peck and Maria (Smith) Roberts of Northfield, Conn Mother Louisa Maria (Coe) Roberts; daughter of Walter and Maria (Kilbourn) Coe of Litchfield, Conn Yale relatives include: Rev Walter C Roberts '75 S (brother); Rev Edward H. Fitzgerald, '03, and Rev. John H Fitzgerald, '08 (nephews); and Dorothy L Massey, '25 L (niece)

Hillhouse High School, New Haven Select course; on Sheffield Scientific School Glee Club Freshman year, member Franklin Hall and

Theta X1

Attended Yale School of Medicine 1878-80 (M D. 1880); practiced medicine in New Haven 1880-1910 and 1914-18, in San Diego, Calif. 1910-14, and in Los Angeles, Calif, 1918 until retirement 1938, since retirement had resided with his son Edward in Simsbury; member Connecticut State Medical Society, American Medical Association Masonic order, and St Andrew's Church (Episcopal), Los Angeles.

Married August 30, 1880, in New Haven, Clara Newton, daughter of Nelson Amos and Adeline Amelia (Permin) Ludington, and sister of Nelson A. Ludington, of M. Children. Clifford Ludington (Pratt Inst 1905), and Edward Kilbourn, Jr. (B. A. Trinity Coll. [Conn.] 1909)

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery

Hartford Survived by wife (died September 16, 1940), sons, five grand-children, two great-grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs John Henry Fitz-gerald of Andover, Conn.

Samuel Eben Barney, Ph.B. 1879.

Born January 16, 1859, in New Haven, Conn Died February 23, 1940, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Samuel Eben Barney, a merchant in New Haven, son of Ebenezer Danforth and Phebe Hotchkiss (Dummer) Barney of New Haven. Mother, Eunice (Whittlesey) Barney; daughter of Peter and Betsey (Hunt) Whittlesey of Skaneateles, NY, and Wallingford, Conn

Hillhouse High School Civil engineering course, divided prize for excellence in mechanical drawing Freshman year, vice-president of the

Class Junior year, member The Colony and Berzelius.

Worked with Chicago, Burlington & Quincy Railroad Company and Union Pacific Railroad Company in the Middle and Far West 1879– 83; graduate student Sheffield Scientific School 1884-87 (C.E 1885); member faculty Yale University 1883–1940 (instructor in mathematics and civil engineering 1883-95, assistant professor of civil engineering 1895-1924, and assistant professor retired since 1924), lecturer on forest road building 1902-03; Chester S Lyman lecturer 1919-20, had served as consulting engineer to corporations and municipalities; an expert on construction of breakwaters, water supply, and railroad projects, served on several occasions as expert in litigation concerning sanitary engineering and railroad problems; commissioned Major, Engineers, Officers' Reserve Corps, August 8, 1917; in 1929 appointed to manage Class of 1879 S Brush Fund for Sanitary Engineering established in 1906; fellow American Public Health Association; honorary member Society for the Promotion of Engineering Education, Connecticut Society of Civil Engineers, and New Haven Colony Historical Society, member Society of American Military Engineers, Yale Engineering Association, American Society of Civil Engineers, Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences, and St Paul's Church (Episcopal), New Haven

Married July 8, 1884, in New Haven, Ida Eliza, daughter of Johnson Jasper and Eliza Maria (Brooks) Bushnell Children. Ida (B A Smith Coll 1908, Ph D Yale 1911; research assistant Yale Observatory) and Elizabeth Hunt (B A Smith Coll 1914; executive secretary and registrar Vala Disputer School)

Yale Divinity School).

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, daughters, and two sisters, Miss Eunice W. Barney and Miss Frances B. Barney, both of New Haven

Henry Osborn Carrington, Ph.B. 1880.

Born March 31, 1858, in Hyde Park, NY Died May 28, 1940, in Santa Barbara, Calif.

Father, Henry Austin Carrington (ex-1847 M; MD. Harvard 1848), a physician; health officer New Haven; mayor Borough of Bristol, Conn., son of Abijah and Anne (Austin) Carrington of Milford, Conn. Mother, Grace Charity (Tomlinson) Carrington; daughter of Isaac and Grace (Lum) Tomlinson of Derby, Conn. Yale relatives include William T Shepard, '84 S (brother-in-law); and Donald C. Shepard, '16 (nephew)

Hillhouse High School. Dynamic engineering course; honorable

mention in mathematics Junior year; Commencement speaker.

Draftsman Blake Crusher Company, New Haven, and then in civil engineering department, Air Line, Connecticut Valley, and New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad companies 1880–84; draftsman and field assistant to city engineer, New Haven, 1884-86; attended Yale School of Medicine 1884–86 (M.D. 1886); interne New York Polyclinic Hospital 1886-87; practiced medicine in Florida 1887; engineer Duluth, Minn, 1888; surveyor in Minneapolis 1888-89; with locating party St Paul, Minneapolis & Manitoba Railroad and later on construction and location in Montana, Idaho, and Washington for Northern Pacific Railroad Company 1889–93, attended University Medical College, New York University, 1893–94 (M D 1894); practiced medicine in New York City 1894–1918; instructor in diseases of nose and throat New York Post-Graduate Medical School and Hospital; associated with J G White & Company and with Perrin & Marshall, New York City, 1918-21; resided in Santa Barbara 1921-40; associated with a private engineering firm 1921–22; draftsman engineering department, City of Santa Barbara 1922 until retirement in 1929, former member Medical Society of the County of New York, and Washington Heights Medical Society

Married June 21, 1902, in New York City, Jean May, daughter of Gilbert and Nancy Jane (Brown) Hubbs. Son: Henry DeWitt Hubbs.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Survived by wife, son, and a brother, Herbert D Carrington, '84 S.

Edward Rupert Sargent, Ph.B. 1880.

Born March 9, 1858, in New Britain, Conn. Died June 20, 1940, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Joseph Bradford Sargent, founder and president Sargent & Company, hardware manufacturers, New Haven; mayor of New Haven

891–95; son of Joseph Denny and Mindwell (Jones) Sargent of Leicester, Mass. Mother, Elizabeth Collier (Lewis) Sargent; daughter of Curtis and ane Gardner (Collier) Lewis of Greensboro, Ga Yale relatives include 3ruce Fenn, '77 S, and William A. Rice, '86 S. (brothers-in-law), Liegler Sargent, '03, Murray Sargent, '05, Russell S Fenn, ex-'10, Uchard C. Sargent, '11, Sydney F. Sargent, ex-'11 S, Howard L argent, ex-'18 S, Robert L. Fisher, '20, C. Forbes Sargent, '20, J Weir argent, '20, Thomas D. Sargent, '25, William F. Sargent, '25, and David C Sargent, '38 (nephews); and Bradford S. Tilney, '30, Bruce Fenn, 2d, 12, Murray Sargent, Jr., '35, Frederick K Sargent, '39, and Henry B argent, 2d, ex-'40 (grandnephews)

Hopkins Grammar School and private tutor Select course; on Sheff aseball nine; member Triennial Committee, and The Cloister and Book nd Snake.

Associated with Sargent & Company 1880 until retirement in 1928 director 1885–1940); on New Haven Civil Service Board 1902–27 president 1910–27); president New Haven Manufacturers' Exhibit issociation for twelve years; secretary Class of 1880 S since graduation and Alumni Fund agent 1936–40; on board of governors Yale Publishing issociation 1925–30; his collection of early and recent views of New Iaven and pictures of Yale interest are deposited in the University ibrary; member Yale Association of Class Secretaries, Connecticut Iumane Society, New Haven Chamber of Commerce, and Connecticut ociety of Colonial Wars (governor 1924–26).

Married June 7, 1887, in New Haven, Helen, daughter of Abner rownell and Helen Mindwell (Griswold) Lawton Son. Lawton riswold, 12 S

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Iew Haven. Survived by wife, son, a grandson, two sisters, Miss Laura argent of New Haven, and Margaret S Fisher, the wife of Samuel H isher, '89, and two brothers, G Lewis Sargent, '81 S, and John Sargent, 4 S Three other brothers, Henry B. Sargent, '71 S, Joseph D Sargent, I S., and Russell Sargent, '84 S, died in 1927, 1936, and 1904, resectively.

Frank Charles Warner, Ph.B. 1881.

Born January 31, 1858, in West Suffield, Conn. Died August 18, 1939, in Delaware City, Del.

Father, Charles Curtis Warner, a farmer in Suffield; member state louse of Representatives; son of Curtis and Parmelia (Cushman) Jamer who lived near West Suffield Mother, Jane Elizabeth (Hol-

comb) Warner; daughter of John and Elizabeth (Alley) Holcomb o Suffield

Suffield Academy Civil engineering course; member Alpha Chi and Phi Gamma Delta

Civil engineer New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad 1881–87 associated with engineering department, U S Army, 1887 until retire ment in 1932, overseer and assistant engineer on fortification construction New York City 1887–94, assistant engineer on fortification construction and river and harbor improvements Wilmington, Del, and Philadelphia 1894–1920 (temporary district engineer Wilmington during World War), assistant engineer on fortification work Galveston Texas, 1920–23, assistant engineer, associate engineer, and senior engineer, Office of Division Engineer, South Atlantic Division, Savannah Ga., and Charleston, S C, 1923–27, senior engineer and principal engineer, Office of U S Division Engineer, North Atlantic Division, Nev York City, 1927–32; had resided in Delaware City since retirement, lift member American Society of Civil Engineers

Married January 14, 1897, in Delaware City, Mary Wahl, daughter o John Franklin and Lydia (Tybout) Reybold Children. Charles Curti (Univ of Delaware ex-'19), Francis Reybold (B S Univ. of Delawar 1925), and Richard Tybout (Univ of Delaware ex-'27, died in 1936).

Death due to acute dilatation Buried in St. Georges (Del) Cemetery Survived by wife, two sons, and two grandchildren.

James John Drummond, Ph.B. 1882.

Born March 9, 1858, in Chicago, Ill Died March 11, 1940, in Pasadena, Calif.

Father, Thomas Drummond, LL D (B A Bowdom 1830), of Win field and Wheaton, Ill; a lawyer, judge Seventh United States Circui Court 1869–84, son of James and Jane (Little) Drummond of Bristo Maine Mother, Delia (Sheldon) Drummond, daughter of John Pitt and Elizabeth (Whiting) Sheldon of Willow Springs, Wis.

Private tutor Dynamic engineering course; first prize for excellence in English composition Freshman year; statistician and treasurer of the Class Senior year, member York Hall and Chi Phi

With Western Electric Company 1882–83, civil engineer 1883 unt retirement in 1918, specialized in reconnaissance work for railroads and had worked for a number of roads including Wisconsin Central Railwa Company, Milwaukee, Lake Shore & Western Railway Company Chicago & Northwestern Railway Company, and Chicago, Milwaukee St. Paul & Pacific Railroad Company (checked surveys for Snoqualmi tunnel through Cascade Mountains 1913 and located second track o

lowa Division 1918); resided in Lake Forest, Ill., 1910–28 and in Pasadena since 1928; treasurer Church of the Holy Spirit, Lake Forest, 1913–28, member Yale Engineering Association and Church of Our Saviour (Episcopal), San Gabriel, Calif.

Married (1) May 7, 1892, in Marshfield, Wis, Antoinette Mabel Benedict. No children. Mr. and Mrs. Drummond were divorced in 1906. Married (2) June 8, 1926, in Lake Forest, Ella, daughter of Francis

Harry and Dora Adelaide (Cameron) Sherman

Death due to chronic myocarditis and bronchopneumonia Buried in San Gabriel Cemetery. Survived by wife.

Herbert Waldron Faulkner, Ph.B. 1882.

Born October 8, 1860, in Stamford, Conn Died March 27, 1940, in Washington, D C

Father, James Waldron Faulkner of Stamford; a jeweller and later a nining engineer; son of James Calvert Faulkner of New York City Mother, Sarah Elizabeth (Breasted) Faulkner; daughter of Peter and Catharine (Breasted) Breasted of Catskill, N Y Yale relatives include a tephew, Roger W. Ramsdell, ex-'21 S

King School, Stamford Dynamic engineering course, divided dyiamic engineering prize Senior year; Commencement speaker; his-

orian Senior year

Graduate student Sheffield Scientific School 1882-83 (M E 1884); nachine designer Pratt & Whitney Company, Hartford, Conn, 883-85; in 1885 began the study of art; attended Art Students' League, Vew York City, 1885-90, and École des Beaux-Arts, studied with taffael Colin 1890; lived principally in Europe until 1908, making his eadquarters in Paris; in 1908 returned to United States and had since esided in Washington, Conn.; was known especially as a painter of renetian scenes, had executed a number of historical murals; exhibited is work in the principal cities of the United States, in Nantes, St etersburg, and at the Paris Salon, received honorable mention at Panmerican Exposition, Buffalo, 1901; his pictures are hung in the St ouis Art Museum, Nashville (Tenn) Museum of Fine Arts, Herron art Institute, Indianapolis, Dallas Art Association, and Minneapolis 1 seum; was also interested in garden and nature subjects and gave ctures on these and other topics throughout the United States, author he Homes of the Men of 1830 (1910), The Mysteries of the Flowers (1917), Vood-carving as a Hobby (1934), Designs for Wood-carving (1936), and Decorative Plant Forms (1939); member American Art Association of aris (vice-president 1900-06, and acting president 1901-03), Syndicat e la Presse Artistique, and St John's Church (Episcopal), Washington

Married September 12, 1895, in St. Ives, Cornwall, England, Mary daughter of Thomas Trewhella and Eliza Stevens (Wearne) John Children Dorothy Waldron (died August 29, 1896), [Herbert Win throp] Waldron, '19 S, Louis Morton, '21 S., and a daughter (died at birth)

Death due to cerebral embolism Burned in Washington (Conn.

Cemetery Survived by wife, sons, and five grandchildren

Frederick Truman Bradley, Ph.B. 1883.

Born November 28, 1860, in New Haven, Conn Died February 2, 1940, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Robert Barnes Bradley, owner Robert B Bradley & Company, agricultural warehouse and seed store, New Haven; son of Sey mour and Delia (Barnes) Bradley of North Haven. Mother, Corneli (Minor) Bradley; daughter of Truman and Eunice (Peet) Minor of Peekskill, N Y Yale relatives include Robert S Bradley, '85 (brother) Charles W Whittlesey, '79 S (brother-in-law); and Robert B. Whittlesey, '18 (nephew).

Hopkins Grammar School Chemistry course.

Engaged in business with his father 1883–90, treasurer Bradley & Dani (later Bradley, Dann & Carrington Company), wholesale hardware an woodenware dealers, New Haven, 1890–93; associated with The Englisl & Mersick Company 1893 until retirement 1932 (secretary 1895–98 treasurer 1898–1927, and chairman board of directors 1927–32), becam secretary and treasurer The English & Mersick Lamp and Foundr Company about 1905; trustee Connecticut Savings Bank since 1918 director First National Bank & Trust Company and Morris Plan Bank treasurer Class of 1883 S since 1893, secretary since 1903, and Alumr Fund agent since 1906, chairman reunion committees for a number of years, on board of governors Yale Publishing Association; member Nev Haven Chamber of Commerce, Society of Connecticut Founders and Patriots, New Haven Colony Historical Society, Sons of the America Revolution, and Center Church (Congregational), New Haven.

Married (1) June 15, 1887, in New Haven, Sarah Emily, daughter o Edwin Francis and Emily Augusta (Cannon) Mersick Children. Sey mour Mersick, '09 S, and Mildred (B A Vassar 1911), the wife c William Edwin Prindle, '11 S Mrs Bradley died September 15, 1906 Married (2) June 27, 1908, in New Haven, Mary English, daughter o Charles Smith and Ellen Louise (English) Mersick

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haver Survived by wife, children, seven grandchildren, one of whom 1 Truman L Bradley, '41 S., and a sister, Miss Cornelia Minor Bradle of New Haven.

John Edward Calhoun, Ph.B. 1883.

Born December 5, 1859, in New York City Died February 15, 1940, in Cornwall, Conn.

Father, John Clark Calhoun, a merchant in New York City; son of edidiah and Jane (Patterson) Calhoun of Cornwall Mother, Sarah Warner) Calhoun; daughter of Apollos and Chloe (Wilcox) Warner of 'lymouth, Conn. Yale relatives include Henry W Calhoun, '83 brother), Frederic S. Calhoun, '83 (cousin), and George Woolsey, '81 brother-in-law).

Private tutor Attended Columbia University School of Mines 1879-

1, special student Sheffield Scientific School 1882-83

Travelled abroad 1883–84, engaged as a dairy farmer at Coltsfoot farm, Cornwall, 1884 until retirement 1928; member State Park and forest Commission 1914–35; treasurer Cornwall Red Cross 1914–35, in 908 gave Cornwall its library and town hall in memory of his father and frother; president Class of 1883 S since 1908 and member reunion committees; member Yale Engineering Association and First Congregational Church, Cornwall (clerk and chairman finance committee about forty-ive years).

Married April 28, 1896, in New York City, Marjorie Rowena, daugher of Frank Field and Laura (Hurd) Ellinwood. Children: Jean Ellinwood, the wife of Alfred Howe Terry Bacon, '14, John Clark, '22; Frank Ellinwood, '27, and Marjorie Lou, the wife of Folger Weston Frost Princeton ex-'26)

Death due to uremia. Buried in Cornwall Cemetery Survived by vife, children, and nine grandchildren

Ebenezer Hubbard Skinner, Ph.B. 1883.

Born August 19, 1861, in Omro, Wis. Died December 17, 1939, in Los Angeles, Calif

Father, Emory Fisk Skinner, member Skinner Manufacturing Comany, lumber exporters and manufacturers, Escambia, Fla; son of Ifred and Elizabeth (Costen) Skinner of Sherburne, N Y Mother, Ilen Maria (Hubbard) Skinner; daughter of Ebenezer and Mary Thompson) Hubbard of Oshk sh, Wis

Ripon College preparatory department and Bingham School, Mebane, I C Select course, first prize in English composition Freshman year, on class barge crew Freshman year; member Freshman Football Team, Iniversity Bicycle Association Freshman and Junior years, and Sheffield cientific School Tennis Club Senior year, chairman Class supper com-

mittee Freshman year, vice-president of the Class Senior year; on gradu ating committee; member York Hall and Chi Phi.

Vice-president Skinner Manufacturing Company 1883–1906; engaged in raising citrus fruits, Los Angeles, 1906 until retirement 1917; membe Masonic order.

Married July 14, 1887, in Oshkosh, Margaret, daughter of Henry and Henrietta (Hunneman) Osthaus Children: Ellen Henrietta (Smith Coll ex-'10), the wife of Junius Bailey Hall; Marguerite Sophia, the wife of Clarence Edward Hutchinson (M D Tulane Univ 1905); Mary Thompson; Emory Hubbard (died December 17, 1909); Dorothy Beatrice, the wife of Percy H Sheedy; and Martha Jane, the wife of John Arnold Woodward.

Death due to myocarditis. Buried in Calvary Cemetery, Los Angeles Survived by wife, daughters, twenty-one grandchildren, and four great grandchildren.

John Edwards Stryker, Ph.B. 1883.

Born October 30, 1862, in Catskill, NY. Died February 5, 1940, in St Paul, Minn

Father, John Livingston Stryker (ex-1848), a lawyer in Catskill and St Paul, son of John and Sarah (Striker) Stryker of New York City and Catskill Mother, Mary (Edwards) Stryker; daughter of John and Louise (Griffin) Edwards of Catskill Yale relatives include two nephews, Curtiforut, '08 S, and Leonard Shepley, '19 S

Phillips-Andover Dynamic engineering course; member West Divinity Whist Quartette Junior year; on board Yale Courant Senior year, member Franklin Hall and Theta X1

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1883–85 (LL.B. cun laude 1885); studied at University of Berlin 1885–86, admitted to Minnesota bar 1887, practiced law in St. Paul from 1886, specializing in patent and trade-mark cases, member Stryker & Moore about 1897–1900; associated with his son, John, in firm Stryker & Stryker since 1923; assistant United States District Attorney 1893–94 and special counsel for federal government in timber cases 1894–1902; chairman Charter Commission St. Paul, since 1924, member Holland Society of New York, Ramsey County Bar Association (president 1903), Minnesota State Bar Association, American Bar Association, and Dayton Avenue Presbyterian Church, St. Paul

Married December 4, 1889, in St Paul, Virginia Langdon, daughter of Colonel Glover Perin (M D Ohio Medical Coll 1846) and Elizabeth Spooner (Page) Perin Children Louisa (died February 11, 1893); John Barent (died August 20, 1892), Virginia (died April 29, 1895), Glover

'erin (died December 11, 1933), John Edwards, Jr, '18 S; Richard Livngston (died September 2, 1914); Sophie, the wife of James Gray (B A Jniv of Minnesota 1920), and William Byrd (B.S. Univ of Minnesota 925, M B 1926, M D 1927) Mrs Stryker died January 19, 1940

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Buried in Oakland Cemetery, St 'aul. Survived by one daughter, two sons, and nine grandchildren.

John Marvin Blakeley, Ph.B. 1886.

Born June 14, 1864, in St Paul, Minn Died August 12, 1939, in New York City.

Father, Russell Blakeley of St Paul, associated with Galena & Minneota Packet Company; president Northwestern Express, Stage and Transortation Company; president Minnesota Historical Society 1871, son of Dennis and Sarah (Samson) Blakeley Mother, Ellen LaBadie (Sheldon) Blakeley; daughter of Major John Pitts Sheldon of Willow Springs, Wis.

Hopkins Grammar School. Select course, member Freshman Supper Committee and of graduating committee, vice-president of Class Junior ear; secretary and treasurer Yale Minnesota Club Junior year, Comnencement speaker; member Chi Phi and York Hall

Attended Yale School of Law 1886–88 (LL B cum laude 1888, Comnencement speaker), admitted to Minnesota bar 1888 and to Illinois bar; ngaged in practice of law St Paul 1888–90 and Chicago 1900–31 (memer firm Wells [Arthur B, '84] & Blakeley 1900–15), in law department Chicago Great Western Railroad Company, retired in 1931 and had since esided in St Paul; member Yale Engineering Association, and Episcopal hurch.

Married September 26, 1908, in St. Paul, Emily Adelaide, daughter of Daniel Miller and Delia (Barton) Robbins. No children. Mrs. Blakeley 1ed November 17, 1933

Buried in Oakland Cemetery, St. Paul. Survived by a sister, Mrs. Harold P. Bend, and a brother, Henry Blakeley, both of St. Paul.

Emanuel Frank Selz, Ph.B. 1886.

Born November 14, 1865, in Chicago, Ill. Died April 28, 1940, near Glencoe, Ill.

Father, Morris Selz, member firm Selz, Schwab & Company, Inc, hoe manufacturers, Chicago; son of Jacob Hirch and Jette (Stein) Selz of Niederstetten, Wurttemberg, Germany Mother, Rosa (Frank) Selz, aughter of Emanuel and Elise (Reese) Frank of Chicago

Chicago High School and private tutor. Select course; prize for excellence in all studies and divided prize for excellence in German Freshma year; Commencement speaker; on graduating committee; membe West Divinity Orchestra and Alpha Chi

Associated with Selz, Schwab & Company, Inc., 1886–1917 and 1929 40 (superintendent of the factory 1893–96, vice-president in charge c manufacturing 1896–1917, executive vice-president since 1929); retired 1917–29, member Orchestral Association of Chicago.

Unmarried

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Rosehill Cemetery Chicago. Survived by a brother, Abraham K. Selz, '03 S.

George Bart Berger, Ph.B. 1888.

Born May 2, 1869, in New Castle, Pa. Died August 22, 1939, in Denver, Colo.

Father, William Bart Berger, cashier Colorado National Bank, Den ver, son of Andrew Bart and Rosina (Reis) Berger of New Castle Mother, Margaret (Kountze) Berger, daughter of Christian and Margaret (Zerbe) Kountze of Osnaburg, Ohio Yale relatives include Augustus F. Kountze, '91 S, Charles T Kountze, '92 S., Herman D Kountze, '97, Luther L Kountze, '97, Barclay W. Kountze, '97 S, de Lancey Kountze, '99, George S Oliver, '99, Augustus K. Oliver, '03 Harold Kountze, '07, George R B Berger, '08, and Bennett Oliver ex-'17 (cousins); Samuel Jamot Brown, ex-'26, Robert Brown, '29 Nathaniel Paige Brown, ex-'29, William B. Brown, '35, and Augustu Bart Brown, '37 S (nephews)

Jarvis Hall, Denver. Civil engineering course; Class whist club Fresh man year, member The Colony and Berzelius.

Travelled abroad 1888–89; associated with Colorado National Bank since 1889 (assistant cashier 1890–91, cashier 1891–1907, vice-presiden 1907–11, president 1911–34, chairman of the board 1934–39, and a director 1890–1939), director Denver branch of Federal Reserve Bank o Kansas City, Colorado Fuel & Iron Company, and Denver Dry Good Company, member Yale Engineering Association and St John's Cathe dral (Episcopal), Denver

Married April 5, 1899, in Denver, Carry Augusta, daughter of Major General Henry Clay Merriam and Catherine Una (Macpherson-Mac Neil) Merriam Children. Merriam Bart, Margaret, the wife of Eric Alston Mott (B A Univ of Oxford 1924), and George Bart, Jr., '28.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Fairmount Cemetery Denver Survived by wife, children, six grandchildren, two sisters Margaret B. Brown, the wife of Jamot Brown, '99, and Gertrude B Sayre, the wife of Robert Harold Sayre (B A Harvard 1908) of Denver, and a brother, Walter F B. Berger, '99 Three brothers, Charles B Berger, '88 S., William B. Berger, '93 S, and Augustus B Berger, ex-'01, died in 1891, 1931, and 1939 respectively.

John Feeter Easterbrook, Ph.B. 1888.

Born September 5, 1867, in New Haven, Conn. Died December 30, 1939, in Pelham, N.Y.

Father, Nathan Easterbrook, president Easterbrook Company and The Humiston Company, manufacturers in New Haven, president New Haven Chamber of Commerce; regimental quartermaster with rank of captain, 34th New York Volunteer Infantry, 1861–63; son of Nathan and Caroline (Bagg) Easterbrook of Herkimer, N Y. Mother, Mary Catharine (Feeter) Easterbrook; daughter of John and Nancy (Failing) Feeter of Little Falls, N.Y. Yale relatives include a cousin, John A C. Feeter, 'o1 S

Cheshire (Conn.) Academy and Hopkins Grammar School Mechani-

cal engineering course; coxswain Class crew Freshman year

Designer, draftsman, and later assistant superintendent American Fire Engine Company, Seneca Falls, NY, 1888-90; draftsman and later assistant district engineer Edison General Electric Company, Chicago, 1890-93, chief engineer of construction South Chicago City Railway Company 1893-95; western manager, with headquarters in Chicago, [. G. White & Company, engineers and contractors, 1895–97, special engineer on electric railway, lighting, and power transmission projects and then manager foreign department Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Company, Pittsburgh, 1897-1905, vice-president The Warren Company, contracting engineers, New York City, 1905-10, independently engaged in New Haven 1910-18, and in New York City 1916-18, resided in Pelham since 1925; appointed Lieutenant (1 g), U S Naval Reserve Force, January 24, 1918; promoted Lieutenant November 7, 1918, and Lieutenant Commander November 29, 1919; assigned to Bureau of Ordnance, Navy Department; on duty at US Naval Gun Factory, Washington Navy Yard, and at U.S. Naval Proving Grounds, ndian Head, Md., until February 21, 1918; transferred February 21, 1918, o headquarters of Naval Ordnance, New England District, as assistant naval inspector of ordnance, in charge of work relating to development, production, and inspection of submarine mines for North Sea barrage; ilso served as Labor Officer, dealing with threatening labor conditions, ollowing the armistice in charge of financial adjustments for Navy conracts, New England District; officially commended by Chief, Bureau of Ordnance; released from active duty March 15, 1920, on headquarters taff U S Naval Reserve Force in Connecticut 1920–22; member New

York Naval Reserve Force until 1930; contributed numerous technical articles, principally on electrical engineering subjects, to various journals; member American Institute of Electrical Engineers and Christ Church (Episcopal), Pelham Manor, N Y

Married July 3, 1926, in New York City, Kitty Polu, daughter of

Mark P and Bertha (Colmn) Garden

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes to be interred in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, an adopted son, Robert M Garden Easterbrook, and a brother, Robert T Easterbrook, ex-'99 S Another brother, Frederick J Easterbrook, '91 S, died in 1933.

Noble Foster Hoggson, Ph.B. 1888.

Born August 27, 1865, in New Haven, Conn. Died October 25, 1939, in New York City

Father, Samuel James Hoggson, founder and president The Hoggson & Pettis Manufacturing Company, New Haven. Mother, Lucy Maria (McLean) Hoggson Yale relatives include Bruce Hoggson, ex-'12 S, Wallace Hoggson, ex-'18 S, and MacLean Hoggson, '20 (nephews).

Hillhouse High School Select course, member Class chess club Fresh-

man year and The Colony and Berzelius.

Travelled in United States and Europe 1888–89; attended Yale School of the Fine Arts 1889–90; established firm of N F Hoggson & Company, decorators, New York City, 1891; with his brother formed firm of Hoggson Brothers, Inc., builders, New York City and Chicago, 1907 (vice-president 1907-16, president 1916-39); vice-president Mutual Realty Company 1911–28; director Hatasatah Realty Company; a founder Associated General Contractors of America 1919 and an organizer American Construction Council 1922; associated with housing division United States Department of Commerce for a number of years; delegate from United States Chamber of Commerce to organization meeting International Chamber of Commerce, Paris, 1920, and to first, third, and fourth congresses of the international chamber in 1921, 1925, and 1927, delegate at fourth and fifth International congresses of Building and Public Works 1925 and 1930, represented United States at International Exposition of Modern Decorative and Industrial Art, Paris, 1925, member Commission Industrielle Américaine en France (1916), and of American Industrial Commission appointed in connection with International Exposition, Barcelona (1929); vice-president and acting president of Yale Class 1923-28, president 1928-39, and member reunion committee for a number of years (chairman 1923); trustee Berzelius Trust Association; editor The Squire's Recipes (1914), The Squire's Home-made Wines (1919), author Just Behind the Front in France (1918),

Banking Through the Ages (1926), and Epochs in American Banking (1929); contributor to technical and art magazines; editor and publisher The Hoggson Magazine 1915–18; member New England Society in the City of New York and Episcopal church.

Married October 5, 1895, in New York City, Harriet Ella, daughter of Edward Wallace and Frances (Pitcher) Dewey. Children. Noble,

ex-'24 S, and Donald, '28.

Death due to a heart attack. Survived by wife, sons, one grandson, and a sister, Alice Maria Hoggson Thomson, the widow of Henry C M Thomson, '83.

Howard Livingston Isbell, Ph.B. 1888.

Born October 8, 1864, in Union City, Conn. Died June 4, 1940, in Naugatuck, Conn.

Father, John Lampson Isbell of Union City and Naugatuck, a manufacturer of machinery; son of William and Easter (Mitchel) Isbell of Woodbury, Conn. Mother, Amy Sophie (Curtiss) Isbell; daughter of William and Frances (Moore) Curtiss of Collinsville, Conn.

Cheshire (Conn) Academy. Mechanical engineering course, honorable mention in mechanical engineering Senior year; Senior appointment; historian for mechanical engineering course; member Sheff Debat-

ing Society and Yale Assembly.

Draftsman and designer Waterbury (Conn.) Farrel Foundry & Machine Company 1888–92 and 1895–97; associated with Waterbury Brass Company (later acquired by American Brass Company) 1892–95 and 1897 until retirement 1935 (draftsman and designer 1892–95, assistant thief engineer and assistant mechanical superintendent 1909–22, in charge of insurance and compensation department 1922–35); burgess Borough of Naugatuck 1906–08; president Naugatuck Board of Education 1918–24, nember St. Michael's Church (Episcopal), Naugatuck

Married (1) August 10, 1892, in Naugatuck, Lilian, daughter of Lucius Louis and Martha (Parsons) Spring. Children: John Howard (died anuary 26, 1911), Chester Parsons; and Louis Spring Mrs. Isbell died December 1, 1912. Married (2) November 25, 1914, in New Haven, Conn, Katherine, daughter of Truman Ebeneezer and Frances Elizabeth

Wheeler) Hurd No children.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhages. Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Vaugatuck. Survived by wife, two sons, three grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs. Charles Louis Berger of Naugatuck.

Henry Studley Burroughs, Ph.B. 1889.

Born May 23, 1868, in Portland, Maine. Died January 21, 1940, in Coldwater, Mich.

Father, George Tyler Burroughs, a distiller in Chicago; son of Abner and Mary (Rice) Burroughs of Warren, Mass Mother, Mary Evaline (Zieger) Burroughs; daughter of Josiah and Mary (Coleman) Zieger.

Private tutor in Chicago. Civil engineering course, on Class crew three

years, member York Hall and Chi Phi.

Engaged in ranching, sheep raising, and operating placer gold dredges on Snake River, Cassia County, Idaho, 1889–1904 (associated with his brother George and his classmate, Lewis H Sweetser, in Sweetser & Burroughs, later Sweetser, Burroughs & Sparks, 1890–1900 and in Sweetser-Burroughs Mining Company 1896–1904), assistant to manager Automatic Electric Company, Chicago, office manager Physicians Coöperative Association, Chicago, secretary United States National Life & Casualty Company 1923–26; assistant secretary and assistant treasurer Washington Fidelity National Insurance Company (later Washington National Insurance Company) 1926 until retirement 1934.

Married December 30, 1891, in Chicago, Ella, daughter of John Pope and Julia Belle (Tabor) Oldham. Children Studley Oldham, and Mary Evelyn, the wife of Carlton D. McKenzie. Mrs. Burroughs died March

31, 1933.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by children, three grandchildren, and two brothers, George T. Burroughs, Jr., '89 S., and Edgar Rice Burroughs of Tarzana, Calif.

Kenyon Vickers Painter, Ph.B. 1889.

Born January 14, 1867, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died March 20, 1940, in Cleveland Heights, Ohio.

Father, John Vickers Painter (Haverford Coll. ex-1855), a private banker in Cleveland, son of Samuel Marshall and Anne (Vickers) Painter of West Chester, Pa. Mother, Lydia Ethel (Farmer) Painter, daughter of James and Meribah (Butler) Farmer of Cleveland.

St Paul's School, Concord, N.H Civil engineering course; divided prize for excellence in mathematics Freshman year; honorable mention in mathematics Junior year, member Yale University Chess Club and St.

Paul's School Club

Engaged in developing and handling his own real estate in Cleveland; member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Cleveland.

Married (1) May 23, 1893, in Cleveland, Mary, daughter of William

Chisholm Mrs Painter died June 26, 1901 Married (2) April 28, 1909, in New York City, Leila Maud, daughter of Huston and Leila (Ballenger) Wyeth. Children: Kenyon Vickers, Jr (Duke Univ 1943), and Alyson Wyeth

Death due to cardiac failure Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland. Survived by wife and children.

Paul Nash, Ph.B. 1890.

Born December 3, 1870, in Westport, Conn Died December 23, 1939, in Stamford, Conn

Father, Edward Adams Nash, a farmer in Westport; son of Andrew Camp and Elizabeth A. (Adams) Nash of Westport Mother, Mary Edwards (Morey) Nash; daughter of Alford and Susan (Edwards) Morey of Kent, Conn. Yale relatives include a nephew, William J Wood, Jr, '10 S

South Norwalk (Conn) High School Civil engineering course.

Draftsman and construction engineer Yale & Towne Manufacturing Company, Stamford, 1890–99; city engineer and director of public works, Stamford, 1899–1922; independently engaged as an engineer, Stamford, 1922–39, member Stamford Board of Trade, Yale Engineering Association, Connecticut Society of Civil Engineers, American Society of Civil Engineers, Masonic order, and St John's Church (Episcopal), Stamford

Married April 6, 1893, in South Norwalk, Conn, Anna May, daughter of James Philip and Mary Elizabeth (Sherwood) Punzelt Children Pauline, the wife of Wilfred Russell MacCumber (New York Law School 1924–26); and Edward Maynard. Mrs. Nash died September 7, 1932.

Death due to acute intestinal obstruction. Buried in Willowbrook Cemetery, Westport. Survived by children, one grandson, and a sister, Mrs. William Janeway Wood of Westport.

Robert Hanna Carnahan, Ph.B. 1891.

Born April 25, 1868, in Lafayette, Ind Died July 7, 1939, in Fort Wayne, Ind.

Father, William Lane Carnahan, a merchant and shoe manufacturer in Lafayette and Fort Wayne, owner W. L. Carnahan Company, son of James Gaston and Margaret (Brown) Carnahan of Hamilton County, Ohio Mother, Clara Louise (Hanna) Carnahan, daughter of James Bayles and Mary King (Fairfield) Hanna of Fort Wayne. Yale relatives include:

Nelson L Deming, '90 S. (brother-in-law), and Nelson L. Deming, Jr., ex-'24 S (nephew)

Shattuck School, Faribault, Minn, and The Hill School Mechanical

engineering course; member The Colony and Berzelius.

Engaged in business with his father in Fort Wayne 1891–1903, owner and operator Standard Blank Book Manufacturing Company (later Wood-Carnahan Company and Carnahan-Sherwood Company), Fort Wayne, 1903–06 and Indianapolis 1906–10; in business in Washington, DC, 1910–11, security dealer, Philadelphia, 1911–15; broker in Fort Wayne 1915–16, secretary and treasurer Whiting Manufacturing Company, Chicago, 1916–18; owner and president Chicago Offices & Service Company 1918–33; resided in Fort Wayne since 1933 and had not been actively engaged in business; treasurer MacLean & Company, Chicago; member Yale Engineering Association, Masonic order, and Trinity Church (Episcopal), Fort Wayne

Married June 18, 1896, in Fort Wayne, Constance, daughter of Sidney Corliss and Adelia (Lynn) Lumbard Children. Robert Hanna, Jr, William Lumbard, and Sidney Lumbard Mrs Carnahan died November

25, 1906

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in Lindenwood Cemetery, Fort Wayne Survived by sons, four grandchildren, and two sisters, Miss Clara C Carnahan of New York City, and Virginia C Williams, the wife of Creighton H Williams (B A. Harvard 1898, M.A 1899) of Fort Wayne.

Charles Nassau Lowrie, Ph.B. 1891.

Born April 8, 1869, in Warriors Mark, Pa. Died September 18, 1939, in New York City.

Father, Jonathan Roberts Lowrie (B A Washington and Jefferson Coll. 1842) of Warriors Mark, a lawyer in Pittsburgh, Pa, son of Walter and Amelia (McPherrin) Lowrie of Washington, D.C, and New York City Mother, Matilda Hamill (Nassau) Lowrie; daughter of Rev Charles William Nassau, D D (B A Univ of Pennsylvania 1821) and Hannah (Hamill) Nassau of Lawrenceville, N J

Lawrenceville School. Civil engineering course.

Engaged in building branch lines for Pennsylvania Railroad Company 1891-93, studied landscape design Lawrence Scientific School and at Arnold Arboretum, Boston, 1894, since 1896 engaged as landscape architect and city planner with headquarters in New York City; designed preliminary plans for Valley Stream Park, Hempstead Park, and Jones Beach, in addition to designs for private estates, his work also included park system of Hudson County, N J, Roosevelt Memorial Park, Oyster

Bay, the arrangement and landscaping of Red Hook Housing Project, Brooklyn, and of Section 2, New York World's Fair Grounds, during World War made preliminary plans for Camp Gordon and Camp Hancock and, as town planner for industrial housing projects at New Brunswick, N.J, and elsewhere, laid out residential districts for war workers, member Columbus (Ohio) Plan Commission, 1907 and 1908, member Mayor's Parks Advisory Committee of the City of New York 1912-13, Commission on City Plan and Survey 1926-27, Committee on a Comprehensive Plan for the City of New York 1934-39, Mayor's West Side Improvement Architects Committee 1928–29, Art Commission of the City of New York 1938–39, and New York State Fine Arts Commission 1924-30; on jury of award in landscape architecture American Academy in Rome 1936 through 1938, author of pamphlets and reports on landscape design and housing; a founder American Society of Landscape Architects 1899 (fellow since 1899, treasurer 1900–10, president 1910–12 and 1918-19; vice-president New York Chapter 1914-15, 1926-27, and 1935-39, and president 1917-19), acting secretary of his Class 1936, trustee Alborz College of Teheran 1936-39, director Greater New York Federation of Churches, member Century Association, Yale Engineering Association, Sons of the Revolution, and Central Presbyterian Church, New York City (deacon 1907-20, elder since 1920)

Married November 8, 1905, in Columbus, Ohio, Barbara Isabelle, daughter of Alexander and Sarah (Watson) Forrest Children Charles Nassau, Jr, '28, '31 L, and Barbara Forrest (B A Vassar 1930), the wife of Arthur Gibb, '30

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Lawrenceville Cemetery Survived by wife, children, seven grandchildren, a sister Miss Sara Lowrie of Tyrone, Pa, and three brothers, William Lyon Lowrie (M D Univ of Pennsylvania 1883) of Tyrone, Roberts Lowrie (B A Coll of Wooster 1882, LL B Univ of Pennsylvania 1887) of Philadelphia, and Matthew Lowrie (B A Princeton 1898) of Texas

Aras James Williams, Ph.B. 1891.

Born July 15, 1870, in Utica, NY Died August 16, 1939, in Boston, Mass

Father, Irvin Abijah Williams, owner I A Williams & Company, manufacturers of locomotive headlights, Utica, son of Abijah Jewel and Mary (Billington) Williams of Utica Mother, Charlotte Louisa (Smith) Williams, daughter of Francis Edward and Phoebe (Pargeter) Smith of London, England. Yale relatives include: Norman A Williams, '97 (cousin); Harvey K Smith, '29, and Donald Williams Smith, '30 S (nephews).

Utica Free Academy Mechanical engineering course; member Freshman Glee Club and second glee club Junior and Senior years, on Class crew Junior and Senior years, member St Elmo and Delta Phi

Associated with his father's firm 1891–94 (partner 1893–94); secretary and treasurer United States Headlight Company 1894-96, associated with Roberts-Wicks Company, manufacturers of men's clothing, Utica, 1896 until retirement 1932 (assistant treasurer 1896–98, treasurer 1898– 1932, general manager 1903-18, and president 1919-32); assisted in organization of Avalon Knitwear Company, Utica, 1900 (president 1900-10); director Utica City National Bank, Utica Heater Company, and Utica-Willowvale Bleaching Company; president Chamber of Commerce 1921-23, vice-chairman City Planning Commission 1925-28, president Associated Charities, Utica, 1916–18; organizer Utica Chapter American Red Cross Committee on Disaster Preparedness 1919 (chairman 1919–24), Utica Community Chest, Inc., 1921 (member executive committee 1921–24), and Big Moose (N Y.) Property Owners Association 1926 (secretary 1926–32), trustee Utica Cemetery Association 1928-39, overseas October 27, 1918-May 12, 1919, with American Red Cross as assistant field director and district manager (assimilated rank of Captain), American Embarkation Center with headquarters at Le Mans October, 1918-April, 1919, since retirement resided winters in Pinehurst, N C, an enthusiastic woodsman he spent much time summers at his camp in the Adirondacks; member Fort Schuyler Club (president 1931-33), and Grace Church (Episcopal), Utica (vestryman 1917-39)

Married May 16, 1894, in Rochester, NY, Eugenia Davison, daughter of Henry and Eugenia (Davison) Barnard. Daughter, Charlotte Eugenia, the wife of Edward Norris, Jr.

Death followed an operation for a brain tumor. Buried in Forest Hill Cemetery, Utica Survived by wife, daughter, four grandchildren, and a half sister, Mrs John Francis Day of Utica

Wallace McKinney Alexander, Ph.B. 1892.

Born November 10, 1869, in Washee, Maus, T.H. Died November 22, 1939, in Honolulu, T.H.

Father, Samuel Thomas Alexander (Williams Coll ex-1861), a sugar planter in Maui, manager Haiku Sugar Company; son of William Patterson Alexander (Princeton Theological Seminary 1828–31) and Mary Ann (McKinney) Alexander of Maui, and Oakland, Calif Mother, Martha Eliza (Cooke) Alexander, daughter of Amos Starr and Juliette (Montague) Cooke of Honolulu Yale relatives include William D Alexander (B A 1855) and Joseph P Cooke (B A 1863) (uncles), Arthur C Alexander, '88 S, Joseph P. Cooke, '94, C Montague Cooke, Jr, '97,

William D Baldwin, '97, William G Cooke, '97, Clarence H Cooke, ex-'97 S, Arthur D Baldwin, '98, Frank F Baldwin, ex-'99 S., Fred C Baldwin, '04, George P Cooke, '05, Richard A Cooke, '06, and Samuel A Baldwin, '08 (cousins)

Phillips-Andover and Oakland (Calif) High School Select course, winner Sheffield Scientific School tennis tournament Senior year, member Andover and Hawaiian clubs, and Franklin Hall and Theta Xi

Engaged in development of sugar properties in Hawaii since 1892, associated with Alexander & Baldwin, Ltd, sugar and pineapple factors, shipping commission merchants and insurance agents, Honolulu, San Francisco, Seattle, and Portland 1892–1939 (San Francisco manager 1900-30, president 1918-30, chairman of the board 1930-39, and a director), president Piedmont Commercial Center, Ltd, 1913-39, Alexander Properties Company 1915–39, and Valmira Company 1928– 39; vice-president Matson Navigation Company 1909-39, and Honolulu Oil Corporation 1917–39; director Pan American Airways, Inc., Oceanic Steamship Company, Home Fire & Marine Insurance Company of Califorma, and Gladding, McBean & Company; vice-president board of trustees Menlo School and Junior College 1931–39, trustee Stanford University 1924-39 and Carnegie Endowment for International Peace 1935-39; elected honorary president Yale Alumni Association of Northern California 1936, president San Francisco Chamber of Commerce 1921-22, and San Francisco Opera Company 1933-37, director Musical Association of San Francisco, chairman Japanese Relations Committee of Califorma 1920–39 and commission from San Francisco to Japan 1920, member immigration committee Chamber of Commerce of the United States 1928-29, a supporter of first conference Institute of Pacific Relations 1925 (vice-chairman American council 1925-39), president Japan Society of San Francisco 1929–39, received Imperial Order of the Sacred Treasure (second class) from Japan 1929, diploma of Cavalliere, Order of the Crown of Italy 1936, and Ordre National de la Légion D'Honneur 1937, member national finance committee Republican party during 1936 campaign, interested in Boy Scout movement in Oakland for many years; instrumental in forming Piedmont Council 1921 (president 1921-36, president emeritus since 1936), one of a group who formed California Lawn Tennis Association and subsequently Berkeley Tennis Club of which he was president until 1933; member Piedmont Community Church

Married August 16, 1904, in Oakland, Mary Simpson, daughter of Timothy Leonard and Mary Richardson (Simpson) Barker Daughter, Martha Barker, the wife of Frank Levin Albert Gerbode (M D Stanford Univ 1936).

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes interred in Honolulu Survived by wife, daughter, two grandchildren, and three sisters, Mrs John

Waterhouse of Honolulu, Miss Annie Montague Alexander of Oakland, and Miss Juliette Alexander of Piedmont

Frederic Murray Ayres, Ph.B. 1892.

Born February 17, 1872, in Geneva, NY Died May 15, 1940, in Indianapolis, Ind

Father, Lyman S Ayres, owner L S Ayres & Company, department store in Indianapolis. Mother, Helen Maria (Murray) Ayres, daughter of Robert and Nancy (VanZant) Murray of Concord, Ohio.

Classical School for Boys, Indianapolis Mechanical engineering course, Senior appointment, third corporal Sheff Military Company

Associated with L. S. Ayres & Company since 1892 (president 1896-1940), president Murray Investment Company, Indianapolis, 1914–40; treasurer Chandler & Taylor Company, manufacturers of engines, Indianapolis, state chairman YMCA Financial Committee 1917 and chairman commercial economy committee Indiana State Council of Defense, director Bureau of Requirements and Stores, National Headquarters, American Red Cross, Washington, February, 1918, until fall of that year when he became associate director Department of Supplies, commissioned Major, American Red Cross, April, 1919; sent to Paris as director of property operations under European Commission, American Red Cross, to supervise liquidation of surplus Red Cross supplies and materials in Europe, returned to United States October 30, 1919; treasurer Indianapolis Community Fund 1920-28, director Park School, Indianapolis (chairman of the board), Associated Merchandising Corporation of New York, Retail Research Association, Fletcher Savings & Trust Company, Mapes Fire Insurance Bureau, Ohio Valley Coal Company, and Gates Marble & Tile Company; on executive committee Indiana Lincoln Union and board of managers Crown Hill Cemetery; member Indianapolis Chamber of Commerce, Board of Trade and Merchants' Association, National Retail Dry Goods Association (vice-president 1917, 1925, 1928, and 1929), University Club (president 1911), and Unitarian church.

Married (1) January 9, 1896, in Indianapolis, Eleanor Fox Allen, daughter of Horace Russel Allen (M D. Western Reserve 1858) and Harriet (Shepard) Allen Daughter Harriet Eleanor (died November 9, 1896) Mrs Ayres died July 29, 1898. Married (2) May 11, 1904, in Minneapolis, Minn, Alma Hoegh (B L Smith Coll 1900), daughter of Knut Hoegh (M D. Univ of Oslo 1862) and Anne (Moen) Hoegh Children Lyman Spencer, '30, Anne, the wife of Frederic William Taylor (M D Columbia 1927), and Frederic Murray, Jr., '36

Death due to hypernephroma. Buried in Crown Hill Cemetery, Indi-

anapolis. Survived by wife, one daughter, sons, one granddaughter, and two sisters, Mrs. William Barker Wheelock and Katherine A Smitheram (Smith Coll. ex-'01), the wife of Richard William Smitheram, both of Indianapolis

James Stephen Maher, Ph.B. 1892.

Born March 4, 1872, in New Haven, Conn Died June 8, 1940, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Michael Joseph Maher, a merchant and real-estate dealer in New Haven, son of Stephen and Katherine (Strang) Maher of New Haven. Mother, Johanna (Gorman) Maher; daughter of John and Katherine (Dargan) Gorman of New Haven Yale relatives include a cousin, Frank J. Conlan, ex-'or S

Hillhouse High School. Select course; member Sheff Military Com-

pany

Studied privately 1892–93; attended Yale School of Medicine 1893–96 (M.D. 1896, member Skull and Sceptre), interne Roosevelt Hospital, New York City, and special student College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1896–97; house surgeon St Joseph's Hospital, Yonkers, N Y., 1897–98; studied at University of Vienna and at various clinics in Berlin 1898–99; assistant Coombe Hospital, Dublin, a short time 1899; practiced medicine in New Haven 1899–1940; on New Haven Board of Health Commissioners 1901–12 (president 1905–10); a leader in group which helped establish Hospital of St. Raphael and member of the staff for many years; fellow Connecticut State Medical Society; member Association of Yale Alumni in Medicine, New Haven Medical Association, New Haven County Medical Association, American Medical Association, and St Mary's Church (Roman Catholic), New Haven.

Unmarried.

Death due to hypertensive heart disease Buried in St Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven Survived by four brothers, Frank G Maher, Frederick J Maher, Pierce M. Maher, all of New Haven, and Edward J Maher, '94 L, of Milford, Conn (died October 5, 1940) Two other brothers, Stephen J Maher, '87 M, and Augustin F Maher, '92 L, died in 1939 and 1935 respectively

Denis James Maloney, Ph.B. 1892.

Born January 11, 1869, in New Haven, Conn Died March 2, 1940, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Francis Maloney, a retail merchant in New Haven, son of John Maloney of County Leitrim, Ireland Mother, Margaret (Skehan)

Maloney, daughter of John and Margaret Skehan of Meriden, Conn Yale relatives include a brother, Frank A. Maloney, '90 S.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven. Civil engineering course; on

Class crew Freshman year, private Sheff Military Company.

Engaged in surveying and building construction with New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company 1892–95; chief engineer of school buildings, Department of Education, New Haven, since 1895, designed heating and ventilating systems for many schools and public buildings and had written treatises on this subject; treasurer Class of 1892 S from 1922 to 1940, secretary 1922–27, and member reunion and dinner committees; member Custodians and Engineers Association, Civil Service Employees Association, and St. Mary's Church (Roman Catholic), New Haven.

Married August 28, 1901, in New Haven, Amy, daughter of John and Margaret (English) Dunn. Children. Margaret Mary, the wife of Ralph Stuart Dial, '22, '25 M, and Francis Dunn (Ph B Providence Coll 1928; M D Jefferson Medical Coll 1932)

Death due to acute cardiac failure. Buried in St. Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife and children.

Charles Weiser, Ph.B. 1892.

Born April 16, 1871, in York, Pa. Died September 27, 1939, in New York City.

Father, Erastus Hay Weiser (B A. 1849). Mother, Anne (Franklin) Weiser Yale relatives include: William P Buel (B.A. 1826) and Frederick Buel (B A 1836) (great-uncles), and Horace S. Weiser, ex-1849 (uncle)

York Collegiate Institute Select course, historian; member Chi Phi and York Hall

Attended Yale School of Law 1892-94 (LL.B. 1894; on board Yale Law Journal, member Corbey Court), in law office of Martin & Smith, New York City, 1894-95 and managing clerk 1896-98; admitted to New York bar August, 1895, senior member law firm Weiser & Bridges, New York City, 1899-1907, practiced independently in New York City 1907-10, deputy clerk 1910-24, chief deputy clerk 1924-30, and clerk 1930-39 District Court of the United States for Southern District of New York, on general staff U S. Volunteers, Subsistence Corps; commissioned Captain July 16, 1898, assigned to hospital ship Missouri August 6 as commissary and acting assistant quartermaster and served in that capacity until mustered out of service May 12, 1899; in 1917 helped-organize Home Defense League, New York City, and on its reorganization into

Police Reserve commissioned Colonel, Third Regiment, and served until 1921; commander New York Commandery, Naval and Military Order of the Spanish-American War; member Class reunion committee, Republican County Committee of County of New York, and Aztec Club of 1847.

Married October 8, 1898, in New York City, Leila Dorothy, daughter of Andrew Lewis and Martha Robinson (Walton) Pitzer No children.

Death due to injuries received in a fall. Buried in York, Pa Survived by wife.

William Thomas Hildrup Howe, Ph.B. 1893.

Born October 1, 1868, in Leona, Pa Died August 19, 1939, in New York City.

Father, Charles LaFayette Howe (B.A. Wesleyan 1854, Ph D Syracuse Univ 1877), a clergyman; son of Artemus and Sophia (Wetherel) Howe of Barre, Mass. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Hildrup) Howe, daughter of Jesse and Sophia (French) Hildrup of Middletown, Conn

Hillhouse High School, New Haven, Conn Chemistry course, divided prize for excellence in all studies and awarded prizes for excellence in chemistry and German Freshman year; honorable mention in physics Freshman year and German Junior year; Commencement speaker

Attended Yale Graduate School 1893–96 (Ph D. 1896, assistant in chemistry 1893–94, instructor 1894–96, corresponding secretary Sigma Xi 1895–96), studied at Heidelberg University 1905, teacher Evansville, Ind, 1899–1903, associated with American Book Company since 1903 (successively field agent, assistant manager, and then manager Cincinnati Division; vice-president and director of the company, and president 1931–39), resided at his estate "Freelands" in Mentor, Ky, commuting to his offices in New York City and Cincinnati; a book collector, his library contained more than five thousand manuscripts and many first editions of the works of English and American writers of the nineteenth century, member Methodist church.

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Cortland (NY) Rural Cemetery Survived by a sister, Mrs Sterling D Cheney of Cortland, and a brother, Olin R. Howe (BA Syracuse Univ. 1882) of West Somerville, Mass.

In 1934 Mr Howe gave to the University Library several items, including Hopkinson's A Pretty Story (1774), a New England Primer of 1798, an autograph letter of General Israel Putnam, and thirty-seven documents and letters of Colonel John Trumbull.

Burton Leonard Lawton, Ph.B. 1893.

Born December 9, 1872, in Meriden, Conn. Died May 17, 1940, in Meriden, Conn

Father, Lyman Treadway Lawton, a manufacturer in Meriden, president The American Automatic Lighting Company; son of Stephen and Caroline (Treadway) Lawton of New Haven, Conn. Mother, Harriet Love (Benham) Lawton, daughter of Merwin and Abigail (Sperry) Benham of Hamden, Conn

Meriden High School Mechanical engineering course.

Associated with his father 1893–95, independently engaged in business since 1895 as manufacturer of telephones, electrical supplies, and (since 1904) automobile accessories, vice-president and treasurer Connecticut Telephone & Electric Corporation, Meriden, 1903–24; treasurer Connecticut Shock Absorber Company 1894–1924; trustee Meriden Trust & Safe Deposit Company since 1924 (vice-president 1931–40, member executive committee 1932–40), director Meriden National Bank 1916–40 (vice-president, president, and chairman of the board since 1936), trustee The Curtis Home 1917–40 (vice-president 1929–40); on National Council Young Men's Christian Association 1928, member town school committee 1912–19 (chairman 1917–19), Connecticut Society Sons of the Revolution, Yale Engineering Association, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, and St Andrew's Church (Episcopal), Meriden (vestryman since 1916)

Married November 18, 1897, in East Haddam, Conn, Grace Warner, daughter of Norman Sweet and Mary Green (Warner) Boardman Children Mary Boardman, the wife of Curtiss Sherman Johnson (B S. Wesleyan Univ 1921), and Dorothy (B.S. Russell Sage Coll 1923), the wife of Spencer Hotchkiss Miller, '22

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident Buried in Walnut Grove Cemetery, Meriden Survived by wife, daughters, four grandchildren, three sisters, Mrs Minnie L Rogers and Mrs Mabel L Montgomery, both of Meriden, and Mrs Mildred L Miller of Hartford, and a brother, Dr Franklin Lyman Lawton, '90 S

William McKell, Ph.B. 1893.

Born March 5, 1871, in Chillicothe, Ohio Died August 24, 1939, in Chillicothe, Ohio.

Father, Thomas Gaylord McKell (Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst ex-1869), president McKell Coal and Coke Company, Glen Jean, W Va, and Savings Bank Company of Chillicothe, Central National Bank, and

Chillicothe Gas & Water Company; son of William and Phebe (Cook) McKell of Chillicothe Mother, Jean (Dun) McKell, daughter of John Dun (Univ. of Glasgow) and Amanda Malvina (Long) Dun of Chillicothe Yale relatives include: Joseph S McKell, '68 S (uncle), John D McKell, '95 (brother), and William Scott McKell, ex-'05 S (cousin)

Lawrenceville School and Phillips-Andover Mechanical engineering course; member Lawrenceville Club, and York Hall and Chi Phi

Attended Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1895–97, owned and operated some 22,000 acres of coal lands in Fayette and Raleigh counties, W Va; treasurer McKell Coal and Coke Company 1893–1916, president and general manager Kanawha, Glen Jean & Eastern Railroad Company 1905–39; president Bank of Glen Jean 1909–39, on Republican State Executive Committee for West Virginia 1924, West Virginia State Chairman, Atlantic Division, Yale Endowment Campaign 1926, resided in Glen Jean until time of death, director Savings Bank Company, Chillicothe, 1931–33, and Chillicothe Water Company 1931–35, member Yale Engineering Association.

Unmarried

Death due to acute nephritis, following a long, chronic case of hypertension Buried in Grandview Cemetery, Chillicothe Survived by no immediate relatives.

Herbert Conyngham, Ph.B. 1895.

Born January 26, 1874, in Wilkes-Barre, Pa Died January 26, 1940, in New York City

Father, Charles Miner Conyngham (B A Trinity Coll 1859), president West End Coal Company, Wilkes-Barre, Major, Company A, 143d Pennsylvania Volunteer Infantry, during Civil War; son of John Nesbitt and Ruth Ann (Butler) Conyngham of Wilkes-Barre Mother, Helen Hunter (Turner) Conyngham, daughter of William Wolcott Turner (B.A 1819) and Maria Lucinda (Peaslee) Turner. Yale relatives include John Butler Conyngham (B A 1846), Charles P Turner (B A 1846), and Thomas D Conyngham (B A 1850) (uncles), John N Conyngham, ex-'88 S, and William H Conyngham, '89 S (cousins), Charles Conyngham Gifford, '17 S, John A Gifford, '22, and Donald S Gifford, '26 S (nephews), Gifford Phillips, '42 (great-nephew); and William Lord Conyngham, 2d, '42 (first cousin once removed)

Belmont (Mass) School, and Harry Hıllman School, Wılkes-Barre Electrical engineering course; member University Club, and St. Anthony and Delta Psi.

Travelled in Europe and Africa 1895-96; associated with Hazard Manufacturing Company, Wilkes-Barre (sales manager insulating de-

partment 1899–1908); because of ill-health not actively engaged in business for several years; travelled abroad and in the United States; became junior partner Cassedy & Conyngham, real-estate brokers, Wilkes-Barre, about 1910; in recent years New York City was principal residence, during World War served with American Red Cross Hospital Service, Camp Meade; member Yale Engineering Association and St Stephen's Church (Episcopal), Wilkes-Barre.

Married April 19, 1924, in East Orange, N J., Eleanor Herrick Brucker, daughter of Harold Herrick. No children Mr. and Mrs. Conyngham

were divorced in 1928

Death due to coronary embolism Buried in Hollenback Cemetery, Wilkes-Barre Survived by no immediate relatives

Laurence [Nelson] DeGolyer, Ph.B. 1895.

Born June 2, 1874, in Chicago, Ill. Died June 2, 1940, in Evanston, Ill

Father, Nelson DeGolyer, a grain broker in Chicago; son of Anthony and Mary DeGolyer of Bachelorsville, N Y Mother, Laura (DeGolyer) DeGolyer, daughter of David Lee and Harriet (Grow) DeGolyer of Chicago.

Northwestern University Preparatory School, Evanston. Select course, Class deacon Freshman and Junior years; on graduation committee, member The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Associated with his father 1895–97; with Edward L Brewster & Company, bankers and brokers, Chicago, 1897–1904; formed stock exchange firm of Chapman, DeGolyer & Company in 1904 and member of firm until 1907, with William H Colvin & Company, stock brokers, Chicago, 1907–09, president J. M Ward Building Company, Battle Creek, Mich., 1906–37, treasurer 1906–15, president 1915–20, and a director Ward Lumber Company, Chicago, director of sales General Refrigeration Sales Company, Beloit, Wis, 1933; salesman Air Conditioning Corporation, Chicago, since 1935, director American Lumber Company, member First Congregational Church, Evanston

Married September 27, 1900, in Evanston, Anabel Mason, daughter of Charles Albert and Belle (Hinman) Ward Daughter Marie, the wife of Everett Vance Clark (B A Dartmouth 1921)

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Oak Hill Cemetery, Battle Creek, Mich Survived by wife, daughter, two grandchildren, and two brothers, Robert S DeGolyer, ex-'97 S, and Donald L DeGolyer, ex-'00 S

\$

Willis Mullings Hall, Ph.B. 1895.

Born April 23, 1873, in Waterbury, Conn. Died February 17, 1940, in Litchfield, Conn

Father, Gardiner Moss Hall, president Hall & Upson Ice Company, Waterbury; son of Charles and Amy (Moss) Hall of Cheshire, Conn. Mother, Georgianna Elizabeth (Mullings) Hall, daughter of John and Elizabeth (Brooks) Mullings of Waterbury.

Waterbury High School Electrical engineering course, member York Hall and Chi Phi

Engaged in mechanical and electrical engineering, Waterbury, 1895–1940, president Hall & Upson Ice Company about twenty-five years; with Hugh L Thompson Engineering Company 1897–1909, independently engaged as consulting engineer 1909–12; consulting engineer Homer D Bronson Company, Beacon Falls, Conn, 1911–40 (vice-president and director since 1915), plant engineer Plume & Atwood Manufacturing Company, Waterbury and Thomaston, 1912–40 (director 1917–40); resided in Litchfield since 1925, member Yale Engineering Association, Litchfield Historical Society, Mattatuck Historical Society, American Philatelic Association, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Collectors Club, New York, and Masonic order

Married April 23, 1902, in New Orleans, La, Alice Morris, daughter of Richard Tunstall and Alice (Morris) Buckner No children.

Death due to acute dilatation of the heart. Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Waterbury Survived by wife and a sister, Miss Elizabeth Amy Hall of Litchfield.

Philip Tracy Stillman, Ph.B. 1895.

Born August 13, 1873, in Brooklyn, NY. Died October 15, 1939, in New York City

Father, Franklin W. Stillman, president F. W. Stillman Company, insurance brokers, New York City; son of Alfred and Elizabeth (Greenough) Stillman of New York City Mother, Olive C (Tracy) Stillman Yale relatives include George S. Stillman, '01, Wilhelmus M Stillman, '02 S, Walter N Stillman, '05, and J Frederick Stillman, '15 (cousins)

St Paul's School Entered Sheffield Sceintific School in 1891, joined Class of 1895 S, at beginning of Junior year, mechanical engineering course; on Class football team and substitute University Football Team Freshman year, member University Football Team three years and Yale Athletic Team Freshman and Junior years, Class supper and dance com-

ŗ

mittees Senior year; member Renaissance, St Paul's School, and University clubs, and St Anthony and Delta Psi

Estimating engineer Otis Elevator Company, New York City, 1895–1907, salesman Corbin Motor Vehicle Corporation, New York City, 1907–09, vice-president F. W Stillman Company, 1909–24, president 1924–39, and a director, Captain, Troop G, 101st Cavalry, New York National Guard, member Yale Engineering Association and Association of Ex-Members of Squadron A, Inc.

Married October 24, 1934, in Port Chester, NY, Helen Piffard Oakes Packard, daughter of Henry Granger Piffard, LL.D (BA New York Univ 1863, MD Columbia 1864) and Helen Hart (Strong) Piffard

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Elizabeth, N J Survived by wife, two sisters, the Misses Florence and Marjorie Waterbury Stillman of New York City, a stepdaughter, Mrs Muriel Oakes Ames of Beverly Hills, Calif, and a stepson, Malcolm Oakes, '20 S

Wıllıam Hoag Van Slyke, Ph.B. 1895.

Born January 3, 1873, in Albany, N.Y. Died September 13, 1939, in Albany, NY.

Father, George Washington Van Slyke, senior partner G W Van Slyke & Horton, cigar manufacturers, Albany; son of Peter Baltice and Sarah (Covert) Van Slyke of New Baltimore, N.Y. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Hoag) Van Slyke; daughter of Titus and Margaret (Bailey) Hoag of Albany

Albany Academy Select course, member Theta Delta Chi

Associated with G W Van Slyke & Horton, Albany and Kingston, N Y, 1895 until retirement in 1936 (vice-president and a director 1907–36), served in Company A, 10th Battalion, New York National Guard, 1896–1901, member First Church in Albany (Dutch Reformed)

Married January 10, 1924, in Kingston, Dorothy Webster, daughter of John Davis and Alberta Lewis (Benedict) Schoonmaker, and sister of John Davis Schoonmaker, Jr , '24 S No children

Death due to asthma Buried in Albany Rural Cemetery Survived by wife, and a brother, George W Van Slyke, '95 S.

George Waller Hawley, Ph.B. 1896.

Born July 24, 1874, in Bridgeport, Conn. Died January 1, 1940, in Westport, Conn.

Father, Alexander Hawley, treasurer Bridgeport Savings Bank; son of Bronson and Rebecca (Burr) Hawley of Bridgeport Mother, Susan

Hubbell (Waller) Hawley; daughter of George Burton and Susan (Hubbell) Waller of Bridgeport Yale relatives include. Samuel M Hawley, '99, and Bronson Hawley, ex-'03 (brothers), and Samuel W Hawley, '31 (nephew).

Bridgeport High School and St. Paul's School, Concord, N H Biology course; cup man; vice-president St Paul's School Club Senior year,

member University Club, and St. Anthony and Delta Psi

Attended Cornell University Medical College 1898–99 (MD 1899). interne Bellevue Hospital, New York City, 1900-02, studied in Vienna six months in 1902; practiced medicine and surgery Seattle, Wash, 1902-08, orthopedic surgeon Bridgeport 1908 until retirement from active practice 1930 because of ill-health, had occupied himself with study and research since 1930; lecturer on fractures Cornell University Medical College 1919–26, assistant professor of traumatic surgery New York Post-Graduate Medical School and Hospital 1921-23 and 1924-31, assistant surgeon Hospital for Ruptured and Crippled, New York City, 1908-21 (clinical assistant); attending surgeon Bridgeport Hospital 1909-34 and St Vincent's Hospital, Bridgeport, 1910-17, director Bridgeport City Dispensary, consulting surgeon Greenwich and Milford hospitals and Griffin Hospital, Derby, Conn, surgeon American Ambulance No 2, Jully, France, three months 1916, enlisted July 14, 1917, commissioned Captain, Medical Corps, May 1, 1917, promoted to Major May 7, 1918, and Lieutenant-Colonel November 11, 1918, assigned to New York Hospital Unit July 14, 1917, and served overseas with this unit (which became Base Hospital No. 9) from August 7, 1917, to January 28, 1919, commanding officer June 18, 1918-January 12, 1919, discharged August 8, 1919, made Officier d'Académie L'École des Beaux-Arts by French government November, 1919, inventor Hawley fracture table, the original model of which is in the Smithsonian Institute, fellow American College of Surgeons and American Orthopedic Association, honorary member French Academy of Medicine; member Bridgeport Medical Society, Fairfield County Medical Society, Connecticut State Medical Society, New England Surgical Society, New York Academy of Medicine, Pan American Medical Association, American Medical Association, and United Church (Congregational), Bridgeport

Married September 15, 1902, in Hammond, Ind, Anne Paine, daughter of Thomas Power and Helen (Hill) Murray Children Murray, and

Nancy, the wife of Boris Maxmillian Lang

Death due to a hemorrhage Buried in Mountain Grove Cemetery, Bridgeport Survived by wife, children, and three grandchildren

Fred A. Holcomb, Ph.B. 1896.

Born June 29, 1873, in New Haven, Conn. Died February 28, 1940, in New Haven, Conn

Father, George Frederick Holcomb, member firm Holcomb Brothers & Company (later New Haven Carriage Company), carriage woodwork, New Haven, mayor of New Haven 1885–87; son of Frederick A. and Mary (Rogers) Holcomb of Branford, Conn. Mother, Ellen (Beach) Holcomb, daughter of Thadeous and Mary (Shipman) Beach of Chester, Conn Yale relatives include a cousin, Harry C. Holcomb, '95 S.

Hillhouse High School Electrical engineering course; vice-president

Hillhouse High School Club Senior year.

Associated with New Haven Carriage Company 1896–1909; general manager Samuel K. Page, carriage, coach, and automobile body manufacturer, New Haven, 1909–15, with Winchester Repeating Arms Company 1915–17, manager Waterbury, Conn, branch George B. Wuestefeld Company, motor car distributors, 1917–23; salesman in New Haven Timken Silent Automatic Company of Detroit; salesman Connecticut Heat and Fuel Company, New Haven, 1938–40; member St. Thomas' Church (Episcopal), New Haven

Married October 28, 1908, in New Haven, Edith Maria Hart (Smith Coll ex-'96), daughter of Charles Edgar and Isabella Francis (Burns) Hart, and sister of William A. Hart, '97. No children.

Death due to angina pectoris. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife.

Joseph Speidel, Ph.B. 1896.

Born March 17, 1876, in Wheeling, W.Va Died May 23, 1940, at Elm Grove, W.Va.

Father, Joseph Speidel, owner Joseph Speidel Grocery Company, Wheeling, son of Benedict and Veronica (Hebrank) Speidel of Wheeling Mother, Lydia Hart (Wheat) Speidel, daughter of Jesse Wheat of Wheeling Yale relatives include a nephew, Jess W Speidel, Jr, ex-'34.

Linsly Institute, Wheeling, and Phillips-Andover. Select course; coxswain Class crew Freshman year, member Andover Club

Attended University of Bonn for six months following graduation; associated in business with his father 1897–1904, with Ward-Corby Company (later Ward Baking Company), Pittsburgh and Boston, 1904–1924, since 1912 operated Jobetty Farm, Elm Grove, a model dairy farm run by scientific methods and noted for its prize Guernsey cattle; a

pioneer promoter of Palm Beach, Fla, and for many years resided there winters, member St. Matthew's Church (Episcopal), Wheeling

Married April 30, 1908, in Wheeling, Elizabeth McLure (B.A. Vassar 1906), daughter of McBurney Skuyt and Jane Lee (Stamp) McLure Son Joseph, 3d (Yale 1944) Mrs. Speidel died October 8, 1933

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Greenwood Cemetery, Wheeling Survived by son, a sister, Mrs. Eliza S Grant of Atlantic City, N J, and a brother, Jess W. Speidel, '00 S.

Augustus Porter Thompson, Ph.B. 1896.

Born December 29, 1873, in Honesdale, Pa Died November 7, 1939, in Boston, Mass.

Father, Andrew Thompson, a retired shoe manufacturer of Honesdale, president Honesdale National Bank, son of Augustus Porter and Clara A. (Dodge) Thompson of Port Jervis, N.Y. Mother, Frances (Torrey) Thompson; daughter of John and Rebecca (Fuller) Torrey of Honesdale. Yale relatives include William J. Torrey, '99, and Douglas J Torrey, '07 (cousins); David M. Thompson, '38 S, Robert T Thompson, ex-'40 S., and Donald G. Thompson, '44 (nephews).

Phillips-Andover. Select course, Class deacon Junior and Senior years; on executive committee Sheff Debating Club; member Class Day committee, Andover Club, and St. Anthony and Delta Psi.

In business with his father in Honesdale; associated with George E. Kunhardt Corporation, manufacturers of woolens and worsteds, Lawrence, Mass, 1907–17 (member of firm 1913–17); vice-president 1914–32 and director Merrimac Paper Company, Lawrence, Mass.; director Merrimack Mutual Fire Insurance Company and Cambridge Mutual Fire Insurance Company 1913–39; created and planned the Moncrieff Cochran Bird Sanctuary at Phillips-Andover and warden since 1929; treasurer Andover Home for Aged People 1924–29, served overseas with American Red Cross (assimilated rank of captain) June, 1918–February, 1919, on duty with evacuation hospitals in Toul Sector; member Society of Mayflower Descendants, South Church (Congregational), Andover, and clerk South Parish 1920–29

Married June 6, 1901, in Williamsport, Pa, Georgia E, daughter of Edwin Atwood and Emily P. (Olmsted) Rowley Children Emily Rowley, Frances Torrey, the wife of Allan Vanderhoef Heely, '19, and Augustus Porter, 3d (died July 15, 1929).

Death due to bronchopneumonia Buried in Glen Dyberry Cemetery, Honesdale Survived by wife, daughters, and a brother, Charles D. Thompson, '08 S.

Ernest Stiles Vinten, Ph.B. 1896.

Born May 3, 1872, in New Haven, Conn Died April 13, 1940, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Frederick Charles Vinten, a carriage maker in New Haven; son of John and Sarah Vinten of England. Mother, Sarah Maria (Stiles) Vinten, daughter of Zophar and Caroline (Kelsey) Stiles of North Haven, Conn Yale relatives include. Isaac Stiles (B.A. 1722) (great-great-great-grandfather), and Ezra Stiles (B.A. 1746, president of Yale 1778–1795) (great-great-great-uncle).

Hillhouse High School, New Haven, and private tutor. Electrical

engineering course, Senior honors.

Electrical testing engineer and draftsman Walker Company, electric machinery manufacturers, New Haven, 1896–98; draftsman John Adt & Son, New Haven, a short time 1898; associated with Sargent & Company since 1898 (foreman knob room 1898–1904, departmental head 1904–11, cost analyst 1911–14, and mechanical and industrial engineer in engineering section of superintendent's office 1914–40); associate member American Institute of Electrical Engineers, member Yale Engineering Association, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, and Humphrey Street Church (Congregational), New Haven (clerk 1914–16, auditor 1924–26).

Married December 4, 1916, in North Haven, Alice May, daughter of Frederick Hobart and Ellen Clarissa (Bishop) Stiles. No children. Mrs. Vinten died April 28, 1935

Death due to myocarditis and bronchopneumonia. Buried in Center Cemetery, North Haven Survived by no immediate relatives.

Nelson Ludington Barnes, Ph.B. 1897.

Born May 30, 1873, in Chicago, Ill. Died October 20, 1939, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, Charles J Barnes, associated with publishing firm of A. S. Barnes & Company, Chicago; son of Jeremiah Root Barnes (B A. 1834) and Catherine (Platt) Barnes Mother, Mary (Ludington) Barnes

Phillips-Andover Select course; on board Yale Courant Junior and Senior years; Class Book historian; member Andover, Chicago, and University clubs.

Looked after mining properties in Denver, Colo, 1897–1900; associated with Tracy & Company, brokers, Chicago, 1900–04 (bond salesman 1900–02, manager bond department 1902–04), with firm of Babcock [Orville E, '94 S], Rushton & Company, brokers in Chicago and New York City, since 1904 (general partner 1928–39); president Globe Oil

Company, Tulsa, Okla., 1918–, vice-president and director Shirley Hill Coal Company; became treasurer and director Escanaba & Lake Superior Railroad Company 1914, trustee Barnes & Young, real-estate dealers, Chicago; director I Stephenson Company and N Ludington Company; vice-president Class of 1897 S at time of death; life member Art Institute of Chicago; member Yale Engineering Association and Field Museum of Natural History (Chicago).

Married August 19, 1905, Anna Ogden, daughter of Wallace Barker Children: Mary Ludington, the wife of Louis Courtenay Sudler, '25;

John Barker, ex-'32 S, and Nelson Ludington, Jr, '35

Death due to duodenal ulcer Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago Survived by wife, children, and one grandchild.

Clifford Hale Buckingham, Ph.B. 1897.

Born January 1, 1876, in Chicago, Ill Died January 13, 1940, in Berkeley, Calif.

Father, John Buckingham, part owner of grain elevators in Chicago and other cities; son of Ebenezer and Eunice (Hale) Buckingham of Putnam, Ohio. Mother, Kate Moseley (Buck) Buckingham; daughter of Winthrop and Eunice (Moseley) Buck of Wethersfield, Conn Yale relatives include George S Buck, '96 (cousin); Winthrop Buckingham, '20, Otis Buckingham, '23, and John H Buckingham, '30 (nephews).

Harvard School, Chicago. Mechanical engineering course, member

Hartford Club, and St Elmo and Delta Phi

Travelled around the world 1897–98; in department of motive power Chicago & North Western Railway, Chicago, 1898–1900, and New York Central Railroad Company, New York City, 1900–06, spent most of 1906–15 in travel, engaged in real-estate and insurance business, Pittsfield, Mass., 1915 until retirement in 1923; resided in California since retirement and in Berkeley since 1935.

Married January 11, 1906, in Orange, N J, Alice Clinton, daughter of Albridge Clinton and Mary Florence (Wood) Smith Daughter Flor-

ence, the wife of Douglas Hull McLellan.

Death due to heart failure. Survived by wife, daughter, and a grand-son

Samuel Eugene Hoyt, Ph.B. 1897.

Born December 17, 1875, in New Haven, Conn Died October 9, 1939, in Flushing, NY.

Father, Nehemiah Hardy Hoyt, wholesale provision dealer in New Haven, owner Hoyt Beef & Produce Company; former police com-

missioner of New Haven; son of Nehemiah Hardy and Lucy (Baldwin) Hoyt of New Haven. Mother, Emma J (Gardner) Hoyt; daughter of William Pilcher and Grace Azuba (Parmelee) Gardner of New Haven. Yale relatives include Charles W. Hoyt, '94 S (brother); Winthrop Hoyt, '22, and Everett W. Hoyt, '27 (nephews).

Hillhouse High School. Select course, member Hillhouse High School

and University clubs, and Franklin Hall and Theta X1.

Attended Yale School of Law 1897-99 (LL.B 1899, manager Law School football and baseball teams; contributed to Yale Shingle; member Buckland Debating Club and Kent Club); admitted to bar 1899 and had since practiced law in New Haven (member Hoyt, Sweedler [Irving, '27] & Hoyt 1935-38 and Hoyt & Hoyt 1938-39); assistant city attorney 1905-08 and city attorney 1908-11; judge city court 1911-13 and 1917-23, public defender Superior Court in New Haven 1924–27; state's attorney and counsel for New Haven County 1927-39; represented New Haven in Connecticut General Assembly 1925 and 1927, selectman New Haven one term; chairman convention to elect delegates to Connecticut State Convention 1928, permanent chairman New Haven Probate District Republican Convention 1934, member board of managers New Haven Boys' Club and Friends of Boys 1936-39, chairman commission appointed in 1928 to handle amateur athletics until reorganization of Connecticut Association of the Amateur Athletic Union of the United States, president Connecticut Association 1929–34 and National Amateur Athletic Union 1937–39, member New York World's Fair Sports Advisory Committee 1938; officiated for many years at Yale swimming and track meets; secretary Class of 1897 S since 1917 and chairman reunion committee many years; secretary Yale Association of Class Secretaries and representative on Alumni Board 1925-26; on committee to administer "1899 Law School Scholarship Fund"; member 1899 L reunion committees (chairman 1924); vice-president 1932-34 and president 1934-36 New Haven County Bar Association, active member 2d Company, Governor's Foot Guard 1907-33 (judge advocate with rank of captain 1926-37), member Connecticut State and American Bar associations, and Howard Avenue Church (Congregational), New Haven.

Married June 14, 1900, in South Norwalk, Conn, Grace, daughter of Elmore David and Mary Belle (Swords) Alvord. Children Samuel Eugene, Jr, '26 S, Spencer Steele, '27, '35 L., and Alvord (B A Lehigh Univ 1932)

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, sons, and a grand-daughter

Edwin Joseph Grant, Ph.B. 1899.

Born January 14, 1879, in Franklin, Pa. Died January 16, 1940, in Beverly Hills, Calif

Father, Joseph Wadsworth Grant, president Franklin Natural Gas Company and Franklin Pipe Company, private Company D, 22d Consecticut Volunteers, 1862–63; son of David Wadsworth and Alice Dudey (Denison) Grant of Bloomfield, Conn Mother, Myra Bryan (Fay) Grant, daughter of Henry Tudor and Maryett (Sanford) Fay of Columbus, Ohio Yale relatives include a brother, Henry F Grant, '05 S

Berkeley School, New York City. Mechanical engineering course; ionorable mention in physics Freshman year, two-year honors for excelence in all studies Senior year; member Apollo Banjo Club Senior year

Weigher for Fay Fruit Company, Redlands, Calif, 1899–1900 and oreman 1901, inspector packing houses Fay Fruit Company and Caliornia Citrus Union 1901–05; engaged in real-estate business, Los Angeles, 1905–07, associated with Algoma Lumber Company, Los Angeles, ince 1905 (secretary and manager 1907–29, president and manager 929–40), vice-president Lapp-Gifford Company, dealers in crude and oad oil, Los Angeles, 1910, Fay Securities Company 1923–36 (chairman of the board 1929–36), and Keystone Building & Loan Association, Los angeles, 1927–29, held patents on various devices used in the lumber and il industries, director Bayly, Martin & Fay, Inc; member Yale Ennineering Association.

Married February 3, 1909, in Pasadena, Calif, Helen Kent, daughter of rank Whitney and Katherine Sinclair (Hill) Emery Children Joseph Imery (B A Univ. of California 1935), Frank Emery (B A Univ. of California 1937), Robert Emery (Univ. of California 1944), Michael Imery, and Peter.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Flendale, Calif. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Mrs Egmont Sidney ohl of Redlands, and a brother, Denison Wadsworth Grant (Dartmouth x-'15) of Franklin, Pa.

John Milton Henderson, Ph.B. 1899.

Born February 12, 1873, in Middletown, Conn. Died May 27, 1940, in Rome, NY.

Father, John Henderson, founder Henderson Brothers, manufacturers f machinery, Waterbury; son of John Henderson, Sr, and Elizabeth Hunter) Henderson of Waterbury. Mother, Margaret (Murray) Hen-

derson, daughter of Gilbert and Jeanette (Murray) Murray of Norwich Conn

Private tutor Mechanical engineering course; two-year honors fo excellence in all studies Senior year

In draughting room Ansonia (Conn) Brass & Copper Company 1899 associated successively with Henderson Brothers (president 1928–40) The American Ring Company, Blake & Johnson Company, and Water bury Brass Company 1899–1907, with Rome Division, Revere Copper & Brass, Inc., since 1907 (engineer 1907, chief engineer 1914–38, consulting engineer 1938–40), an organizer College Men's Club, Rome, 1922, mem ber Yale Engineering Association, Rome Historical Society, Masonio order, and First Presbyterian Church, Rome (elder 1920–31; chairmai pulpit committee 1940)

Married November 14, 1911, in Moira, NY., Charlotte Mae, daughte of Martin Van Buren and Nancy Ann (McElwain) Dunn. Son John

Cole (B S Hamilton Coll 1936)

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Old Pine Grove Cemetery Waterbury Survived by wife, son, and a brother, Gilbert Murray Henderson of Waterbury Another brother, Arthur Henderson, '02 L died in 1904.

Edwyn de Normandie Sands, Ph.B. 1900.

Born March 19, 1877, in New York City. Died August 4, 1939, in Quogue, NY

Father, Charles Edwyn Sands; son of Ferdinand and Susan (Bard Sands of New York City Mother, Letitia (Campbell) Sands; daughter o John and Sarah P. (Smith) Campbell.

St Mark's School and private tutor Affiliated with Class of '99 S with which he entered college. Member University, Renaissance and St Mark's clubs, and St Anthony and Delta Psi.

Treasurer Moyea Automobile Company, New York City, 1902, asso ciated successively with LaFrance Fire Engine Company, Bliss Torpedo Company, Brooklyn, NY, and Crane Motor Company

Unmarried

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Kensico Cemetery, Valhalla, N Y Survived by a sister, Mrs Lee Delafield, and a brother, John Augustine Sands, both of New York City

Raynham Townshend, Ph.B. 1900.

Born July 10, 1878, in New Haven, Conn. Died January 31, 1940, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Charles Hervey Townshend, a retired sea captain, trustee Jnion Trust Company, New Haven; author and genealogist, son of Villiam Kneeland and Eliza Ann (Mulford) Townsend of New Haven 10ther, Mary Ann (Hotchkiss) Townshend; daughter of Henry and lizabeth Daggett (Prescott) Hotchkiss of New Haven Yale relatives iclude. Hervey Mulford (B.A. 1794) (great-grandfather); Isaac H'ownsend (B.A. 1822) (great-uncle); T. Beers Townsend (M.D. 1858) incle); William K. Townsend, '71, James M. Townsend, '74, and H tuart Hotchkiss, '00 S. (cousins)

Hopkins Grammar School and Taft School Biology course, on Freshian Football Team and vice-president Freshman Football Club; member Iniversity Football Team Junior year; vice-president University Baseball ssociation Senior year; Senior Dance Committee; member Hopkins rammar School Club (treasurer Junior year, vice-president Senior ear), Taft School Club (president Senior year), Yale Corinthian Yacht

lub, and St. Anthony and Delta Psi.

Travelled abroad and in United States 1900-01; attended College of hysicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1901-05 (M.D. 1905), terne Roosevelt Hospital 1906-08; house officer Sloane Maternity ospital three months 1908; practiced medicine and surgery in New aven since 1908; clinical assistant in surgery, Yale University, 1908-10, sistant in the anatomical laboratory 1908-10 and lecturer in anatomy chool of the Fine Arts 1910–28, assistant attending surgeon New Haven ospital, attending surgeon Hospital of St. Raphael; consulting surgeon hildren's Center of the New Haven Orphan Asylum, Grace Hospital, id Milford (Conn.) Hospital; staff surgeon International Grenfell Assoation, St Anthony, Newfoundland, June-September, 1933; examiner onnecticut General Life Insurance Company, Travelers Life Insurance ompany, and Berkshire Insurance Company, seaman Connecticut aval Militia, May 5, 1899-1901, commissioned Assistant Surgeon with nk of Ensign August 6, 1908, promoted Lieutenant (1 g) October, 100, and Chief Surgeon (with rank of Lieutenant) 1913, resigned June, 113; recalled to service April 8, 1917, and commissioned Lieutenant g), Medical Corps, US Naval Reserve Force, on that date, ordered active duty April 14, 1917, as medical officer Section 1, 3d Naval Disct, promoted to Lieutenant, Past Assistant Surgeon, March 4, 1918, on mporary duty at Ellis Island until release from active service March 14, 19; Surgeon (with rank of Major), US Public Health Service, Nomber 26, 1919; attached to Hospital No 16, Allingtown, as special

consultant in surgery 1919–21, Surgeon, Headquarters Staff, 5th Battalion, Connecticut Naval Militia, from its organization until 1932 Lieutenant Commander, U.S. Naval Reserve Force, retired, since 1932 vice-president Mory's Association 1917–32; chairman Class reunion committee for twenty years, on Connecticut governing committee Gorgas Memorial Institute; commodore Watch Hill (R.I.) Yacht Club 1937–38, first vice-commander American Legion Post 47 from 1920 to 1921, fellow American College of Surgeons; member Board of Fire Surgeons, New Haven Fire Department (president 1921–28), New Haven County Medical Society, New Haven Medical Association (president 1921), Connecticut State Medical Society, American Medical Association, Masonic order, and Center Church (Congregational), New Haven

Married June 3, 1908, in Westchester, NY, Juliet Stanton, daughter of George Augustus Adee (BA. 1867) and Adelaide Palmer (Stanton) Adee and sister of George Townsend Adee, '95, and Charles Stanton Adee, ex-'97 Children Raynham, Jr., '34, and Juliet.

Death due to congestive heart failure Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, children, and a brother, Henry H Townshend, '97

Thomas Atterbury McGinley, Ph.B. 1901.

Born July 18, 1880, in Pittsburgh, Pa. Died April 13, 1940, in Pittsburgh, Pa

Father, John Rainey McGinley of Pittsburgh and New York City president Duff Manufacturing Company, Pittsburgh; an organizer and director for many years of Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Company; son of John and Mary Logan (Rainey) McGinley of Cresson Springs, Pa., and New Alexandria, Pa Mother, Sarah Jane (Atterbury) McGinley; daughter of Thomas Bakewell and Sarah (Montgomery) Atterbury of Pittsburgh.

Shady Side Academy, Pittsburgh, and Lawrenceville (N J.) School Select course, on Apollo Banjo Club Freshman and Junior years; chairman Class Day historians and on Class supper committee Senior year member Shady Side Academy, Lawrenceville, Pittsburgh, and Renaissance clubs, University Club, and The Cloister and Book and Snake

Associated with Duff Manufacturing Company and its successor the Duff-Norton Manufacturing Company, makers of industrial lifting jacks, 1901–40 (vice-president, and general manager until 1929, president and chairman of the board of directors since 1929); treasurer Eaglice Corporation, Pittsburgh; director Westinghouse Air Brake Company Union Switch & Signal Company, Pittsburgh Screw & Bolt Corporation, Western Allegheny Railroad, Fidelity Trust Company, Woods Rur

pettlement Association, and Allegheny General Hospital, district manager, New York District, Army Aircraft Production Service, September-December, 1918, resided in Sewickley Heights, Pa (justice of the peace 924–40, police commissioner 1929–35, and burgess of the borough 935–40); patron of police marksmanship and each Columbus Day for past fifteen years sponsored competitive revolver matches at his estate 'Oak Knoll' for outstanding police teams of the country; honorary heriff Allegheny County and honorary member Pittsburgh Police Department; broadcast a series of recitals on his organ over the facilities of he National Broadcasting Company 1937, on Class employment committee and Class reunion committees; member St Nicholas Society of he City of New York, New England Society in the City of New York, society of Colonial Wars, Yale Engineering Association, National Rifle Association, and First Presbyterian Church, Pittsburgh.

Married (1) September 15, 1906, in Cleveland, Ohio, Gertrude, daugher of Liberty Emery Holden (B A Univ of Michigan 1858, M A 1861) and Delia Elizabeth (Bulkley) Holden Children John Rainey, 2d (B A. Harvard 1931); Elizabeth Bulkeley, the wife of Richard Borden (B S Harvard 1933), and Gertrude Holden, the wife of Peter Jay (B A Harvard 1936). Mr and Mrs McGinley were divorced in 1924 Married (2) November 22, 1924, in Pittsburgh, Estelle Schnabel Floyd, daughter of Gustavus Adolphus and Elizabeth (Woods) Schnabel No children

Death followed an operation Buried in Homewood Cemetery, Pittsburgh. Survived by wife, children, mother, four grandchildren, two tepgrandchildren, four sisters, Mrs Cyrus R Miller of Sewickley, Mrs. Charles Dana Draper of New York City, Mrs McGinley Mackie of Princeton, NJ, and Mrs Pierpont Langley Stackpole of Boston, Mass, stepdaughter, Mary Elizabeth Floyd Brown, the wife of Walter Nahaniel Brown (B A. Princeton 1924), and a stepson, Walter I Floyd, 12-37.

Olin Lewis Sikes, Ph.B. 1901.

Born November 9, 1875, in Suffield, Conn. Died August 31, 1939, in San Francisco, Calif.

Father, Zenas Lewis Sikes, a farmer in Suffield, son of Lewis Zenas and Margaret (Stebbins) Sikes of Suffield. Mother, Emma Caroline (Harrion) Sikes; daughter of William Robinson and Susan Lydia (Kasson) Harrison of Bethlehem, Conn. Yale relatives include: Wallace K Harison, '74, and Rev. Fosdick Harrison, '93 D (uncles), and Ralph F Sikes, 31 (nephew).

Williston Academy. Worked as a travelling salesman 1895–98 Electical engineering course; member Williston Club.

Engineer Riter-Conley Manufacturing Company, Pittsburgh, Pa, 1901-03, American Structural Steel Company, Carnegie, Pa , 1903-04, West Virginia Bridge & Iron Works, Wheeling, W.Va., 1904-05, Minneapolis Steel & Machine Company 1905–06, engaged in detailing, checking, and designing of structural steel work in California 1906-18 (associated in San Francisco with W. W. Breite, C.E., Dyer Bros, Golden West Iron Works, Pacific Rolling Mill Company, Schrader Iron Works, Panama Pacific International Exposition Company, C H Snyder, CE, RS Chew, C.E, Ralph Barker, CE, and Judson Manufacturing Company, Oakland); engaged in structural detailing on ships US Navy Yard, Bremerton, Wash., August, 1918-November, 1919; associated with L H Nishkian, consulting engineer, Central Iron Works, and other engineering concerns in San Francisco 1919–24; in drafting department Pennsylvania Car Company, Beaumont, Texas, 1924-25; chief draftsman Petroleum Iron Works Company, Beaumont, 1925-36; independently engaged in structural engineering in San Francisco 1936-39 and with E. D. Francis, Sacramento, November, 1938-February, 1939.

Unmarried

Death due to myocarditis, chronic, associated with stricture and ruptured urethra Ashes interred in Woodlawn Cemetery, Suffield Survived by a sister, Zena Sikes Conley, the wife of Walter J. Conley (E.E. Syracuse Univ. 1908) of Cranford, N.J., and two brothers, Franklin V. Sikes, '00, and Wallace H. Sikes, of Hamilton, N.Y. Another brother, Zenas H. Sikes, '98 S., died in 1936

Albert Herman Jente, Ph.B. 1902.

Born February 5, 1879, in New Haven, Conn. Died February 2, 1940, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Julius Jente, member Paul Jente & Brother, merchants in New Haven, son of Edward and Caroline Jente of Rockville, Conn Mother, Bertha (Graf) Jente, daughter of Jacob and Waldburga (Baer) Graf of Rockville

Hillhouse High School and Hopkins Grammar School. Select course; honorable mention in German Freshman year, honors for excellence in all studies of Junior year, two-year honors for excellence in all studies and first political economy prize Senior year, member Sheff Debating Society

Attended Yale School of Law 1902-05 (LL B magna cum laude 1905; second-year honors, Kent Club diploma for excellence in debate Senior year, vice-president Middle year and critic Kent Club, treasurer Law School Young Men's Christian Association, contributed to Yale Shingle, member Yale Law School Political Club, Wayland Club, and Book and

đ

Gavel); admitted to Connecticut bar 1905, practiced law in New Haven 1905–14 (associated with firms of Seymour C Loomis, Morris & Merwin, and W. B Arvine), owner of a photography business, New Haven, 1905–08; engaged in printing business in New Haven 1914–29, associated with Junior College of Commerce, New Haven, since 1930 (instructor in mathematics 1930–34 and German 1935–37, treasurer and trustee 1935–40), secretary Class of 1905 L from 1905 to 1918, former member New Haven Grays; member Masonic order and First Methodist Church, New Haven (secretary Men's Bible Class 1938–40)

Married August 17, 1916, in New Haven, Gertrude Florence, daughter of James Thomas and Mary Emma (Anthony) Barnacle No children

Death due to coronary artery thrombosis. Buried in Evergreen Cemeery, New Haven Survived by wife, a sister, Miss Clara Louisa Jente of New Haven, and a brother, William J E Jente, '97

John Henry Overall, Ph.B. 1902.

Born August 28, 1881, in Columbia, Mo Died March 30, 1940, in Clayton, Mo.

Father, John Henry Overall (B A Univ of Missouri 1865, M A 1868), I lawyer in St Louis; dean of law department University of Missouri 1872–74; son of Wilson Lee and Elizabeth Ann (Williams) Overall of St Charles, Mo. Mother, Mary (Rollins) Overall, daughter of James Sidney Rollins, LL D (B A Indiana Univ. 1830) and Mary Elizabeth (Hickman) Rollins of Columbia Yale relatives include Curtis Field Burnam (B A 1840) (great-uncle); and James G. Overall, '40 (nephew)

Smith Academy, St Louis Select course, Yale University Bicycle Feam Freshman and Junior years (held intercollegiate record for half-nile and also for one-mile tandem race), vice-president St. Louis Club Senior year; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Renaissance Club,

ind St. Anthony and Delta Psi

Attended Washington University School of Law 1902-04 (LL B 904), admitted to Missouri bar 1903 and had since practiced law in St Louis (member Judson & Green); co-author Judson on Interstate Commerce 1905), author Overall on Municipal Bonds (1912), special agent War Frade Board, St Louis, during World War, member St Louis, Missouri state and American Bar associations, and Central Church (Presbyterian), St Louis.

Married May 25, 1910, in St Louis, Martha Cupples, daughter of William Henry and Amelia (Cupples) Scudder Children Amelia Cupples, the wife of Samuel Craft Davis, Jr (Harvard ex-'32), John Henry, Jr, '35, and Maude Scudder

Death due to a gunshot wound Buried in Bellefontaine Cemetery,

St Louis Survived by wife, children, two sisters, Florence Overall Burnam, the wife of Curtis Field Burnam (B A Centre Coll 1895, M D Johns Hopkins 1900) of Baltimore, Md, and Adele Overall Black, the wife of Arthur G Black (B A. Univ. of Missouri 1902) of Kansas City, Mo, and a brother, Sidney R Overall, '08

Lloyd Adolph Wimpfheimer, Ph.B. 1902.

Born December 29, 1882, in New York City. Died August 11, 1939, in New York City

Father, Adolph Wimpfheimer, an importer and commission merchant; founder and head of Adolph Wimpfheimer & Company, New York City Mother, Cornelia (Hochstadter) Wimpfheimer

Sach's Collegiate Institute, New York City. Select course; honors for excellence in all studies of the Junior year, two-year honors for excellence

in all studies Senior year

Associated with father's firm since 1902; became a partner 1903, and since his father's retirement (1927) had continued the business under his own name, president Wimbar Company, manufacturers of golf clubs, New York City, 1925–31, enlisted August 10, 1918, attended Officers' Training Camp, Camp Joseph E Johnston; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Quartermaster Corps, December 6, 1918; assigned to Purchase, Storage and Traffic Salvage Division, Washington, D.C., discharged December 23, 1918, on Class reunion committee for a number of years; member Temple Emanuel, New York City.

Married (1) February 22, 1906, in New York City, Lenore Edith, daughter of Abraham S August Mrs Wimpfheimer died May 13, 1909. Married (2) April 30, 1912, in New York City, Frances H, daughter of Isador and Sophie Rosenheim Children Susan C, Robert Adolph, and Nancy Beatrice (Agnes Scott Coll 1937–39)

Death followed an operation Ashes interred in Salem Fields Cemetery, Brooklyn, N Y Survived by wife and children.

Frederick Stoever Dickson, 2d, Ph.B. 1903.

Born October 9, 1881, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died January 4, 1940, in Washington, D C.

Father, Frederick Stoever Dickson, '71 S Mother, Helen Hortense (Hickman) Dickson Yale relatives include an uncle, Allan H Dickson, ex-'72

Hamilton School and DeLancey School, Philadelphia Select course;

coxswain University four-oar crew Freshman year, member Philadelphia Club, and St. Anthony and Delta Psi

Worked in Cleveland Trust Company 1903–04 and with The Abrasive Company, Philadelphia, October–December, 1904, with Thirty-Fourth Street National Bank, New York City, 1904–06, represented A O Brown & Company, brokers, New York City, on floor of Cleveland Stock Exchange 1904–05, engaged in literary and journalistic work and was for a time associated with Century Company, New York City, with War Trade Board, Washington, D.C., 1918–20 (acting chief for several months 1920); officer in charge Dye and Chemical Section, United States Treasury Department, 1920–22; dye expert Department of State, Washington, 1923, associated in an advisory capacity with Synthetic Organic Chemical Manufacturers' Association, New York City, 1923, partner Whaley-Eaton Corporation, business information service and publishers of the Sphere, Washington, 1923–40 (secretary and foreign editor 1923–40); member Covenant-First Presbyterian Church, Washington (deacon 1939–40)

Married June 7, 1919, in Washington, Bessie Marie, daughter of Louis and Grace Greenwood (Ziegler) Fahnestock. Children Frederick Stoever, 3d (Trinity Coll [Conn] 1942), and David Alexander

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Laurel Hill Cemetery, Philadelphia Survived by wife, sons, and a sister, Mrs Maximilian Foster of New York City.

Erskine Markley Smith, Ph.B. 1903.

Born August 13, 1879, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died March 12, 1940, in Haverford, Pa

Father, Erskine Douglas Smith of Philadelphia; son of Elihu Eldridge Smith Mother, Elizabeth J (Horning) Smith

The Hill School. Sanitary engineering course; member The Hill School and Philadelphia clubs, and St. Anthony and Delta Psi.

Associated with E E. Smith Contracting Company, Philadelphia and New York City, 1903–40 (engineer, and secretary and treasurer), made his headquarters in New York City 1910–18 and in Philadelphia 1918–40, resided in Haverford for a number of years, on triennial, sexennial, decennial, and quindecennial reunion committees, former member Squadron A, New York National Guard, member Yale Engineering Association.

Married June 15, 1911, in Philadelphia, Mary Mathilde, daughter of George and Mary Hughes (Barnes) Stevenson Children Erskine Eldridge, '35 S, and George Stevenson, '40 S

Death due to heart failure Buried in West Laurel Hill Cemetery, Philadelphia. Survived by wife, sons, and one grandson.

Leonard Willets Williams, Ph.B. 1903.

Born May 24, 1882, in Catasauqua, Pa Died May 28, 1940, in Scranton, Pa.

Father, David Thomas Williams, an iron manufacturer and later a banker in Belmont, N Y; son of Philip and Caroline (Mertz) Williams of Catasauqua Mother, Julia (Willets) Williams, daughter of Leonard Frost and Helen (Culver) Willets of Ormel, N.Y

Belmont High School and Phillips-Andover Mechanical engineering course; member York Hall and Chi Phi

Apprentice Baldwin Locomotive Works, Philadelphia, 1903-07, with Sellers & Rippey, consulting engineers, Philadelphia, 1907-08, superintendent and assistant shop engineer McIlvaine Brothers, Philadelphia, 1908, associated with The Locomobile Company of America 1908–13 (in Philadelphia branch 1908–10, assistant to Pacific Coast manager at San Francisco 1910–11, manager Oakland branch 1911–12, in advertising department and then assistant sales manager in truck department Bridgeport, Conn, 1912–13), with Pulaski Iron Company, Philadelphia, 1913– 16 (assistant secretary-treasurer 1914-16), salesman, vice-president and treasurer Park & Williams, Inc., agents and brokers for pig iron, steel, ores, alloys, coal, and coke, Philadelphia, 1916-28, member firm Stone, Williams & Kays, Inc. (subsequently Stone & Williams, Inc., and Ledyard Heckscher & Company), real-estate brokers, Philadelphia, 1928-30 (secretary-treasurer and vice-president 1928-30), president and a director Counties Title and Trust Company, Ardmore, Pa, and Counties Building & Loan Association 1928-30, secretary, treasurer, and a director Urban and Suburban Real Estate Company 1928-30, not actively engaged in business 1930-33 because of ill-health, associated with The Federal Union Life Insurance Company, Philadelphia, 1933-35; salesman Associate Tax Consultants, Philadelphia, 1935-40; director American Mortgage & Finance Company and Home Defense Building & Loan Association; assistant chief Pig Iron Section, War Industries Board, during World War, chairman Class reunion committee 1903–18, member Iron and Steel Institute, Motor Truck Club (N.Y), Society of Automotive Engineers, Masonic order, and St Mary's Church (Episcopal), Ardmore (vestryman 1922–25)

Married March 27, 1913, in Ardmore, Harriet, daughter of William Henry Gibbons (B A Haverford 1872, M.A. 1875) and Harriet Lucretia (Fuller) Gibbons Children: Leonard Willets, Jr (Pennsylvania State Coll 1933–34), Harriet Lucretia (B S. Temple Univ. 1938, M A. Vassar 1940); and Caroline (Connecticut Coll. 1944). Mrs. Williams died January 2, 1939.

Death due to myocarditis. Buried in cemetery of Church of the Redeemer, Bryn Mawr, Pa Survived by children.

Herbert Stites Glasby, Ph.B. 1904.

Born September 3, 1881, in Newark, NJ. Died June 21, 1940, in Philadelphia, Pa

Father, William Brown Glasby, an insurance broker in Newark, one of President Lincoln's bodyguard at first inauguration, former chief of police Newark; son of James and Susan Glasby of Elizabeth, N J Mother, Charlotte M. (Stites) Glasby; daughter of Abner and Charlotte B Stites of Springfield, N J

Barringer High School, Newark Attended Columbia University School of Mines 1899–1903, entered Sheffield Scientific School beginning

of Senior year; mechanical engineering course.

Travelled in United States 1904–05; successively shop apprentice, clerk in sales office, and salesman at Newark for Crocker-Wheeler Company, manufacturers and electrical engineers, Ampere, N J, 1905–15; associated with Acme Wire Company of New Haven, Conn, since 1915 (manager New York sales office 1915–26, assistant sales manager New Haven 1926–31 and Philadelphia 1931–40), with New Jersey Home Defense Unit 1917–18 and civilian Y M C.A. assistant, Hudson Hut, Hoboken, and at Camp Merritt; member Yale Engineering Association, Masonic order, and Lansdowne (Pa.) Presbyterian Church.

Married April 17, 1907, in East Orange, N J., Sadie Gertrude, daughter of Edgar Lawrence and Ellen Gertrude (Hopkins) Heleker. Children. William Edgar (B.S. Franklin and Marshall Coll. 1934); and Herbert

Stites, Jr. (B.S. Franklin and Marshall Coll. 1938).

Death due to uremic poisoning Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Elizabeth, N.J. Survived by wife and sons.

Louis Wiegand Mertz, Ph.B. 1905.

Born September 3, 1883, in Port Chester, NY. Died February 27, 1940, in White Plains, NY.

Father, Louis Conrad Mertz, a contractor and builder in Port Chester; son of George and Eliza (Gerlack) Mertz of Port Chester. Mother, Nellie (Wiegand) Mertz, daughter of Philip and Mary Ellen (Toohill) Wiegand of East Port Chester, Conn.

Worcester (Mass) Academy. Civil engineering course, on University Track Team three years, member York Hall and Chi Phi

Associated with George Mertz' Sons, builders and manufacturers, Port Chester, 1905–23 (outside superintendent 1905–10, secretary and treasurer 1910–23, and a director), at head of own firm Louis W Mertz, Inc.

builders, Port Chester, 1924–28; assistant engineer in charge of estimates and cost accounts Westchester County Sanitary Sewer Commission, White Plains, N Y., 1928–29, new business and contact man John W. Barnes, Inc., building contractors, New York City, 1929–33, with Westchester County Sanitary Sewer Commission 1933–35; director Yale Alumni Association of Westchester County.

Married November 29, 1910, in Port Chester, Jane Carlyle, daughter of James and Jennie (Montgomery) McClenahan Children James McClenahan, '33, and Philip Carlyle, '35 Mrs Mertz died February 22,

1935.

Death due to strangulation. Buried in Greenwood Union Cemetery, Rye, NY Survived by sons, mother, and a sister, Mrs. Lawrence E Woolf of White Plains, N.Y

Corydon Palmer, Ph.B. 1905.

Born January 2, 1884, in New York City. Died April 12, 1940, in Bayside, N.Y.

Father, Delos Palmer (graduate Baltimore Coll. of Dental Surgery 1883), a dentist in New York City; son of Corydon Palmer, Sr, and Mary Baxter (Craig) Palmer of Warren, Ohio. Mother, Emma Jane (Banta) Palmer, daughter of Albert and Eliza (Demerest) Banta of New York City

Dwight School, New York City. Attended College of the City of New

York Biology course.

Attended New York College of Dentistry 1905–08 (D.D.S. 1908; member Psi Omega), associated with his father 1908–13; practiced independently in New York City since 1913, member and then Sergeant, Company E, 7th Regiment, New York National Guard, 1906–14 and served in Depot Battalion 1917–18; member Huntington (L I), Columbia, and Hudson River Yacht clubs, First District Dental Society, and All Saints' Church (Episcopal), Bayside.

Married August 31, 1920, in New York City, Madeleine Adele, daughter of Owen and Mary Elizabeth (Kain) O'Reilly. Children: Mary

Jane and Corydon, Jr.

Death due to accidental carbon monoxide asphyxiation. Buried in Kensico Cemetery, Valhalla, N.Y. Survived by wife, children, two sisters, Mrs Guy Chace of Lexington, Mass., and Eugenie Palmer Tiebout (Hunter Coll), the wife of Frank Bosworth Tiebout (B A Williams 1912) of New York City, and a brother Delos Palmer of Stamford, Conn

Joseph Irving Simmons, Ph.B. 1905.

Born January 13, 1883, in Brooklyn, NY. Died January 31, 1940, in Montclair, NJ

Father, John Simmons, owner John Simmons Company, piping supplies, New York City, son of Mark and Sara (Green) Simmons of New York City. Mother, Mary Magdelene (Rutzler) Simmons, daughter of John and Lisette (Torrey) Rutzler of New York City. Yale relatives include a nephew, Charles H. Simmons, Jr, '26

Phillips-Andover. Select course; vice-president of the Class Junior year, chairman Triennial Committee; member University Club (on governing board), Kopper Kettle Klub, and The Cloister and Book and Snake

Associated with Thomas Denny & Son, brokers, New York City, 1905-06; with John Simmons Company since 1906 (assistant secretary 1906-23, secretary 1924-33, and vice-president 1934-40), vice-president Pole and Tube Works, Newark, N.J., 1918-36, assistant secretary 1925-33 and secretary 1933-39 Simmons Realty & Construction Company; secretary Essex Foundry, Newark, general manager Simmons Pipe Bending Works, Newark, 1936-39; enlisted February 5, 1918, attended School of Military Aeronautics at Georgia School of Technology; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Air Service, June 5, 1918, assigned to Standard Aircraft Corporation, Elizabeth, N.J.; discharged February 12, 1919, president Class of 1905 S from 1915 to 1920 and chairman sexennial and decennial reunion committees; member executive committee Yale Alumni Association of Montclair and Vicinity and on board of governors Yale Club of Montclair and Vicinity, member First Congregational Church, Montclair.

Married October 17, 1907, in Philadelphia, Pa, Elizabeth Sipple, daughter of Christian Carson Febiger (Haverford Coll. ex-'65) and Katharine Megear (Sellers) Febiger Children. Katharine Febiger (Mrs Frank Hamilton Davis); Joseph, ex-'39; and Carson Febiger Mrs Simmons died September 13, 1939

Death due to a gunshot wound Buried in Wilmington and Brandy-wine Cemetery, Wilmington, Del. Survived by children, two grand-children, three sisters, Mrs Charles W Weston and Mrs Edward J. Swords, both of Montclair, and Miss Grace M. Simmons of South West Harbor, Maine, and a brother, Charles Herbert Simmons of New York City Another brother, Frank H. Simmons, '98, died in 1937.

John James Culbertson, Jr., Ph.B. 1906.

Born September 29, 1885, in Paris, Texas Died April 20, 1940, in Oklahoma City, Okla.

Father, John James Culbertson, an oil operator and manufacturer of cotton seed products in Mississippi, Louisiana, Arkansas, Oklahoma, and Texas, son of John and Amelia (Fonshill) Culbertson of Hanover, Pa Mother, Emily (Lee) Culbertson; daughter of John Thompson and Sarah Elizabeth (Mundy) Lee of Plainfield, N J

Bingham School, Asheville, N.C Select course; in honor division Freshman year, honors in economics, history, and political science Senior year, member Kopper Kettle Klub and The Colony and Berzelius.

Engaged on construction of plants for Oklahoma Cotton Oil Company, Oklahoma City, 1906-07 and Apache Cotton Oil & Manufacturing Company, Chickasha, Okla, 1907-08; secretary and treasurer of the latter company 1908-09; engaged in real-estate and general investment business in Tulsa, Okla, 1909-10 and in Oklahoma City since 1910, president Oklahoma City Real Estate Board 1928-29; elected vice-president Oklahoma Yale Club 1916; member Masonic order and St. Paul's Cathedral (Episcopal), Oklahoma City.

Married April 18, 1911, in Paris, Texas, Bonnie, daughter of William Fossette Dulanéy and Margaret (Fitch) Dulaney. Son: John James, 3d (B S Univ of Virginia 1935).

Death due to endocarditis Survived by wife, son, one granddaughter, and two sisters, Emily Culbertson Potter, the wife of Albert Byron Potter (D D S. Northwestern Univ. 1900) and Mrs. Eugene Whittington, both of Oklahoma City

Horace Blessing Smith, Ph.B. 1906.

Born July 19, 1884, in Martinsburg, Pa. Died March 2, 1940, in Altoona, Pa.

Father, Horace Rawlins Smith (B.A. Hanover Coll. 1876, M.A. 1881; M.D. New York Univ 1880), a physician in Altoona; medical missionary under Presbyterian Board of Missions in North China 1881–83, son of David S. and Matilda Ann (Rawlins) Smith of Cincinnati, Ohio. Mother, Annie (Morrow) Smith, daughter of James Canan and Martha Delilia (Blessing) Morrow of Martinsburg. Yale relatives include a brother, Mark C. Smith, ex-'09 L.

Altoona High School Electrical engineering course

Engineering apprentice Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Company, East Pittsburgh, 1906-07, studied at home and travelled

abroad 1907–08, in Brackenridge, Pa, mills of Allegheny Steel Company, Pittsburgh, 1908–11 (assistant chief electrician 1909–11), associated with Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Company 1911–34 (manager domestic service section of industrial department 1922–34), engaged on various WPA projects including the Pennsylvania State Planning Board 1934–36; district procurement representative United States Treasury Department, Uniontown, Pa, 1936–37, research assistant Pennsylvania State Planning Board, Harrisburg, 1937–40, member Masonic order and First Presbyterian Church, Altoona

Married November 12, 1921, in Altoona, Cora Balling, daughter of Robert Thomas and Jessie (Custer) Elder Children. Horace Blessing, Jr, and Louise Elder

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Fairview Cemetery, Altoona Survived by wife and children.

Foster Stebbins Naething, Ph.B. 1907.

Born June 4, 1887, in Lakewood, NJ Died October 24, 1939, in Glen Cove, NY.

Father, Charles Frederick Naething, president Naething, Leslie Tiling Company, New York City, and of Chelan Consolidated Copen Company; son of John and Maria Elizabeth (Seil) Naething of Boonville, NY Mother, Mary Louise (Bingham) Naething, daughter of Samuel Dexter and Mary (Keyser) Bingham of New York City Yale relatives include a brother, John B Naething, '04 S

Phillips-Andover. Metallurgy course; on wrestling team one year and Class basketball team two years; member University Swimming Team one year and Water Polo Team three years; vice-president University Swimming Association Junior year and captain Senior year; president Intercollegiate Swimming Association; member Sachem Hall and Phi Sigma Kappa

Graduate student Sheffield Scientific School and laboratory assistant in mining and metallurgy 1907–08; worked in mining camps in Colorado 1908–10; engineer Miami (Ariz) Copper Company 1910–13, examined mines and engaged in independent mining in Arizona and Mexico 1913–20; field engineer St Joseph Lead Company, Joplin, Mo, 1920–28, consulting mining engineer, St. Louis, Mo, 1928–29 and New York City 1929–32, vice-president and general manager Evans-Wallower Lead Company, East St. Louis, Ill, 1930–32; associated with Bethlehem Steel Company in development of Bethanized wire 1932–33, vice-president and general manager Mammoth–St. Anthony Mining Corporation and Mammoth Management Corporation, with offices in Tucson, Ariz, since 1934; director Barrod Mining Company, member Yale Engineer-

ing Association, Mining and Metallurgical Society of America, American Institute of Mining and Metallurgical Engineers, and Episcopal church.

Married (1) July 6, 1910, in Watch Hill, R I, Frances Witter, daughter of Daniel L and Lina T Lyon Mrs Naething died August 28, 1913 Married (2) June 19, 1915, in Jackson, Mich., Frances Mary Newman (Univ of Michigan ex-1903), daughter of Robert Norris and Katherine (Smith) Newman Children Katherine Foster (Yale School of the Fine Arts 1935-37), the wife of Norris Dresser Hoyt, '36, and Mary Louise (Yale School of the Fine Arts 1935-37) Mrs. Naething died November 18, 1933 Married (3) June 25, 1935, in New York City, Dorothy Elmendorf Teel Reuling, daughter of J Roy and Cora Depew (Elmendorf) Teel

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes interred in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City Survived by wife, daughters, a sister, Rose Marie Naething Barnes, the wife of Roderic Barbour Barnes (B A. Princeton 1903) of Washington, Conn, and two stepdaughters, Jeanne Depew and Diane Depew Reuling.

Thomas Rodd, Jr., Ph.B. 1907.

Born September 18, 1884, in Allegheny, Pa. Died June 30, 1940, in Egremont, Mass.

Father, Thomas Rodd (United States Naval Academy ex-1869), an engineer in Pittsburgh, chief engineer Pennsylvania lines west of Pittsburgh, son of Horatio and Anne (Theobald) Rodd of London, England. Mother, Mary Watson (Herron) Rodd; daughter of William M Herron (M D Univ of Pennsylvania 1847) of Allegheny. Yale relatives include a nephew, Redfield D Beckwith, '32

St Paul's School, Concord, N H. Civil engineering course; Class book historian; vice-president St Paul's Club and Kopper Kettle Klub, member The Colony and Berzelius

Apprentice assistant to furnace superintendent Jones & Laughlin Steel Corporation, Pittsburgh, 1907–09, assistant sales engineer in Massillon, Ohio, and later in Toledo, Massillon Bridge & Structural Company, 1909–10; treasurer Pittsburgh Wood Preserving Company, Ohio Wood Preserving Company, and Michigan Wood Preserving Company; president The Rodd Company, Pittsburgh, engaged in investment business, Washington, Conn; with Atlas Realty Company, Chicago, since retirement had resided in Great Barrington, Mass.; member Yale Engineering Association

Married November 11, 1911, in Toledo, Eva Marie, daughter of George Haynes Beckwith (Yale Graduate School 1874–76) and Elizabeth Milbank (Baldwin) Beckwith, and sister of Laurance B. Beckwith, '02.

Children: George Beckwith (died in 1921), Thomas, 3d, '35; and David Beckwith, '40.

Death due to probable coronary thrombosis Survived by wife, two sons, and a brother, William H. Rodd, ex-'04 S

Carl Conrad Baker, Ph.B. 1908.

Born October 11, 1885, in Zanesville, Ohio Died July 29, 1939, in Baltimore, Md

Father, William R Baker, manager Zanesville branch National Biscuit Company, son of Jacob and Phoebe (Diehl) Baker of Deavertown, Ohio. Mother, Emma Louise (Stolzenbach) Baker, daughter of Conrad and Rosine (Lauterbach) Stolzenbach of Zanesville Yale relatives include a nephew, Conrad S. Baker, '31 S.

Montclair Military Academy Mechanical engineering course; member Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta.

Associated with National Biscuit Company since 1908 (worked in bakeries at Zanesville, Buffalo, and Philadelphia 1908–11; superintendent Zanesville bakery 1911–19 and manager 1919–33; manager Baltimore bakery 1933–39); director Baker Bread Company, Zanesville, Frank Baker Bread Company, Lima, Ohio, and Brush Pottery Company, Zanesville; trustee Zanesville Young Men's Christian Association 1931–33; member St John's Church (Lutheran), Zanesville

Married October 22, 1913, in Zanesville, Florence Clark Frazier (Coll of Wooster ex-'08), daughter of Judge Alfred Ashwell Frazier (B A Coll. of Wooster 1879) and Emma Leoda (Clark) Frazier Children Alfred William (Case School of Applied Science ex-'36, Johns Hopkins 1934–36); Dorothea Louise (B A. Wellesley 1939), Frederick Frazier, '41; and Carl Conrad, Jr.

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Zanesville Memorial Park Survived by wife, children, one granddaughter, and two brothers, Frank A. Baker, ex-'10 S, and Robert J Baker, '18

Nathan Alfred Curtiss, Ph.B. 1909.

Born July 3, 1887, in Walling ford, Conn. Died June 29, 1940, in Little Falls, NY

Father, Alfred Coles Curtiss, tool and die maker with R Wallace & Sons Manufacturing Company, Wallingford, son of Alfred Coles and Margaret Anne (Lunney) Curtiss of East Haddam, Conn. Mother, Evalena (Page) Curtiss, daughter of George Lewis and Lucy Lucretia (Hall) Page of Meriden, Conn., and Wallingford

Wallingford High School. Mechanical engineering course

Draftsman successively with Economy Concrete Company, New Haven, Conn, Noiseless Typewriter Company, Middletown, Conn, R Hoe & Company, New York City, and Mergenthaler Linotype Company, Brooklyn, NY, 1910-11, assistant in applied mechanics and steam laboratory Pratt Institute 1910-12, designing engineer in laboratory of Thomas A Edison, West Orange, N J, 1912–15 and for Crown Cork & Seal Company, Baltimore, Md, 1915-18, in explosives section, Inspection Division, Ordnance Department, Washington, DC, February-December, 1918; production engineer The Alexander Milburn Company, manufacturers of oxyacetylene apparatus, Baltimore, Md, 1918-19, assistant plant engineer United States Industrial Chemical Company, South Baltimore, 1920-21; chief draftsman Eagle Pencil Company, New York City, 1921-24; associated with Miller Reese Hutchinson, Inc, inventions, 1924; mechanical engineer Western Electric Company, Chicago, 1924–28, chief mechanical engineer Hills Brothers Company, food packers, Brooklyn, 1928-32, did research work in connection with solar radiations in association with Dr. L. V. Burton 1933, chief engineer Slip Clip Corporation, manufacturers of machinery for food packaging, New York City, 1933–34, dealer Allied Mills, Inc., Fort Wayne, Ind, 1933-36, mechanical engineer Cherry Burwell Company, Inc , Little Falls, NY., 1936-40; member Western Society of Engineers, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Masonic order, and Emmanuel Church (Episcopal), Little Falls

Married June 24, 1911, in New Haven, Conn, Rachel Celestra, daughter of Edgar and Imogene (Harris) Stevens Children. Nathan Stevens (Univ of Connecticut 1931–32); Evalena Page, the wife of Lawrence Whitney Wright (B S Univ of New Hampshire 1931); Nancy Abbie, the wife of George Henry Phillips, Ruth Hall; Esther Alfreda (died May 13, 1921), and Polly Crockett

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Ingham Mills (NY) Cemetery Survived by wife, five children, two grandchildren, father, and a sister, Mrs Walter E Racker of Wallingford.

John Francis Sagarino, Ph.B. 1909.

Born December 26, 1888, in Corleto, Italy. Died July 20, 1939, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Frank Sagarino; son of John Frank Sagarino of Corleto Mother, Maria Teresa Sagarino

Hartford Public High School Biology course; honors in French and German Junior year

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1909–13 (M D 1913), interne St Francis Hospital, Hartford, 1913–14;

practiced medicine in Hartford 1914–39; attending surgeon St. Francis Hospital 1929–39, chairman First School District, Hartford, 1916–18 and 1919–22; member Municipal Building Commission 1922–24; enlisted July 15, 1917; commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Corps, August 17, 1917; attended Medical Officers' Training Camp, Camp Greenleaf, January 15–March 1, 1918; with 60th Infantry, Camp Greene; assistant to camp surgeon, Camp Meigs; later stationed successively at Camp Meade, Bellevue Hospital, New York City, and Base Hospital 124 at Camp Crane, discharged December 20, 1918; fellow American College of Surgeons; member Hartford, Hartford County, and Connecticut State Medical societies, American Medical Association, and St Joseph's Cathedral (Roman Catholic), Hartford.

Married September 25, 1924, in Hartford, Agnes, daughter of Patrick

and Mary (Sweeny) Shea. Daughter, Mary Therésé.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Mount St Benedict Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by wife, daughter, mother, a sister, Mrs. Arthur Curatolo, and two brothers, Rocco J Sagarino and Anthony Sagarino (LL.B. Georgetown Univ. 1915), all of Hartford.

Oliver Ledlie Smith, Ph.B. 1910.

Born August 19, 1887, in Pittsburgh, Pa. Died May 19, 1940, at West Palm Beach, Fla.

Father, Thomas Wallace Smith (The Queen's Univ, Belfast, 1869–72), son of Robert and Eliza (Brown) Smith of Donaghmore, County Tyrone, Ireland. Mother, Mary Patterson (Moody) Smith; daughter of James and Margaret Lynn (Parker) Moody of Pittsburgh

The Hill School Mechanical engineering course; member The Hill

School Club and The Closster and Book and Snake.

Associated with Pittsburgh Screw & Bolt Corporation 1910 until retirement in 1936 (superintendent balance department, and general superintendent 1930–36), member Yale Engineering Association and Third Presbyterian Church, Pittsburgh

Married (1) December 2, 1915, in Pittsburgh, Eleanor Slagle, daughter of James Ralston and Emma Whitten (McConnell) Sterrett Children James Sterrett, '40 S, Marion Kennedy (William and Mary Coll 1944), Oliver Ledlie, Jr, and Patterson Mr and Mrs Smith were divorced in 1934 Married (2) February 5, 1937, in New York City, Helen Alvis, daughter of William Harrison and Helen Blanche (Ehrman) MacAfee

Death due to cerebral edema Buried in Allegheny Cemetery, Pitts-burgh Survived by wife, children, mother, a sister, Mrs Alan C Stevenson, and a brother, Wallace W. Smith of Pittsburgh Another brother,

Thomas W. Smith, Jr., ex-'23 S, died in 1934

Bala Pershad, Ph.B. 1911.

Born in October, 1888, in India. Died January 26, 1940, in Hyderabad, India.

Father, Rajah Lulta Pershad Bahadur.

Attended Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1908–10. Entered Sheffield Scientific School 1910, electrical engineering course

Worked with General Electric Company, West Lynn, Mass; apprentice in electrical department of government of the Nizam of Hyderabad six months in 1912, electrician in the Nizam's mint 1912–17; transferred to telephone department February, 1917, and in 1919 became superintendent of that department, member Yale Engineering Association.

Married in March, 1913, in Hyderabad, Sarasvati Bibi Survived by wife

Wılliam John Schaefer, Ph.B. 1912.

Born February 7, 1891, in New Haven, Conn. Died April 16, 1940, at West Palm Beach, Fla.

Father, John Schaefer, owner Hotel Volk, New Haven; son of John Schaefer Mother, Emma (Binder) Schaefer, daughter of William and Regina (Rentz) Binder of New Haven

New Haven High School Mining engineering course; honors in Spanish Junior and Senior years

Mining engineer New Haven Mining Company, Bingham, Utah, 1912–13; owner and manager Raritan Inn, Keyport, NJ, 1914–36 and of Pinecroft Restaurant, Boynton, Fla, since 1936, member Masonic order and Trinity Church (Episcopal), New Haven

Married (1) May 1, 1913, in Seymour, Conn, Ethel Frances, daughter of Francis and Josephine (Gray) Kinney Children William Francis and John Frederick. Mr and Mrs Schaefer were divorced in 1921. Married (2) March 18, 1922, in New York City, Winifred, daughter of Joseph Bernard and Mary Ann (Glennon) Langan

Death due to acute nephritis. Survived by wife, children, mother, and a half brother, George Volk of Woodmont, Conn

Wallace Bigelow, Ph.B. 1913.

Born October 13, 1890, in Baldwinsville, NY Died October 5, 1939, in Baldwinsville, NY

Father, Otis Munro Bigelow (B A. 1872) Mother, Lillian Maude (Swetland) Bigelow. Yale relatives include: Otis M Bigelow, Jr, '04

(brother); Howard V. Yergin, '08 (cousin), and Ruth Spalding Bigelow, ex-'09 Art (sister-in-law)

Baldwinsville High School and Kingsley School, Essex Fells, N J Civil engineering course; member Class baseball team, and Sachem Hall and

Phi Sigma Kappa.

Associated with Walter Bradley & Company, contractors, Fulton, N.Y, 1913–14; with Public Service Commission, New York City, 1914–15; sales engineer with John Lundie, consulting engineer, New York City, 1915–16, salesman Troy Wagon Works Company, Washington, D.C, and New York City, 1916–18; partner, secretary, and treasurer Miller Equipment Company, Inc., Syracuse, NY, since 1919, enlisted August 26, 1918, as private; attended Central Officers' Training School, Camp Joseph E. Johnston; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Motor Transport Reserve Corps, on discharge December 20, 1918, village trustee Baldwinsville 1926–32 and mayor since 1935; former member Yale Engineering Association; member Masonic order and Baldwinsville Presbyterian Church

Married October 7, 1914, in Baldwinsville, Gladys, daughter of John Charles and Sarah (Neilson) Miller. Children Payn (Purdue Univ 1941)

and Nancy.

Death due to myocardial heart disease. Buried in Riverview Cemetery, Baldwinsville. Survived by wife, children, mother, two sisters, Olivia Bigelow Keyes (B O E Syracuse Univ. 1918), the wife of Robert W Keyes, Jr. (Union Coll ex-'19), of Utica, N Y, and Marie Louise Bigelow Connell (B A Smith Coll 1906), the wife of James Carl Connell (B A. Amherst 1907), of Baldwinsville, and a brother, Payn Bigelow (B.S. Syracuse Univ. 1923) of Syracuse

Huntington English, Ph.B. 1914.

Born May 29, 1893, in New Haven, Conn Died March 21, 1940, in New Haven, Conn

Father, John Cutler English of New Haven, secretary Bridgeport Electric Light Company, son of John Phipps and Frances Lewis (Hotchkiss) English of New Haven Mother, Florence Pierson (Fletcher) English, daughter of Lowell and Mary Roberts (Drennan) Fletcher of Cincinnati, Ohio Yale relatives include a nephew, Walter Camp, 3d, ex-'39

Franklin School, Cincinnati, Ohio, Hopkins Grammar School and Ridgefield (Conn.) School. Select course, on Class crew, member The Colony and Berzelius

Associated with White Adding Machine Company, New Haven, 1914–16; served on Mexican border as private New Haven Grays 1916, enlisted Connecticut Naval Militia 1917 and commissioned Ensign March

29, 1917, called to active service April, 1917; promoted Lieutenant (Jg), U S Naval Reserve Force, October, 1917, and Lieutenant January, 1919; assigned to U.S.S. Topeka at Portsmouth Navy Yard and later at Bumkin Island Training Station; transferred to U.S.S. Wakiva (flagship and payship of U S Mine Sweepers' Fleet) in July, 1917, and later assigned to USS Aphrodite; on patrol service in European waters August, 1917-May, 1919, was aboard U S S. Wakiva when it was sunk in collision off French coast May 22, 1918; awarded Congressional Gold Life Saving Medal for rescue work when U.S transport Finland was torpedoed in Bay of Biscay October 28, 1917, and the Navy Cross following sinking of a German submarine by USS Wakiva on November 28, 1917; received citation January 10, 1919; discharged May, 1919; associated with Colt's Patent Firearms Manufacturing Company, Hartford, Conn, 1919-20, master mechanic and engineer Sargent & Company, New Haven, 1920-30, due to ill-health had been unoccupied since 1930; member Masonic order and St Paul's Church (Episcopal), New Haven.

Married (1) June 3, 1922, in Branford, Conn, Helen Nichols, daughter of Edward Eliphalet and Helen Frances (Nichols) Hall Daughter Nancy Hall Mrs English died November 27, 1935. Married (2) April 24, 1937, in New Haven, Josephine, daughter of George Adams and Martha Neal (Howe) Woods.

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, daughter, mother, and a brother, John F English, '12 S

Archibald Macdonald Mıller, Ph.B. 1914.

Born January 10, 1891, in Flushing, NY. Died April 1, 1940, in Riverton, NJ.

Father, Pierre Van Cortlandt Miller, secretary United Verde Copper Company, son of George Clinton and Mary (Wisner) Miller of Goshen, N Y Mother, Anna Rosa (Macdonald) Miller; daughter of Dr. James Macdonald and Eliza Harris (Miller) Macdonald of Flushing. Yale relatives include Donald M Barstow, '89, Grosvenor Atterbury, '91, Landon K Thorne, '10 S., and Francis B Thorne, '14 S. (cousins)

Salisbury (Conn) School and Phillips-Andover. Mechanical engineering course, member Kopper Kettle Klub and The Cloister and Book and Snake

Associated with Hudson Bay Company in Canada 1914–15 and Dayton Metal Products Company 1915; student Maxwell Auto Company, enlisted May 15, 1917, attended Officers' Training camps at Plattsburg, American University, and Belvoir, Va, commissioned First Lieutenant, Engineers, August 15, 1917, and promoted to Captain September 6, 1917,

overseas March 29, 1918–August 20, 1918, Commanding Officer, Company C, 1st Battalion, 302d Engineers, 77th Division September 1, 1917–September 1, 1918; in action in Flanders April 12–June 1, 1918, and in Baccarat Sector June 5–July 5, 1918; attended Engineers' School at Langres, July 5–August 13, 1918, with Company F, 2d Battalion, 3d Training Regiment, Camp A. A Humphreys, September 1, 1918, until discharge January 25, 1919; worked as oil driller and tool dresser in oil fields of Texas, Mexico, and the Middle West 1919–30, engaged in drilling gas wells in West Virginia 1930; with Columbia Gas & Electric Company, Pittsburgh, a short time; mechanical and plant engineer Riverside (N J.) Metal Company 1934 and 1936–40, member St George's Church (Episcopal), Flushing, and Christ Church, Riverton, N.J.

Married March 9, 1928, in New York City, Doris Stacy Spence,

daughter of George Wesley and Jean Catherine (Martin) Stacy.

Death due to embolism following pneumonia Buried in Springfield Cemetery, Jobstown, N J Survived by wife and a brother, Whitney Wisner Miller of New York City.

John Shepard Pendleton, Ph.B. 1914.

Born April 4, 1889, in Kossuth County, Iowa Died January 7, 1940, in San Francisco, Calif.

Father, Charles Shepard Pendleton (Univ of Maine ex-'84), a farmer, fruit grower, and merchant in Kossuth County and later in California, son of John Gilmore and Sarah Elizabeth (Blanchard) Pendleton of Searsport, Maine, and Everett, Mass. Mother, Sarah Elizabeth (Britton) Pendleton; daughter of George R and Louise M (Cushman) Britton of Houlton, Mich

The Hotchkiss School Select course, on Class baseball team Freshman and Junior years and College baseball team Junior year; on University Football Team Junior and Senior years, Junior Promenade Committee, chairman Class Day committee; member Senior Council and Undergraduate Discipline Committee; member The Hotchkiss Club, The Cloister and Book and Snake, and Aurelian Honor Society.

Associated with W K Morison & Company, Inc , hardware dealers, Minneapolis, Minn., 1914–15, and with Broughton Copper Company, New York City, 1915; treasurer 1915–20, and secretary 1915–16 British American Metals Company, Inc , New York City, secretary 1917–27 and a director Rolled Plate Metal Company, Brooklyn, N Y; eastern district manager in New York City for steel mills of Franklin Steel Works, Falcon Steel Company, Falcon Tin Plate Company, Standard Gauge Steel Company, and Columbia Steel Company; salesman R J Leahy

Company, brass and copper, San Francisco, 1936–39; director Yale Alumni University Fund Association 1923–28 and Class agent 1920–28, on council New York Yale Club and member athletics and games committee 1927–28; member Episcopal church

Married June 3, 1916, in Stamford, Conn, Eileen, daughter of William Francis Mallory. No children. Mrs. Pendleton died February 8, 1925.

Death due to hypertensive heart disease. Buried in Madrone Cemetery, Saratoga, Calif. Survived by two sisters, Mrs Charles Keema of San Jose, Calif, and Mrs. Mildred P Bilby of Safford, Ariz.

Donald Mitchell Weston, Ph.B. 1914.

Born April 27, 1891, in Dalton, Mass Died September 9, 1939, in Pittsfield, Mass.

Father, Byron Weston, founder and president Byron Weston Company, paper manufacturers, Dalton; Captain, 49th Massachusetts Volunteer Infantry, during Civil War, heutenant-governor of Massachusetts 1879–83, son of Isaiah and Caroline (Curtis) Weston of New Bedford, Mass, and Dalton Mother, Julia Clark (Mitchell) Weston; daughter of Clark and Ellen (Shaw) Mitchell of Dalton Yale relatives include: Philip Weston, ex-'04 S (brother), and Hale Holden, Jr, '22, and Philip D Holden, '31 (nephews)

Cloyne House School, Newport, RI, Groton School, and Thacher School, Ojai, Calif Select course; member Sword and Gun Club, Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, and The Cloister and Book and Snake.

In plant of George D Barhard Stationery Company, St Louis, Mo, 1914–15, associated with Byron Weston Company since 1913 (treasurer 1920–35, president 1934–39), enlisted May 14, 1917, attended Officers' Training Camp, Plattsburg, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, August 15, 1917, and promoted to First Lieutenant October 13, 1918; assigned to 7th Field Artillery, 1st Division; overseas September, 1917–June 27, 1919, attended French artillery school at Fontainebleau and First Corps School at Gondrécourt, liaison officer, Staff of 2d Infantry Brigade, 1st Division; discharged July 1, 1919, founder in 1928 and president 1928–38, Pittsfield Riding and Polo Club, vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Berkshire County 1929 and member executive committee, member American Legion and Yale Engineering Association

Married October 7, 1922, in Great Barrington, Mass, Mary Loop, daughter of John Henry Coffin and Mary Adele (Loop) Church. Children Donald Mitchell, Jr, Peter Bryant, and Joan Church.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Main Street Cemetery, Dalton Survived by wife and children

George Howard Crosby, Jr., Ph.B. 1916.

Born November 23, 1892, in Duluth, Minn. Died November 2, 1939, in Garrison, Minn

Father, George Howard Crosby of Duluth, president Whitmarsh Mining Company, Crosby, Minn; son of Charles Whitmarsh and Almira G. Crosby of Milford, N H Mother, Charlotte Vandeveer (Stultz) Crosby; daughter of William H and Alice Stultz.

Central High School, Duluth, Worcester (Mass) Academy, and Mackenzie School, Dobbs Ferry, N.Y Mining engineering course, president Mackenzie School Club; member The Colony and Berzelius

Associated with Whitmarsh Mining Company 1916–39 (assistant engineer, and chief engineer and general manager 1916–33), with Crosby Magnesite Company, Valley, Wash, for short time in fall of 1917, president and manager Cuyuna Oil Company, Crosby, 1928–39, vice-president and a director Portsmouth Ore Company, Crosby, 1929–39, operator Blue Goose Resort, Garrison, 1936–39; enlisted August 21, 1918, as private, Heavy (Coast) Artillery, served with 5th Company, Fort Howard, August 21–September 21, 1918, attended Officers' Training School, Fort Monroe, September 21–December 6, 1918, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Coast Artillery Reserve Corps, on discharge December 6, 1918; member Trinity Cathedral (Episcopal), Duluth.

Married June 27, 1916, in Duluth, Elsa Margaret, daughter of Louis Ernest and Josephine (Carroll) Bieberman Children Jane Elizabeth (B A. Smith Coll 1939), Barbara Ann (B A. Wells Coll 1940), and Elsa Margaret.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Forest Hill Cemetery, Duluth. Survived by wife, daughters, father, and a sister, Miss Margaret Elizabeth Crosby of Duluth.

Wılfred George Geile, Ph.B. 1919.

Born July 22, 1895, in Seymour, Ind Died January 27, 1940, in Raleigh, N C

Father, William George Geile, a mail carrier in Seymour; son of August and Amalia (Bode) Geile of Hanover, Germany, and Madison, Ind Mother, Emma (Massmann) Geile, daughter of Anton and Anna (Ahlberring) Massmann of Cincinnati, Ohio

Shields High School, Seymour Attended University of Cincinnati 1913–14, associated with Blish Milling Company, Seymour, 1914–15, attended Purdue University 1915–16 (member Phi Delta Theta), and Sheffield Scientific School 1916–17, 1919–21; civil engineering course,

honors for excellence in all studies of Freshman year; prize for excellence in civil engineering Senior year, president Yale student branch American Society of Civil Engineers Senior year; member Sigma X1, corporal Yale R O T C 1917, enlisted November 23, 1917, as private, Company G, 23d Engineers, Camp Meade, overseas April 13, 1918–June 10, 1919, engaged in construction work at Brest and in St-Mihiel sector; discharged July, 1919, received Ph B at Commencement 1921 with enrollment in Class of 1919 S

Assistant engineer Lock Joint Pipe Company, Ampere, NJ, 1921–22; instructor in engineering mechanics Yale University 1922–23; structural designer Insley Manufacturing Company, Indianapolis, Ind., 1923–24; field engineer Portland Cement Association, New York City, 1924–25, service engineer Lehigh Portland Cement Company, New Haven, Conn., 1926–27, associate professor of construction engineering North Carolina State College of Agriculture and Engineering 1927–31, professor of structural engineering and head division of construction engineering 1931–40, MS in CE North Carolina State College of Agriculture and Engineering 1931; member Yale Engineering Association, North Carolina Society of Engineers, American Society of Civil Engineers (vice-president North Carolina section), and Evangelical Church of St Paul (Reformed Lutheran), Seymour, Ind

Married April 7, 1925, in Westbury, N.Y., Dorothy, daughter of Walter Henry Tilton, ex-'94 S, and Clara Louise Kellogg (Parmelee)

Tilton Children. Robert Tilton and Mary Louise.

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Montlawn Memorial Park, Raleigh, N C Survived by wife, children, a sister, Doris Massmann Geile Hudiakoff (B A Univ of Indiana 1921), the wife of Andrei Hudiakoff (Imperial School of Art, Moscow, 1917) of New York City, and a brother, Francis August Geile (B.S. North Carolina State Coll of Agriculture and Engineering 1932) of Charlotte, N C.

Clarence Lorenzo Lattın, Ph.B. 1920.

Born August 21, 1899, in Shelton, Conn. Died November 22, 1939, in Short Hills, NJ

Father, Lorenzo Dow Lattin, a contractor in Shelton, son of Nathan Birdsey and Nancy (Lewis) Lattin of East Village, Conn. Mother, Emma Jane (Clapper) Lattin, daughter of William Henry and Elizabeth (Lodewick) Clapper of Glenville, N Y. Yale relatives include two cousins, Edward E. Lattin, '07, and Robert B. Lattin, '07 S

Shelton High School Electrical engineering course; honors for excellence in all studies Freshman year; general two-year honors Junior year, member Yale branch American Institute of Electrical Engineers, Celven

Club, and Alpha Sigma Phi; private in Signal Corps, Yale SATC, October 9-December 14, 1918.

Attended Yale Graduate School 1920–21 (assistant in electrical engineering), plant engineer New York Telephone Company 1921–22, patent assistant Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Company, Washington, D.C., and attended George Washington University School of Law 1922–26, admitted to District of Columbia bar 1926; due to ill-health was not actively engaged 1926–28; assistant patent attorney Cooper Hewitt Electric Company, Hoboken, N J., 1928–30 and General Electric Vapor Lamp Company, Hoboken, 1930–39, on executive committee Oranges-Maplewood Boy Scout Council 1936–39 and chairman Troop Committee, Short Hills, 1935–39, member New Jersey Power Squadron since 1936 (at time of death eligible for rank of Navigator) and Advanced Grades Committee Northern New Jersey Power Squadron 1937–39; member Christ Church. (Episcopal), Short Hills (treasurer Sunday School since 1933 and church choir since 1934).

Married September 22, 1923, in New London, Conn, Cornelia Chapell, daughter of Frederic Seymour and Harriet Wetmore (Chapell) Newcomb. Children: Frederic Newcomb and Harriet Chapell

Death due to lymphosarcoma Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Shelton Survived by wife, children, and mother

Walton Scully, Ph.B. 1920.

Born September 3, 1898, in Sewickley, Pa Died February 8, 1940, in Buenos Aires, Argentina.

Father, James Wood Scully, member banking and brokerage firm of Scully, Painter & Beech, Pittsburgh, son of James O'Hara and Margaret (Townsend) Scully of Pittsburgh Mother, Ida (Walton) Scully, daughter of Joseph and Annie (Fawcett) Walton of Pittsburgh Yale relatives include a brother, James W Scully, Jr, '12 S

Pomfret School Select course, on Freshman Football and Hockey teams; water polo team Junior year and University Football Squad Senior year; member board of governors University Club 1918–19, floor manager Senior Promenade Committee, cup man, member Mohicans, Whiffenpoofs, Kopper Kettle Klub, Aurelian Honor Society, St Anthony and Delta Psi, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, September 13, 1918, assigned to Field Artillery Central Officers' Training School, Camp Zachary Taylor; discharged December 4, 1918

Associated with W. & H. Walker, Inc., Pittsburgh, 1920–22, salesman Lee, Higginson & Company, investment bankers, Pittsburgh, 1922–29, registered representative McCutcheon, McKelvy & Durant, brokers,

Pittsburgh, 1930-39, and McKelvy & Company 1939-40; member Church of the Ascension (Episcopal), Pittsburgh.

Unmarried

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Allegheny Cemetery, Pittsburgh. Survived by mother, and a sister, Alice Scully Gordon, the wife of Allen T C Gordon (Univ of Virginia 1896–98; LL B George Washington Univ. 1901) of Pittsburgh

Sydney Morris Everett, Ph.B. 1921.

Born February 1, 1900, in New Haven, Conn. Died February 28, 1940, in East Haven, Conn.

Father, Jacob Winchell Everett, associated with J. W. Everett & Son, grocers, New Haven; son of Henry and Phoebe (Winchell) Everett of Ulster County, N. Y. Mother, Harriet Hart (Morris) Everett; daughter of Julius Hotchkiss and Julia Ann (Rowe) Morris of New Haven Yale relatives include a cousin, Ralph H. Everett, '13 S.

New Haven High School Metallurgical engineering course; scholar of the second rank Freshman year; member Freshman Glee Club and

Apollo Glee Club one year; member Alpha Chi Sigma

Attended Yale Graduate School 1921–23 (M.S. 1923), associated with Southern New England Telephone Company since 1923 (engineer's assistant 1923–25, toll trunk engineer 1925–34, traffic manager Hartford and New London districts 1934–36 and traffic trunk engineer, New Haven, 1936–40), member Yale Engineering Association, Masonic order, and Old Stone Church (Congregational), East Haven (vice-chairman board of trustees 1933, chairman 1933–34 and 1938–40; chairman pulpit supply committee 1936–37)

Married September 9, 1925, in East Haven, Jessie Seymour, daughter of Wallace Sturtevant and Clara Louise (Nickerson) Coker No children.

Death due to chronic valvular heart disease. Buried in East Lawn Cemetery, East Haven. Survived by wife, parents, a sister, Mrs William Purdue Johnson of New Haven, and a brother, Ray H. Everett, '07 L

Francis Benedict Kelley, Ph.B. 1921.

Born December 12, 1893, in New Canaan, Conn Died January 10, 1940, in Albany, N.Y.

Father, Henry Kelley, a landscape gardener in New Canaan; son of John and Mary (Gannon) Kelley of New Canaan. Mother, Margaret (Burke) Kelley; daughter of Richard and Hannah (Mahoney) Burke of Greenwich, Conn

Stamford (Conn) High School Attended Rutgers University 1916–19 (member R O T C, Kappa Sigma, Casque and Dagger, and Cap and Skull) Entered Sheffield Scientific School beginning of Junior year; select course; on University Football Team Senior year; member Class Day committee and The Colony and Berzelius.

Associated with Delaware & Hudson Railroad Company, Albany, since 1921 (special student studying railroad systems 1921–26, assistant trainmaster 1926–30, and trainmaster since 1930); member Church of the

Blessed Sacrament, Albany.

Married October 8, 1927, in South Amboy, N J, Helen Marie, daughter of Walter Elias and Kathryn (Brazzell) Parker. Children Francis, Jr, Helen, Robert, Brian, and Mark.

Death due to peritonitis and osteomyelitis of the spine Buried in St John's Cemetery, West Norwalk, Conn Survived by wife, children, father, seven sisters, the Misses Mary J, Nellie, Margaret, Katharine, and Elizabeth Kelley, all of New Canaan, Sister Mary Genevieve of Hartford, Conn, and Mrs Leo Emil Karl of New Canaan, and six brothers, Edward Kelley of Norwalk, and Richard, John, James, Henry, Jr, and Lawrence Kelley (Rutgers Univ. ex-'30), all of New Canaan

Maurice Leonard Pastroff, Ph.B. 1921.

Born October 13, 1899, in New Haven, Conn. Died September 12, 1939, in Miami, Fla

Father, Meyer Pastroff, treasurer Elm City Fruit and Produce Company, New Haven. Mother, Minnie (Kessler) Pastroff, daughter of Joseph and Ida Kessler of Russia Yale relatives include a cousin, Julius Cohen, '12 S.

New Haven High School Civil engineering course, scholar of the second rank Freshman year; general two-year honors for excellence in all studies Junior year; private Engineer Corps, Yale S A T.C., October-December, 1918.

Attended Yale Graduate School 1921–22; with Internal Revenue Service, United States Treasury Department, 1922–25 (in office of collector, second district of New York); independently engaged as accounting and tax expert, Miami, since 1925, vice-president B'nai Brith of West Palm Beach 1933–34, member Masonic order and Temple Israel, Miami.

Married August 2, 1925, in New Haven, Anna Marion Konick (Certificate in Music Yale 1922), daughter of Samuel and Helen (Chernick) Konick, and sister of Harry E. Konick, '24 Children Mona Lu and Edward Joseph

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery,

Miami Survived by wife, children, parents, and a brother, Herman Benjamin Pastroff of New Haven

Alexis Hale Thielens, B.S. 1925.

Born December 19, 1903, in Peoria, Ill. Died April 15, 1940, in South Bend, Ind

Father, Alexis Brenier Thielens of South Bend, director The Stude-baker Corporation, son of Edouard Arnold and Emma Adelaide (Perrin) Thielens of Mattoon, Ill, and New York City. Mother, Edna Hale (Wagner) Thielens (Springfield Coll ex-'94), daughter of Hiram Dodge and Rosaltha M (Hale) Wagner of Hinckley, Ill

South Bend High School Administrative engineering course, scholar of the second rank Freshman year, on Freshman Wrestling Team and University Wrestling Team Junior and Senior years, member St Elmo and Delta Phi

Junior accountant Touche, Niven & Company, public accountants, Chicago, Ill, 1925–27; in sales department The Studebaker Corporation, South Bend, 1927, general manager W H. Lee, Ltd, Studebaker distributors, Toronto, Ont, 1927–28; manager systems division Studebaker Corporation of Canada, Ltd, Walkerville, Ont, 1929, sales manager The Ira C Jones Company, Studebaker distributors, Newark, NJ, 1929–32; in retail management division Studebaker Corporation, South Bend, 1932–33, engaged in sales research with Neilson Chemical Company, Detroit, 1933–34, vice-president and treasurer Municipal Supply Company, South Bend, 1934–40, president South Bend Civic Planning Association 1938–39, director 1939–40

Married September 21, 1929, in South Bend, Christine, daughter of Harry M and Annie Louise (Heckert) Sanders Daughter: Virginia

Death due to a gunshot wound Ashes interred in Riverview Cemetery, South Bend. Survived by wife, daughter, mother, a sister, Edna T. Fries, the wife of Harold Frederick Fries (Indiana Univ ex-'24) of South Bend, and a brother, Wagner Perrin Thielens (B.S. Purdue 1922) of Tuscaloosa, Ala

George Arthur Thorne, Jr., B.S. 1925.

Born December 20, 1901, in Winnetka, Ill. Died September 7, 1939, in Harrisville, NH

Father, George Arthur Thorne, former vice-president, secretary, and director Montgomery Ward & Company, Chicago, son of George Robinson and Ellen (Cobb) Thorne of Chicago Mother, Louise (Ehr-

man) Thorne; daughter of Benjamin Franklin and Louise (Smith) Ehrman of Cincinnati, Ohio

The Hill School General science course, member Freshman Track Squad and Cross Country Team; on University Cross Country Squad Sophomore year and member team Junior year, University Track Squad Senior year; Class hockey team Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years, on Dr. Bull's Football Squad Senior year, member Yale Aeronautical Society, Mohicans, Sword and Gun Club, Aurelian Honor Society, and St Anthony and Delta Psi

Travelled abroad and in the United States 1925–26, attended Yale School of Forestry 1926–28 (M F 1928, represented Yale at First Intercollegiate Air Race, Mitchel Field, 1928), member winter party First Byrd Antarctic Expedition 1928–30 (dog driver and topographer geological sledging party under Laurence Gould which made glaciological and geological studies in central area of Queen Maud Range), on return from Little America worked at American Geographical Society on maps relating to the expedition, partner Eclipse Airways Company, a transport service to mining claims in Swayze area of southern Canada 1932–35; president Thorne Explorations, Ltd., and Little Hope Mines and Investments, Ltd., since 1936, vice-president McKinley Pneumatic Floats, Inc., 1938–39; director General Airways, Toronto; co-inventor of a rubber pontoon for airplanes

Married September 12, 1931, in Brookville, NY, Elinor Gates Toerge, daughter of Charles O Gates No children Mr and Mrs Thorne were divorced in 1936

Death due to injuries received in an airplane accident Buried in Rose-hill Cemetery, Chicago, Ill Survived by mother, four sisters, Virginia T Shaw, the wife of Guthrie Shaw (C E Princeton 1912) of Rye, N Y, Louise Thorne Bovingdon of Lake Forest, Ill, Mrs Robb H Sagendorph of Dublin, N H., and Frances T Horne, the wife of William Dodge Horne, Jr (Litt.B Princeton 1913) of Barrington, Ill, and a brother, Bruce Thorne, '28 S

Franklin Herbert Cogill, B.S. 1926.

Born December 31, 1903, in Bridgeport, Conn Died October 2, 1939, in Bridgeport, Conn

Father, Frank Leander Cogill, president Coulter & McKenzie Machine Company, Bridgeport; son of Franklin Mulford and Phoebe Jane (Searing) of Dunkirk, N Y. Mother, Lillian Amelia (Smith) Cogill; daughter of Henry Herbert and Lavinia Ellen (Wilcoxson) Smith of Bridgeport

Bridgeport High School and the Choate School Mechanical engineering course, member Freshman Swimming Team, University Swimming

D

Squad three years, and University Swimming Team Junior year; secretary and treasurer Choate Club Junior year, member The Colony and Berzelius

Engineer Ingersoll-Rand Company of New England 1926 until retirement in 1934 because of ill-health (in Bridgeport 1926–29, Chicago 1929–31, and Boston 1931–34), member Olivet Church (Congregational), Bridgeport

Unmarried

Death due to tuberculosis Buried in Mountain Grove Cemetery, Bridgeport Survived by parents and two sisters, Margharetta Pearl Cogill Naramore (Certificate in Music Yale 1914), the wife of Stuart Naramore, '12 S, and Lillian Estelle Cogill Horre.

Hoffman Marvin, B.S. 1927.

Born January 20, 1906, in Princeton, NJ Died February 6, 1940, in New Brunswick, N.J.

Father, Walter Taylor Marvin, Litt D (B A Columbia 1893, Ph D. Univ of Bonn 1898), professor of philosophy and dean College of Arts and Sciences, Rutgers University, son of Walter Taylor and Eliza Rowland (Jarvis) Marvin of New York City Mother, Adelaide Camilla (Hoffman) Marvin (B A Barnard Coll 1899); daughter of Luther and Margie (McRobbie) Hoffman of Brooklyn, N Y

New Brunswick High School and Rutgers Preparatory School, B S. Rutgers 1926 (secretary and vice-president student branch American Society of Mechanical Engineers) Entered Sheffield Scientific School Senior year, industrial engineering course; honors for excellence in all studies, member York Hall and Chi Phi

Supervising staff accountant New Jersey Bell Telephone Company, Newark, N J, since graduation; member Yale Engineering Association; attended Church of the Heavenly Rest (Episcopal), New York City

Married April 14, 1936, in New York City, Katharine Shattuck (B A Wellesley 1927), daughter of Lucien Rowland Shattuck (C E Columbia 1895) and Eva Florence (MacMahon) Shattuck, and sister of Lucien R Shattuck, Jr, '30 S Son Andrew Shattuck.

Death due to acute cardiac dilatation Survived by wife, son, parents, and a sister, Dorothy Hope Marvin (B A. Vassar 1924, M.D Columbia 1928) of New Brunswick.

Charles Leitch Twist, B.S. 1932.

Born June 28, 1910, in Albany, NY Died August 2, 1939, in Concarán, San Luis, Argentina.

Father, Charles Wilson Twist, treasurer Witbeck Brothers, Inc., automobile dealers in Albany, son of William Edward and Selenia (Wilson) Twist of Albany. Mother, Anne Elizabeth (Leitch) Twist (B A New York State Coll. 1905); daughter of Alexander and Anne Elizabeth (Mitchison) Leitch of Albany.

Albany Academy. Mining engineering course; Samuel Lewis Penfield prize Junior year and William R Belknap prize Senior year; member Freshman football squad, and Class football squad Freshman and Sophomore years, Class hockey team Freshman year; Class hockey squad and University football squad Sophomore year; member undergraduate committee Yale Hope Mission and chairman Boys' Work Committee, Byers Hall, Junior year, president Byers Hall, secretary Chapel Committee, treasurer Undergraduate Board of Deacons, on Sheffield Student Council and vice-president student branch American Institute of Mining and Metallurgical Engineers Senior year, member St Elmo and Delta Phi, and Aurelian Honor Society.

With St. Elmo Mining & Construction Company, Inc., at Mina el Rincon, Mexico, 1932–33, assistant mine superintendent Lane-Rincon Mining Company 1933–34; mine superintendent Tipuani Section, Cie Aramayo de Mines en Bolivie, La Paz, 1934–38 and of Sominar Mines in the Argentine since 1938, member Mining and Metallurgy Society of New York and Madison Avenue Church (Presbyterian), Albany

Unmarried

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Albany Rural Cemetery. Survived by mother.

Edwin Maxwell Wigley, B.S. 1937.

Born February 18, 1914, in Norwich, Conn. Died May 9, 1940, in East Orange, N J

Father, Edwin Alfred Wigley, a stock clerk with J B Martin Combany, Norwich; son of Thomas and Laura Margaret (Maxwell) Wigley of Brooklyn, N Y Mother, Elsie Maywhort (Shaw) Wigley, daughter of William Fletcher and Sarah Ann (Maywhort) Shaw of Norwich

Norwich Free Academy Mathematics course, scholar of the second rank Freshman year; first Benjamin F Barge Mathematical Prize Sophonore year, honorable mention Anthony D Stanley Memorial Fund Prize Junior year, second DeForest Senior Mathematical Prize, B S with

distinction, associate member Sigma X1; member Mathematics Club and Branford College

Associated with Prudential Insurance Company of America, Newark NJ, 1937–40 (actuarial student 1937–38 and actuarial clerk 1938–40), member Central Baptist Church, Norwich.

Unmarried.

Took his own life Buried in Maplewood Cemetery, Norwich Survived by parents

SCHOOL OF ENGINEERING

Robert Tyler Reeder, B.E. 1938.

Born August 16, 1917, in Eugene, Ore Died December 17, 1939, near Daytona Beach, Fla

Father, Robert Patterson Reeder (LL B. Univ. of Pennsylvania 1898 LL M 1914), a lawyer, with Solicitor General of the United States for many years and later trial examiner Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D C; son of Silas Andrews Reeder (M D Univ. of Pennsylvania 1861) and Anna Maria (Harris) Reeder (grad. Mount Holyoke Coll 1865) of Hartford, Conn Mother, Rosa May (Tyler) Reeder, daughter of George Frederick and Mary Elizabeth (Young) Tyler of Camden, N J

Central High School and Sidwell Friends' School, Washington Attended Duke University 1934–35. Entered Yale in Sophomore year mechanical engineering course, member Saybrook College (on college crew Junior year); member University Crew Squad Sophomore year assistant manager Yale Rifle Team Junior year and manager Senior year on board Yale Scientific Magazine for six months Junior year.

Draughtsman Birdsboro (Pa) Steel Foundry 1938–39, member American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Yale Engineering Association, and Society of American Military Engineers, attended Central Presbyterian Church, Washington

Unmarried

Killed when an automobile in which he was a passenger collided with a truck Buried in Rock Creek Cemetery, Washington Survived by parents.

Daniel James Healy, Jr., B.E. 1939.

Born March 14, 1916, in New Haven, Conn Died December 14, 1939, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Daniel James Healy, a painting contractor in New Haven, son if James Andrew and Kathryn (Papple) Healy of New Haven Mother, Ielen Frances (Kinsella) Healy; daughter of Michael J and Lucy (McLenna) Kinsella of New Haven.

New Haven High School and New Haven Commercial High School intered with Class of 1938, joining 1939 E fall of 1937, metallurgy ourse; on Freshman Swimming Squad, University Swimming Squad ophomore year; editorial board Yale Record Sophomore year, member onathan Edwards College, More Club, Yale Society of Metallurgy, and rudent branch American Institute of Mining and Metallurgical Engineers.

Associated with his father in the paint contracting business since raduation; member St. Joseph's Church (Roman Catholic), New Iaven

Unmarried

Death due to medulloblastoma of the cerebellum Buried in St Berard Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by parents, three sisters, the Misses Ielen Frances, Frances Marie, and Marie Agnes Healy, and a brother, obert Alan Healy, all of New Haven.

GRADUATE SCHOOL

MASTERS OF ARTS

James Fairbanks Colby, M.A. 1877.

Born November 18, 1850, in St Johnsbury, Vt. Died October 21, 1939, in Hanover, N.H

Father, James Kelsey Colby (B A. Dartmouth 1838), principal St Johnsbury Academy 1842–66; son of Isaac and Lucy (Berry) Colby of Derry, N H Mother, Sarah Ann (Pierce) Colby; daughter of Aaron Pierce, M D, and Sarah (Hough) Pierce of Barton, Vt. Yale relatives include a brother, Edward A Colby, '80 S.

St Johnsbury Academy; B A. Dartmouth 1872 (member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Phi Beta Kappa); attended George Washington Law School 1874-75 (LL B 1875) and Yale Graduate School (M.A. 1877); clerk Committee on Revision of the Laws, United States House of Representatives 1873-75, admitted to Washington (D C) bar 1875, Connecticut bar 1878, and New Hampshire bar 1889, in office of Scudder & Carter [James C, 'or Hon], New York City, for a short time 1875; practiced law in New Haven, Conn, 1878–85, instructor in political economy Yale University 1878-81, secretary New Haven Civil Service Reform Association 1881-85, instructor in history Dartmouth College 1885-93 and first Parker Professor of Law and Political Science 1885-1916, Parker professor emeritus since 1916, lecturer in jurisprudence and international law Boston University School of Law 1905-23, LLD Dartmouth 1901; author "Disfranchisment For Crime" in Three Papers on Crime (1883), Legal and Political Studies in Dartmouth College, 1796–1896 (1896); editor Manual of the Constitution of the State of New Hampshire (1902 and 1912) and A Sketch of English Legal History by Frederic W. Maitland and Francis C Montague (1915), had contributed to periodicals and to Dictionary of American Biography, trustee St. Johnsbury Academy 1896–1925, and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital, Hanover, 1901–28; on New Hampshire Forestry Commission 1893-99 (took part in establishment of Pine Park Reservation, Hanover), and delegate to State Constitutional Convention 1902, organizer and last surviving member Colby Club, member Society for the Preservation of the White Mountain Forests, American Political Science Association, American Economic Association, New Hampshire State Bar Association, American Society of International Law, American Bar Association, and South Congregational Church, St Johnsbury, and Church of Christ at Dartmouth College

Unmarried

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Mount Pleasant Cemetery, St Johnsbury Survived by no immediate relatives

Nobuji Sekido, M.A. 1908.

Died May 15, 1940.

Waseda University 1907, student in English Yale Graduate School 1907-09 (M.A 1908), engaged in transportation business in Yokohama and Tokyo for a number of years.

Married. Son: Fukutaso Sekido. Survived by son.

James Argyle McLauchlin, M.A. 1921.

Born June 15, 1867, in Wadesboro, N.C. Died December 6, 1939, in Weatherford, Okla

Father, John Calvin McLauchlin, clerk of Anson County, N C, thirty years Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Caraway) McLauchlin

Wadesboro public schools; B A Davidson College 1887 and M A 1895; attended Yale Graduate School 1920–21 (M A 1921); teacher in schools of Anson County 1887–89, Meriden, Kans, 1889–93, and Wadesboro and Gastonia, N.C., 1894–97, instructor in mathematics Austin College, Sherman, Texas, 1897–1904, superintendent of schools Mangum, Okla, 1904–08 and Granite, Okla, 1911–13; president Central State Teacher's College, Edmond, Okla, 1908–11, head of foreign language department Southwestern State Teachers' College, Weatherford, 1913–25 and head of education department 1925 until retirement in 1935; author Pensa Prima Latina (1896); compiler Statistics of Education in the United States (1921), member Masonic order and Presbyterian church, Weatherford

Married April 10, 1888, in Charlotte, N C, Frances Eleanor Tillman (B A Southwestern State Teachers' Coll 1923), daughter of Dr David Chiles Tillman and Martha (Arnold) Tillman Children John Calvin (deceased); Martha Mae (deceased); Elizabeth Anna (B A Univ of Oklahoma 1913), the wife of Herbert Meeting; Katharine, the wife of Wayne Frank Clegern; Rosamond (B A. Southwestern State Teachers' Coll 1922; M.A Columbia 1924), the wife of Troy Olen Morgan (Georgia School of Technology 1927–31), Frances (B A Southwestern State Teachers' Coll 1923), the wife of Paul F Pearson (Univ of Oklahoma 1920–22), and James Argyle, Jr (B S Southwestern State Teachers' Coll. 1930, B A. 1933; M S Oklahoma Argicultural and Mechanical Coll 1933)

Death due to injuries received when struck by an automobile Buried in Gracelawn Cemetery, Edmond Survived by wife, five children, thirteen grandchildren, a sister, Mrs. Benjamin Covington of Wadesboro,

and two brothers, John Edmund McLauchlin of Hamlet, N C, and Rev Wilfred C McLauchlin, D D (Davidson Coll) of Haichow, China.

DOCTORS OF PHILOSOPHY

Gaylard Hawkins Patterson, Ph.D. 1890.

Born August 18, 1866, at Slippery Rock, Pa. Died June 5, 1940, in Carlisle, Pa

Father, Asa M Patterson (M D Western Reserve Univ 1872), a physician in Slippery Rock, son of David and Eliza (Mitchell) Patterson who lived near West Sunbury, Pa Mother, Sara (Patterson) Patterson; daughter of James A and Rhenany (Mitchell) Patterson who lived near Slippery Rock, Pa

Attended Allegheny College 1885-87, Ohio Wesleyan University 1887-88 (B A 1888), Yale Graduate School 1888-90 (Ph D. 1890), Yale Divinity School 1890–91, and Boston University School of Theology 1891-92 (STB 1892), Williams fellow at Harvard 1892-93 (MA. 1893), minister Methodist Episcopal church, Millville, N.Y., 1893-94. Clinton Street Church, Lockport, NY, 1894–96, Sumner Place Church, Buffalo, NY, 1896–1907, professor of history Willamette University 1907-12, economics 1907-09, and social science 1909-14; dean College of Liberal Arts 1909–14, fellow in sociology University of Wisconsin 1914–15, member faculty of Dickinson College since 1915, professor of economics 1915–32 and sociology 1915–39; professor emeritus 1939–40; dean of the jumor class 1928-31, author The Social Significance of the Heaven and Hell of Islam (1890), The Septuagint Text of Hosea Compared with the Massoretic Text (1891), The Chief Aim of High School Education (1909), and The High School Curriculum in Relation to the College Course (1910), Chautauqua lecturer and teacher, president Bureau of Social Service, Carlisle, 1917-19, member Oregon Social Hygiene Society, Oregon Academy of Sciences, Pennsylvania State Educational Association, American Sociological Society, American Economic Association, American Political Science Association, American Historical Association, and Allison Memorial Church (Methodist), Carlisle

Married (1) August 17, 1893, in Toronto, Helen McKellar No children Mrs Patterson died in 1896 Married (2) December 19, 1900, in Toronto, Millicent Louise Webber, daughter of Rev George Webber (Univ of London) and Emma (Nance) Webber Daughter Eunice Louise (B A Dickinson Coll 1927, B S Columbia 1928), the wife of John Leslie Rowland (Univ of Pennsylvania ex-'25)

Death due to bronchial pneumonia Buried in Westminster Cemetery, Carlisle Survived by wife, daughter, and a granddaughter

Victor Harald Hegstrom, Ph.D. 1894.

Born January 11, 1869, in Bergsjo, Sweden Died March 14, 1940, in Marathon, Iowa

Father, Erik Hogstrom (graduate Uppsala Univ 1844), a school teacher in Bergsjo, son of Olaf Olafson and Brita Eriksdotter of Bergsjo Mother, Sara (Hazelius) Hogstrom, daughter of Olaf Persson Lod and Anna Hazelius of Bergsjo

B A Augustana College 1890, attended Yale Graduate School 1890–91 and 1892-94 (Ph.D 1894), Columbia University 1895-97, University of Chicago 1903-04, and Augustana Theological Seminary 1904-05 (B D 1905, STM. 1925, and STD 1927), student minister Mount Vernon, NY, 1891–92, instructor Upsala Institute, Brooklyn, NY, 1894–98, president Jewell (Iowa) Lutheran College 1898–1903, student minister Augustana Lutheran Church, Chicago, Ill, 1903-05, ordained there 1905 and minister 1905–16, minister First Lutheran Church, St. Peter, Minn, 1916-39, member faculty Gustavus Adolphus College at various times since 1918 (instructor in philosophy 1918-19, acting professor of Christianity 1919-20 and German and psychology 1920-21, instructor in Christianity 1922-23, 1924-25, professor of Christianity 1928-29 and Greek 1934–39); author "Schopenhauer and Ancient Hindu Philosophy A Comparative Study in Pessimism" (1894) and Christ in the New Testament and the Early Church (1931); director Gustavus Adolphus College 1918–39 and member executive board 1923–39

Married June 1, 1898, in Des Moines, Iowa, Ada Matilda, daughter of Swan August and Betty (Anderson) Swanson Children Harold Eugene (B.A. Gustavus Adolphus Coll 1923), Paul Luther (B A Gustavus Adolphus Coll 1932; B D Augustana Theological Seminary 1936), and Ada Dorothy (B A Gustavus Adolphus Coll 1925), the wife of Emil Reinold Carlson (B A Augustana Coll 1923, B D Augustana Theological Seminary 1928)

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Swedish Lutheran Cemetery, St Peter, Minn Survived by wife, children, and eight grandchildren

Charles Henry Adams Wager, Ph.D. 1895.

Born December 20, 1869, in Cohoes, NY Died July 1, 1939, in Oberlin, Ohio

Father, George Henry Wager, a manufacturer of textiles in Cohoes, son of George Wager of Worcester, N Y Mother, Lydia Louisa (Frink) Wager; daughter of Alexander and Rachel (Osterhout) Frink of Berne and Cohoes, N Y

Colgate Academy, B A Colgate University 1892 (member Delta Upsilon and Phi Beta Kappa), studied English language and literature Yale Graduate School 1893–95 (Ph D 1895), instructor in Latin Colgate University 1892–93; professor of English Language and Literature, Centre College 1895–97 and acting professor of French 1895–96; McIlvaine Professor of the English Language and Literature Kenyon College 1897–1900, member faculty Oberlin College since 1900 (professor of English 1900–34, professor emeritus 1934–40, registrar 1903–05, advisory officer 1905–11), Litt D Colgate 1910, L H D. Oberlin 1935; author To Whom It May Concern (2 vols, 1928, 1936, 1938); editor: The Seege of Troye (1899), member Modern Language Association of America, British Society of Franciscan Studies, and Christ Church (Episcopal), Oberlin

Married August 18, 1896, in Red Bank, N.J., Annie Applegate (B A. Vassar 1891), daughter of John Stilwell Applegate, LL D. (B A Colgate Univ 1858), and Deborah Catherine (Allen) Applegate. No children.

Death due to cerebral sclerosis. Buried in Westwood Cemetery, Oberlin. Survived by wife.

Alfred John Pearson, Ph.D. 1896.

Born September 29, 1869, in Landskrona, Sweden. Died August 10, 1939, in Des Moines, Iowa.

Parents, Hans and Johanna (Nilson) Pearson

B A Bethany College (Kans) 1893, M A 1896; studied Germanic languages and literature Yale Graduate School 1893-96 (Ph D. 1896); professor of English and German Upsala College 1896-98 and English language and literature Gustavus Adolphus College 1898–1907; professor of modern languages 1907-08 and German language and literature Drake University 1908–24 and 1930–39; dean College of Liberal Arts since 1930, professorial lecturer in Romance languages University of Minnesota 1918–19, envoy extraordinary and minister plenipotentiary to Poland 1924-25 and to Finland 1925-30; decorated with order Polonia Restituta 1925 and Order of the White Rose (Finland) 1930, LLD. Drake 1926, author. "The Gothic School in Swedish Literature" (1896), Helps in the Study of English Classics (1902), The Rhine and Its Legends (1919), The Moselle in History and Legend (1919), The Land of a Thousand Lakes (1932), translator of many poems from the Scandinavian; director Y.M C A overseas service in France and Germany 1918–19, chairman Municipal Housing Commission, Des Moines, 1936–37, director Farmers Bond and Mortgage Company; president Swedish-American Tercentenary Commission of Iowa 1937, national secretary Lutheran Brotherhood of America 1923-24, member Phi Sigma Iota, American-Scandinavian Foundation, John Ericsson League of Iowa, Authors' Club, North Central Teachers' Association, Modern Language Association of America, American Association of University Professors, and First Swedish Lutheran Church, Des Moines.

Married June 8, 1901, in Minneapolis, Thea Pauline, daughter of Lars and Margaret Swenson. Children, Paul Harold (B A Drake Univ 1926, LL B 1927) and Elaine (B A Drake Univ 1925, M A 1930), the wife of Daniel Ward Ernst (Drake Univ ex-'25)

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Lakewood Cemetery, Minneapolis Survived by wife, children, one grandson, two sisters, Mrs Celia Pearson McFarland and Mrs. Mathild Pearson Johnson, both of McPherson, Kans, and a brother, Peter Henry Pearson (B A Roanoke Coll 1890, M.A. Univ of Berlin 1893) of East Orange, N J.

William Huntington Parker, Ph.D. 1899.

Born July 31, 1869, in Worcester, Mass Died June 11, 1940, in Brooklyn, N.Y.

Father, Henry Langdon Parker (B A Dartmouth 1856), a lawyer in Worcester, son of Asa and Margaret Ann (McCorristone) Parker of Acton, Mass Mother, Isabel Hopewell Hayden (Mason) Parker, daughter of David S Mason of Williamsburg, Mass

Worcester High School, B S Worcester Polytechnic Institute 1893; with Metropolitan Water Supply Commission, State Board of Health, Boston, 1893–94; assistant chemist Connecticut Board of Health and assistant in chemistry Yale University 1894–97, instructor in chemistry 1897–1900; registered in Yale Graduate School 1897–99 (Ph D 1899); assistant in physiology Harvard Medical School 1900–01, chemist in charge United States laboratories and special examiner of drugs, Port of Boston, 1900–15, assistant appraiser of merchandise, Boston, 1912–16; chief of analytical laboratories Chas. Pfizer & Company, Inc., manufacturing chemists, Brooklyn, N Y, 1916–40, author "A Study of the Alloxuric Bases..." and "The Maximum Production of Hippuric Acid in Rabbits" (1899); member American Chemical Society, Society of Chemical Industry (London), Society of American Bacteriologists, American Physiological Society, American Society of Biological Chemists, and Grace Church (Episcopal), Brooklyn, N.Y.

Married (1) October 6, 1894, in Providence, RI, Isabel Morgan, daughter of Christopher Allen and Alice Pamelia (Dean) Cady Children Clitheroe Mason, the wife of Sterling Nye Loveland (DMD. Harvard 1913), Dean Huntington (BS Massachusetts Inst. of Technology 1917); and Robert Morgan (B.A. Harvard 1926) Mr. and Mrs. Parker were

divorced in 1922 Married (2) August 22, 1929, in Newton, Mass, Bessie, daughter of Frederick Williston and Frances (DesAnges) Wheeler

Death due to bronchopneumonia Buried in Fairview Cemetery, Red Bank, N J Survived by wife, children, seven grandchildren, two sisters, Grace Ann P Cardwell (Wellesley ex-'90), the wife of John Crean Cardwell (M D New York Univ. 1888) of Brooklyn, and Gertrude P. Nelson, the wife of Frederick Amiel Nelson (Harvard ex-'04) of Worcester, and two brothers, Henry Langdon Parker (B A Dartmouth 1885) of Worcester, and Herbert Gooding Parker (B A Dartmouth 1902) of Indianapolis, Ind.

Sara Anna Emerson, Ph.D. 1903.

Born April 5, 1855, in Somerville, Mass. Died November 1, 1939, in Roxbury, Mass

Father, Thomas Emerson, a farmer in Watertown and Somerville, Mass; son of John and Mary (Slater) Emerson of Escrick, Yorkshire, England Mother, Maria Moore (Farwell) Emerson, daughter of Jacob and Anna (Moore) Farwell of Waltham, Mass.

Waltham High School, B A Boston University 1877, member faculty of Wellesley College 1877–95 (teacher of Latin 1877–84, instructor 1884–85, acting professor of Latin and instructor in Hebrew 1885–86, associate professor of Latin and instructor in Hebrew 1886–89, on leave of absence 1889–90, instructor in Bible 1890–91, associate professor of Hebrew and Old Testament 1891–95); resigned in 1895 because of ill-health and travelled abroad extensively, studied Semitic and Biblical languages Yale Graduate School 1900–03 (Ph D. 1903); instructor in Biblical Literature, National Training School for Missionaries and Deaconesses, Washington, D C, 1903 until retirement in 1906; engaged in private teaching and lecturing and active in foreign missionary work of Methodist Episcopal Church until 1936, author. "The Historic Nucleus of the Stories of Abraham Contained in the Book of Genesis" (1903); member St John's Church, Watertown, Mass

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Grove Hill Cemetery, Waltham Survived by no immediate relatives.

Walter Petersen, Ph.D. 1908.

Born January 24, 1881, in Gluckstadt, Germany Died October 3, 1939, in Chicago, Ill

Father, Anton Peter Petersen, retired, formerly associated with S N Wolbach's store, Grand Island, Nebr; son of Peter Jacob and Maria

Sophia (Paulsen) Petersen of Schleswig-Holstein, Germany Mother, Carolina Henrietta Dorothea (Kuhlman) Petersen; daughter of Henrich

and Christine (Levin) Kuhlman of Schleswig-Holstein.

Grand Island High School; B A Grand Island College 1900, M A University of Nebraska 1902; instructor in Greek and German Hastings College 1902-04; attended University of Leipzig 1905-06 and studied linguistics and Sanskrit Yale Graduate School 1906-09 (Ph D 1908), instructor in Greek Syracuse University 1909, professor of Greek, Latin, psychology, and philosophy Bethany College, Lindsborg, Kans, 1909-22, professor of ancient languages Westminster College, New Wilmington, Pa, 1922-24; acting professor of ancient languages University of Redlands, 1924–25; assistant professor of ancient languages University of Florida 1925-27 and associate professor 1927-30, associate professor of comparative philology University of Chicago 1930-39; on faculty Linguistic Institute during summer session held at Yale 1928; author. Greek Diminutives in -ion, A Study in Semantics (1910), translator The Lyric Songs of the Greeks (1918); contributed articles on philology to learned publications; member Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences, Classical Association of the Middle West and South, American Oriental Society, American Philological Association, Linguistic Society of America, Indogermanische Gesellschaft, and Church of Our Redeemer (Lutheran), Chicago, Ill.

Unmarried.

Death due to traumatic intermeningeal hemorrhage Buried in Bethania Cemetery, Justice, Ill. Survived by father.

Edward Wilber Nichols, Ph.D. 1913.

Born November 4, 1881, in Lansdowne, Nova Scotia. Died August 26, 1939, in Halifax, Nova Scotia.

Father, Edward Hart Nichols, a farmer in Lansdowne; son of George Shrieber and Hannah (Warne) Nichols of Shelburne, Nova Scotia Mother, Mary Alice (DeLong) Nichols; daughter of Jacob Beeler and Hannah Wilber (Crandall) DeLong of Barss Corner, Nova Scotia

Digby Academy, Nova Scotia, and private study; B A Dalhousie University 1906, M.A 1910; master of training school, Naparima College, San Fernando, Trinidad, 1908–09, studied classics Yale Graduate School 1910–13 (Ph D 1913), instructor in Greek and Latin Yale University 1913–18; member faculty Dalhousie University since 1918 (instructor in classics 1918–21, assistant professor 1921–22, associate professor 1922–24, professor 1924–30, and McLeod Professor of Classics and head of department 1930–39), author The Semantic Variability and Semantic Equivalents of -oso- and -lento- (1914), on editorial board Dalhousie Review 1933–39,

contributed to American Journal of Philology and Dalhousie Review; charter member American Linguistic Association; member Nova Scotia Historical Society, Classical Association of the Maritime Provinces, American Philological Association, British Classical Association, and Cathedral of All Saints, Halifax

Married August 13, 1926, in Halifax, Roberta Bond (B.A. Dalhousie Univ 1921, M D, C M 1925), daughter of George John Bond, LL D. (B A Mount Allison Univ. 1874) and Lucy Amelia (Macpherson) Bond Children: Edward George, Margaret Eliphal, John Richard, and Robert Hart

Death due to intracranial thrombosis. Buried in Church of England Cemetery, Sackville, Nova Scotia Survived by wife, children, a sister, Eliphal Nichols (B A Dalhousie Univ. 1919, M.A 1922) of St. Paul, Minn, four half sisters, Mrs. Charles William Ouderkirk of Campello, Mass, Mrs Rotheus Eutimer Welsh and Mrs. Archibald Hardy Peck, both of West Roxbury, Mass, and Mrs. William Francis Carr of Saskatchewan, and a half brother, John Abraham Hart Nichols of Acaciaville, Nova Scotia

Edward Winfield Morrison, Ph.D. 1929.

Born December 29, 1899, in Denver, Colo. Died November 24, 1939, in New Brunswick, NJ.

Father, John Arcus Morrison, a cabinet maker in Los Angeles, Calif.; son of Peter and Margaret (Arcus) Morrison of Lerwick, Shetland Islands. Mother, Isabella (Mainland) Morrison; daughter of Thomas and Margaret (Goudie) Mainland of Dunrossness, Shetland Islands

Francis Polytechnic High School, Los Angeles; attended Pomona College 1917–19 (private S A.T.C 1918) and University of California 1919– 21 (B A 1921), superintendent in charge of manufacturing Kream of Kream, Ice Cream Company, Oakland, Calif., 1921-23; in charge control laboratory Nestle's Food Company, Inc., San Francisco, 1923-26; studied bacteriology Yale Graduate School 1926-29 (Ph D. 1929; member Sigma Xi); did special bacteriological work and made plant surveys Nestle's Food Company, Inc., New York City, 1927–28; bacteriologist State of Connecticut Department of Domestic Animals Laboratory 1927-29, industrial fellow Mellon Institute of Industrial Research, University of Pittsburgh, 1929–31; bacteriologist Fruit Industries, Ltd , San Francisco, 1931-32; assistant professor of bacteriology New Jersey College for Women since 1932, part-time bacteriologist Garrett & Company, Inc, Brooklyn, NY, on research dealing with bacterial spoilage of grape concentrates and bacterial diseases of light wines 1934; co-author with Professor Leo F. Rettger (Ph.D. 1902) of articles contributed to

Journal of Bacteriology; member Society of American Bacteriologists, first and third International Congress for Microbiology, and Baptist church

Married June 11, 1932, in Toronto, Ontario, Edythe Mary Borland (B A. Univ. of Toronto 1927), daughter of Rev James Hugh Morton Borland and Mary (Macfarlane) Borland No children

Death due to lobar pneumonia Buried in Mount Pleasant Cemetery, Toronto. Survived by wife, parents, and two brothers, Andrew Morrison and Franklin Morrison, both of Los Angeles.

SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

Edward Ames, M.D. 1874.

Born January 28, 1851, in West Rutland, Vt. Died March 22, 1940, in Coconut Grove, Fla

Father, Charles Ames, a farmer in Kaneville, Ill; son of Avery and Annis (Ames) Ames of West Rutland Mother, Adelia Desiah (Ward) Ames; daughter of Chauncey and Perley L (Scott) Ward of Kaneville Jennings Seminary, Aurora, Ill; attended Wheaton (Ill) College 1870–72, Western Reserve University School of Medicine 1872–73, Yale School of Medicine 1873–74 (M D 1874), and University Medical College, New York University, 1880–81 (M D 1881); practiced medicine and surgery Sherman, N Y, 1874–92 and Kalamazoo, Mich, 1892 until retirement in 1939, one of the founders of New York State Medical Society, member Kalamazoo Academy of Medicine, Michigan State Medical Society, American Medical Association, and Masonic order

Married October 25, 1876, in Kaneville, Cornelia Annette, daughter of Thaddeus and Elizabeth Annette (Hawley) Hoyt Children Jessie Hoyt (B A Kalamazoo Coll 1905 and Univ of Chicago 1906, died March 18, 1936), and Thaddeus Hoyt (B A Univ of Michigan 1905, M.D 1907) Mrs Ames died December 23, 1934

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Kaneville. Survived by son and two grandsons

Dr Ames made a bequest to the University to establish the Edward Ames Scholarship Fund, the income of which is to be used to assist a student in the School of Medicine.

Edward Strong Dwight, M.D. 1876.

Born December 25, 1853, in New Haven, Conn Died March 17, 1940, in Smyrna, Del

Father, John William Dwight, a manufacturer in New Haven, son of Timothy Dwight (M A Hon 1827) and Clarissa (Strong) Dwight Mother, Sophia (Dwight) Dwight, daughter of Benjamin Woolsey Dwight (B A 1799) and Sophia Woodbridge (Strong) Dwight Yale relatives include Benjamin Woolsey (B A 1709) and Jonathan Edwards (B A 1720) (great-great-great-grandfathers), John Woodbridge (B A 1726), Timothy Dwight (B A 1744), Benjamin Woolsey (B A 1744), Joseph Strong (B A 1749), John Hooker (B A 1751) (great-great-grandfathers), Timothy Dwight (B A 1769) and Joseph Strong (B A 1784) (great-grandfathers), John Hooker (B A 1782), Theodore Dwight (M A Hon 1798), and Nathaniel Dwight (M A. Hon 1815) (great-

'n.

great-uncles), Theodore Strong (B A 1797), John Dwight (B A 1802), Sereno E Dwight (B A 1803), James Dwight (ex-1804), Theodore Strong (B A 1812), William T Dwight (B A 1813), Henry E Dwight (B A 1815), Woodbridge Strong (B A 1815), and Maltby Strong (B A 1819) (great-uncles), Edward S Dwight (B A 1838), Benjamin W Dwight (grad Divinity School 1838), and Theodore W Dwight (LL D Hon 1892) (uncles)

Hopkins Grammar School Attended Yale College 1870–72 and Yale School of Medicine 1872–1873 and 1874–76 (M D 1876), associated with his father in business 1873–74, studied in Europe 1879–81, centering his work in Paris; practiced medicine in New Haven 1877–79, New York City 1881–87, and Smyrna 1887 until retirement June, 1939, contributed to medical journals; assistant sanitary inspector New York City Health Department 1883, president Board of Health, Smyrna, 1912–13, member Delaware Tuberculosis Commission, Medical Society of Delaware (president 1901–02), and American Medical Association, attended Episcopal church.

Married October 15, 1902, in Marshall, Va, Maria Willis, daughter of Edward Carrington and Isabel (Reaney) Marshall No children

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife and a sister, Miss Mary Clarissa Dwight of Smyrna

William Snow Mıller, M.D. 1879.

Born March 29, 1858, in Sterling, Mass Died December 26, 1939, in Madison, Wis

Father, William Miller (B A. Amherst 1842, graduate Andover Theological Seminary 1845), a Congregational minister, son of Comfort and Polly (Dane) Miller of New Braintree, Mass Mother, Harriet Emily (Snow) Miller, daughter of Henry and Harriet (Wheelock) Snow of Shrewsbury, Mass

Williston Academy and private tutor, attended Yale School of Medicine 1877–79 (M D 1879), practiced medicine in Clinton and Southbury, Conn, 1879–86, lecturer on microscopical technique Mount Holyoke College 1887–88; pathologist Worcester City and Memorial hospitals, Worcester, Mass, 1889–92 and fellow in anatomy Clark University 1890–92, member faculty University of Wisconsin since 1892, instructor in vertebrate anatomy within the department of biology 1892–95, assistant professor of vertebrate anatomy 1895–1904, associate professor of anatomy 1904–16, professor 1916–24, and professor emeritus 1924–39, studied abroad 1895–96 centering his work at University of Leipzig, fellow by courtesy Johns Hopkins University 1906–07 and lecturer in

medicine 1918-19, lecturer on tuberculosis, United States Veterans' Bureau, New Haven, 1923-24, and Post Graduate School in Tuberculosis United States Veterans' Bureau, Beacon, NY, 1924-25; Beaumont lecturer Yale University 1931, author: The Lung (1937), contributed many papers on anatomy, histology of the lungs, and tuberculosis to journals, on editorial board Anatomical Record 1909-21, member committee on growth and development White House Conference on Child Health and Protection 1931, Sc D University of Cincinnati 1920 and University of Wisconsin 1926, awarded Trudeau Medal of National Tuberculosis Association 1934, in honor of his seventieth birthday the William Snow Miller lectureship was established at University of Wisconsin by Phi Beta Pi medical fraternity, president Yale Alumni Association of Madison 1912-16; fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science and American Medical Association; honorary member Connecticut State Medical Society, State Medical Society of Wisconsin, and National Tuberculosis Association (special investigator 1920-31); life member State Historical Society of Wisconsin, member Institute of Medicine of Chicago, Medical History Society of Chicago, Milwaukee Academy of Medicine, Wisconsin Academy of Sciences, Arts and Letters, American Association of Anatomists (vice-president 1908-09), American Association of History of Medicine (vice-president 1932), American Society of Naturalists (vice-president), American Society of Zoologists, Harvey Society (lecturer 1924), Société Internationale d'Histoire de la Médecine, Union Internationale contre la Tuberculose, Deutsche Gesellschaft für Geschichte der Medizin, Naturwissenschaft und Technik, Masonic order, and Sigma Xi.

Married (1) October 14, 1881, in Clinton, Conn, Carrie McKean, daughter of Edwin Bradley No children Mrs. Miller died December 12, 1901 Married (2) August 6, 1912, in Madison, Wis, Alice Lisle, daughter of Elisha and Maria Banyer (Edmond) Burdick, great-granddaughter of William Edmond (B A 1777), and granddaughter of Robert Edmond (ex-1826)

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Forest Hill Cemetery, Madison Survived by wife

Henry Lawrence Swain, M.D. 1884.

Born May 3, 1864, in Nantucket, Mass. Died January 11, 1940, in New Haven, Conn

Father, George Hussey Swain of Nantucket and New Haven; a captain and master mariner engaged in whaling and merchant service; son of Gilbert and Sarah H (Shaw) Swain of Nantucket Mother, Henrietta (Weeks) Swain, daughter of Barzillai and Mary (Lawrence) Weeks of Nantucket.

Hillhouse High School Attended Yale School of Medicine 1881-84 (MD 1884); studied medicine in Leipzig 1884-86 (office and clinic assistant to Professor Hagen 1885-86), practiced medicine in New Haven 1886-1940, specializing in diseases of ear, eye, nose, and throat, member faculty Yale School of Medicine since 1886 (demonstrator in anatomy 1888-89, lecturer on diseases of throat and ear 1886-95 and clinical professor 1895-1902; clinical professor of laryngology and otology 1902-16, clinical professor of otology 1916-35, and clinical professor emeritus since 1935), laryngologist New Haven Hospital 1894-1920 and consulting laryngologist since 1920, consulting laryngologist New Haven Dispensary 1887–1940; consulting otorhinolaryngologist Grace Hospital, on executive committee Yale Alumni Association of New Haven, secretary Class of 1884 M. from 1910 to 1937, contributed to many medical journals; second vice-president Gaylord Farm Association 1931-34, first vicepresident since 1934, and a director, chairman nominating committee New Haven League for the Hard of Hearing 1931-38, charter member and later honorary fellow New York Laryngological Association, honorary member American Laryngological Association since 1939 (secretary and treasurer 1895–1900 and president 1900–01); fellow American Medical Association, member New Haven Medical Association (president 1894), New Haven County Medical Association, New Haven County Anti-Tuberculosis Association (vice-president fifteen years and a director), Connecticut State Medical Society, National Tuberculosis Association, International Otolaryngological Association, New Haven Colony Historical Society, Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences, Masonic order, and St. Thomas' Church (Episcopal), New Haven

Married (1) December 24, 1890, in New Haven, Etta Viola, daughter of Elihu Elijah and Annie (Chapman) Winchell Children Lawrence Winchell (died May 2, 1892) and Josephine Ethel Mrs Swain died December 20, 1926. Married (2) October 15, 1931, in Hartford, Conn, Jane Elizabeth Beecher Schmitt, daughter of William Ammidown and Esther Ann (Stridiron) Beecher.

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife and daughter

George Samuel Wright, M.D. 1884.

Born May 17, 1861, in Greenwich, Conn Died September 18, 1939, in Seattle, Wash.

Father, Charles Henry Wright of Greenwich; a teacher in public schools in Connecticut, son of George and Mersha (Downer) Wright of Columbia, Conn Mother, Harriet Esther (Whittlesey) Wright, daughter of Roger Newton and Jane Tomlinson Lane Whittlesey of Farmington, Conn.

Connecticut Normal School, attended Yale School of Medicine 1882-84 (M D 1884), interne Connecticut Retreat for the Insane, Hartford, 1884-85, practiced medicine in New Hartford, Conn., 1885-90, Seattle 1890-92 (assistant health officer 1892), and Friday Harbor, Wash., 1893 until retirement in 1928, since 1928 resided in Seattle; coroner San Juan County 1894-1906; member Westminster Church (Presbyterian), Seattle (elder 1932-36)

Married October 17, 1885, in Naugatuck, Conn., Laura Carleton, daughter of Carlos and Mary Elizabeth (Richardson) Tenney Children Agnes Tenney, the wife of Edward C Long, and Louise Whittlesey (died 1912)

Death due to injuries received when struck by an automobile Buried in Acacia Cemetery, Seattle. Survived by wife, one daughter, four grand-children, and five great-grandchildren

Charles Worthington Vishno, M.D. 1885.

Born February 23, 1861, in Townsend, Mass Died October 2, 1939, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Charles Vishno (M D New York Homeopathic Medical Coll 1866), a physician in New Haven Mother, Delina (Osborn) Vishno, daughter of James and Hattie (Pease) Osborn of Collinsville, Conn Yale relatives include two nephews, Benjamin Spock, '25, and Robert H Spock, '36

Hopkins Grammar School, attended Yale School of Medicine 1882–85 (M D 1885), practiced medicine in New Haven since 1885, charter member Grace Hospital and member medical staff, city physician New Haven 1926–32, was greatly interested in music and studied cello at Yale School of Music over a period of years, a founder in 1879 New Haven Orchestral Club and president 1879–90, member New Haven Homeopathic and Connecticut Homeopathic Medical societies, Connecticut State Medical Society, and United Church (Congregational), New Haven

Married June 25, 1890, in New Haven, Jessamine Whittemore, daughter of William Henry and Annie Elizabeth (Hague) Spock, and sister of Benjamin I Spock, '95 Daughter Eleanor Erskine, ex-'28 Mus, the wife of James Trevor Evans

Death due to internal injuries received in a fall Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, daughter, three grandchildren, and two sisters, Mrs William F Stanley of Dorchester, Mass, and Mrs George H Hubbell of Los Angeles, Calif

Philip DuBois Bunting, M.D. 1898.

Born August 1, 1877, in Ellenville, NY Died June 28, 1940, in Elizabeth, NJ

Father, Augustus Bunting of Ellenville, son of Philip and Elizabeth (Ver Nooy) Bunting of Ellenville. Mother, Catherine (Stiner) Bunting Ellenville Academy, attended Yale School of Medicine 1895–98 (M D 1898; Campbell Gold Medal); interne Elizabeth General Hospital 1898-99; studied at Rotunda Hospital, Dublin, Ireland, practiced medicine in Elizabeth 1900-40, specializing in obstetrics; attending obstetrician Elizabeth General Hospital, consulting obstetrician Rahway Memorial Hospital and Bonnie Burn Sanatorium, one of a group of physicians who established first tuberculosis clinic in Elizabeth 1909, founder of Elizabeth's first prenatal clinic; member Elizabeth Board of Health since 1917; commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Reserve Corps, June 28, 1917, attended Medical Officers' Training Camp, Camp Greenleaf, instructor in gas defense Infantry School of Arms, Fort Sill, November 1, 1917-May 15, 1918; surgeon and instructor in hygiene and sanitation, 4th Officers' Training Camp, Camp Wheeler, promoted Captain, Medical Corps, August, 1918; overseas October, 1918–May, 1919, stationed with American Expeditionary Force in Le Mans area; sanitary officer Camp Hospital 72, February-May, 1919; discharged May 24, 1919, coroner Union County, N J, 1900-03; member Union County Medical Society, Medical Society of New Jersey, New Jersey Health and Sanitary Society, Society of Surgeons of New Jersey, Academy of Medicine of Northern New Jersey, American Medical Association, American Legion, Military Order of Foreign Wars of the United States, and First Presbyterian Church, Elizabeth

Married November 9, 1911, in Elizabeth, Mabel, daughter of Mathew and Susette (Oldenbergh) MacDougall Children Philip BuDois, Jr, and Bettie Dallam (William and Mary Coll 1936–37)

Death due to a brain tumor Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Elizabeth Survived by wife and children

Leone Franklin LaPierre, M.D. 1901.

Born November 6, 1876, in Colchester, Conn Died August 7, 1939, in Norwich, Conn.

Father, Henry Harrison LaPierre, associated with Porteous & Mitchell Company, department store in Norwich, served with 26th Connecticut Volunteers in Civil War, son of Arnaud and Betsy (Keables) Lapeire of

Norwich Mother, Fanny Adelaide (Rogers) LaPierre; daughter of Aaron

Franklin and Emily (Rogers) Rogers of Montville, Conn.

Attended Yale School of Medicine 1897–1901 (M D cum laude 1901; member Delta Epsilon Iota), interne Rhode Island Hospital, Providence, 1902–04, resident physician Connecticut Hospital for the Insane, Norwich, 1904–06, practiced medicine in Norwich 1907–39, specializing in diseases of the ear, eye, nose, and throat since 1913; on staff of the William W Backus Hospital, Norwich, 1907–39 (secretary examining board 1910–20); fellow American Medical Association; member Norwich Medical Society, New London County Medical Society, Connecticut State Medical Society (first vice-president 1921), and United Church (Congregational), Norwich

Married October 4, 1906, in Montpelier, Vt., Ellen May, daughter of Rodney and Aletha (Farrar) Holmes Children: Franklin Holmes (B A. Amherst 1930, LL B Yale 1935); Arnaud Rogers, '33 S (M D. Columbia 1938), Warren Winthrop, '35 S. (M D. Columbia 1939); Bessie Aletha (B S. Boston Univ. 1936); and Ruth Helen (B S. Simmons Coll.

1937)

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Maplewood Cemetery, Norwich. Survived by wife, children, and two brothers, Floyde Henry LaPierre of Stonington, Conn, and Arnaud Julian LaPierre (M.D. Univ. of Vermont 1910) of Norwich.

Nelson Amos Ludington, M.D. 1901.

Born August 17, 1879, in New Haven, Conn. Died June 26, 1940, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Nelson Amos Ludington, president and treasurer N. A. Ludington Company, oyster growers and shippers, New Haven; son of Jesse and Julia Ann (Story) Ludington of Fair Haven, Conn. Mother, Adeline Amelia (Permin) Ludington, daughter of Frederick Emil and Ellen (Connell) Permin of East Haven, Conn Yale relatives include a brother-in-law, Edward K Roberts, '78 S., '80 M

Hillhouse High School and private tutor, attended Yale School of Medicine 1897–1901 (M D 1901); interne New York Hospital 1901–03; practiced medicine and surgery in New Haven 1903–40; consulting surgeon Travelers Insurance Company, Employers Liability Insurance Company, and American Mutual Liability Insurance Company; on New Haven Board of Police Commissioners 1917–20, president Association of Yale Alumni in Medicine 1923–24; member New Haven Colony Historical Society, New England Society in the City of New York, New Haven Medical Association, Medical Society of New Haven County

(chairman executive committee 1929–30), Connecticut State Medical Society, American Medical Association, Masonic order, and Trinity Church (Episcopal), New Haven.

Married June 27, 1901, in New Haven, Myrtle Rebecca, daughter of Elmer Seymour and Susan Elizabeth (Baldwin) Patterson Children Dorothy Adeline (B A Vassar 1922, LL B. Yale 1925), the wife of Raymond [Hart] Massey, Litt D (Univ. of Toronto 1915–16, Univ. of Oxford); and Nelson Amos, Jr (Princeton ex-'35)

Death due to hypertensive cardiovascular disease Buried in Beaverdale Memorial Park, New Haven Survived by wife, children, two grand-children, and a sister, Clara L. Roberts (died September 16, 1940)

John David Moore, M.D. 1902.

Born July 30, 1875, in McDonough, NY Died May 12, 1940, in Bloomfield, NJ

Father, David Moore, a farmer in Norwich, N.Y, son of James Moore of Oxford, N.Y. Mother, Mary (Conway) Moore, daughter of John Conway of Athlone, Ireland Yale relatives include James A. Moore, '92 (brother); and Edward J. A. Moore, '26 (nephew)

Norwich public schools, attended Yale School of Medicine 1898–1902 (M D 1902), interne New Haven Hospital 1902–03, practiced medicine in Bloomfield 1903–40, specialized in diseases of ear, eye, nose, and throat since 1911; attending surgeon Newark Eye and Ear Infirmary, Mountainside Hospital, Montclair, Essex County Hospital for Contagious Diseases, Belleville, N J., and Montclair Community Hospital, Lieutenant (1 g), U S. Naval Reserve Force, May 1, 1918–January 15, 1919, president Associated Physicians of Montclair and Vicinity 1931–32 and Bloomfield Physicians Society and Club; fellow American Medical Association, member Essex County Medical Society, Medical Society of New Jersey, Academy of Medicine of Northern New Jersey, American Ophthalmological Society, American Academy of Ophthalmology and Otolaryngology, and Sacred Heart Church, Bloomfield

Married April 20, 1907, in New Haven, Conn, Agatha Anna Linahan (B A Trinity Coll [Washington] 1904), daughter of Thomas Henry and Ellen Sophia (Bourke) Linahan. Son. Basil Thomas (B A Georgetown Univ 1934)

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in St Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, son, and three sisters, Mrs George Brock of Norwich, N.Y., and Mrs. John Hynes and Mrs John Cohane, both of Bloomfield

Thomas Edward Parker, Jr., M.D. 1904.

Born June 13, 1881, in Waterbury, Conn. Died August 1, 1939, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Thomas Edward Parker, a brass annealer in Waterbury Mother, Francis (Casey) Parker.

Waterbury High School, attended Yale School of Medicine 1900-04 (M D 1904); interne Lying-in-Hospital, New York City, and Kings County Hospital, Brooklyn, N Y, 1904-08, practiced medicine in Waterbury 1908-39, assistant surgeon St Mary's Hospital, Waterbury, since 1909, served in the Medical Corps during World War, member Connecticut State Medical Society and St Patrick's Church (Roman Catholic), Waterbury

Unmarried

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver Buried in Old St Joseph Cemetery, Waterbury Survived by two brothers, John Francis Parker and George Parker, both of Waterbury

David Nils Ahlstrom, M.D. 1907.

Born July 23, 1879, in Worcester, Mass. Died August 20, 1939, in Washington, Pa

Father, Gustave H Ahlstrom, a piano tuner in Bradford and Bakerstown, Pa, son of Nils and Johanna Ahlstrom of Hoganas, Sweden Mother, Henrietta (Patton) Ahlstrom, daughter of David and Sophie (Grimm) Patton of Bakerstown, Pa

Washington (N J) High School, attended Yale School of Medicine 1903–07 (M D 1907), interne New Haven Hospital 1907–08; practiced medicine in Bradford, Pa , 1908–10, Pittsburgh, 1910–16, and Valencia, Pa , 1916 until retirement in 1920, member American Medical Association, and Bakerstown Presbyterian Church

Unmarried

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Bakerstown Cemetery. Survived by no immediate relatives

Hugh Francis Flaherty, M.D. 1907.

Born October 4, 1879, in Derby, Conn. Died August 24, 1939, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Michael Flaherty, a wine and liquor merchant in Derby; son of Hugh and Mary (Finnerty) Flaherty of Lisnoren, County Galway, Ireland Mother, Margaret Byrne (Geraghty) Flaherty, daughter of John and Mary (Byrne) Geraghty of Cong, County Galway, Ireland Yale relatives include John F Ryan, '13, and Mary E Ryan (M A 1929) (cousins)

Derby High School, attended Yale School of Medicine 1903–07 (M D 1907), interne St Francis Hospital, Hartford, 1907–08, practiced medicine in Hartford 1908–39, on staff St Francis Hospital, president Hartford Board of Health 1924–25, secretary Class of 1907 M since graduation, member Hartford Medical Society, Hartford County Medical Association, Connecticut State Medical Society, American Medical Association, and St Augustine's Church (Roman Catholic), Hartford

Married September 22, 1909, in New Haven, Conn, Gertrude, daughter of John and Bridget Margaret (McGuire) Fitzgerald No children

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in St Bernard Cemetery, New Haven, Conn Survived by wife and a brother, Michael J Flaherty, '96

Joseph Edwards Kerney, M.D. 1908.

Born October 23, 1881, in New Haven, Conn Died May 4, 1940, in Pawtucket, R I

Father, John Henry Kearney, a grocer in New Haven, son of Professor Robert Joseph Kearney (Dublin University) of Haydenville and Leeds, England Mother, Carrie Eugenia (Bradley) Kearney, daughter of Albert and Ann Eliza (Van Horn) Bradley of New Haven

New Haven High School and Booth Preparatory School, New Haven, attended Yale School of Medicine 1904–08 (M D 1908, on board Yale Medical Journal three years and chairman of board Senior year; member Nu Sigma Nu), interne Rhode Island Hospital, Providence, 1908–10, Providence Lying-In Hospital three months 1910, Massachusetts Eye and Ear Infirmary, Boston, 1912, on urological service Johns Hopkins Hospital 1913–14; practiced medicine in Providence 1910–40, urological surgeon Rhode Island Hospital, attending urological surgeon Memorial Hospital, Pawtucket; consulting urological surgeon Miriam Hospital, Providence, St Joseph's Hospital, Providence, and Westerly (R I) Hospital, fellow American College of Surgeons and American Medical Association, member Providence Medical Association, Rhode Island Medical Society, American Urological Association, American Board of Urology, Inc., and Central Congregational Church, Providence

Married September 28, 1915, in Philadelphia, Bertha Iola, daughter of William Leo and Emma Amanda (Herder) Pendorf Children Roslyn (B A Mount Holyoke Coll 1937), the wife of William Allen Reid (B S Rhode Island State Coll 1936, M D Tufts Coll 1940), Bruce Edwards (Brown Univ 1942), Joyce (Katharine Gibbs School 1940), the wife of Norman Davis Newcomb (Brown Univ ex-'41), and Ruth (Colby Junior Coll 1942)

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage and hypertensive arteriosclerotic heart disease Buried in Douglas Town Cemetery, Douglas, Mass. Survived by wife, children, and three brothers, Robert Stanley Kearney, 'OI L, Clifford Robinson Kearney of Ansonia, Conn, and Albert Bradley Kearney of Barrington, R.I.

Leslie Adams Wilson, M.D. 1910.

Born July 17, 1886, in Rockville, Conn. Died March 15, 1940, in Meriden, Conn

Father, Edgar Adams Wilson, ex-'77 (M D Univ of Pennsylvania 1881), an ophthalmologist in Meriden; son of Grove Herrick Wilson (M D Berkshire Medical Institution 1849) and Margaret (Adams) Wilson of Meriden Mother, Ida May (Beach) Wilson; daughter of George and Lydia Griffin (Redfield) Beach of Meriden. Yale relatives include a cousin, Richard F Seidensticker, '07

Meriden High School and Williston Academy; attended Yale School of Medicine 1906–10 (M D 1910, associate editor Year Book; member Nu Sigma Nu), interne New Haven Hospital 1910–11, St Francis Hospital, Hartford, Conn., six months 1912, and Manhattan Eye, Ear, and Throat Hospital three months 1913; practiced medicine in Meriden 1913–40, specializing in diseases of the ear, nose, and throat; clinical assistant in otology Yale School of Medicine 1916–17 and in laryngology 1917–22, on staff Meriden Hospital and Masonic Home, Wallingford; an organizer, first president, and director Meriden Visiting Nurses; secretary Meriden Medical Advisory Board February 7, 1918–March 31, 1919; Second Lieutenant, Ambulance Company No 2, Connecticut State Guard, First Lieutenant January 25, 1918, and Captain December 2, 1919; fellow American Medical Association, member Masonic order and First Congregational Church, Meriden

Married June 18, 1914, in Meriden, Julia Elizabeth, daughter of Mathew Elmer and Elsie (Thompson) Trewhella. Children: Herrick Thompson (B A Wesleyan 1937) and Leslie Adams, Jr

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Walnut Grove Cemetery, Meriden Survived by wife and sons.

Fred Wells Granger, M.D. 1918.

Born September 26, 1890, in Brockton, Mass Died August 22, 1939, in Houston, Texas.

Father, Fred Wells Granger (B A Dartmouth Coll. 1884, M D. 1887), a physician in Brockton, son of Noah and Caroline (Clark) Granger of

Randolph Center, Vt Mother, Mary Ellen (Briggs) Granger; daughter of Silas S. and Sarah S (Wood) Briggs of Randolph

B A Dartmouth 1914; attended Yale School of Medicine 1916–18 (M D. 1918); interne New Haven Hospital 1917–18; commissioned Lieutenant (J g), United States Navy Medical Corps, June 12, 1918, promoted to Lieutenant December 10, 1918, and to Lieutenant Commander July 1, 1926, stationed at Naval Hospital, Chelsea, Mass, 1918–20, served with Marine Expeditionary Force, Haiti, 1920–22, stationed at Naval Mine Depot, Yorktown, 1922–23, and at Naval Hospital, Norfolk, 1923–25; attended Naval Medical School, Washington, D C, four months in 1925; medical officer U S S *Bridge* 1925–27, at Naval Training Station, Hampton Roads, Va, 1927–31, Naval Station, Guam, 1931–33, Norfolk Naval Hospital, Portsmouth, Va, 1933–36, Naval Ammunition Depot, Iona Island, N Y, 1936–38, and Navy Recruiting Station, Houston, 1938–39, member American Medical Association

Married Elizabeth Winifred, daughter of Adam James and Anna Gertrude (Wanser) Dauch, and sister of Frederic W Dauch, '15

Death due to uremia. Buried in Norfolk, Va Survived by wife

Robert Joseph Carey, M.D. 1928.

Born July 28, 1902, in North Brookfield, Mass. Died August 20, 1939, in Worcester, Mass

Father, John Patrick Carey, a liveryman in North Brookfield, son of Patrick and Mary (Mahoney) Carey of Petersham, Mass Mother, Ann (Boyle) Carey; daughter of Michael and Elizabeth (Walsh) Boyle of West Brookfield, Mass

North Brookfield High School; B A College of the Holy Cross 1924; attended Yale School of Medicine 1924–28 (M D 1928; member Phi Chi), interne Meriden (Conn) Hospital 1928–29, and St Vincent's Hospital, New York City, 1929–30, acting assistant surgeon United States Marine Hospital, Ellis Island, N Y, 1930–35; practiced medicine in New York City 1930–35 and in Bloomfield, N J, 1932–35, retired in 1935 because of ill-health; had since resided in Worcester, member St Joseph's Church (Roman Catholic), North Brookfield

Married July 26, 1930, in North Brookfield, Anne Gertrude, daughter of John Michael and Mary Elizabeth (Cuddy) Dorney Children John Patrick and Sara Estelle

Death due to pulmonary tuberculosis. Buried in St Joseph's Cemetery, North Brookfield Survived by wife, children, three sisters, Mrs William J Jacobs, Miss Helen Carey, and Miss A Blanid Carey, all of Worcester, and a brother, William Boyle Carey of Longmeadow, Mass.

Loring Watson Turrell, M.D. 1936.

Born June 23, 1909, in Smithtown Branch, NY Died September 8, 1939, in Smithtown Branch, NY.

Father, Guy Hanford Turrell (B A Coll. of the City of New York and Columbia Univ 1894, M D Columbia 1896), a physician in Smithtown Branch, son of John C and Anna (Hanford) Turrell of New York City Mother, Ella Virginia (Peek) Turrell, daughter of Henry Thomas and Cornelia Howard (Watson) Peek of New York City and Savannah, Ga.

Smithtown Branch High School and Stony Brook (N.Y) School; B A Williams College 1931; attended Graduate School, Columbia University, 1931–32 and Yale School of Medicine 1932–36 (M D 1936, member Alpha Kappa Kappa), interne Norwegian Lutheran Deaconesses' Home and Hospital, Brooklyn, N Y., 1936–37 and resident surgeon 1937–38, practiced medicine and surgery in Smithtown Branch 1938–39, a founder (February, 1939) and president Smithtown Arts Group, an ornithologist he had been at work on a natural history of Smithtown, illustrated *The Ancient Mariner* (1935), member Medical Society of the State of New York and Smithtown Branch Presbyterian Church

Married June 1, 1935, in East Haddam, Conn, Doris Estelle, daughter of Warren Bruce and Lillian (Pinckney) Ayres Children. Loring Wayne and David Pinckney.

Death due to pulmonary edema Buried in Smithtown Branch Cemetery Survived by wife, children, parents, two sisters, Miss Virginia Turrell (B A Wellesley 1927; M A Columbia 1930), and Miss Cornelia Turrell (B A Wellesley 1927, B.L A Univ. of Pennsylvania 1932), both of Smithtown Branch, and a brother, Guy Hanford Turrell, Jr. (Williams ex-'30), of Malverne, N.Y.

DIVINITY SCHOOL

Clark Chester Otis, B.D. 1882.

Born March 6, 1856, in Vermontville, Mich Died January 15, 1940, in Kalamazoo, Mich

Father, Rev Norman Leonard Otis, a minister in Michigan, chaplain 5th Michigan Cavalry in Civil War, son of Chester and Phoebe (Wright) Otis of Michigan Mother, Elizabeth Ceola (Morgan) Otis, daughter of William and Ellen (Smith) Morgan of Michigan Yale relatives include a brother, Frederick Bliss Otis, ex-'91 D

B A Olivet College 1879, attended Oberlin Theological Seminary 1879–80, and Yale Divinity School 1880–82 (B D 1882), ordained in Congregational church, Orange, Conn, August 2, 1882, and minister there 1882–83, superintendent in Washington Territory for American Home Missionary Society 1883–87 and financial secretary 1887–89, minister Norwich, NY, 1889–91, and First Congregational Church, Springfield, Ill, 1891–93, without charge 1893–94, minister Baptist church, Palo, Mich, a short time 1894, Carson City, Mich, 1894–95 and Charles City, Iowa, 1895; engaged in general evangelistic work in Iowa 1895–98; retired from ministry 1898 because of a throat ailment, engaged in real-estate and insurance business, Des Moines, Iowa, 1899, Detroit, Mich, 1900–03, Olivet, Mich, 1903–07, and in various cities in Michigan 1911–18; had a fruit farm near Frankfort, Mich, 1911–18, chiefly engaged in selling farm real estate in vicinity of Kalamazoo since 1921, member First Congregational Church, Kalamazoo.

Married December 28, 1881, in Olivet, Mary Amelia, daughter of John Silas and Olive (Sexton) Reed Children Harrison Gray (B A Olivet Coll 1907); Florence Irene (B A Oberlin Coll 1909, M A Univ of Michigan 1914); Walter Reed (Oberlin 1907–08), and Arthur Frederic (Oberlin Coll ex-'17)

Death due to acute myocardial insufficiency Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Kalamazoo. Survived by wife, children, eight grandchildren, and a half sister, Grace Otis Harter (Univ of Michigan 1896–98), the wife of Joseph Harter of Olivet

Isaiah Witmer Sneath, B.D. 1884.

Born August 22, 1855, in Mountville, Pa Died November 1, 1939, in Newton Highlands, Mass

Father, Jacob Sneath, a building contractor in Columbia, Pa; son of Robert and Mary (Todd) Sneath of Mountville Mother, Elizabeth (Witmer) Sneath; daughter of Daniel and Anna (Hershey) Witmer of

Mountville Yale relatives include E Hershey Sneath, '84 D (brother),

and Herbert Camp Sneath, '16 (nephew)

B A Lebanon Valley College 1881 and M A. 1884; attended Yale Divinity School 1881-84 (B D. 1884) and Boston University 1890-92 (Ph D 1892), ordained in United Brethren ministry, York, Pa, 1884, minister Salem United Brethren Church, Baltimore, Md, 1884-85, professor of the Greek and German languages and librarian Lebanon Valley College 1885–87, minister Wood Memorial Church, Cambridge, 1887– 99, First Congregational Church, Franklin, Mass., 1899–December, 1903, and Grand Avenue Congregational Church, New Haven, Conn., 1904-12, moderator New Haven East Consociation, president New Haven City Missionary Association 1904-10; minister Wollaston (Mass) Congregational Church 1912-33 and minister emeritus since 1933; supplied Memorial Church, Atlantic, Mass, 1933-34; DD Lebanon Valley College 1922, director William B Rice Eventide Home for the Aged, Quincy, Mass, president Yale Divinity School Alumni Association of Eastern Massachusetts 1929–31; secretary Class of 1884 D 1935–39; member Suffolk South Association of Congregational Ministers (moderator 1921 and 1932) and Suffolk South Association of Congregational Churches (moderator 1918–19 and 1920); Masonic order (chaplain Wollaston Lodge)

Married September 19, 1882, in Lebanon, Pa, Ella Jane Mark (B A. Lebanon Valley Coll 1881), daughter of Rev. George A Mark and

Maria (Meyers) Mark Son George Mark, '07

Death due to coronary thrombosis and hypertensive heart disease. Buried in Mount Lebanon Cemetery, Lebanon, Pa. Survived by wife (died December 1, 1939), son, two grandchildren, and a sister, Emma Sneath Bruner (Lebanon Valley Coll. ex-'90, New England Conservatory of Music 1887–88) of Columbia, Pa

Francis Charles Woodard, B.D. 1884.

Born May 30, 1853, in Coloma, Ind Died July 15, 1939, in Rochester, N.Y.

Father, Jackary Woodard, a farmer near Rockville, Ind, son of Isaac and Margaret (Allan) Woodard who lived near Rockville Mother, Harmony (Cox) Woodard, daughter of Dr James Charles Cox and Mary (Morris) Cox of Atherton, Ind

B L Indiana University 1881, attended Yale Divinity School 1881–84 (B D 1884) and General Theological Seminary 1911–12, ordained in Congregational church, Gridley, Ill, July 29, 1884, and minister there 1884–86, minister Cheltenham Church, St Louis, 1886–87, Annawan, Ill, 1887–88, and Andrews, Ind, 1888–90; ordained to priesthood in

Episcopal church at Indianapolis December 15, 1891, rector St James' Church, New Castle, Ind, 1891–94, Holy Innocents Church, Indianapolis, 1894–1901, St. James' Church, Rochester, 1901–10, Church of the Nativity, Cincinnati, 1910–12, Trinity Church, Chambersburg, Pa, 1912–17 (an examining chaplain to Bishop Darlington 1914–17), St Andrew's Church, Caledonia, NY, and Grace Church, Scottsville, N.Y, 1917–28; rector emeritus Grace Church since 1928, member Rochester Clerical Club, Our Heritage Club of Rochester Diocese, and Masonic order.

Married October 22, 1884, in Bedford, Ind, Angeline Charlotte, daughter of Rev John Walls and Amanda Lee (Purcell) Walls Son, Raymond Francis.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Mount Hope Cemetery, Rochester Survived by wife, son, one granddaughter, and a brother, Julian Woodard of Long Beach, Calif.

Cornelius Howard Patton, B.D. 1886.

Born December 25, 1860, in Chicago, Ill. Died August 17, 1939, in Waterville Valley, NH.

Father, Rev. William Weston Patton, D.D., LLD (B A. New York Univ 1839), a clergyman; president Howard University 1877–89, son of Rev Dr William Patton and Mary (Weston) Patton of New York City Mother, Mary Boardman (Smith) Patton; daughter of Normand and Caroline (Danforth) Smith of Hartford, Conn. Yale relatives include a nephew, Roger P. Welles, '24

Howard University and Emerson Institute, Washington, D C, B A. Amherst College 1883 (member Chi Phi); attended Yale Divinity School 1883–86 (B D. 1886); ordained in Congregational church, Westfield, N J, February 16, 1887, and minister there 1887–95, minister Pilgrim Church, Duluth, Minn, 1895–98, and First Congregational Church, St. Louis, Mo., 1898–1904; a corresponding secretary American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions 1904–29 and secretary emeritus since 1929; D D. Amherst 1899 and Williams 1921; author The Lure of Africa (1917), World Facts and America's Responsibility (1919), The Business of Missions (1924), The Rosary (1927), Foreign Missions Under Fire (1928), God's World (1931), The Rediscovery of Wordsworth (1935), The Amherst Wordsworth Collection, a Descriptive Bibliography (1936), co-author, with W. T Field, Eight O'Clock Chapel (1927); trustee Drury College 1899–1906 and Amherst College 1905–39; member Asylum Hill Congregational Church, Hartford

Married June 5, 1889, in Washington, D.C., Pauline, daughter of Eliphalet Whittlesey, LLD (B.A. 1842), and Ann Augusta (Patten)

Whittlesey, and sister of George P. Whittlesey, '78, and James T. Whittlesey, '89 Children: Augusta (B A Smith Coll. 1916; M.A. Columbia 1927), and Catharine (B A. Smith Coll. 1920) Mrs Patton died February 28, 1936

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford Survived by daughters and a sister, Mary Patton Welles, the wife of Martin Welles, '82, of Hartford.

Henry Davies, B.D. 1888.

Born July 11, 1864, in London, England. Died June 20, 1940, in Baltimore, Md.

Father, James Davies, a real-estate dealer in London; son of Thomas Davies of Clun, Wales Mother, Ellen (Davies) Davies

King's College School, London; graduate Cheshunt College, Cambridge, England, 1886; attended Yale Divinity School 1886-88 and 1889-90 (BD 1888), and Yale Graduate School 1893–96 (PhD 1896); ordained in Congregational church, Calumet, Mich, December 5, 1888; minister Red Jacket, Mich, 1888-89, Greens Farms, Conn., 1890-94, First Church, Derby, Conn, 1894–96, Rocky Hill, Conn, 1897–98, Storrs, Conn, 1898–1901, Willington, Conn., 1899–1901, and Westville, Conn, 1901-03, ordained deacon in Episcopal church 1903 and priest 1904, minister St John's Church, Salisbury, Conn, 1903-07, Christ Church, Easton, Md, 1907-22 (organized Boy Scout Troop and scoutmaster 1912-22), Trinity Church, Collingdale, Pa, 1922-32; chaplain Philadelphia Protestant Episcopal City Mission 1932-38; examining chaplain Diocese of Easton and Diocese of Pennsylvania, member staff Diocesan Normal School 1930-35; lecturer on history of philosophy Yale University 1896–1904 and on esthetics 1900–04; author: Art in Education and Life (1914); contributed to American Journal of Ethics, Philosophical Review, Psychological Review, encyclopedias, and newspapers; after retirement in 1938 resided in Laurel, Md; member Authors League of America, Masonic order, and St. Philip's Church, Laurel (acting minister 1939–40).

Married March 24, 1894, in Montreal, Quebec, Florence Martha Matilda, daughter of William Stephen and Martha Ann (Wates) Hughes Children William Henry; Eleanor; George Gardner, Robert Seymour; and Alice Florence, the wife of Ralph Clayton Scotney, Jr. (B A Pennsylvania State Coll 1930).

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Spring Hill Cemetery, Easton Survived by wife, children, one grandson, and a brother, Arthur Ernest Davies (BD 1891, PhD 1898) of London, England

Arthur Hill Daniels, B.D. 1890.

Born October 19, 1865, in Millis, Mass. Died April 2, 1940, in Urbana, Ill.

Father, Elijah Breck Daniels, a farmer in Millis, son of Paul and Eliza (Breck) Daniels of Millis. Mother, Roxa (Boyden) Daniels; daughter of Porter and Mary (Richards) Boyden of Millis Yale relatives include an uncle, Joseph L. Daniels (B A 1860)

Millis High School; B A Olivet College 1887, attended Yale Divinity School 1887–91 (B.D 1890) and Clark University 1891–93 (Ph D 1893); member faculty University of Illinois 1893–40, instructor in philosophy 1893–95, assistant professor 1895–99, and professor 1899–1934, acting dean College of Literature and Arts 1911–13 and College of Liberal Arts and Sciences 1925–26, 1927–28, and 1931–33, assistant dean Graduate School 1918–19, acting dean 1919–21, and dean 1921–33; acting president of University 1933–34; acting president and professor of philosophy emeritus since 1934; author *The New Life A Study of Regeneration* (1893), contributed to psychological and educational journals, member Phi Beta Kappa, Phi Gamma Delta, Western Philosophical Association, American Psychological Association, American Philosophical Association, and Congregational church.

Married July 21, 1898, in Cohasset, Mass, Eunice Dean (Wellesley ev-'86), daughter of James and Sarah Bowers (Chase) Dean No children

Death due to pulmonary embolism. Ashes interred in Lowell (Mass) Cemetery. Survived by wife and a brother, Charles Henry Daniels of Laurel, N.Y.

Eugene Carroll Webster, B.D. 1890.

Born November 6, 1864, in Somerville, Mass Died October 12, 1939, in Malden, Mass.

Father, James Walker Webster (M A. Hon Dartmouth 1883), a school teacher in Boston; son of Atkinson and Rebecca (Smart) Webster of Claremont and Concord, N H Mother, Sarah Luella (Carpenter) Webster, daughter of David W. and Mary (Perkins) Carpenter of Wells, Maine

Boston Latin School, Malden High School, and Phillips-Andover, B A Harvard 1887, attended Yale Divinity School 1887–90 (B D 1890); ordained in Congregational ministry at United Church, East Providence, R I, May 29, 1890, and minister there 1890–92, assistant editor *Blakeslee Sunday School Lessons* 1892–94, minister Trinity Church, Neponset, Mass, 1893–99, supply minister 1900–02, minister Westbrook, Maine,

1902-03, manager of a church choir agency, Boston, 1904-06; founder Boston Hotel and Theatre Chaplaincy Association 1906 and chaplain Parish of All-Strangers since that time, associate principal and later owner and principal University Preparatory School, Boston, 1913-39; assistant secretary General Association of Congregational Churches of Massachusetts 1895–1901 and secretary 1901–03; assistant secretary National Council of Congregational Churches of the United States 1898–1901; recording secretary Congregational Education Society 1897-99, author-Historical Sketch, Suffolk South Conference of Congregational Churches (1898); editor Proceedings, Second International Congregational Council, Boston, 1899 (1900), and Faith and Doubt (1912-13); organizer Boston Temperance Federation 1903; director Massachusetts Total Abstinence Society; life member American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions (recording secretary 1899–1901) and Congregational Home Missionary Society, trustee Puritan League 1936-37, member Suffolk South Association of Congregational Ministers, American Congregational Association, New England Association of Colleges and Secondary Schools, and National Education Association

Married June 25, 1890, in New Haven, Conn, Wynn, daughter of William D and Mary Jane (Simpson) Ward Son, Ward

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Buried in Forestdale Cemetery, Malden Survived by wife, son, and two granddaughters.

Morrison Weimer, B.D. 1890.

Born January 17, 1863, in Donegal, Pa Died January 3, 1940, in San Antonio, Texas.

Father, William Harrison Weimer, a farmer in Donegal; son of John and Rebecca (Porch) Weimar of Donegal Mother, Harriet (Putman) Weimer, daughter of Joseph and Elizabeth (Bruner) Putman of Donegal

B A Lebanon Valley College 1887, attended Yale Divinity School 1887–90 (B D 1890), and Chicago Theological Seminary 1896–97; ordained in Congregational church, Sedgwick, Kans, September 19, 1890, and minister there 1890–96; engaged in tutoring and as supply minister in Chicago 1897–98; principal Rogers (Ark) Academy 1898–1906; minister Arkansas City, Kans, 1906–07, Community Church, Amistad, N.Mex, 1907–11, Hennessey, Okla, 1911–12, Chapman, Kans, 1912–15, Fredonia, Kans., 1915–19, and Douglass, Kans, 1919–25; held pastorates in La Feria and Pharr, Texas, 1925 until retirement 1928; chairman Ministerial Association, Chapman, Kans, and school board, Sedgwick, Kans; member Masonic order

Married June 18, 1890, in Altenwald, Pa., Anna Rebecca, daughter of William Snyder and Anna Rebecca (Benedict) Reed Children Eva

(B.A. Coll. of Wooster 1913), the wife of Harold Homer Grafton (B A Univ. of Wichita 1912), Reed (Manhattan Agricultural Coll 1917); and Charles B (B.A. Univ. of Wichita 1922).

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in Sunset Memorial Park, San Antonio Survived by wife, children, four grandchildren, two sisters, Miss Lola Weimer of Donegal, and Mrs Clark S Freed of Norfolk, Va, and two brothers, Harry Weimer (Indiana State Coll) of Los Angeles, and Edgar Stanley Weimer (M.D. Univ of Pittsburgh 1910) of Pittsburgh, Pa

James Romeyn Danforth, B.D. 1891.

Born July 7, 1868, in Woodstock, Ill Died June 6, 1940, in New London, Conn

Father, Rev. James Romeyn Danforth, D.D. (B A. Beloit Coll 1865; graduate Chicago Theological Seminary 1867), a Congregational minister; United States consul at Liége, Belgium, 1890–92; son of Edward John and Caroline Romeyn Cuyler Danforth of New York City Mother, Alice (Haven) Danforth, daughter of Rev Prof Joseph Haven, D D, LL D. (B A Amherst 1835), and Mary (Emerson) Haven of Chicago Yale relatives include. Ralph Emerson (B A 1811) (great-grandfather), and Joseph Emerson (B.A 1841), Rockwell Emerson (B A 1844), and Samuel Emerson (B A 1848) (great-uncles).

Eastburn Academy, Philadelphia, B.A. Amherst 1888 (member Phi Delta Theta) and M A 1891, attended Yale Divinity School 1888-91 BD. 1891), and University of Marburg 1891–92; ordained in Congrega-)7, minister St. Albans, Vt., 1897–1901, High Street Church, Auburn, Maine, 1901-03, and First Church of Christ, New London, 1903-40, president Boston Seaman's Friend Society, Inc., 1927–29 and New Lonlon Federation of Churches 1925–27 and 1931–35, president of the board Billings P. Learned Mission 1922-24 and 1935-37, on executive comnittee American Missionary Association 1911-25, chaplain general, National Society Sons of the American Revolution 1930-32; chaplain Connecticut Society Order of the Founders and Patriots of America since 933 (governor 1930-31), associate grand chaplain and grand chaplain Grand Council, Royal and Select Masters of the State of Connecticut, for nany years, president Connecticut branch Yale Divinity School Alumni Association 1925–26.

Married May 20, 1897, in Mystic, Prudence Mary, daughter of Samuel Cheeseboro and Sarah Catharine (Hancox) Langworthy Children Catharine Hancox (B S Connecticut Coll 1923, died March 19, 1927), ames Romeyn, Jr, Theodore Langworthy (B A Amherst 1927), and

Prudence Langworthy (B A Randolph-Macon Woman's College 1931) the wife of Warren Vinton Murphy (B A Colgate 1930; B D Crozei Theological Seminary 1933)

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Cedar Grove Cemetery, New Lon don Survived by wife, one daughter, sons, two grandchildren, a sister Mary Danforth (M D Woman's Medical Coll of Pennsylvania 1916), o Noank, Conn, and a brother, Rev Ralph Emerson Danforth (B A Univ of Michigan 1908, M S 1919), of Noank

Tasuku Harada, B.D. 1891.

Born November 10, 1863, in Kumamoto, Japan. Died February 21, 1940, in Kyoto, Japan.

Parents, Osamu and Kiwo Kamada

Kumamoto Language School; attended Doshisha University 1881-84 Chicago Theological Seminary 1888-89, and Yale Divinity School 1889-91 (BD 1891), ordained in Congregational church, Kobe, Japan, 1885 minister Tokyo 1892-95, Kyoto 1895-97, and Kobe 1897-1906; director and chairman of the board National Council of Churches in Japan, editor Cosmos 1892–95 and Christian World 1890–1906, president Doshisha Uni versity, Kyoto, 1907-19 and president emeritus 1919-40; professor o Japanese language and history and later professor of Japanese history and institutions University of Hawaii 1920-32 and professor emeritus 1932-40, in recent years resided in Kyoto; author. The Time of Jesus, The Faith of Japan (1914), The Faith and Ideal (1918), The Social Status of the Japanes in Hawaii (1927), and Japanese Character and Christianity (1931), coauthor Introduction to Colloquial Japanese (1931), editor The Japanese Problem in California (1922); contributed to Hastings' Encyclopædia of Reli gion and Ethics and to numerous periodicals; DD Amherst 1910; LLD University of Edinburgh 1910 and University of Hawaii 1932; decorated with Order of the Sacred Treasure (Japan); president National Christian Endeavor Union in Japan and delegate to World Christian Endeavo Convention, London, 1900; served as delegate to a number of other reli gious and educational meetings including International Congregationa Council, London, 1891, World Missionary Conference, Edinburgh 1910, centenary of American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Mis sions, Boston, 1910, and First World Educational Conference, San Fran cisco, 1923, a member from Japan at Institute of Pacific Relations, Hono lulu, 1925 and 1927, and Kyoto 1929 (member executive committee) trustee Pan-Pacific Union and in 1929 its delegate to Geneva meeting o World Federation of Education Associations, represented Japanese gov ernment at Pan-Pacific Conference on Education, Rehabilitation, Recla mation, and Recreation, Honolulu, 1927, member American Japanese

(

Relations Committee, Tokyo, since 1920; was much in demand as a peaker in United States and abroad, Hartford-Lamson lecturer 1910–11, and Stanley Woodward lecturer, Yale, and Lowell Institute lecturer, Boston, 1919–20.

Married in 1891, Saki, daughter of Dr. Tainen Kawamoto. Eight chil-

Death due to bronchial pneumonia. Interment in Sokokuji Cemetery, Lyoto.

Harry Ernest Peabody, B.D. 1891.

Born April 13, 1865, in Princeton, Maine Died January 16, 1940, in Claremont, Calif

Father, Leonard Peabody, owner of a woolen mill in Princeton, son of tephen and Nancy Leonard Smith Peabody of Atkinson, N H Mother, 1/2 (Todd) Peabody; daughter of William and Clarissa (Hill) Todd of t. Stephen, New Brunswick.

Phillips-Exeter; B.A. magna cum laude Harvard 1887, general secretary Hennepin County Sunday School Association, Minneapolis, Minn., 887-88, attended Yale Divinity School 1888-91 (B D 1891) and 1897-9 and Chicago Theological Seminary summer 1923; ordained First longregational Church, Trinidad, Colo, May 11, 1892, and minister nere 1891–96; assistant minister Church of the Redeemer, New Haven, lonn, and superintendent Welcome Hall Mission 1896-99; minister Vindsor Avenue Church, Hartford, Conn, 1899–1910, South Church, lhicago, 1910-17 (director Chicago City Missionary Society), First longregational Church, Appleton, Wis., 1917-35 (director Appleton ublic Library), and Rosendale (Wis) Church 1935-37; retired from unistry 1937; had since resided summers in Ephraim, Wis, and winters 1 Claremont, a founder Wisconsin Interdenomination Industrial Relaons Committee and chairman 1920-36, moderator Wisconsin Congreational Conference 1926; member faculty Young Peoples' Conference, reen Lake, Wis, summers 1923-35; trustee Northland College 1930-2; DD Grinnell 1916; an organizer in 1917 Congregational Elcho etreat for Ministers; vice-president American Missionary Association, irector Congregational Education Society; member prudential comlittee American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions 1926–27, n nominating committee, commission on evangelism, national service ommission, and commission on social relations National Council of longregational Churches; member League of Independent Political ction.

Married August 16, 1894, in Cambridge, Mass, Emily Stickney, aughter of George F. and Mary Ann (Stickney) Clough Children

Stephen Clough (B A Harvard 1917); Leonard Clough (B A. Oberlit 1920), Phillips Clough (died September 20, 1915); and Miriam (Mus B Oberlin Coll 1931), the wife of John C Kennedy

Death due to hypostatic terminal pneumonia Ashes interred in Moun Hope Cemetery, Chicago Survived by wife, daughter, two sons, signandchildren, and a sister, Mrs. Harriet P Washburn of Claremont

Charles Duncklee Milliken, B.D. 1892.

Born October 12, 1863, in Littleton, N H. Died December 29, 1939, in Piedmont, Calif.

Father, Rev Charles Edward Milliken (B.A. Dartmouth 1857, gradu ate Andover Theological Seminary 1860); son of Cyrus and Mary (Smith) Milliken Mother, Sarah Woodbury (Duncklee) Milliken daughter of Jesse and Adelaide (Cragin) Duncklee of Francestown, N.H

B A. Dartmouth 1887 (member Delta Kappa Epsilon), taught schoo in Provincetown, Mass, and supply minister in Minnesota 1887–89; attended Hartford Theological Seminary 1889–91 and Yale Divinity School 1891–92 (B.D 1892); ordained in Pilgrim Congregationa Church, Canaan, Conn, September 29, 1892, and minister there 1892–97 minister Congregational church Sonoma, Calif, 1898–1901, Union Church, Cupertino, Calif, 1901–04, Union Congregational Church Waimea, Kauai, T H, 1904–16 (teacher in Waimea 1909–12), and Piedmont (Calif) Community Church 1916–26, retired in 1926 and had since served as supply minister in a number of towns in California—among them Sonoma, Alturas, Porterville, and Tulare; in recent years resided in Piedmont, member Northern California Congregational Conference, Bay Association of Congregational Ministers, and Piedmont Community Church

Unmarried

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Survived by a half brother, Edward Redington Milliken (B A. Pomona Coll 1904; J.D Stanford Univ 1908) of Pasadena, Calif.

Fosdick [Beach] Harrison, B.D. 1893.

Born August 5, 1862, in Bethlehem, Conn. Died February 29, 1940, in Canton, Mass

Father, William Robinson Harrison, a farmer in Bethlehem; son of Rev. Fosdick Harrison (M A. Hon 1815) and Fanny (Trowbridge) Harrison of Roxbury, Bethlehem, and North Guilford, Conn Mother, Harriet Newell (Beach) Harrison; daughter of Benjamin B. and Rhoda (Young) Beach of Bridgewater, Conn Yale relatives include. Zenas H Sikes, '98 S., Franklin V. Sikes, '00, and Olin L Sikes, '01 S (nephews), Brayton H. Slade, '30, and Ralph F. Sikes, '31 (grandnephews), and Howard Bird, '10 S, and Kenric H Bird, '12 S (cousins)

Williston Academy, B.A. Amherst 1890 (member Chi Phi); attended Yale Divinity School 1890–94 (B D. 1893), assistant minister Church of the Redeemer, New Haven, 1893–96, ordained in Congregational Church, Bethlehem, June 13, 1896, minister Somers, Conn, 1896–97, King's Highway Chapel, Bridgeport, Conn, 1898, Second Congregational Church, Palmer, Mass, 1899–1903, Bradford, Ontario, 1903–06, Townsend, Mass, 1906–10, Southington, Conn, 1910–14, Woodstock and North Woodstock, Conn, 1914–23, East Bridgewater, Mass, 1923–27, and Dover, Mass, 1927 until retirement 1935, had since resided in Canton; volunteer 2d Company, Governor's Foot Guard, Connecticut National Guard, 1898

Married December 29, 1904, in Worcester, Mass, Estelle Potter (B A Mount Holyoke Coll 1900), daughter of Burton Willis Potter (Williams Coll ex-'67) and Fannie Elizabeth (Wright) Potter Children Fosdick Potter (B.A. Boston Univ. 1930, LL B 1931), Elizabeth (B.A. Lake Erie Coll 1931), Burton (B.A. Bowdom 1931, Yale Graduate School 1931–32); and Caroline (B A. Mount Holyoke Coll. 1935)

Death due to uremia Survived by wife, children, a granddaughter, and a half brother, Wallace K. Harrison, '74.

James MacLaughlin, B.D. 1893.

Born May 1, 1862, in Lowell, Mass. Died February 9, 1940, in San Gabriel, Calif

Adopted parents, Mr. and Mrs William Tefft of Danielson, Conn Norwich (Conn) High School; B A Brown University 1890, attended Yale Divinity School 1890–93 (B D 1893) and Berkeley Divinity School 1893–94 (graduated 1894); ordained deacon in Episcopal church, Middletown, Conn., 1894 and priest in Reading, Pa, June, 1895, curate Trinity Church, Williamsport, Pa, 1894–95 and St Paul's Church, Philipsburg, Pa, 1895–97; rector Trinity Church, Brookville, Pa, 1897–1900, St Mark's Church, Victor, Colo, 1900–02, St Stephen's Church, Longmont, Colo, 1902–06, St. Paul's Church, Littleton, Colo, 1906–18, and Alamosa, Colo, 1918–19; registrar Diocese of Colorado 1906–18 and secretary 1912–18, deputy to general convention 1911–12, vicar St Bartholomew's Church, Ely, Nev, 1919–23, St John's Church, Green River, Wyo, 1923–26, and St Paul's Church, Evanston, Wyo, 1926 until retirement 1933, since retirement resided at Long Beach, Calif, member Masonic order and St Luke's Church, Long Beach.

Married October 23, 1895, in New Haven, Conn., Mary Cushing daughter of David Alonzo and Helen (Kidder) Alden Children: William Tefft, Helen, the wife of Duane Fargo Hartshorn (B S Colorado Agri cultural Coll 1921; M D Univ of Colorado 1929), Ruth Alden; Cather ine Dorothy (Colorado State Coll ex-'27), the wife of Richard Alder North, '20 S; and Jean (died in 1932)

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Ashes interred in Evergreen Ceme tery, New Haven. Survived by wife, three daughters, son, and fou grandchildren.

Hugh Shaw Dougall, B.D. 1894.

Born August 19, 1861, in Kemptville, Ontario. Died December 24, 1939, in Toronto, Ontario.

Parents, Robert James and Sarah (Shaw) Dougall.

B A University of Toronto 1892, M A 1899; attended Yale Divinity School 1893–94 (B D 1894); Ph D Illinois Wesleyan University 1904 served as probationer in Springfield and Hagersville circuits and at Charl ton Street Methodist Church, Hamilton, Ontario; ordained in Methodis church, Woodstock, Ontario, 1892; minister in Ontario 1892–1928 (Courtland, St David's, Bright, and Merritton 1892–1904, Walkertor 1904–08, Goderich 1908–11, St Thomas 1911–15, London 1915–18 Hamilton 1918–21, Oakville 1921–25, and Oshawa 1925–28); presiden Hamilton Conference 1924–25, retired from ministry in 1928 and has since resided in Toronto

Married May 16, 1894, in St Catharines, Ontario, Eleanor Halier daughter of Tom and Elizabeth (Pay) Taylor Children Dorothea, the wife of William Tuck; Marjorie (B A. Univ. of Toronto 1920, M A 1925), the wife of Chester Reginald Rowntree; Cedric Hugh (B Sc Univ of Toronto 1922, M Sc Massachusetts Inst of Technology 1930) and Herbert Edward (B A Univ of Toronto 1925; M.B.A Northwest ern 1926, Ph D 1930)

Death due to apoplexy Buried in Park Lawn Cemetery, Toronto Survived by wife, children, and six grandchildren.

August Frederick Fehlandt, B.D. 1894.

Born July 4, 1869, near Mazomanie, Wis. Died October 26, 1939, in Chicago, Ill

Father, Carl Fehlandt, a farmer near Mazomanie, son of John Fehland of Mecklenburg-Schwerin, Germany Mother, Maria (Niebuhr) Fehlandt, daughter of Heinrich and Sophia (Maack) Niebuhr of Mecklenburg-Schwerin

Mazomanie High School; BA University of Wisconsin 1891; attended Princeton Theological Seminary and Princeton Graduate School 1891-92 and Yale Divinity School 1892-94 (BD 1894), ordained in Congregational ministry Howard Avenue Church, New Haven, Conn. November 19, 1894; minister Lone Rock, Wis, 1895–96 and 1901–04. Le Mars, Iowa, 1896-97, Creston, Ill, 1898-1901, West Salem, Wis, 1904-09, Grand Forks, N Dak., 1909–10, Michigan and Lakota, N Dak., 1910– 14, and Green Lake, Wis, since 1914; professor of economics and sociology Ripon College 1914-37, author A Century of Drink Reform in the United States (1904), managing editor. North Dakota Standard 1912–16; prohibition candidate for governor of Wisconsin 1936, director Municipal Hospital, Ripon; member American Economic Association, American Sociological Society, American Anthropological Association, American Political Science Association, American Historical Association, American Association of Labor Legislation, and Academy of Political Science (New York)

Married November 26, 1896, in Madison, Wis, Luella Belle, daughter of Harvey Bower and Elizabeth (Brereton) Knapp Children Helen Bradley (B A. Ripon Coll 1920), the wife of George Francis O'Brien (B A. Clark Univ. 1917; M D. Rush Medical Coll 1927); Wendell Augustus (died April 18, 1906); Philip Raymer (B.A. Ripon Coll 1922; Ph. D. Univ. of Wisconsin 1933); Carl Harvey; Theodore Frederick (Ripon Coll ex-'26); and Ruth Adaline (B A. Ripon Coll 1928), the wife of Herman John Sander (Ph. D. 1939).

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident. Buried in Hamilton Cemetery, West Salem, Wis Survived by wife, daughters, hree sons, and five grandchildren.

Spencer Evan Evans, B.D. 1895.

Born June 12, 1868, in Shandon, Ohio. Died August 16, 1939, in Granby, Conn

Father, Evan Evans, a farmer in Shandon, son of William and Jane Evans of Shandon Mother, Anna (Mering) Evans; daughter of John and Mary (Bottenburg) Mering of Shandon Yale relatives include. Evan Woott, '04 D (nephew); and Betty Jane Scott Hardenbergh, ex-'38 N great-niece)

B A Marietta College 1891 (member Alpha Sigma Phi); attended lecures at Lane Seminary and studied at Cincinnati College of Music 1891–12; attended Yale Divinity School 1892–93, 1894–95 (B D 1895) and Chicago Theological Seminary 1895; ordained in Congregational church, Granby, Conn, December 17, 1895, and minister there 1895–1902; ninister Terryville Congregational Church 1902 until retirement 1939;

secretary Young Men's Christian Association, Hampton Roads, Va, 1918; DD Marietta College 1935

Married August 29, 1895, in Shandon, Mary Francis (Ph.B Oberlin 1892), daughter of Abner and Martha Ann (Vaughan) Francis. Children Margaret Francis (B A Wellesley 1921), the wife of Winthrop Lambert Webb (B.A. Colby Coll 1917; M A. Boston Univ 1926); and Francis Mering, '22.

Death due to cardiac thrombosis Buried in Center Cemetery, Granby. Survived by wife, children, and two grandchildren.

Frank Barr McAllister, B.D. 1899.

Born September 17, 1874, in Lawrence, Mass. Died January 19, 1940, in Methuen, Mass.

Father, John Gilman McAllister (M D. Columbia 1865), a physician in Lawrence, son of John and Merab (French) McAllister of Bedford, N.H Mother, Almeda Norton (Tirrell) McAllister (graduate Mount Holyoke Coll. 1866); daughter of Quincy A. and Almeda (Norton) Tirrell of Abington, Mass

Lawrence High School; B A. Amherst 1896 (member Delta Kappa Epsilon), attended Yale Divinity School 1896–99 (B.D. 1899); ordained in Congregational church, Bedford, Mass, October 3, 1899, and minister there 1899–1904, minister Congregational church, Cohasset, Mass., 1904–15, Park Church, Worcester, Mass., 1918–20, and Broadway Trinitarian Church, Taunton, Mass, 1921–29 (treasurer Taunton Ministerial Union Fund); retired from active ministry 1929 and had since served as ad interim minister in various towns in New England; in recent years resided in Methuen, appointed field representative Boston Seaman's Friend Society in 1939 but never able to assume active duties, engaged in literary work 1915–18, editorial writer and a regular contributor throughout his ministry to a number of church school and denominational publications

Married (1) June 12, 1906, in Cohasset, Mass, May Leslie, daughter of William R. and Mariana (Pratt) Collier Son John Tower (B A. Amherst 1931) Mrs McAllister died June 30, 1917 Married (2) April 21, 1919, in Cambridge, Mass, Mary Woodburn, daughter of Charles Woodburn and Sarah C (Poland) Adams Mrs. McAllister died in 1937.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Bellevue Cemetery, Lawrence Survived by son and two sisters, Miss Grace Tirrell McAllister of Methuen, and Helen McAllister Lewis (Mount Holyoke Coll ex-'06), the wife of Sherman Leland Lewis (B.A. Harvard 1905) of Cleveland, Ohio

John Lehman Shively, B.D. 1904.

Born October 4, 1876, in Chambersburg, Pa Died February 11, 1940, in Bridgeport, Conn

Father, John Embick Shively, a farmer and breeder of horses in Franklin County, Pa, son of Solomon and Rebecca (Embick) Shively of Franklin County. Mother, Susan (Lehman) Shively; daughter of John

and Elizabeth (Landis) Lehman of Fayetteville, Pa

B A. Otterbein College 1901; attended Union Bible Seminary, Dayton, Ohio, 1901–02 and Yale Divinity School 1902–05 (B D 1904), ordained in Congregational church, Weston, Conn., June 7, 1904, and minister there 1903–06; minister Churchville and Riga, N.Y, 1906–10, Laconia, N H., 1910–21, Southport, Conn, 1921–35; retired in 1935 and had since resided in Bridgeport, recording secretary commission on missions, National Council of Congregational Churches 1925–27, and state conference representative 1923–27; president Yale Divinity School Alumni Association 1929–32, member United Church (Congregational), Bridgeport.

Married June 20, 1905, in New York City, Jessie, daughter of James William and Susan (Fife) Robertson. Children: Jacqueline (Mus.B 1937), the wife of Alan C. Stewart (certificate in Music 1938); Jessamine (B A Mount Holyoke Coll 1936), the wife of Joseph E Kallenbach (B S Central Missouri Teachers Coll 1926, M.A Univ of Missouri 1928, Ph D. Univ. of Michigan 1939); Janice (Yale School of Music 1940–),

and Joan

Death due to coronary embolism. Buried in Cedar Grove Cemetery, Chambersburg, Pa. Survived by wife, daughters, four sisters, Mrs J Warren Kaufman of Philadelphia, Pa., Mrs George Richard Brindle of Chambersburg, Mrs Charles Henry Brahm of Fayetteville, and Mrs Walter Joseph Bartschat of Newton-Hamilton, Pa, and four brothers, Rev Prof Benjamin Frank Shively, D.D. (B.A Otterbein Coll 1905) of Kyoto, Japan, William Bruce Shively of Fayetteville, Harry Wallace Shively of Chambersburg, and Major James Cole Shively (B.A Princeton 1913) of Dayton, Ohio.

Alfred Walter Budd, B.D. 1909.

Born June 24, 1877, in Guildford, England. Died May 6, 1940, in Monroe, Conn

Parents, Walter and Rose (Venimore) Budd of Guildford. Wardsville (Ontario) High School; attended Albert College, Belleville, Ontario, 1900–01 (B A 1901), McGill University and Wesleyan College of Montreal 1904–06 (S T L 1906), and Yale Divinity School 1908–09 (B D 1909), in London 1901–04 and associated with a mission there, ordained in Methodist church Smith Falls, Ontario, June 3, 1906; minister Grenville, Quebec, 1906–08 and Methodist church, Middlebury, Conn., 1908–09, minister Congregational church, Barrington, R I, 1909–11, North Brookfield, Mass., 1911–17, Second Congregational Church, Derby, Conn., 1917–36, First Congregational Church, Pulaski, N Y, 1936–38, and First Congregational Church, Easton, Conn., 1938–39, moderator Naugatuck Valley Association of Congregational Churches and Ministers 1924; on standing committee General Conference of Congregational Churches of Connecticut; resided in Monroe Center 1939–40; member Masonic order (chaplain Derby Lodge 1934–36)

Married (1) June 20, 1906, in Belleville, Agnes, daughter of Benjamin and Marion Biscomb Children: Alfred Grenville, Cecil Elliott; Marion Rose (B S Syracuse Univ 1933), the wife of William Bernard Becker (B S New York State Coll of Forestry, Syracuse Univ, 1934; M S Massachusetts State Coll 1937); and Marvin Harwood (B.A. Syracuse Univ. 1939). Mrs Budd died April 12, 1919 Married (2) July 11, 1925, in Antwerp, N Y., Leta Evadel, daughter of Eli Charles and Florence L. (Henderson) Mosher Daughter Helen Evadel.

Death due to arteriosclerosis and cerebral thrombosis. Buried in Belleville Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, a sister, Miss Rose Budd of London, England, and two brothers, Rev. Albert Edward Budd (Albert Coll. 1904) of Vernon, N Y, and Harry William Budd of Vancouver, Wash

Guy Winston Churchill, B.D. 1922.

Born December 21, 1888, near Monroe, Iowa. Died October 3, 1939, in Minneapolis, Minn.

Father, Howell Levi Churchill, a farmer in Monroe; son of Levi Morse and Eliza (Smith) Churchill of Green County, Wis Mother, Emma (Robinson) Churchill; daughter of Cyrus and Harriet (Pierce) Robinson of Green County, Wis

Central Academy, Pella, Iowa; Mus.B. Central College, Pella, 1912; taught music in Prairie City and Monroe, Iowa, for a short time; teacher of piano, organ, and theory in Osage, Iowa, 1913–14 and Chicago 1915–17, private Hospital Unit, U S Army, and secretary Y.M C A. Camp Dodge 1917–19, attended Y M C A College, Springfield, Mass., 1914–15 and Yale Divinity School 1919–22 (B D 1922), minister Second Congregational Church, Middle Haddam, Conn, 1921–22; assistant in First Congregational Church, Ceredo, W Va, 1922–23, ordained in Congregational church, Cincinnati, April 17, 1923, minister First Con-

gregational Church, Red Lodge, Mont, 1923–25, Ranier, Ore, 1925, Community Congregational Church, Priest River, Idaho, 1926–28, Hartington, Nebr, 1928–29, and First Congregational Church, Baraboo, Wis., 1929–35; laboratory aid, pulp and paper department, Forest Products Laboratory, Madison, Wis, 1935–36, minister Community Church, Manitou, Colo, 1936–37, First Congregational Church, Montevideo, Minn, 1937–38, and at Backus and Hackensack, Minn, 1938–39, member Masonic order, American Legion, and Baraboo Community Choir.

Married December 8, 1925, in Spokane, Wash., Mabel Claire, daughter of Andrew Jackson and Fannie Catheryn (Buffington) Torreyson Children: Donald LeRoy and Robert Buffington.

Death due to valvular heart disease and complete heart block Buried in Snelling National Cemetery, Minneapolis. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Miss Olo Churchill of Monroe, and three brothers, Levi M. Churchill of Monroe, Harvey B. Churchill of Newton, Iowa, and Roy Churchill of Mitchellville, Iowa.

SCHOOL OF LAW

Abraham Lincoln Frisch, LL.B. 1881.

Born September 25, 1860, in Milwaukee, Wis. Died June 7, 1940, in Milwaukee, Wis.

Father, Joseph Pinkus Frisch, head of J. P. Frisch & Company, distillers, Milwaukee, son of Moses Frisch of Budweis, Austria. Mother, Anna (Rindskopf) Frisch; daughter of Loebl and Sarah (Adler) Rindskopf of Austria and Milwaukee

Milwaukee Academy; attended Yale College 1877-79 (member Kappa Sigma Epsilon) and Yale School of Law 1879-81 (LL B 1881); in a law office in Milwaukee a short time 1881; entered his father's business 1881 as a salesman and in 1893 became member of the firm which was subsequently known as Newman & Frisch and then as Frisch & Company; retired in 1919, charter member Yale Alumni Association of Wisconsin and member executive committee; member Milwaukee Merchants and Manufacturers Association and Congregation Emanuel B'ne Jeshurun, Milwaukee.

Married June 23, 1897, in Indianapolis, Ind., Hannah, daughter of Leopold and Eva (Alkan) Selig Children: Alan Joseph (died October 19, 1903), Robert Abraham, '25 S; James Leopold, '27; and Edward Samuel, '29 S.

Death due to coronary sclerosis Buried in Greenwood Cemetery, Milwaukee. Survived by wife and three sons

[Christopher] Morris Brandon, LL.B. 1884.

Born April 13, 1862, in Dover, Tenn. Died February 13, 1940, in Atlanta, Ga.

Father, Nathan Brandon, a lawyer in Dover; Lieutenant Colonel 14th Regiment, Tennessee Volunteers, Confederate States of America; member Tennessee Constitutional Convention 1870 and Tennessee legislature. Mother, Minerva Elizabeth (Morris) Brandon.

Prepared at Clarksville, Tenn, attended Vanderbilt University 1880–82 (member Phi Delta Theta) and Yale School of Law 1883–84 (LL B. 1884); admitted to Tennessee and Georgia bars; practiced law in Dover 1885–86 and in Atlanta 1886–1940 (successively junior partner Rosser & Brandon and Rosser, Brandon, Slaton & Phillips; senior partner Brandon & Hynds which later became Brandon, Hynds & Tindall); member Georgia legislature 1898 and Atlanta Police Commission 1904–07 (chairman 1907), on Board of Trust, Vanderbilt University, since 1915, LL.D Oglethorpe University 1927; president Yale Alumni Association of Georgia for many years, Georgia State chairman, Southeastern Division,

Yale Endowment Campaign of 1926; president University Club of Atlanta 1914; member Masonic order

Married June 1, 1892, in Atlanta, Harriet Frances, daughter of Walker Patterson Inman Children: Morris, Jr. (B A Virginia Military Institute 1925, LL.B Yale 1928), Christopher (deceased); [Walker Patterson] Inman (B.A Univ. of Georgia 1927, LL B Yale 1930), and Nathan Christopher

Death due to angina pectoris Buried in Crestlawn Cemetery, Atlanta

Survived by wife, three sons, and two grandchildren

In 1925 Mr Brandon gave to the library of the School of Law a set of the Georgia Reports, the Georgia Appeals Reports, and the Georgia Digest

Frank Harbottle Mackintosh, LL.B. 1884.

Born June 17, 1864, in Peterboro, N H. Died November 17, 1939, in Bronxville, N Y

Father, Ebenezer Whiting McIntosh, a manufacturer of harness in Peterboro; town selectman; member New Hampshire legislature; son of Ebenezer and Hannah (Priest) McIntosh of Needham, Mass. Mother, Ruth Ann (Vose) McIntosh; daughter of Dr. Samuel Vose and Ruth D. (Hanson) Vose of New Portland, Maine

Phillips-Andover. Attended Sheffield Scientific School 1881-82 and Yale School of Law 1882-84 (LL B. 1884), admitted to Massachusetts bar 1885 and New York bar 1888; practiced law in Boston 1885-86, Holyoke, Mass., 1886-89, and New York City 1889-1902 and 1923-39, associated with Title Guarantee & Trust Company, New York City, 1902-23 (in charge law department 1917-23 and assistant solicitor 1920-23), chairman Bronxville Democratic Committee 1932-37; on Bronxville Board of Education 1914-18 and counsel 1921-25; member Masonic order, Sons of the Revolution, and Reformed Church, Bronxville

Married October 30, 1900, in New York City, Anna Mary, daughter of James Cyrus and Bessie (Gill) Finegan Daughter Jeanne, the wife of Charles Merritt Aldrich (Columbia Univ. ex-'25)

Death due to injuries received when struck by an automobile Buried in Ferncliff Cemetery, Hartsdale, N.Y Survived by wife, daughter, two grandsons, and a sister, Mrs Clesson Gowing of Dublin, N H

George Walter Bristol, LL.B. 1890.

Born March 5, 1868, in Milford, Conn. Died August 27, 1939, at Atlantic Highlands, N J

Father, Treat Goodwin Bristol of Milford; a salesman, son of David and Elizabeth Anne (Oviatt) Bristol of Milford Mother, Eva Eliza

(Wright) Bristol, daughter of Richard and Lucy (Post) Wright of Clinton, Conn

Milford schools; attended Yale School of Law 1888-90 (LL B 1890; member Corbey Court), admitted to Connecticut bar 1890 and New York bar 1891, practiced law in New York City 1891-1939; publicity director Monmouth County Chapter, American Red Cross, 1918; member Bar Association of the City of New York, New York County Lawyers' Association, and New York State and American Bar associations, attended First Baptist Church, Atlantic Highlands.

Married August 2, 1896, in Penns Grove, N J, Rena Treat, daughter of Richard Treat and Charlotte Delia (Jones) Merwin. No children Mrs

Bristol died December 24, 1936

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Milford Cemetery Survived by a sister, Mrs William J Spiegel of Milford

Thomas Lamar Camp, LL.B. 1890.

Born July 5, 1869, in Dallas, Texas. Died April 20, 1940, in Dallas, Texas.

Father, Aaron C Camp, a banker in Dallas. Mother, Martha Ann

(Davenport) Camp

Grove High School, Dallas; attended University of the South 1887, University of Texas 1887-89 (LL B 1889; member Athenæum and Sigma Nu), and Yale School of Law 1889-90 (LL.B. 1890); admitted to Texas bar 1890 and had since practiced law independently in Dallas

Married April 9, 1921, in Dallas, Ida Jennings, daughter of James Law-

son and Mary Ida (Worsham) La Prelle.

Death due to myocarditis Buried in Greenwood Cemetery, Dallas. Survived by wife and son, James La Prelle Camp (B A. Harvard 1939).

Robert Adair, LL.B. 1895.

Born December 4, 1869, in Wilmington, Del. Died April 4, 1940, in Wilmington, Del.

Father, Lewis F. Adair, a furniture dealer in Wilmington Mother, Julia A P Adair.

Wilmington High School, teller First National Bank, Wilmington, attended University of Pennsylvania School of Law 1892–94 and Yale School of Law 1894–95 (LL B cum laude 1895, president Kent Club; Wayland Prize speaker), admitted to Delaware bar 1895, practiced law in Wilmington and in Marshallton, Del.

Married Mary Brooks, daughter of Christopher Naudain, M.D. Mrs. Adair died about 1937.

Death due to a streptococcal infection Survived by no immediate relatives.

John Wayland Peddie, LL.B. 1895.

Born Apr. ¹ 23, 1873, in Philadelphia, Pa Died January 17, 1940, in New Rochelle, NY.

Father, Rev. John Peddie, D. D. (B. A. Colgate Univ 1862), a Baptist minister; son of John Peddie of Ancaster, Ontario Mother, Mary Helen (Wilson) Peddie, daughter of George A and Matilda (Hazen) Wilson of Watertown, N. Y.

Eastburn Academy, Philadelphia Special student Colgate University 1890–93 (member Delta Kappa Epsilon), attended Yale School of Law 1893–95 (LL B 1895, assistant treasurer Kent Club 1894–95, took part in Yale-Harvard debate; member Book and Gavel), admitted to Connecticut bar June, 1895, and New York bar January, 1897; practiced law in Connecticut and New York City 1895–1906, solicitor Lincoln Trust Company, New York City, 1906–08, associated with Garfield National Bank 1908–22 (assistant cashier 1915–19, vice-president 1919–22), president Breitung & Company, investment securities and mining properties, New York City, 1922–23; loan executive S. W. Straus & Company, Inc, 1923–25; with Pacific Bank (later Irving Trust Company), New York City, 1925 until retirement 1936 (trust officer 1929–36), contributed to Green Bag Magazine and to financial papers; member American Bankers Association and American Banking Institute (on board of governors 1917–22), attended Brick Presbyterian Church, New York City.

Married January 19, 1903, in Dunellen, N J., Edith Colgrove, daughter of James Young and Sarah Frances (Stillman) Wilson Daughter Eleanor, the wife of John Harvey Alexander.

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Plainfield, N.J. Survived by wife, daughter, an adopted grandson, and a sister, Evelyn Peddie Waring, the wife of Harry G Waring (Princeton ex-'96) of Pinehurst, N.C

Edward Augustine McClintock, LL.B. 1896.

Born May 5, 1872, in Springfield, Mass Died April 14, 1940, in Springfield, Mass

Father, James William McClintock, a merchant in Springfield, son of William and Anne (Bratton) McClintock of Springfield Mother,

Margaret Anne (McCormick) McClintock; daughter of Michael and

Anne (McDermott) McCormick of Longford, Ireland.

Springfield High School, attended Yale School of Law 1894–96 (LL B 1896, member Phi Sigma Kappa); admitted to Massachusetts bar 1896 and had since practiced law in Springfield, senior partner McClintock & Kirby 1900–10, McClintock & Hoar 1919–24, and McClintock, Hoar & Houlihan [Raymond D., '16] since 1924; president Phi Sigma Kappa Club, Springfield, 1915–17; fire commissioner Springfield 1909–12; member Hampden County and American Bar associations, and Holy Family Church, Springfield.

Married June 12, 1907, in Springfield, Grace Katherine, daughter of Michael Henry and Elizabeth (Donlin) Curran. Daughter. Margaret

(Trinity College [Washington] ex-'32)

Death due to cerebral thrombosis Buried in St. Michael's Cemetery, Springfield Survived by wife, daughter, a sister, Sister Mary Angela, and a brother, James Vincent McClintock of Springfield.

Wılliam Francis Alcorn, LL.B. 1897.

Born September 29, 1867, in Suffield, Conn. Died November 3, 1939, in Northampton, Mass.

Father, Hugh Glen Alcorn, a carpenter in Suffield; volunteer in Companies C and K, First Connecticut Heavy Artillery, throughout Civil War; son of Matthew and Sarah (McCaughan) Alcorn of Thompsonville, Conn Mother, Susan (Ford) Alcorn; daughter of Edward and Annie (Kelly) Ford of County Mayo, Ireland. Yale relatives include two nephews, Howard Wells Alcorn, ex-'28 L., and Hugh Meade Alcorn,

Jr, '33 L

Suffield Academy, agent Armour Packing Company, Kansas City and San Francisco, 1888–95, attended Yale School of Law 1895–97 (LL.B. 1897, Kent Club), admitted to Connecticut bar 1897 and had since practiced law in New Haven (partner Alcorn & Smith [George V., '99 L.] 1899–1910, senior partner Alcorn and Alcorn 1925–39); represented 13th ward on New Haven Board of Aldermen 1900–02; third assistant corporation counsel New Haven 1924–25 and corporation counsel 1925–26, Democratic nominee for Congress from third district 1920, delegate Democratic State Convention 1924, member Westville Board of Education 1906–15, enlisted April, 1901, in Company D, Second Connecticut Infantry, promoted to Captain September, 1912, in command machine gun company Nogales, Ariz., June 20–November 8, 1916, became Major in command Second Battalion December, 1916; mustered into Federal

service March 28, 1917, with his unit which became Second Battalion, 102d Infantry, 26th Division; overseas October 22, 1917–January 27, 1919; commanding officer on voyage to Europe, and of Savoie Leave Area, with headquarters at Aix-les-Bains, February–July, 1918, assistant provost marshal July, 1918–March 27, 1919; discharged March 27, 1919; member Judge Advocate General's Department, Officers' Reserve Corps; promoted to Lieutenant Colonel October 24, 1924; member Sons of Union Veterans of the Civil War (State commander 1920–21), Military Order of Foreign Wars of the United States, Military Order of the World War, Yankee Division Veterans Association, American Legion, New Haven County, Connecticut State, and American Bar associations, Masonic order, and Center Church (Congregational), New Haven (deacon 1915–20).

Married December 27, 1898, in Tioga, Pa, Winifred Smith (B S Elmira Coll. 1891; Yale Graduate School 1896–97), daughter of Robert Bruce Smith (B A. Union Coll. 1862, M D. Long Island Coll of Medicine 1866) and Ellen Annette (Share) Smith, and sister of George V. Smith, '99 L Children: Robert Hugh, '21, '24 L., '31 LL M., and Eleanor Louise (B.A. Smith Coll. 1926), the wife of Courtney Craig Bishop, '26, '30 M.

Death due to bronchopneumonia Buried in Beaverdale Memorial Park, New Haven. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, two sisters, Mrs. William A. Pimm of Weehawken, N.J., and Mrs Arthur B Easton of Hartford, Conn., and two brothers, Robert Tyler Alcorn of Hartford and Hugh M. Alcorn (M.A. Hon. Dartmouth 1928) of Suffield

John Michel, LL.B. 1897.

Born August 30, 1875, in Richmond, Va. Died January 25, 1940, in Bay Shore, NY.

Father, Leonard Michel of Brooklyn, N.Y.; founder Michel Brewing Company

Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, Conn; attended Yale School of Law 1894-97 (LL B 1897), admitted to New York bar; practiced law in Brooklyn; engaged in manufacturing in Brooklyn 1897 until retirement; proprietor Coney Island Independent Ice Plant and Radiant Dye & Color Works; president Coney Island Independent Fuel Company; member American Chemical Society

Married Bertha Emmerich.

Death due to acute coronary occlusion. Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn Survived by wife.

Claude Dennison Clark, LL.B. 1903.

Born June 1, 1873, in Haddam, Conn. Died November 26, 1939, in DeLand, Fla

Father, Henry Hobart Clark, a school teacher, member Connecticut legislature, son of Dudley and Maria (Foote) Clark of Haddam. Mother, Frances Seldon (Ventres) Clark, daughter of David B and Jedidah (Dennison) Ventres of Haddam

New Britain (Conn.) public schools, attended Yale School of Law 1900-03 (LL B. 1903), admitted to Connecticut bar and practiced law in New Britain; with Food Administration in Philadelphia during World War, moved to Akron, Ohio, after war and was associated with Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company for a time, had resided in DeLand for a number of years

Unmarried

Death due to bronchial asthma Buried in DeLand, Fla. Survived by a sister, Mrs May L. Bathrick of DeLand, and three brothers, Ventres A Clark of New Britain, Frank D Clark of Kensington, Conn, and Alexis L Clark of Morris Plains, N.J

George David Brodie, LL.B. 1906.

Born September 3, 1879, in Burlington, Vt. Died July 3, 1939, in Portland, Ore

Father, David Alexander Brodie, a wholesale and retail shoe dealer in Burlington, son of Alexander and Janett (Coull) Brodie, who came to Northern Vermont from Baffshire, Scotland. Mother, Pamelia (Harvey) Brodie.

Burlington public schools, B A University of Vermont 1903 (member Lambda Iota); attended Yale School of Law 1903-06 (LL.B 1906), admitted to Connecticut, New York, Vermont, Texas, and Oregon bars, practiced law in New York City (with firm of Quigg, Bostwick & Coleman 1908-09) and in Vermont and Texas 1906-11, and in Dufur, Ore, since 1911; cashier and manager Johnston Brothers, bankers, since 1918, treasurer Oregon Bankers' Association 1933-36 and president 1936-37, member Masonic order, attended First Methodist Church, Dufur

Married July 31, 1918, in Dufur, Josephine, daughter of George Edward and Anna Druscilla (Johnston) McClintock No children.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in The Dalles (Ore) Cemetery Survived by wife and a brother, Ernest A Brodie (B A Univ of Vermont 1886) of Burlington

Harold Depew, LL.B. 1906.

Born September 8, 1883, in Linden, NJ Died October 18, 1939, in Elizabeth, NJ.

Father, Francis See Depew of Linden, engaged in insurance business in New York City; son of Ephriam Holbrook and Helen Jane (See) Depew of Plainfield, N J. Mother, Martha Adelia (Roll) Depew, daughter of Isaac Clausen and Harriet (Freeman) Roll of Linden, N J.

Linden public schools and Bernard Military Academy, New York City; attended Rutgers University 1902–03, University of Missouri School of Law 1903–05, and Yale School of Law 1905–06 (LL B 1906; member Kent Club), admitted to New Jersey bar 1908; practiced law in Elizabeth 1908–39; specialized in corporation law and acted as attorney for many corporations operating in New Jersey, also largely occupied in real-estate activities, counsel and recorder Linden Township 1910–22, an organizer Linden National Bank (president 1920–22) and Fidelity Building and Loan Association, Linden (counsel 1910–33), on Union County (N J) Republican Committee 1909–15, member Union County, New Jersey State, and American Bar associations, and Grace Church (Episcopal), Linden

Married May 20, 1914, in Newark, NJ, Grace Harrison, daughter of William Sutphen and Florence Henrietta (Harrison) DeMott No children

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Elizabeth. Survived by wife and a brother, Frank Roll Depew of Denton, Md

In 1922 Mr. Depew established the Harold Depew Fund which will ultimately benefit the Yale School of Law.

John Hopkins Noel, LL.B. 1910.

Born February 26, 1888, in Nashville, Tenn. Died November 4, 1939, in Nashville, Tenn.

Father, Edwin Thomas Noel, a real-estate dealer in Nashville; owner Liberty Mills Flour Company, son of Oscar Fitzallen and Sarah Catherine (Gardner) Noel of Nashville Mother, May (French) Noel, daughter of John Hopkins and Lucy Virginia (Smith) French of McMinnville, Tenn.

Culver and Blees Military academies and Bowen School, Nashville; attended Vanderbilt University 1906–07 (member Phi Delta Theta) and Yale School of Law 1907–10 (LL.B. 1910, member Yale University Gun Club and Book and Gavel); admitted to Tennessee bar 1911; interested in real estate since 1910; associated with Noel Ice & Cold Storage Plant, Nashville, 1914–39, vice-president Noel Hotel Company, trustee estate of O. F. Noel 1920–39; president Nashville Gun Club, member United

States Trapshooting Team at Olympic Games, Paris, 1924; attended First Presbyterian Church, Nashville

Married June 16, 1914, in Nashville, Frances, daughter of Frank Neville and Mary McCullough (Hord) Boensch Son John Hopkins, Jr. (B A. Vanderbilt Univ. 1939).

Death due to cardiorenal disease Buried in Mount Olivet Cemetery, Nashville Survived by wife, son, and a brother, Oscar F Noel, '10 L. Another brother, Edwin T. Noel, ex-'10 L., died in 1933.

Allen Spangler, LL.B. 1910.

Born August 22, 1886, in Mercersburg, Pa. Died August 26, 1939, in Darby, Pa

Father, Henry Spangler of Mercersburg; a retired merchant; son of Henry and Mary (Aspey) Spangler of Mercersburg. Mother, Mary Frances (Sipe) Spangler, daughter of George W B. and Martha Ann (Tanner) Sipe of Fulton County, Pa.

Mercersburg Academy, attended University of Pennsylvania School of Law 1907–08 and Yale School of Law 1908–10 (LL B 1910, member Kent Club); admitted to Connecticut bar 1910 and Pennsylvania bar 1912, teacher Mercersburg Academy 1910–11; practiced law in Philadelphia 1912–39 (member firms Cascaden & Spangler and Spangler & Berry and in independent practice), vice-president Mercersburg Club of Philadelphia; member Masonic order and Trinity Reformed Church, Mercersburg

Married June 30, 1920, in Fort Washington, Pa, Emmie, daughter of Charles Edward and Ada Sophia (Fulford) Warwick No children

Death due to lymphosarcoma Buried in Fairview Cemetery, Mercersburg Survived by wife, three sisters, Helen Spangler Oswalt (Wilson Coll ex-'09), the wife of Walter L. Oswalt of Altoona, Pa, A. Louise Spangler Moffett (Wilson Coll ex-'11), the wife of Clinton E Moffett of West Chester, Pa, and Miss Hannah Mary Spangler (Simmons Coll. 1911–12) of Mercersburg, and two brothers, Henry Hoke Spangler (B.A. Franklin and Marshall Coll. 1895) of Mercersburg, and John Walter Spangler (B.A. Princeton 1905) of Drexel Hill, Pa.

Charles William Murphy, LL.B. 1911.

Born August 4, 1889, in Firmwood, Ohio. Died October 28, 1939, in Los Angeles, Calif

Father, John Murphy, a banker in Pittsburgh; son of Patrick and Jane (Mulholland) Murphy of Jewett, Ohio. Mother, Margaret (VanCleave) Murphy, daughter of Charles VanCleave of Crawfordsville, Ind

Attended parochial school and St Mary's College, Anderson, Ind, 1895–1906; University of Notre Dame 1906–10 (LL B 1910), and Yale School of Law 1910–11 (LL.B 1911, member Book and Gavel), admitted to the bar 1910; practiced law in Indianapolis, Ind, 1913–16, had been engaged in oil business in Wyoming, Louisiana, and California since graduation; member Moffitt-Murphy Oil Company, Shreveport, La, 1920–26; associated with Inter-Mountain Oil Company, Kemmerer, Wyo, 1926–27, with Italo Corporation of America, San Francisco, Calif, and engaged in private operations 1926–32, member Roman Catholic church.

Married April 18, 1938, in Riverside, Calif, Margot Elizabeth, daughter of Granville Sharp and Elizabeth Marie (Gleason) Purvis. No children

Death due to tuberculosis. Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Los Angeles. Survived by wife, father, a half sister, Genevieve M Holz of Pittsburgh, and a half brother, John Charles Murphy (M E Univ of Pittsburgh 1922) of Detroit, Mich.

Joseph Cecil Wolon, LL.B. 1914.

Born March 23, 1893, in Nanticoke, Pa. Died May 19, 1940, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, Michael Peter Wolon, a wholesale ice-dealer in Mountain Top, Pa; son of Michael Peter and Anna Wolon of Lithuania. Mother, Marcella (Gillis) Wolon; daughter of Joseph and Elizabeth Gillis of Nanti-coke.

Nanticoke High School Attended St. Viator College 1910–11, enrolled Valparaiso University 1911–14 (B A 1914) and Yale School of Law 1911–14 (LL B. 1914; president Wayland Club Senior year and Yale Forum; member Phi Alpha Delta and Book and Gavel), admitted to Connecticut bar June, 1914, and to Illinois bar 1915, practiced law in Chicago 1915–24, general counsel Pioneer Fire Insurance Company of America, Chicago, 1916–19 and vice-president and manager 1919–24, associated with South End Construction Company, Chicago, 1924–27, investment broker in Chicago

Married May 29, 1932, in Chicago, Myrtle, daughter of Knut and Olive (Jensen) Knutsen No children

Death due to apoplexy. Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Menominee, Mich Survived by wife and four sisters, Matilda Mae Wolon Symans (Valparaiso Univ ex-'18), and Mrs Frank C Jeckell, both of Mountain Top, Mrs. John Mulligan of New York City, and Mrs Edward J Beck of Kingston, Pa.

MASTER OF LAWS

Earl M. Steer, LL.M. 1906.

Born June 21, 1886, in West Branch, Iowa. Died July 10, 1939, in Pasadena, Calif.

Father, William M. Steer, a merchant in West Branch and Truro, Iowa; operated a chain of lumber yards in Iowa; organizer and first president Truro Savings Bank; son of Joseph and Ellen (Smith) Steer of West Branch Mother, Martha (Enlow) Steer; daughter of Samuel and Huldah (Whinery) Enlow of West Branch.

Attended Drake University College of Law 1902-05 (LL.B. 1905) and Yale School of Law 1905-06 (LL M cum laude 1906, member Kent Club and Yale Law School Political Club), admitted to Iowa bar 1907; practiced law in Des Moines 1907-13 and 1914-17; junior member Sampson & Steer 1907-13, assistant city solicitor Des Moines 1914-16; special counsel in office of Attorney General of Iowa 1916-17, legal editor West Publishing Company, St Paul, Minn, 1913-14; examiner Interstate Commerce Commission, Washington, D. C., 1917-39; member Masonic order and Wesley Methodist Church, Washington (steward 1926-39).

Married November 17, 1917, in Des Moines, Carrie Ethel, daughter of Elnathan and Ida (Shaw) Calvert. Children: Ida May (died March 31, 1919); Martha Grace (Univ of Southern California 1941); Mary Addie, and Earl William.

Death due to cardiorenal vascular disease. Buried in Rose Hills Memorial Park, Whittier, Calif Survived by wife, two daughters, and son.

SCHOOL OF THE FINE ARTS

Alfred Wigglesworth Boylen, B.F.A. 1926.

Born August 24, 1880, in Boston, Mass. Died February 8, 1940, in Shelton, Conn

Father, Alfred Furber Boylen, a clothing cutter with J Perez & Brothers, Boston, son of Thomas F and Mary (Garlick) Boylen of Malden, Mass Mother, Sarah (Wigglesworth) Boylen; daughter of John H and

Sarah (Norton) Wigglesworth of South Boston, Mass

Malden (Mass) High School; attended atelier of Boston Architectural Club, studied and worked in offices of a number of architects in Boston (including L. C. Greenleaf, J. M. James, and Cooper & Bailey) 1900–05, special student in architecture Yale School of the Fine Arts 1924–26 (B.F.A. 1926); architectural draftsman with Charles S Palmer, Meriden, Conn, 1905–09 and 1910–14 and in Boston 1909–10; chief draftsman and designer Brown & Von Beren, New Haven, Conn, 1914–21, on a sketching tour in Europe 1921–22; independently engaged as an architect in New Haven since 1922; his work includes the former Elks Club building in New Haven, Church of St James the Apostle in Westville, the Episcopal church in Northford, Spring Glen School, Hamden, St Rita's Rectory, Hamden, as well as a number of residences; member 2d Company, Governor's Foot Guard, New Haven Practicing Architects Association, Connecticut chapter of American Institute of Architects, and Church of St James the Apostle (Episcopal), Westville

Married May 24, 1911, in Old Lyme, Conn, Jeanne Rosalie Seitlinger (Mus.B. 1930), daughter of Paul and Rosalie (Therrien) Seitlinger Son Alfred Wigglesworth, Jr (Yale School of the Fine Arts 1935–37)

Death due to coronary occlusion Survived by wife, son, two sisters, Florence B. Blake, the wife of Frank H. Blake (B A. Bates Coll 1906) of Chester, Vt., and Mrs Charles W Towne of Melrose, Mass, and two brothers, Edwin Thomas Boylen of Washington, D C, and Stephen Arthur Boylen of Canaan, Conn.

SCHOOL OF MUSIC

Lillian Theresa Wentsch, Mus.B. 1934.

Born May 5, 1912, in New Haven, Conn Died February 14, 1940, in Atlanta, Ga

Father, John Martin Wentsch, a salesman with New Haven Dairy, son of John and Christina (Ohngemach) Wentsch of Southbury, Conn. Mother, Theresa Louise (Brill) Wentsch (ex-'00 Music), daughter of

John and Amelia (Tischendorf) Brill of New Haven. Yale relatives include Perry W Bean, ex-'23 (brother-in-law).

New Haven High School; attended Yale School of Music 1929–34 (certificate in theory of music 1932, Mus B. 1934); teacher of music Hamden Hall Country Day School 1934–35 and Prospect Hill School, New Haven, 1935–38; professor of music Lander College, Greenwood, S C, 1938–40; organist and choir director Calvary Baptist Church, New Haven, 1936–38, member Center Church (Congregational), New Haven

Death due to circulatory and respiratory failure Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by a brother, Martin William Wentsch of East Haven, and a stepbrother, John Wentsch of West Haven.

MASTERS OF FORESTRY

Charles Sidney Chapman, M.F. 1902.

Born April 2, 1880, in Westbrook, Conn Died April 2, 1940, in Seattle, Wash.

Father, Charles Henry Chapman, a farmer in Westbrook, served as naval officer during Civil War; son of Sidney and Anne (Warner) Chapman of New York City Mother, Helen (Chalker) Chapman; daughter of Harvey and Lydia Buckingham (Stannard) Chalker of Old Saybrook, Conn

Westbrook High School, B Agr. Connecticut State College 1898, attended Yale Graduate School and Yale School of Forestry 1900-02 (M F 1902); forest assistant United States Forest Service 1902-05, inspector of timber sales 1907-08, chief, office of organization, and assistant forester, operation, 1908-09, forester District 6 (Washington, Oregon, and Alaska) 1909-10; forester E P Burton Lumber Company, Charleston, SC, 1905-07, secretary and manager Oregon Forest Fire Association, with headquarters at Portland, 1911-25, and member board of managers since 1925; manager and forester Western Forestry and Conservation Association, Portland, Ore, 1919–24 (secretary-treasurer since 1928), chief forester Weyerhaeuser Timber Company, Tacoma, Wash, 1924-40, sergeant 3d Connecticut Volunteer Infantry June, 1898-March, 1899, enlisted May 10, 1917, attended Officers' Training Camp at The Presidio of San Francisco May-July, 1917; commissioned Major, 10th Engineers, July, 1917, promoted Lieutenant Colonel October 8, 1918, overseas September 10, 1917-April 2, 1919; commander Besançon District October, 1917-June, 1918, attached to chief engineer 1st Army July, 1918, section forestry officer, Advance Section, Services of Supply,

October-December, 1918; attached to technical adviser to Peace Commission, Paris, January-March, 1919; discharged April 8, 1919; Lieutenant Colonel, Engineers Section, U.S. Reserves, cited April 19, 1919, for exceptionally meritorious and conspicuous services at Besançon, France, editor: Leaving Cutover Lands Productive Douglas Fir Region (1934); a frequent contributor to forestry journals, chairman advisory council Pacific Northwest Forest Experiment Station 1926–27 and forest research council Pacific Northwest District 1928; vice-president Society of American Foresters 1928 (chairman North Pacific Section 1927, vicechairman 1933-34, vice-chairman Puget Sound Section 1937), member Coos County Fire Patrol Association (president 1932-40), Oregon Conservation Association, Washington Forest Fire Association, Washington State Planning Council (head forest management committee), Washington State Forestry Conference (trustee 1929–40, chairman forest taxation committee; member executive committee), Pacific Northwest Loggers' Association (chairman forest practice committee), National Lumber Manufacturers' Association (committee on conservation), and Masonic order; attended Christ Church (Episcopal), Tacoma, Wash

Married September 4, 1919, in New York City, Ethel, daughter of John E. and Annie Laurie (Campbell) Montgomery Children John School (Inc.) Applies 1909 and Annie

Sidney (died April 12, 1922) and Anne.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in River View Cemetery, Portland, Ore. Survived by wife, daughter, and a sister, Mrs Frederick S. Brainard of Westbrook.

Ferdinand Augustus Silcox, M.F. 1905.

Born December 25, 1882, in Columbus, Ga Died December 20, 1939, in Alexandria, Va.

Father, Ferdinand Augustus Silcox, a cotton factor, president Charleston (S.C.) Cotton Mills; son of Daniel Hardy and Martha Smith (Myer) Silcox of Charleston Mother, Carrie Olivia (Spear) Silcox; daughter of Thomas Simpson and Sarah Matilda (Dodd) Spear of Columbus

Charleston High School, B S. College of Charleston 1903 (high honors in biology; honors in chemistry, member Phi Kappa Sigma), student in botany and geology Yale Graduate School 1903–04 and Yale School of Forestry 1903–05 (M F. 1905), assistant Leadville District, Cochetopa National Forest, Colorado, 1905; acting supervisor Holy Cross Forest fall of 1905, and San Juan and Montezuma forests January–April, 1906, forest inspector 1907 and with Paul G Redington, '04 F, drew up plan for redistricting forests in Montana and Idaho, general inspection officer 1907–08, assistant district forester District 1 1908–11 and district forester 1911–17, during this period negotiated difficulties between I W W and

l

private lumber interests and secured cooperation of the former in protecting forest areas; Captain and later Major, 20th Engineers (Forestry), August, 1917-April, 1918; on joint appointment of United States Department of Labor and United States Shipping Board served as head of bureau to handle labor problems in Seattle shipyards and northwestern spruce forests and, in cooperation with War Department, mobilized labor in New Jersey munition and airplane construction factories 1918; director personnel division United States Employment Service, Washington, DC, 1918-19, director of industrial relations United Typothetae of America, Chicago, 1919–22, and New York Employing Printers Association, Inc, 1922-33 (organized printers' apprenticeship schools in cooperation with New York City Board of Education); chief of forest service, Department of Agriculture, November 15, 1933-December 20, 1939, represented forest service at Forest Conservation Conference 1934 and American Game Conference 1935; chairman North American Wild Life Conference 1936, member Lumber Code Authority 1934; member work allotment board of twenty-two appointed by President Roosevelt 1935; federal coordinator for emergency problems arising out of New England hurricane 1938, especially interested in reforestation and restoration and conservation of wild life resources and in 1936 made trip to Europe under auspices of Carl Schurz Memorial Foundation to study forestation and drought conditions, put into effect President Roosevelt's shelter belt plan, contributed to many magazines and journals; LL.D College of Charleston 1935 and Syracuse University 1938, arbitrator between Realty Advisory Board of Labor Relations, Inc., and Building Service Employees International Union in New York City elevator strike 1936; Alumni Fund agent for 1905 F. and 1906 F from 1926 to 1927, fellow Society of American Foresters; member Cosmos Club, National Capital Park and Planning Commission, and American Forestry Association

Married March 4, 1908, in Charleston, Marie Louise, daughter of John Quincy Adams and Constance Eugenie (Johnson) Thatcher. No children

Death due to coronary thrombosis Survived by wife and two sisters, Mrs John Julius Anderson of Charleston, and Mrs. James Glover Bailie of Augusta, Ga

Kenneth Wallace Carson, M.F. 1924.

Born September 3, 1900, in New York City. Died August 20, 1939, in Southampton, N.Y.

Father, John Graham Carson, chief inspector Department of Water Supply, New York City, son of Hugh and Maria Carson of New York City Mother, Nellie (Regan) Carson, daughter of Thomas Regan of New York City

Evander Childs High School, New York City; attended New York State College of Forestry, Syracuse University, 1919–23 (B S 1923; member Beta Theta P1) and Yale School of Forestry 1923–24 (M F 1924), apprentice Stanley Rule & Level Company, New Britain, Conn, 1924–25; associated with Landscape Foresters, Ltd., New York City, 1925–26, and with Queensboro Corporation 1926; partner real-estate brokerage firm of Gilbert & Carson, Inc., Flushing, N.Y., 1926–28, salesman Pease & Elliman, New York City, 1928–29, attended New York University School of Law 1927–30 (J D 1930; member Phi Delta Phi); clerk in law office of Arthur H. Priest, Forest Hills, N Y., 1930–33 and partner 1933–36; admitted to bar June, 1933, counsel Queens Boulevard Improvement Association; president Republican Club of Forest Hills and Kew Gardens, Inc., 1935–36, and county committeeman 6th Assembly district; member Society of American Foresters and Park Avenue Presbyterian Church, New York City.

Unmarried.

Death due to injuries received when diving Ashes interred in Wood-lawn Cemetery, New York City Survived by a brother, Hugh Allison Carson of White Plains, N Y., and his stepmother, Mrs. Sadie Carson of New York City.

SUPPLEMENT

NOTICES OF DEATHS PRIOR TO JULY 1, 1939 NOT PREVIOUSLY REPORTED

Wılliam Lyman Chase, B.A. 1902.

Born October 22, 1879, in Macedon, NY. Died June 26, 1939, in Palmyra, N.Y.

Father, Herman Lyman Chase (M D. Albany Medical Coll 1875), a physician in Macedon and Palmyra, son of Lyman and Martha (Andrew) Chase of Walworth, N Y Mother, Laura Edna (Baker) Chase; daughter of John W. and Lucy Arloa (Potter) Baker of Walworth.

Palmyra High School Second dispute appointment Junior year, first

dispute appointment Senior year, member Beta Theta Pi.

Associated with Garlock Rubber Packing Company, San Francisco, 1902; in offices of Henry Holt & Company, New York City, 1903; reporter New York Tribune, New York Times, and Rochester Evening Times 1903–04, teacher Jenner's Preparatory School, Syracuse, 1904–05, University Preparatory School, Ithaca, 1905–06, 1908–09, and Bloomsburg (Pa) Normal School 1907–08, engaged independently in retailing for R. H. Macy & Company, Inc, New York City, 1906–07, examiner New York State Civil Service Commission, Albany, 1909–16, inspector New York State Department of Social Welfare in New York City 1916–18 and in Albany 1918–39

Married December 2, 1913, in Brooklyn, N.Y., Maybel Emma, daughter of Edward E. Farrington Children Beryl Genevieve, Marian Clovis, Laura Elizabeth, the wife of Harold Johnson; and Olivia Farrington (Univ of Rochester ex-'39), the wife of Louis A. Babbitt, Jr. (B.A. Harvard 1934, M.B.A. 1936). Mrs. Chase died in May, 1926

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease Buried in Palmyra Cemetery Survived by daughters and a sister, Mrs John Cattanach (died May 28, 1940)

Elmer Yelton, B.A. 1905.

Born February 3, 1884, in Newport, Ky. Died February 25, 1939, in Schenectady, N.Y.

Father, Charles Edward Yelton of Alexandria, Ky.; an omnibus driver; son of Henry and Harkie Yelton of Campbell County, Ky. Mother, Martha Ann (Gosney) Yelton, daughter of Daniel Brown and Susan Melinda Gosney of Campbell County

BA Lebanon University (Ohio) 1904, entered Yale College begin-

ning of Senior year, philosophical oration appointment

Instructor in Latin and Greek Lebanon University 1905–07; Young Men's Christian Association worker 1907–23 (assistant educational director Central Y.M C A, Cincinnati, 1907–08 and religious work secretary 1917–20, educational secretary South Bend, Ind, 1908–12, general secretary Mukden, China, 1912–14; assistant secretary Pasadena, Calif, 1914–15, religious work secretary Central Y M C A, St Louis, 1915–17, foreign student secretary International Committee, New York City, 1920–23); executive secretary Committee on Friendly Relations Among Foreign Students, general secretary New York State Sunday School Association 1923–27; director Trinity Institute, a social settlement, Albany, N.Y, 1928–30; executive director Albany City Council of Religious Education 1930–36, assistant professor of philosophy and religion Russell Sage College 1936–38; editor *The Empire State Leader*, assisted in compilation of and contributed several chapters to *The Foreign Student in America* (1924); member Immanuel Church (Baptist), Albany.

Married February 27, 1909, in Newport, Ky, Bess, daughter of George and Magdalene (Klein) Marxmiller Children: Audrey Louise (B A Keuka Coll. 1931), the wife of Irving Louis Spelman (B.S. Cornell 1933); Elmer, Jr. (B A Hamilton Coll. 1934, M A. Univ. of Cincinnati 1935); Donald Charles (B A Hamilton Coll. 1935), and Helen Isabel

(Russell Sage Coll. 1939-40)

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Ashes interred in Oakwood Cemetery, Troy, N.Y. Survived by wife, children, and a brother, Edwin Forrest Yelton of Fort Thomas, Ky.

Harry Vollmer, B.A. 1915.

Born January 3, 1893, in Davenport, Iowa. Died August 27, 1937, in Chicago, Ill

Father, Henry Vollmer, LLD (LLB State Univ of Iowa 1887), a lawyer in Davenport, mayor of Davenport 1893–97, member of Congress 1914–15; son of Henry and Dorothea (Plainbeck) Vollmer of Davenport Mother, Jessie (Peck) Vollmer, daughter of Washington Freeman Peck (MD New York Univ. 1863) and Maria (Purdy) Peck of Davenport

Davenport High School and Tome School for Boys, Port Deposit, Md Left college in Senior year, granted B A 1919 with enrollment in Class of 1915, member Beta Theta Pi.

Studied law in Davenport for a short time after graduation, attended graduate school University of California 1919-20 and Harvard Law

School 1921-22; studied music in Europe and had been engaged in radio and church singing, and piano teaching; member Episcopal church.

Unmarried.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Oak Forest Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by a sister, Dorothea Helen V Gregory (Smith Coll ex-'18), the wife of Waldron Ashley Gregory (M.D. Univ. of California 1921) of Piedmont.

Forrest Banks Weakley, B.A. 1916.

Born December 8, 1895, in Abilene, Texas. Died September 2, 1938, in Albuquerque, N Mex.

Father, John Norton Weakley, a druggist and ranchman in Roby, Texas Mother, Lula Jane (Bright) Weakley

Roby High School and Simmons Academy, Abilene. B.A. magna cum laude Hardin-Simmons University 1915. Entered Yale College beginning

of Senior year; second colloquy appointment

Engaged as a broker in Abilene and as a rancher in Roby; enlisted March 29, 1918, and served for a time as Spanish interpreter, Psychological Division, Intelligence Department; attended fourth Field Artillery Central Officers' Training School, Camp Zachary Taylor; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, September 25, 1918; assigned to 2d Field Artillery, First Brigade, Camp Jackson; discharged at School of Fire, Fort Sill, December 12, 1918

Death due to high blood pressure and enlarged heart. Buried in Roby. Survived by wife and two children, Jane and Patsy Ann.

Albert Daniel Wilson, Ph.B. 1877.

Born July 5, 1858, in Newburgh, NY. Died January 26, 1939, in Miami, Fla

Father, James Wilson of Newburgh, son of James and Dinah Baker (Stanton) Wilson Mother, Eliza (Mackay) Wilson; daughter of Daniel and Hannah (Wiley) Mackay.

Newburgh Free Academy Civil engineering course; vice-president of Class Freshman year, member Class picture committee and Theta Xi.

Engineer in charge of construction between Durango and Silverton, Colo, with Denver & Rio Grande Railroad 1880-83; chief engineer and superintendent Deadwood (S Dak) Central Railroad 1888-91; surveyor United States Department of Mines 1891-1906; interested in operation of gold mines near Deadwood from about 1880 until 1918 (became part owner Lundberg, Dorr & Wilson Mining & Milling Company in 1903),

engineer South Dakota State Highway Commission 1918 until about 1922; city engineer and member Deadwood Board of Education 1904; engaged in engineering in Florida 1927 until retirement; member Sons of the American Revolution (elected treasurer South Dakota Chapter 1901), American Institute of Mining Engineers, and Episcopal church.

Married October 8, 1891, in Deadwood, Irene, daughter of Samuel Cushman (Brown Univ ex-1856) and Indiana (Sopris) Cushman. Children: Arthur Cushman (died January 7, 1937) and Sidney Evert (died

April 8, 1917). Mrs. Wilson died December 28, 1922.

Death due to injuries received when struck by an automobile Buried in Mount Moriah Cemetery, Deadwood Survived by two grandchildren, Sidney Bentley Wilson (Univ. of Colorado ex-'41) and Elizabeth Evelyn Wilson (Univ. of Colorado 1941)

Dudley Howard Wiggins, Ph.B. 1893.

Born February 17, 1871, in Chattanooga, Tenn Died December 20, 1938, in Indianapolis, Ind

Father, Joseph Pyle Wiggins, a wholesale meat packer and broker in Indianapolis, Captain on staff of General William P. Benton during Civil War, pension agent, Indianapolis. Mother, Sarah (Henderson) Wiggins; daughter of William Henderson of Indianapolis

Indianapolis Classical School. Chemistry course.

Associated with Indianapolis Stove Company for a few years after graduation; later devoted time to marketing oil and gravel deposits on extensive family real-estate holdings near Indianapolis and in developing and selling the land as country estates, his later years were occupied in chemical and mechanical investigation; held several patents of chemical or electrical interest; member Indianapolis Dramatic Club; attended First Presbyterian Church, Indianapolis.

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Crown Hill Cemetery, Indianapolis Survived by no immediate relatives.

Joseph Michael O'Donnell, Ph.B. 1902.

Born May 17, 1879, in Kilgarriff, Ireland. Died July 14, 1934, in Dearborn, Mich

Father, Thomas O'Donnell of Ansonia, Conn, son of John and Mary (Frazer) O'Donnell of County Limerick, Ireland Mother, Anastatia (Coughlin) O'Donnell

Ansonia High School Mechanical engineering course

Draftsman Riter-Conley Manufacturing Company, Pittsburgh, 1902–03, draftsman, salesman, and later construction engineer Western Electric Company, New York City, 1903–07; checker for a bridge company, Roanoke, Va, 1907–08, estimator Norton & Company, New York City; structural engineer NO.T & L. Company, Akron, Ohio, consulting structural engineer on steel and concrete work, Akron; had been engaged as a builder in Dearborn; member Roman Catholic church

Death due to heart disease. Buried in Michigan Survived by son, John J, two sisters, the Misses Elizabeth F and Katherine O'Donnell of Ansonia, and two brothers, Thomas O'Donnell of Waterbury, Conn, and Edmund E O'Donnell, '98 M (died May 16, 1935, see page 296)

James Creighton Brown, Ph.B. 1906.

Born August 20, 1885, in Salt Lake City, Utah. Died January 2, 1938, in Salt Lake City, Utah

Father, James Henry Brown, member Brown, Terry & Woodruff Company, Salt Lake City; son of William Curtis and Elizabeth Middaugh (Bucher) Brown of Fitzgerald, Ga. Mother, Leoline (Woodmansee) Brown; daughter of Joseph and Lavinia (Hawkins) Woodmansee of Salt Lake City Yale relatives include a nephew, H. Ross Brown, Jr, 1941 S

Salt Lake City High School and Worcester Academy Metallurgy course

Secretary Rash, Banker & Company, fruit, grain, and produce brokers, Los Angeles, Calif, 1912–18, secretary Brown-Gage Grain Company, Los Angeles, 1918–23, treasurer Tricolor Oil Company and Petroleum Finance Corporation, Los Angeles.

Married May 8, 1911, in Ögden, Utah, Flora Elizabeth, daughter of Orson and Sophronia (Martin) Twelves Daughter Barbara.

Death due to tuberculosis Buried in Mount Olivet Cemetery, Salt Lake City Survived by wife, daughter, four sisters, Marjorie Brown, Lavinia Brown (B A Univ of California 1918), Leoline Brown (B A. Univ of California 1923), and Elizabeth Brown Henderson, all of Salt Lake City, and two brothers, H Ross Brown, '08 S., and Edward T Brown, '13

Fred Latimer Hadsel, M.A. 1906.

Born February 18, 1880, in Maynard, Iowa. Died January 31, 1939, at Miami Beach, Fla

Father, Henry Stephen Hadsel (M D Keokuk Medical Coll 1882), a physician in Fayette County, Iowa, son of Hubbard L and Sophia Adelia

(Richardson) Hadsall of Maynard Mother, Hettie (Latimer) Hadsel, laughter of William Dinnin and Mary F (Zimmerman) Latimer of Fayette County.

Public schools in Maynard and Elgin, Iowa; Ph.B Upper Iowa University 1902 (president Y M C A.), attended University of Chicago immer 1902, Yale Graduate School 1905–06 (M A 1906), University of Oxford 1910–11, and Stanford University 1921–22, taught in high chool, Canton, Ill, 1902–03; member faculty Miami University 1903–39 (instructor in Latin and Greek 1903–04, assistant professor of Latin 1905–11, and professor of Latin 1911–39; principal of the academy 1906–08 and director of sub-freshman work 1908–10, charter member Tau Kappa Alpha 1909, and Eta Sigma Phi 1927), president Board of Regents Wesley Foundation and Oxford Men's Forum, member Vergilian Cruise 1930, Latin Service Committee of Ohio Classical Conference, Classical Association of Middle West and South, American Association of Jniversity Professors, Masonic order, and Oxford Methodist Church member official board thirty-five years and superintendent of Sunday School fifteen years)

Married April 7, 1910, in Albion, Mich, Mary Lucinda Perine (B A Albion Coll 1902, B A Smith Coll 1904), daughter of John Edwin Perine (Albion Coll ex-'68) and Cornelia Ann (Aiken) Perine Children Lucinda (B A Miami Univ 1932, B S 1933), the wife of John Wesley Hargrave (B.S Univ. of Cincinnati 1929), and Fred Latimer, Jr certificate Univ of Grenoble 1933, B A. Miami Univ 1937, M A Clark Univ 1938).

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes interred in Oxford (Ohio) Cemetery. Survived by wife and children.

George Ellsworth Putnam, M.A. 1908.

Born July 9, 1887, in Richmond, Kans Died June 24, 1939, in Hinsdale, Ill

Father, Charles Ellsworth Putnam, a banker and lumberman in Richnond, son of Leander and Martha Emerette (Pyle) Putnam of Richnond Mother, Ida (McGee) Putnam, daughter of James Anderson and Mary Ann (Wade) McGee of Garnett, Kans

Richmond High School, attended Ottawa University 1903–05 and Jniversity of Kansas 1905–07 (B A 1907), studied political science Yale Graduate School 1907–08 (M A 1908), Rhodes Scholar from Kansas at Jniversity of Oxford 1908–11 (diploma in economics, with distinction, 909, B Litt 1911); assistant professor of economics University of Cansas 1911–16 and associate professor 1916–17, professor of economics Washington University 1917–20, consulting economist and later econo-

mist Swift & Company, Chicago, 1920-39; special expert United States Tariff Commission summer 1918; author Practice Problems in Economics for the Use of Elementary Students (1915), The Land Credit Problem (1916), Supplying Britain's Meat (1923), contributed articles to many reviews and journals, director Security Mutual Casualty Company; fellow Royal Statistical Society; member American Economic Association and Illinois Council, National Economic League.

Married July 6, 1911, in Brighton, England, Clare Elise, daughter of Henry Baldwin and Elizabeth Rowena (Edwards) Edwards Daughter: Pauline Elizabeth (B A. Univ of Michigan 1938, M A Radcliffe 1939).

Death due to leukemia. Buried in Bronswood Cemetery, Hinsdale. Survived by wife, daughter, parents, a sister, Ina Blanche Putnam Axling (Ottawa Univ ex-'07) of Ottawa, Kans, and four brothers, Webster McGee Putnam (Kansas State Agricultural Coll. 1903-06) of Thayer, Kans, Ralph Ethan Allen Putnam (B.S. Univ of Kansas 1916) of Ottawa, Mark Leander Putnam (B.A. Univ. of Kansas 1924) of Summit, NJ, and Clifford Arlo Putnam (B.S. Univ. of Kansas 1925, M.A. 1926) of Ponca City, Okla

Eduardo Taglialatela, M.A. 1909.

Born December 21, 1875, in Naples, Italy Died March 7, 1937, in Milan, Italy.

Father, Rev Prof Pietro Taglialatela, instructor in philosophy Uni-

versity of Naples Mother, Teresa (Tammaro) Taglialatela.

BD University of Geneva 1901; graduate student in philosophy Yale University 1908-09 (M A. 1909); attended Temple University 1909-11 (STD. 1911), PhD. University of Pisa 1911, professor of pedagogy Piacenza Normal School 1914–17, assistant professor of pedagogy universities of Catania and Messina 1917-18, professor of English literature University of Genoa 1918–24; libero docente of moral philosophy University of Rome 1920, inspector of schools Rome Board of Education 1920, minister Methodist Episcopal Church of Italy 1897–1914 and editor of its paper L'Evangelista, in charge of churches in Geneva, Milan, Rome, Leghorn, Philadelphia, and New York City; had been in ill-health since 1924 and unable to follow his profession; author L'Evangelisation de l'Italie (1901), Sinite parvulos (1913), Il divino nell'educazione (1913), Tolstoi e la saviezza infantile (1913), Dante Gabriele Rossetti (1913), La poesia di Rabindranath Tagore (1914), Lo psicologismo nella morale (1916), Morale e Religione (1916), L'educazione strenua (1917), Per una più virile educazione (1916), Pensieri di N. Tommaseo sull'educazione (1918), Giovannı Locke educatore (1919), L'educazione nella Chiesa Primitiva (1919), L'educazione secondo gli scrittori latini (1919), La dissertazione pedagogica

(1921), Letture di Pedagogia e morale (1922), L'educazione nazionale secondo R Bonghi (1922), Cultura estetica ed ascetismo (1922), L'arte di studiare (1922), Liriche e Poemetti di Wordsworth (1924), Percy Bysshe Shelley (1924), Corso d'istruzione religiosa (1930), L'educazione della volontà (1931), translated into Italian: Agato e altri racconti (1904), Che farebbe Gesù (1905), Crocifisso! (1906), and L'educazione del popolo (1915)

Married in 1902, in Geneva, Switzerland, Florence Fawcett of London,

England. No children.

Death due to heart disease. Buried in Verano Protestant Cemetery, Rome. Survived by wife, a sister, Amalia Bassanesi of Milan, and two brothers, Gustavo Taglialatela of New York City, and Alfredo Taglialatela of Toronto, Ontario.

William Ivey Cranford, Ph.D. 1895.

Born November 10, 1867, in Ophir, N.C. Died August 29, 1936, in Durham, N C

Parents, Joshua Austin and Mary Elizabeth (Davis) Cranford.

Ophir Academy; B.A. Duke University 1891 (member Phi Beta Kappa), studied philosophy and psychology Yale Graduate School 1892–93, 1894–95 (Ph.D. 1895); member faculty of Duke University 1891–1936; instructor in English and Greek 1891–92 and Greek and philosophy 1893–94; Carr professor of philosophy 1895–1936; dean Trinity College (undergraduate college for men of Duke University) 1910–17; on executive and student life committees of the faculty; author 'Historical Theories of Perception' (1895); member Durham Chamber of Commerce and Methodist church.

Married July 17, 1895, in Durham, Nellie, daughter of D W and Mary Jane Edwards. Children Mary (Mrs Clardy) and William Edwards

Death due to hypertensive heart disease and cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Maplewood Cemetery, Durham. Survived by wife and chillren

Panchanan Mitra, Ph.D. 1930.

Born May 25, 1892, in Calcutta, India Died July 25, 1936, in Calcutta, India.

Father, Udayendra lala Mitra, assistant in department of controller of urrencies, Calcutta, son of Upendra lala Mitra and Nistarini Chowdhury) Mitra of Calcutta Mother, Yogamaya (Ghosh) Mitra Narikeldanga High School, Calcutta, attended Bangabasi College,

Calcutta, 1907-10, Ripon College, Calcutta, 1910-12, Presidency College, Calcutta, 1912-14, B A. University of Calcutta 1912, M A 1914 studied philosophy and psychology Yale Graduate School 1929-30 (Ph D 1930), employed in a publishing house and engaged in private study 1914-15, lecturer in English Bangabasi College 1915-19; professor ancient Indian history, culture, and anthropology University of Calcutta 1919-29 and 1930-36, president Pabna Satsang Samiti 1925-30; honorary assistant curator Archeological Section Indian Museum; honorary magis trate Calcutta 1922-24; councillor Corporation of Calcutta 1924-27 author Prehistoric India (1923), American Anthropology (1930), and India-Elements in Polynesian Culture (1932); contributed to Indian Culture Science and Culture, and Italian Encyclopedia (Indian prehistoric section) president anthropological section Indian Science Congress 1933, anthropogenetics section Indian Population Congress, Lucknow, 1936, vice president Deshbandhu High School 1934-36; secretary Suburban Read ing Club, Calcutta, 1924; fellow Royal Anthropological Institute o Great Britain and Ireland, associate member American Museum o Natural History

Married April 17, 1916, in Calcutta, Nirmala, daughter of Dr Bepir Behari Ghosh (M B. Univ of Calcutta 1886) and Rajeswari (Deb Ghosh Children Ajit Uday (B Sc. Univ. of Calcutta 1938); Ajay Hriday (B.Com Univ. of Calcutta 1939), Sivasaran (Bangabasi Coll. 1940) Gargi, Maitreyi, and Sampad

Death due to typhoid fever with septicemia Cremated at Keoratal. Burning Ghat, Calcutta Survived by wife, children, a sister, Mrs. P. G. Roy Chowdhury, and two brothers, Pulin Krishna Mitra (M.A. Univ o Calcutta 1921) and Anil Krishna Mitra (B Sc. Univ. of Calcutta 1924 M B 1931), all of Calcutta

Edmund Emmet O'Donnell, M.D. 1898.

Born June 7, 1875, in Kilgarriff, Ireland. Died May 16, 1935, in New York City

Father, Thomas O'Donnell of Ansonia, Conn, son of John and Mary (Frazer) O'Donnell of County Limerick, Ireland Mother, Anastatic (Coughlin) O'Donnell

Ansonia High School and St Michael's College, Toronto, Ontario attended Yale School of Medicine 1895–98 (M.D. 1898, on Yale Ath letic Team two years, member Class supper committee), interne in New York City 1898–1900, practiced medicine South Boston, Mass, 1900–02 Brockton, Mass, 1902–07, and New York City 1907–35; commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Corps, December 25, 1917; attended Medica

Officers' Training Camp, Camp Greenleaf, assigned to 54th Pioneer Infantry, Camp Wadsworth; overseas July 1, 1918–September 1, 1919, with 2d Pioneer Infantry in France and at Evacuation Hospital 6, Souilly, Meuse-Argonne, discharged September 1, 1919, member Medical Society of the State of New York, American Legion, Irish Historical Society, and Holy Name Church (Roman Catholic), New York City

Married July 29, 1919, in Dublin, Ireland, Eileen Josephine, daughter of Edmund and Ellen M Tobin. Children Edmund Roe (Fordham Coll

1942), and Eileen Bernadette

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Mount St Peter's Cemetery, Derby, Conn Survived by wife, children, two sisters, the Misses Elizabeth F. and Katherine O'Donnell of Ansonia, and a brother, Thomas O'Donnell of Waterbury, Conn His brother, Joseph M O'Donnell, '02 S, died in 1934 (see page 291)

Lauren Matthew Foster, B.D. 1871.

Born April 1, 1843, in Meriden, Conn Died April 23, 1939, in San Jose, Calif

Father, Albert Foster, founder Foster, Merriam & Company, manufacturers of casters, Meriden, son of Matthew and Charlotte (Preston) Foster of Wallingford and Meriden Mother, Hannah (Merriam) Foster, daughter of Lauren and Temperance (Todd) Merriam of Meriden

Hopkins Grammar School; attended Yale Divinity School 1868–71 (B D 1871), ordained in Congregational church, Hudson, Wis, October 22, 1872, and minister there 1871–75, minister Grand Rapids, Wis, 1875–79, Mauston, Wis, 1879–81, Ironton and Oak Hill, Wis, 1881–83, Salem, Wis, 1883–85, and Poplar Grove, Ill, 1885–97; retired from ministry in 1897 and had since resided in California where he was engaged as an orchardist and also as supply minister in various churches, did hospital work in Alexandria, Va, during Civil War, member San Jose Grange 1902–13, California State Board for Chinese Mission Work, and First Congregational Church, San Jose

Married August 10, 1880, in Wausau, Wis, Della Ann, daughter of William H and Mercy Ann (Miner) Fuller Children Albert Miner (Univ of California 1907–12), Frank Lauren, Mildred Fuller (B L Univ of California 1904), the wife of Albert W Savage, '10 S, and Eva Della (San Jose State Teachers' Coll 1917), the wife of Clarence Whitman

Wagner (Univ of California 1916–17)

Death due to septicemia Ashes interred in Oak Hill Cemetery, San Jose Survived by wife (died June 27, 1940), children, and ten grand-children.

Frederick Cowles Taylor, B.D. 1891.

Born November 4, 1860, in Granby, Mass. Died April 23, 1939, in Westboro, Mass.

Parents, Frederick and Mary I. (Cowles) Taylor.

South Hadley High School, B A. Amherst 1884 (member Delta Kappa Epsilon), teacher in Granby 1884–87, attended Yale Divinity School 1888–91 (B D 1891), ordained in Congregational church, Hyde Park, Vt, December 10, 1891, and minister there 1891–1902; minister Thorndike, Mass, 1902–07, South Britain, Conn, 1907–11, and Prescott, Mass, 1911–14; engaged in business in North Brookfield, Mass., 1915–17, minister Londonderry, Vt., 1918–22 and Bolton, Conn., 1922–33, retired from ministry 1933 and had since resided in Westboro.

Married January 14, 1892, Emma Louise, daughter of Edward F. Chamberlain Children Frederick Chamberlain (Amherst ex-'14; died July 17, 1914), Helen I, the wife of Albert Highton, and Dorothy L.

Death due to mitral regurgitation Buried in West Cemetery, Granby Survived by daughters.

Clifford Benjamin Keenleyside, B.D. 1894.

Born December 9, 1863, in London, Ontario. Died May 1, 1938, in Regina, Saskatchewan.

Father, Anthony Keenleyside of London, Ontario. Mother, Anna Maria (Dawson) Keenleyside, daughter of John and Anna (Ford) Dawson

Junior clerk and cashier London Advertiser 1879–80, business manager Winnipeg Sun 1880–88; B A University of Toronto 1892; teacher of science Hamilton Ladies' College 1892–93, attended Yale Divinity School 1893–94 (B D 1894); business manager Brantford (Ont) Expositor 1894–96, business manager and part owner London News 1896–1901, tea importer in London 1901–09, engaged in real-estate and contracting business in Regina 1910–30, builder and manager of oil refineries in Saskatchewan 1930–38, alderman Regina; secretary Social and Moral Reform League, organizer Canadian Wheelmen's Association and secretary Forest City Bicycle Club of London, commissioned Captain, Infantry, Canadian Expeditionary Force, February 15, 1916, promoted to Lieutenant Colonel September, 1916, on duty in Quebec until discharge May 31, 1918, author God's Fellow Workers and On the Banks of the Besor, member Masonic order, First Methodist Church, London, and Metropolitan Methodist Church, Regina

Married October 28, 1896, in London, Emily Isabel, daughter of

Edward and Jane Maria (Jeffers) Daly Children Jean Dawson (B A. Univ of Toronto 1921), the wife of Frederick John Mallett; Edward Aldworth (B.A. Univ. of Toronto 1925, M D 1928), Helen Antoinette (B A. Univ. of Toronto 1924, B L S 1939), the wife of Harry M Ireland, Mary Isabel; Paul Ford (Univ of Toronto 1931–33), and Patrick Meredith (B.A. Univ. of Toronto 1936).

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Mount Pleasant Cemetery, London. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Mrs Frederick Bellsmith of Toronto, and two brothers, Ellis Keenleyside of Vancouver, and Llewellyn Keenleyside of London.

Hampartsoom Hagop Ashjian, B.D. 1896.

Born November 30, 1862, in Marash, Turkey Died November 7, 1938, in Los Angeles, Calif

Father, Hagop Barsam Ashjian, steward for American Mission at Marash; son of Barsam Guleserian of the Village of Belveren, Turkey. Mother, Yeghsa Der-Sarkisian.

B.A Central Turkey College 1884, taught at Marash High School 1884–86, attended Marash Theological Seminary 1886–89; minister Adana, Turkey, 1889–90; member faculty Central Turkey Girls College, Marash, 1890–94, attended Yale Divinity School 1894–98 (B D 1896), ordained in Dwight Place Congregational Church, New Haven, Conn, January 26, 1899, member faculty Marash Theological Seminary 1899–1900; minister Aintab, Turkey, 1900–06 and Adana 1907–14, minister Konia, Turkey, and member faculty Apostolic Institute of Konia 1914–23; minister in Beirut, and in charge pastoral and educational work Mameltein Orphanage 1923–26; minister Masis Church, Los Angeles, 1926–29 and Armenian Evangelical Church, Chicago, Ill, 1929–34; retired from active ministry 1934 and had since resided in Los Angeles, secretary Cilicia Evangelical Union 1885–94

Married August 7, 1900, in Aintab, Esther, daughter of Nazareth Haleblian and Sultan Kara-Manookian Children Lydia, the wife of Sarkis M Bagdoyan (B.S Massachusetts Inst of Technology 1915); Leon H (B S. and D D S Univ of Southern California 1931), and Albert A.

Death due to edema of the lungs Buried in Forest Lawn Memorial Park, Glendale, Calif Survived by wife, three children, and two grand-daughters.

Price Christian, B.D. 1922.

Born December 25, 1885, in Madison County, Ky Died June 22, 1939, in Kirksville, Ky

Father, Buford Christian, a farmer and owner of race horses in Madison County Mother, Sarah (Tuggle) Christian, daughter of George and

Edith (McQueen) Tuggle of Irvine, Ky

Kırksville Normal School and High Land College, Williamsburg, Ky; B S. Lincoln Memorial University 1912; attended Transylvania College 1912–16, College of the Bible 1914–16 (P.Th B 1916), and Yale Divinity School 1921–22 (B D 1922); ordained in Disciples of Christ Church, Lexington, Ky, May 16, 1916; did educational work for Young Men's Christian Association in Corbin, Ky, 1918, minister Carrollton, Ky, 1918–19 and Christian church, London, Ky, 1919–21; engaged in general church work in Madison County, Ky, since 1922, principal Kirksville High School 1923–31 and 1937–39; in mercantile business 1932–33, member Masonic order

Married January 31, 1917, in Kirksville, Mabel, daughter of John Lawrence and Josie (Burton) Whitlock Children Joseph Paul (B A Transylvania Coll 1939) and Fred Whitlock.

Death followed a nervous breakdown Buried in Richmond (Ky) Cemetery Survived by wife and sons.

Alfred Umstad Bean, LL.B. 1879.

Born September 20, 1857, in Pawling, Pa. Died April 22, 1937, in Wilmington, Del.

Father, Henry Bean, a dealer in lumber, sand, and coal in Valley Forge, Pa, son of Nicholas Bean of Valley Forge. Mother, Andora (Umstad) Bean, daughter of John and Mary (Horning) Umstad

Bryan & Stratton Business College, Philadelphia, and Hopkins Grammar School, attended Yale School of Law 1877-79 (LL.B. 1879), admitted to Connecticut bar 1879 and to Pennsylvania bar, read law in West Chester, Pa, practiced law in Pittsburgh for many years and in Washington, D.C., member United Presbyterian Church, Pittsburgh

Married January 1, 1879, in Audubon, Pa, Sadie Elmer, daughter of William Alfred and Eliza Jane (Gillespie) Reed Children Guy Umstad (died April 19, 1885), and Lillian Reed, the wife of John Zern Kelly

Death due to blood poisoning. Buried in Uniondale Cemetery, Pittsburgh Survived by wife, daughter, two grandchildren, and two greatgrandchildren

James Adrala Sheehan, LL.B. 1896.

Born February 29, 1872, in Hallowell, Maine. Died April 9, 1939, in Hallowell, Maine

Father, Timothy Sheehan, a painter in Hallowell, son of Jeremiah and Ellen (McCarthy) Sheehan of Adrala, Ireland Mother, Ellen (Minahan) Sheehan; daughter of John and Catherine (Leary) Minahan of Adrala

English High School, Hallowell, and Shaw's Business College, Augusta, Maine; studied law in office of Judge Fred Beane, Hallowell, admitted to Maine bar March 11, 1893; practiced law and was justice of the peace and city clerk in Hallowell 1895, attended Yale School of Law 1895–96 (LL B 1896), admitted to the bar December 11, 1896, practiced law in Brooklyn, N.Y, 1896 until retirement in 1936 because of ill-health (member Somerville, Sheehan & Somerville 1896–1912, associated with John A. Davidson and George A Arkwright 1918–22, and with Judge George H. Boyce and George A. Arkwright 1922–36), since retirement had resided in Hallowell; private 23d Regiment, New York National Guard, enlisted Company D, 201st New York Volunteers, July 14, 1898; discharged as Corporal October 29, 1898, a Knights of Columbus secretary in Paris during World War; member Brooklyn Bar Association and St Gregory's Church (Roman Catholic), Brooklyn

Unmarried.

Death due to lobar pneumonia Buried in Hallowell Cemetery. Survived by a sister, Mrs Thomas Gallagher of Hallowell.

Hamilton Higday, LL.B. 1903.

Born October 4, 1878, in Rippey, Iowa. Died May 27, 1939, in Seattle, Wash.

Father, William Henry Higday, a fruit rancher, son of Hamilton and Eliza C (Van Slyck) Higday of Evansville, Wis Mother, Sarah Ann (Ridgeway) Higday; daughter of Daniel and Sally Ann (Benefield) Ridgeway of Indiana

Guthrie County High School, Panora, Iowa, admitted to Iowa bar 1900; practiced law in Des Moines and manager collection department Northwestern Life and Saving Company 1900–01; registered Yale School of Law 1901–03 (LL B. 1903, associate editor Yale Law Journal, member Kent and Wayland clubs), did stenographic work in Chicago 1904 and at Madison, Wis, 1904–05 (special student University of Wisconsin); secretary Puget Sound Realty Association, Seattle, 1906–11, traveling auditor Industrial Insurance Commission, Seattle, 1911–12, industrial insurance commissioner State of Washington, Olympia, 1912–

13, manager Port of Seattle 1913–19; advertising manager Rogers Brown & Company, importers in Seattle, 1919–21; assistant secretary Seattle Chamber of Commerce 1922; assistant manager real-estate department Long-Bell Lumber Company, Longview, Wash., 1922–25; secretary Pacific Coast Association of Advertising Clubs, Seattle, 1925–26; manager Port of Port Townsend, Wash., 1926–28, with law firm of Weter, Roberts & Shefelman, Seattle, 1928–31, practiced law independently in Seattle 1931–35; special investigator Works Progress Administration 1935–39; member Masonic order and Plymouth Church (Congregational), Seattle.

Married September 6, 1905, in Lake City, Iowa, Bertha May, daughter of Robertson and Rosa (Minard) Gannaway Children: Dorothy Rose (B S Univ. of Washington 1932), the wife of Eric Hall; Harold Robertson (Univ of Washington 1930–31), and Helen Louise (State Coll. of Washington 1936–37), the wife of Gardner Hobson.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Survived by wife, children, five grandchildren, and a brother, Robert Higday of Riverside, Calif.

John Raymond Hayes, LL.B. 1906.

Born June 21, 1883, in Limerick, Ireland. Died November 17, 1938, in Meriden, Conn

Father, Martin Hayes, a contractor in South Manchester, Conn; son of Martin and Mary (Scott) Hayes of Ireland Mother, Margaret (Fahey) Hayes; daughter of Miles and Margaret (Myers) Fahey of Ireland.

South Manchester High School, attended Yale School of Law 1903-06 (LL B. 1906; member Kent and Wayland clubs); admitted to Connecticut bar in 1906, practiced law in Bridgeport, Conn., 1906-08, Hartford, Conn., 1908-36, and in West Hartford 1936-38; member Church of St. Thomas the Apostle (Roman Catholic), West Hartford

Married April 29, 1929, in Utica, N.Y., Mary, daughter of William and Ellen (Egan) Costello No children

Death due to traumatic pneumonia Buried in Mount St. Benedict Cemetery, Bloomfield, Conn. Survived by wife, mother, two sisters, Margaret Carroll Hayes (Columbia Univ. 1913–15) and Mae Dorothy Hayes, both of West Hartford, and six brothers, Miles Clayton Hayes of Weymouth, Mass, Daniel J. Hayes of Stamford, Conn., Martin Joseph Hayes (Litt B Princeton 1915) of New York City, Perry Hayes (Dartmouth Coll ex-'15) of Washington, D.C., David Vincent Hayes (Ph.B. Univ of Notre Dame 1921) of Manchester, Conn., and James Benjamin Hayes of East Hartford, Conn

Mahlon Hensley Jefferson, LL.B. 1907.

Born January 25, 1885, in Sandy Level, Va Died October 11, 1938, in Sparta, Wis

Father, William Tazwell Jefferson of Sparta, Wisconsin manager for American Cigar Company; son of William Tazwell and Frances Amelia (Witcher) Jefferson of Sandy Level. Mother, Laura Davenport (Rorer) Jefferson; daughter of John Q and Sally (Hensley) Rorer of White Rock, Va.

Danville (Va) and Sparta high schools; LLB. Grant University 1906, attended Yale School of Law 1906–07 (LLB. 1907); admitted to Tennessee bar 1906 and to Oklahoma bar 1907, practiced law in Guthrie, Okla., 1907–09, Crescent, Okla, 1909–11, and Beach, N Dak, 1912–15; a vice-president and a plant manager Jefferson Leaf Tobacco Company, Inc, Sparta and Black River Falls, Wis, since 1915, enlisted in Tank Corps and attended Officers' Training Camp, North Carolina; member Masonic order and American Legion.

Married January 25, 1912, in Kansas City, Mo., Helen, daughter of Wilburn Monroe and Addie Mary (Gavin) McCoy. No children.

Death due to angina pectoris Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Sparta. Survived by wife, father, a sister, Mrs Arthur Brigham of Sparta, and three brothers, Harley Jefferson of New York City, Earl Jefferson of Sparta, and Thomas Jefferson of Baltimore, Md.

Percy Truman Sutphen, LL.B. 1908.

Born July 3, 1886, in St. Lawrence, S Dak. Died February 26, 1938, in Gooding, Idaho

Father, Truman Peter Sutphen, a merchant in Miller, S Dak, son of Peter Mathews and Mary Ann (Hollister) Sutphen of Rochelle, Ill Mother, Celestia W. (Doran) Sutphen, daughter of Thomas and Delia (Drake) Doran of Lacon, Ill.

Miller High School, LL B. University of South Dakota 1907; attended Yale School of Law 1907–08 (LL B 1908), admitted to Idaho bar 1908, associated with his brother Doran in law firm of Sutphen & Sutphen, Gooding, Idaho, 1908–29; practiced independently in Gooding 1929–38; prosecuting attorney Gooding County 1913–17, member Phi Delta Theta, Delta Phi Delta, and Masonic order

Married September 12, 1909, in Plankington, S Dak, Madaline, daughter of Dr Joseph Eaton and Jule (Madden) Eaton. No children Mr and Mrs. Sutphen were divorced.

Death due to acute nephritis Buried in Elmwood Cemetery, Gooding. Survived by a brother, Doran H Sutphen, '08 L.

Joseph Aloysius Bergin, LL.B. 1909.

Born September 17, 1886, in Waterbury, Conn. Died November 15, 1934, in Waterbury, Conn.

Father, John Henry Bergin, a merchant in Waterbury; son of William Francis Bergin of Waterbury Mother, Maria (Reid) Bergin, daughter of Garrett and Honora (Dillon) Reid of Waterbury

Crosby High School, Waterbury, attended Niagara University 1904-06 and Yale School of Law 1906-09 (LL B 1909), admitted to the bar 1909 and had since practiced law in Waterbury, member Waterbury Board of Education 1912-16, Board of Aldermen 1930-32, Waterbury Bar Association, and St Margaret's Church (Roman Catholic), Waterbury

Married November 4, 1913, in Brooklyn, N.Y, Lily, daughter of Thomas and Elizabeth (McNulty) Quinlan Children. Kathleen Anne (B A Univ of Connecticut 1936), Elizabeth Gertrude, and Jane Marie.

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Old St Joseph's Cemetery, Waterbury Survived by wife, children, two sisters, Mrs Harry Parsons and Mrs John Hayden, and a brother, Charles C. Bergin (died 1936)

Fred Albert Reilley, LL.B. 1911.

Born December 31, 1883, in Schenevus, N.Y. Died January 21, 1939, in Springfield, Mass

Father, James Charles Reilley, a worker on monuments in Springfield, son of Michael and Rose Anna (Donahue) Reilley of New York City Mother, Katherine Elizabeth (Chapman) Reilley, daughter of Patrick and Mary (Lynch) Chapman of Ireland, and Uxbridge, Mass.

Springfield High School; attended Yale School of Law 1908–11 (LL B. 1911; Freshman Track Team; on University Track Team Junior and Senior years, went to England with Yale-Harvard track team 1911); admitted to Massachusetts bar 1911; practiced law in Springfield 1911–39 (member firm Green & Bennett 1911–15 and of Reilley & Henehan 1916–18), member Massachusetts Bar Association and Holy Family Church (Roman Catholic), Springfield.

Unmarried

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in St Michael's Cemetery, Springfield Survived by a sister, Mrs George Henry Busiere, and four brothers, Charles Patrick Reilley, Thomas Henry Reilley, Simon Arthur Reilley, and William Smith Reilley, all of Springfield.

George Reynolds Jackson, LL.B. 1914.

Born October 15, 1890, in Clarksburg, W Va Died April 18, 1939, in Washington, D C.

Parents, Benjamin Wilson and Corinne May (Reynolds) Jackson

Clarksburg High School and Broaddus Classical and Scientific Institute, Clarksburg; attended West Virginia University 1909–11, Yale College September–October, 1911, and Yale School of Law 1911–14 (LL B 1914, secretary 1912–13 and president 1913–14 Law School Y M C A.; member Kent Club and Corbey Court), practiced law in New York City until 1917, in Clarksburg 1921–24, and in Washington, D.C, 1924–39; commissioned Second Lieutenant, U S Marine Corps, August 3, 1917, promoted First Lieutenant February 1, 1918, and Captain June 1, 1918, assigned to Machine Gun Company, 6th Regiment, 4th Brigade, 2d Division; overseas October 14, 1917–December 22, 1918, and took part in engagements at Verdun, Belleau Woods, Pont-à-Mousson, Soissons, St-Mihiel, Champagne, and in the Argonne, awarded Croix de Guerre October 3, 1918, discharged April 1, 1919, member American Bar Association and Baptist church

Unmarried

Death due to arterial hypertension. Buried in Clarksburg, W Va Survived by no immediate relatives

Russell Jay McCaughey, LL.B. 1922.

Born September 27, 1897, in Chicago, Ill.
Died April 30, 1939, in Chicago, Ill

Father, Francis Peter McCaughey, a railroad contractor, son of Patrick Edward and Sarah Ellen (McBride) McCaughey of Indiana and Illinois Mother, Elizabeth (Cullen) McCaughey; daughter of Michael and Rebecca (Jay) Cullen of Illinois.

College of St. Thomas, St. Paul, Minn, B A University of Michigan 1920, attended Yale School of Law 1920–22 (LL B. 1922; member Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta), admitted to Illinois bar 1922 and had since practiced law in Chicago; associated with Brown, Packard, Peckham & Barnes 1922–25; member firms Packard, Peckham & Barnes 1925–27, Packard, Barnes & McCaughey 1927–29, and Packard, Barnes, McCaughey & Schumacher since 1929, member Chicago Bar Association, Chicago Athletic Association, Law Club, Legal Club of Chicago, and St Ignatius Church (Roman Catholic), Chicago

Married August 7, 1936, in Chicago, Kathleen Regina, daughter of James Eugene and Catherine (Curran) Sullivan. Son: Russell James.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Calvary Cemetery, Evanston, Ill Survived by wife, son, and a brother, John Alva Mc-Caughey (Univ. of Illinois ex-'17) of Chicago.

DATES OF DEATH OF OTHER INDIVIDUALS WITH YALE AFFILIATION

REPORTED JULY I, 1939-JULY I, 1940

RECIPIENTS OF HONORARY DEGREES

YEAR	
1895	Wılhelm Dörpfeld (LL.D.), Aprıl 25, 1940
1901	Henry Smith Pritchett (LL D), August 28, 1939
1904	Stewart Means (D.D.), March 11, 1940.
1923	Livingston Farrand (LL D), November 8, 1939
1925	John Matthews Manly (Litt D), April 2, 1940
1927	Cora C. Colburn (M.A.), October 2, 1939.
1930	Robert Borthwick Adam (M.A), April 11, 1940.
1930	Joannes Gregorius Dusser de Barenne (M.A.), June 9, 1940
1938	John, Baron Tweedsmuir of Elsfield (LL.D.), February 11, 1940.

NON-GRADUATES

YALE COLLEGE

CLASS	
1878	Wyllis Augustus Silliman, September 26, 1939.
1879	Charles Elliott Anthony, February 23, 1937.
1879	Charles Mitchell Fabrique, January 19, 1940.
1880	John Marshall Otis, September 26, 1939
1881	Willard Shurtleff Augsbury, August 16, 1939.
1882	Charles Francis Gardner, October 20, 1939.
1884	William Lane Marston, August 15, 1939
1885	Henry Taylor Staats, Jr , November 4, 1939.
1886	Harry William Petrikin, August 10, 1939.
1889	William John Fletcher Dailey, December 9, 1939
1890	Harrison Gardner Foster, February 5, 1940.
1891	Frederick Herbert Baker, October 1, 1939.
1892	John Foster Carr, December 30, 1939.
1893	Corydon Curuss Tyler, November 22, 1939.
1894	Thomas Melville Womersley, January 15, 1940.
1895	Arthur Boughton Chivers, December 11, 1939
1895	John Burnet Nash, August 14, 1939.
1896	Everette Sargent Irwin, May 14, 1940.
1897	Spotswood Dandridge Bowers, December 22, 1939.
1897	Richard High Carleton, August 11, 1939.
1897	Ellsworth Mather Taylor, May 20, 1940
1898	Franklın Gray McIntosh, June 11, 1940.

CLASS

- 1898 Erwin Walter Markham, September 10, 1939.
- 1898 Elbert Frank Newton, December 10, 1939.
- 1900 Arthur Philip Callahan, May 10, 1937.
- 1901 Edward Spring Knapp, April 5, 1940.
- 1902 Harry Blackstone Farrar, August 28, 1939.
- 1904 Clinton Norman Quinby, September 18, 1939.
- 1906 Harold Hone, July 8, 1939
- 1907 William Curtiss Johnson, April 17, 1940.
- 1910 Russell Sargent Fenn, July 7, 1939.
- 1912 Lewis Merriam Wiggin, January 4, 1940.
- 1913 Nathaniel Thayer Chapin, January 3, 1940.
- 1913 James Edward Penrose, November 20, 1939.
- 1916 Thomas Dolan, 3d, February 10, 1940.
- 1918 Rudolph Peter Dewes, September 24, 1939.
- 1920 Boudinot Stimson, June 28, 1940.
- 1926 Earle Hanson, January 7, 1940.
- 1931 Abraham Kaplowitz, October 15, 1939.
- 1935 Sidney Rogers Burnap, Jr, November 28, 1939
- 1938 Alonzo Gibbs Hinkley, Jr, May 14, 1940.
- 1938 Elias Beall VanZandt, Jr, February 1, 1940.
- 1940 Clement Cresson Kite, December 24, 1939.
- 1940 William Sisson Roundy, July 18, 1939.
- 1940 Peter Brinckerhoff Thorne, November 30, 1939.
- 1941 Ernest Marvin Daniels, April 19, 1940
- 1941 Ellsworth Huntington Fletcher, October 2, 1939.
- 1942 Robert John O'Neill, August 25, 1939.

SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL

- 1872 William Edward Smith, May 28, 1937.
- 1875 Henry Sheldon deForest, August 27, 1939.
- 1877 Frederick Sheldon Judd, May 30, 1933.
- 1877 Henry Brooks Plumb, May 3, 1940.
- 1883 Henry Dudley Barry, December 20, 1939
- 1884 George Simon Roberts, January 19, 1940
- 1887 Lewis Alexander Burgess, March 20, 1940
- 1889 Henry Adams Plumer, November 9, 1939.
- 1889 Benjamin Comfort Thomas, November 6, 1939.
- 1890 Philip Durkee Rice, November 8, 1939.
- 1891 Colgate Baker, June 25, 1940
- 1892 Isaac Chauncey McKeever, October 21, 1939.
- 1894 Elzey Gallatin Burkam, March 13, 1940.
- 1896 Walton Windsor Beals, March 20, 1940.

CLASS

- 1897 Harry Forster Barnes, April 24, 1936
- 1897 William Leon Graves, March 13, 1940.
- 1898 Samuel Sherwood Day, April 1, 1940.
- 1900 Stanley Hill, October 12, 1939
- 1902 James Courtney Punderford, December 23, 1939
- 1903 Thomas Ambrose O'Keefe, July 9, 1939
- 1905 Louis Armstrong Wilson, October 11, 1939
- 1907 Richard Thompson Baum, August 6, 1939
- 1908 Robert Nims Aldrich, March 21, 1936.
- 1909 Arthur Amos Clapp, August 25, 1939
- 1909 Lawrence Kidder Kelley, March 17, 1940
- 1910 William Harrison Carruthers, February 14, 1940.
- 1910 Edward Fisher, January 25, 1940
- 1910 John Philip Henderson, August 25, 1939.
- 1910 John Swan, August 25, 1936.
- 1910 Philip Osborn Viall, March 25, 1940
- 1911 Walter Vernon Balmford, February 8, 1939
- 1911 Edward Armin Limberg, October 20, 1939.
- 1911 William Rockwell, May 10, 1937
- 1911 James Peel Williams, June 13, 1939
- 1913 John Henderson Stewart, November 1, 1939.
- 1915 Robert Gilbert Lyon, April 10, 1940
- 1915 Bartholomew Charles Pasuth, October 6, 1939.
- 1915 Philip Steingotter Reichers, October 25, 1939
- 1917 George A. W. Smith, February 1, 1938.
- 1918 John Daniel Kennedy, February 4, 1940
- 1918 James Wyckoff, July 12, 1939
- 1920 Charles Manby Newcombe, April 22, 1940.
- 1920 Robert McTylere Robinson, December 20, 1939.
- 1920 Walter Stevens Robinson, Jr, November 14, 1939.
- 1921 Hobart Fairchild Cole, May 13, 1940.

GRADUATE SCHOOL

- 1880 George Fort Slocum, September 8, 1939.
- 1888 Richard LaRue Swain, March 28, 1940
- 1895 Mary Appleton Shute (Mrs Charles Snow Thayer), June 14, 1940.
- 1897 George Albert Booth, April 17, 1939
- 1897 Milo B Price, February 19, 1940
- 1898 Lewis Ira Loveland, April 25, 1940
- 1901 Miranda Scoville (Mrs. Miller), June, 1940.
- 1902 Jesse Marhoff, December 9, 1936.
- 1903 Clara Marvin Hubbell, December 14, 1939.

CLASS

- 1908 Sara Elizabeth Beecher (Mrs David Heydorn Ray), April 17, 1940.
- 1908 Charlotte Starkweather Fowler (Mrs. Clifford Spencer Burdge), March 5, 1940.
- 1920 Thomas Kinloch Nelson, January 28, 1940
- 1925 Ray Trosper, August 30, 1939.
- 1927 Charles Gideon Hounshell, February 2, 1940
- 1928 Melba Stucky (Mrs Thomas Clifford Billig), October 28, 1939.
- 1929 Kenneth Joseph Sheldon, May 13, 1940.

SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

- 1878 Clarence Seymour Griswold, April 12, 1940.
- 1892 Frederick Ellis Bass, February 1, 1939.
- 1895 Michael Kerin Grady, October 28, 1939.
- 1899 Charles Pender Edwards, October 6, 1939.
- 1902 Alfred Duke, August 11, 1939.
- 1902 Peter Gleeson, March 27, 1940.
- 1902 Frank Hilliard Young, March 12, 1939.
- 1903 George Scott Hunter, March 29, 1939
- 1910 William Ward Vars, August 13, 1939.
- 1929 John Joseph Miniter, November 4, 1939.

DIVINITY SCHOOL

- 1883 Robert Eadie, January 6, 1940.
- 1887 Eugene Clarmont Sanderson, March, 1940.
- 1889 George Alexander Blair, February 8, 1927.
- 1892 Edward Huntington Fallows, January 12, 1940.
- 1895 Frederick William Herman, October 7, 1939.
- 1896 Edwin LaForest Noble, May 5, 1940.
- 1902 Abram Laman Chase, March 5, 1940.
- 1902 Reuben James Goddard, November 3, 1939.
- 1910 Ephraim Irwin Gilmore, May, 1940.
- 1917 Hajime Segawa, January 10, 1938.

SCHOOL OF LAW

- 1888 William Frederick Vogt, March 30, 1940.
- 1894 Clark Smith Bishop, February 13, 1940.
- 1895 Frederick Bookman, January 26, 1940
- 1897 Sidney Charles Sladden, July 19, 1929.
- 1904 Israel Henry Mag, January 25, 1940
- 1905 Henry James Freeman, March 22, 1940
- 1907 William Glenn McMillen, August 5, 1939.

CLA	SZ
-----	----

- 1909 Franklin Willard Cohen, May 16, 1940
- 1910 Maximilian vonHoegen, January 28, 1939
- 1922 William Dunn Loftus, Jr., June 21, 1932

SPECIAL STUDENTS IN THE SCHOOL OF LAW

- 1880 Stuart Rice, April 6, 1938
- 1906 Lawson Wooding Hall, October 11, 1939.

SCHOOL OF THE FINE ARTS

RECIPIENT OF CERTIFICATE

1888 Jessie Buchannan Sherman (Mrs Richard Garth Stevens), February 16, 1940

NON-GRADUATES

- 1877 Laura Baldwin Dunham (Mrs. Danford Newton Barney), February 9, 1940
- 1881 Mary E Skinner (Mrs. Irving Bruce), March 24, 1940
- 1886 Annella Conover (Mrs Francis Dwight Rood), April 14, 1940
- 1891 Mary A. Miller (Mrs. Fred M. Dawson), August 11, 1939
- 1895 Alice Jessie Sperry, January 1, 1934.
- 1898 Emily Hart Wells (Mrs. Percy Coe Eggleston), October 9, 1939.
- 1901 Easter Elizabeth Armstrong, February 26, 1940
- 1906 George Irving Wilhelmy, August 25, 1939.
- 1915 Katherine Halsey Trowbridge, December 29, 1939

SCHOOL OF MUSIC

RECIPIENT OF CERTIFICATE

1908 Clayton Eugene Hotchkiss, February 22, 1940.

NON-GRADUATES

- 1898 Jessie Keyes Dewell, August 5, 1939.
- 1903 Jennie Porter (Mrs Walter Vinson), November 28, 1938.
- 1908 Susan Keefe (Mrs. Joseph Owings Kelley), August 4, 1939.
- 1908 William Hall Miner, November 30, 1939.
- 1909 Gertrude Margaret Reed, August 29, 1939.
- 1917 Helen Elizabeth Ryan, November 10, 1930
- 1929 Ida Louise Hanning (Mrs. Walter Magni Carlson), August 3, 1937.

SCHOOL OF FORESTRY

RECIPIENT OF CERTIFICATE

1907 William Winter, May 16, 1940.

STATISTICS

DEATHS RECORDED IN THIS VOLUME

	Graduates	Non-graduates
Yale College	182	48
Sheffield Scientific School	94	45
School of Engineering	2	
Graduate School	17	16
School of Medicine	19	10
Divinity School	26	10
School of Law	28	12
School of the Fine Arts	2*	9
School of Music	2 *	7
School of Forestry	4 *	·
Recipients of Honorary Degrees	9	
	385	157

The age of the 178 graduates of Yale College who died between July 1, 1939, and July 1, 1940, averages 62 0, and the age of the 90 graduates of the Sheffield Scientific School averages 61 3

The oldest living graduate of Yale College is Rev. EDWARD COMFORT STARR (B A 1866) of Cornwall, Conn, born January 12, 1844 He succeeds Henry Haven Gorton, B A 1862 (page 5)

The oldest living graduate of the Sheffield Scientific School'is Joseph Ridgway Gawthrop (Ph B 1872) of Kennett Square, Pa, born May 16, 1850

^{*}Includes I who held a certificate

INDEX

Graduates of the different Schools of the University are distinguished from graduates of Yale College by italic letters as follows Divinity School, d, School of Engineering, e, School of the Fine Arts, art, School of Forestry, f, Graduate School, ma or dp, School of Law, l or ml, School of Medicine, m, School of Music, mus, Sheffield Scientific School, s

CLASS		PAGE	CLASS		PAGE
1895 [Adair, Robert	274	1930	Calfee, Robert M , Jr	155
1907 m	Ahlstrom, David N	250	1883 s	Calhoun, John E	169
1897 1	Alcorn, William F	276	1890 1	Camp, Thomas L	274
1892 s	Alexander, Wallace M	180	1928 m	Carey, Robert J	253
1908	Alpert, Samuel	123	1888	Carmalt, Laurance J	41
1874 m	Ames, Edward	242	1891 s	Carnahan, Robert H	177
1896	Arnold, William A	70	1880 s	Carrington, Henry O	164
1896 d	Ashjian, Hampartsoom H	299	1924 <i>f</i>	Carson, Kenneth W	286
1892 s	Ayres, Frederic M	182	1875 5	Chambers, Francis T	161
	•		1902 f	Chapman, Charles S	284
1920	Bailey, Charles L , 3d	150	1883	Chase, Henry M	29
1908 s	Baker, Carl C	213	1902	Chase, William L	288
1896	Baker, Henry D	70	1922 d	Christian, Price	300
1905	Bamberger, Lewis E	118	1922 d	Churchill, Guy Winston	270
1897 s	Barnes, Nelson L	194	1903	Clark, Claude D	278
1879 s	Barney, Samuel E	163	1896	Clark, Walter H	71
1875	Barnum, Samuel H	12	1895	Clarke, Clement G	63
1879 l	Bean, Alfred U	300	1908	Cleveland, Guy C	124
1911	Beer, Thomas	139	1928	Clyne, James D	154
1910	Bentley, Raymond	135	1878	Coe, Henry Clarke	16
1888 s	Berger, George B	172	1926 s	Cogill, Franklin H	227
1909 l	Bergin, Joseph A	304	1877 ma	Colby, James F	232
1873	Bigelow, Charles E	II	1871	Collin, Frederick	9
1910	Bigelow, Leonard Cutter	137	1896	Collins, Edward D	73
1913 5	Bigelow, Wallace	216	1895 s	Conyngham, Herbert	187
1911	Blackburn, Joseph B	140	1895	Cooke, Walter E	64
1886 s	Blakeley, John M	171	1869	Copp, Andrew J	6
1882	Boltwood, George S	28	1895	Copp, William M	65
1908	Bostwick, Andrew Linn	123	1895 dp	Cranford, William I	295
1926 art	Boylen, Alfred W	283	1902	Cressler, Alfred M	104
1883 s	Bradley, Frederick T		1916 s	Crosby, George H, Jr	221
1893	Bradley, Henry D	56	1908	Crunden, Walter M	125
1884 <i>l</i>	Brandon, Morris	272	1906 s	Culbertson, John J, Jr	210
1897	Brewster, Robert S	79	1883	Cunningham, Frank	30
1890 l	Bristol, George W	273	1938	Cunningham, Frank R	159
1906 l	Brodie, George D	278	1909 \$	Curtiss, Nathan A	213
1897	Brookfield, Frank	80	1891	Cushing, Harvey	48
1901	Brown, Edwin H	100	TOT 2	Dolor Donol F	T 4 4
1906 s	Brown, James C	292	1913	Daly, Daniel F	144
1897	Brubacher, Abram R	81	1891 d	Danforth, J. Romeyn	261
1897 5	Buckingham, Clifford H	195	1890 d (Daniels, Arthur H	259
1909 d	Budd, Alfred W	269	1888 d	Davies, Henry	258 66
1879	Bulkley, Jonathan	19	1895	DeForest, Frederick M	188
1898 m	Bunting, P DuBois	247	1895 s	DeGolyer, Laurence	
1906	Burgess, Horace T	120	1906 !	Depew, Harold	279
1889 s	Burroughs, Henry S	176	1903 s	Dickson, Frederick S, 2d	204

		_			
CLASS	ThE1 197 197	PAGE	CLASS	I Tamas Tahan D	PAGI
1910	Diehl, Warren W.	137	1906 l	Hayes, John R.	302
1900	Dodd, Robert L	92	1870	Heald, Charles M.	7
1899	Dodge, Clarence P	89	1939 e	Healy, Daniel J , Jr	231
1894 d	Dougall, Hugh S	266	1894 dp	Hegstrom, Victor H	235
1878	Downer, William V	18	1886	Hellier, Charles E	37
1882 5	Drummond, James J	166	1899 5	Henderson, John M.	197
1905	Drushel, J Andrew	119	1903 l	Higday, Hamilton	301
1876 m	Dwight, Edward S	242	1888 s	Hoggson, Noble Foster	174
			1896 s	Holcomb, Fred A	192
1888 5	Easterbrook, John F	173	1893 <i>s</i>	Howe, William T H	185
1900	Eaton, Frank W	93	1900	Howes, Christopher H	94
1904	Ely, William B	110	1897 s	Hoyt, Samuel E	195
1903 dp	Emerson, Sara A	238	1901	Hunt, William S	101
19145	English, Huntington	217	,		
1895 d	Evans, Spencer E	267	1891	Ingersoll, Leland	52
1921 5	Everett, Sydney M	224	1890	Irvin, James M	46
	. , ,	•	1888 s	Isbell, Howard L	175
1890	Farnham, John D	45		,	
18825	Faulkner, Herbert W	167	1914 1	Jackson, George R	305
1894 d	Fehlandt, August F	266	1907 [Jefferson, Mahlon H	303
1900	Ferguson, Robert	93	1927	Jenkins, Edwin G.	153
1893	Field, John H	56	1902 \$	Jente, Albert H.	202
1881	Fitch, Grant	25	1897	Judd, Albert F	84
1907 m	Flaherty, Hugh F	250	2097	Jaco, 1110010 1	
1910	Flint, William H	138	1894 d	Keenleyside, Clifford B	298
1871 d	Foster, Lauren M	297	1921 5	Kelley, Francis B	224
1891	Foster, Reginald L	297 51	1908 m	Kerney, J Edwards	251
1881 /	Frisch, Abraham L	272	1901	Killen, Arthur H	102
1001,	i iistii, iibi anami L	2.74	1926	Klopp, Charles R	151
1898	Gales, Weston S	88	1920	Riopp, Charles R	*)*
1887	Gates, Andrew F	_	1879	Lamb, Gilbert D	20
1919 5	Geile, Wilfred G	39 221	1897	Lapham, Henry G	85
1894	George, Charles H	58	1901 m	LaPierre, Leone F	247
	Gifford, Isaac C	-	1901 m	Lattin, Clarence L	222
1917		147	1893 s	Lawton, Burton L	186
1903	Gillespie, Edward L	106		Lewis, A Huntington	112
1904 5	Glasby, Herbert S	207	1904	Lockwood, John L	66
1904	Goodrich, Chauncey S	111	1895		13
1908 1886	Goodwin, Ralph E	126	1875	Loomis, Henry B Lowrie, Charles N	178
1862	Goodwin, William B	36	1891 5	Ludington, Nelson A	248
	Gorton, Henry H	5	1901 m		246 86
1931	Goss, Ehot P	156	1897	Luquiens, Frederick B	00
1918 m	Granger, Fred W	252	*000.1	Madlesson Front D	268
1899 5	Grant, Edwin J	197	1899 d	McAllister, Frank B	
1885	Green, William G	33	1913	McBride, Martin	144
1912	Greenwood, Charles T	141	1922 l	McClubesk A Common	305
****	Traded Boad T		1890	McClintock, A Garrison	46
1906 ma	Hadsel, Fred L	292	1896 l	McClintock, Edward A	275
1895 5	Hall, Willis M	189	1870	McClintock, Thompson	8
1930	Hammer, Charles K	156	1912	McDevitt, Elmer W.	142
1891 d	Harada, Tasuku	262	1901 \$	McGinley, Thomas A.	200
1897	Harkness, Edward S	82	1885	McHenry, John	34
1915	Harrison, Charles A	146	1903	McKee, David R	107
1893 d	Harrison, Fosdick	264	1893 \$	McKell, William	186
د 1896	Hawley, George W	190	1896	Mackey, Cyrus F	74

Index 315 **CLASS** PAGE | CLASS PAGE 1884 1 Mackintosh, Frank H 1890 dp Patterson, Gaylard H 273 234 Patterson, James T 1921 ma McLauchlin, James A 1904 233 114 1893 d MacLaughlin, James 1886 d Patton, Cornelius H 265 257 1892 s Maher, James S 183 1891 d Peabody, Harry E 263 1892 s Maloney, Denis J 1896 dp 183 Pearson, Alfred J 236 Marsh, Frank W 1879 21 1895 Peck, Josiah H 68 1927 \$ Marvin, Hoffman 228 1895 l Peddie, John W 275 1904 Mason, Lawrence 113 19145 Pendleton, John S 219 Mason, Orion A 1911 \$ Pershad, Bala 1911 141 216 1896 Mathews, Harry W Petersen, Walter 74 1908 dp 238 1935 Matthews, Richard D. 1918 Peterson, Eugene 158 149 1877 Maurice, Benjamin ıδ 1902 Phillips, Isaac G 105 Maxwell, William 1908 Porter, Donald W 1885 128 35 Mertz, Louis W 1905 \$ 207 1907 Pratt, Edward L 122 1897 1 Michel, John Putnam, George E 277 1908 ma 293 19145 Miller, Archibald M Pynchon, George M, Jr 218 1925 150 Miller, William Snow 1879 m 243 Miller, Winlock, Jr. Reed, Edward B 1928 1894 154 59 1892 d Milliken, Charles D Reeder, Robert T 264 1938 e 230 1893 Mills, George E 57 1911 l Reilley, Fred A 304 Mitra, Panchanan 1895 Richards, William Martin 1930 dp 295 69 1902 m Roberts, Edward K Moore, John D 249 1878 s 162 1896 Morgan, William Conger Rodd, Thomas, Jr. 212 1907 s 75 Morris, Charles D 1909 1802 Rogers, J Harvey 132 54 1896 Morris, Charles S 76 1887 Rogers, John 40 1929 dp Morrison, Edward W 240 1869 Moss, Jesse L 6 1909 \$ Sagarmo, John F 214 280 1911 *l* Murphy, Charles W 1900 s Sands, Edwyn de N 198 1880 Sanford, John Murray, William D 24 1872 10 1888 Sanford, Thomas F. 42 1907 \$ Naething, Foster S 211 1880 s Sargent, Edward R 164 1908 Nairn, Thomas G 127 19125 Schaefer, William J 216 1890 s Nash, Paul Schenck, Robert Percy 177 1904 114 Newell, Downer H 1902 1900 Schweppe, Richard J 94 105 1913 dp Nichols, Edward W 1901 Scott, W Prescott 103 239 Scully, Walton 1910 l Noel, John H 1920 \$ 279 223 1001 Noyes, DeWitt C 1908 ma Sekido, Nobuji 102 233 1879 Noyes, Edward M 1886 s Selz, Emanuel F 21 171 1900 Senger, Walter C 96 O'Donnell, Edmund E 1894 Seymour, Origen S 61 1898 m **296** O'Donnell, J Michael Shaler, James L 1902 s 291 1937 159 O'Neill, Daniel L 108 Shaw, Augustus F 1903 1892 55 1890 Opdyke, Henry 1896 *l* Sheehan, James A 30I 47 Sherman, Allton L Otis, Clark C 1882 d 255 1912 143 Shipley, Caleb W 1902 s Overall, John H 1882 203 29 1904 d Shively, John L 269 18895 Painter, Kenyon V 176 1901 S Sikes, Olin L 20I Palmer, Corydon 208 Silcox, Ferdinand A 285 1905 \$ 1905 f 1905 Palmerton, Abel B 120 1905 \$ Simmons, Joseph I 209 1904 m Parker, Thomas E, Jr 250 1883 s Skinner, Ebenezer H 169 1894 Parker, William H Smith, Charles A 62 1899 dp 237 38 Parks, Francis R 1886 Smith, Edward Lincoln 1899 90 Parsons, William E 67 Smith, Erskine M 205 1895 1903 5 Pastroff, Maurice L 225 | 1876 s Smith, George Watson 161 1921 5

О

CLASS		DACE	CLASS		DACI
1906 s	Smith, Horace B	PAGE 210	1895 S	Van Slyke, William H	PAGI
1910 5	Smith, Oliver L	215	1896 5	Vinten, Ernest S	190
1891	Smith, Ray B	_	1885 m	Vishno, Charles W	194 24 6
1884 d	Sneath, Isaiah W	53 255	1915	Vollmer, Harry	28g
1904	Soper, Willard B	115	1913	volimer, radir y	205
1909	Southworth, H Mason	134			
1910 l	Spangler, Allen	280	1895 dp	Wager, Charles H A	235
1896 s	Speidel, Joseph	192	1932	Walcott, Alexander G	158
1881	Stebbins, Frederick H	26	1908	Walker, William J	129
1906 ml	Steer, Earl M	282	1926	Wallace, Frederic A, Jr	152
1899	Stephanove, Constantine	91	1897	Wallis, Nathaniel W	88
1895 5	Stillman, Philip T	189	1881 s	Warner, Frank C	165
1879	Stokes, Frederick A	22	1913	Waters, William Otis	145
1900	Stookey, Lyman B	96	1916	Weakley, Forrest B	29 0
1885	Storrs, Richard S	35	1900	Weaver, Louis S	98
1884	Strong, William L	32	1890 d	Webster, Eugene C	259
1883 s	Stryker, John E	170	1890 đ	Weimer, Morrison	26 c
1896	Sturges, Philemon F	77	1892 s	Weiser, Charles	184
1903	Sturgis, Thomas	108	1889	Welch, Lewis S	43
1908 1	Sutphen, Percy T	303	1934 mus	Wentsch, Lıllıan T	283
1884 m	Swain, Henry L	244	1914 \$	Weston, Donald M	220
1932	Sweet, Edwin A	157	1904	Whipple, Earle R	117
1873	Swift, Everett M	12	1875	Whitney, Eugene W	14
1876	Swisher, Charles C	15	1893 s	Wiggins, Dudley H	291
1906	Syphax, Fred B	121	1937 s	Wigley, Edwin M	229
			1916	Willard, Daniel, Jr	147
1909 ma	Taglialatela, Eduardo	294	1908	Willcox, Dudley	130
1891 d	Taylor, Frederick C	298	1891 \$	Williams, Aras J	179
1900	Tennant, George B	97	1903 s	Williams, Leonard W	206
1925 s	Thielens, Alexis H	226	1877 s	Wilson, Albert D	290
1896 s	Thompson, Augustus P	193	1910 m	Wilson, Leslie A	252
1894	Thoms, William E	62	1902 s	Wimpfheimer, Lloyd A	204
1925 \$	Thorne, George A, Jr	226	1889	Winters, Andrew L	44
1881	Tichenor, Francis H	27	1908	Wismer, Ernest L	131
1900 s	Townshend, Raynham	199	1914 l	Wolon, Joseph C	281
1896	Treadway, Ralph B	78	1900	Wood, Harry P	99
1883	Trowbridge, J. Parker	31	1884 d	Woodard, Francis C	256
1903	Truett, Edward P	109	1939	Woolley, C Mott, Jr.	160
1904	Trusdell, Harold H	117	1884 m	Wright, George S	245
1917	Tuck, Louis S	148			
1936 m	Turrell, Loring W	254	T007	Valton Florer	200
1932 \$	Twist, Charles L	229	1905	Yelton, Elmer	288
1896	Twombly, Howland	78	1909	Young, Perry	135

FORMS OF BEQUEST

BECAUSE of the constantly increasing tendency on the part of alumni and other friends to provide for the growing needs of the University by bequests, and the many inquiries received each year as to the proper wording hereof, there are given below forms for the convenience of those who plan to remember Yale in their wills.

(GENERAL)

I give and bequeath to Yale University, a corporation existing under and by the virtue of a charter granted by the General Assembly of the Colony and State of Connecticut, and located in the Town of New Haven in said State,
Dollars, to be used (or, the income to be used) at the discretion of the Corpora- non of said University.
(SPECIFIC)
I give and bequeath to Yale University, a corporation existing under and by the virtue of a charter granted by the General Assembly of the Colony and State of Connecticut, and located in the Town of New Haven in said State,
Dollars, to be used (or, the income to be used) for the following purposes: (Here specify the purposes for which the bequest—or the income therefrom—is to be ised.)

(It is strongly recommended that a competent lawyer be employed to prepare he will and to supervise its execution in order that all the requirements of the law of the state in which the maker of the will resides may be fully complied with. It is also wise to give the University considerable latitude in the use of any fund to be established by bequest, or of the income therefrom, so that a change of circumtances may not impair the usefulness of the gift. The Treasurer of the University will be glad upon request to review the phraseology of proposed bequests and to nake suggestions with reference thereto.)